Does the Intensity, Mode, and Timing of Exercise Affect Postprandial Gastrointestinal Function, Metabolic Responses and Energy Intake in Healthy Men?

L R Mattin

PhD 2022

Does the Intensity, Mode, and Timing of Exercise Affect Postprandial Gastrointestinal Function, Metabolic Responses and Energy Intake in Healthy Men?

Lewis Robert Mattin

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements of Manchester Metropolitan University for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Department of Life Sciences Faulty of Science and Engineering Manchester Metropolitan University 2022

Abstract

The global prevalence of obesity has dramatically increased and has become a major economic burden for western countries; therefore, health professionals are looking at strategies to control this increase in body weight. Despite the wellestablished physiological effects of exercise, such as increased muscle oxygenic capacity and fuel utilisation being well documented, there is limited research available investigating how the human body responds to a change in exercise characteristics. Manipulating exercise intensity, mode, or timing has become a popular strategy for controlling metabolic health and might support improved weight management programs. The ability of the human body to respond to nutritional intervention after exercise may determine how fat stores are regulated and in what manner the body responds postprandially. This may hold the key to how the body recovers and adapts after exercise, however, this area of research remains ambiguous.

Through a series of studies on human volunteers this thesis is aimed at enhancing our understanding of how different exercise characteristics (intensity, mode, or timing) might affect gastrointestinal function, metabolic responses, appetite, and energy intake (EI), and as a result support the development of novel nonpharmacological interventions for weight management.

The main findings of this thesis were as follows. Gastric emptying rate (GER) is similar 30 min after continuous and intermittent exercise at a low intensity (40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) and at a moderate intensity (60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). Repeated bouts of continuous exercise cause food within the stomach to empty faster when compared to a one-off exercise bout matched at a high intensity of 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. Intermittent exercise > 40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ and continuous exercise > 60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ reduces subjective feelings of hunger immediately post-exercise. Although, continuous exercise < 50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ has no effect. A subsequent meal following both intermittent and continuous exercise at various intensities abolishes any compensatory effects in subjective feelings of hunger. Acylated ghrelin increases immediately after continuous exercise < 50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ whereas continuous exercise >70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ and intermittent exercise at peak power output (PPO) decreases acylated ghrelin. Furthermore, postprandial acylated ghrelin increases after multiple exercise bouts compared to a one-off continuous bout

at the same intensity, although this also leads to an increase in EI within the first 24h. EI was also found to be increased after moderate intensity intermittent exercise. Intermittent exercise >40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ increases blood glucose during and immediately after exercise. Conflicting evidence revealed continuous exercise triggered a spike in blood glucose after a calorific meal more so than intermittent exercise causing blood glucose to remain elevated during recovery periods. Substrate utilisation shifts to predominantly fat oxidation after continuous and intermittent exercise at various intensities between 40- 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ while a small calorific meal diminishes this increase in the postprandial period.

The role of manipulating exercise characteristics through intensity, mode, or timing may hold positive implications for weight management practices in healthy and overweight populations. Future work is warranted to investigate the influence of ingesting whole foods/meals after exercise to better recognise the changes during the postprandial period; on GER, appetite, and appetite regulatory hormones over an extended duration to explore the effects on energy balance and metabolic health in the long-term.

Declaration

This is to certify that the material contained in this thesis has been produced by the author, has not been accepted in substance for any other degree, and is not currently submitted in candidature for any other academic award. Two Chapters within this thesis have been published (see page iii for more information) and all four research Chapters within this thesis have been presented as an abstract at different international conferences (see page iv for more information).

Publications

Mattin LR, Yau AMW, McIver VJ, James LJ, Evans GH. (2018). The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and Gut Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a Standardised Semi-Solid Meal in Healthy Males. Nutrients. 10(6): 787. (https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/10/6/787).

Mattin LR, McIver VJ, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH. (2020). A Comparison of Intermittent and Continuous Exercise Bouts at Different Intensities on Appetite and Postprandial Metabolic Responses in Healthy Men. Nutrients. 12(8): 2370.

Conferences

Mattin LR, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH. (2016). Is appetite and gastric emptying effected by different exercise intensities after consuming a standardised calorie semi-solid meal. 19th-21st December 2016, ISENC International sports + Exercise Nutrition Conference, Newcastle.

Mattin LM, McIver VJ. Yau, A. James, LJ. Evans, GH. (2018). A comparison of the effect of high and low intensity intermittent and continuous exercise on gastric emptying rate, appetite, and substrate utilisation in healthy males. Europhysiology. The QEII Centre, London, UK: *The physiology Society*, 2018:376-7"

Mattin LR, McIver VJ. Yau, A. James, LJ. Evans, GH. (2019). The effects of multiple exercise bouts on appetite and metabolic response to food ingestion. The Physiological Society annual conference. Aberdeen Exhibition and conference center, Aberdeen, UK: *The physiology Society*."

Mattin LR, Ishihara K, McIver VJ, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH (2020). How does a 'twice-a-day approach' to a daily exercise retain, effect gastrointestinal hormonal, appetite regulation, and metabolic response after consuming a standardised breakfast and lunch respectively after each exercise bout in healthy males. Europhysiology. ESTREL, Congress Center, Berlin, Germany." Canceled due to COVID-19.

Acknowledgments

The past six years have been challenging personally and professionally, although, most importantly, it has been an enjoyable and rewarding process. Therefore, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude.

I must first give thanks to my amazing wife Laura Chaloner-Mattin because in part this thesis is just as much hers as it is mine. The time and dedication she has sacrificed to allow me to complete this chapter in my life is incredible. For all my mood swings and self-soothing stump spots. I have good news, folks have told me "Life gets easier after a PhD thesis is completed". I would say seeing is believing and not to hold me to this statement as number one bump (Master Silas Beau Mattin) and number two bump; Bot-Bot (Finlay Oliver Mattin) may throw a few spanners in the works on the way. Maybe we might be acknowledged in one of their theses' one day. Who knows what the future will hold "The world is our oyster"?

I have to say a massive thanks to my canine companions Blossom Vivian and Beau Arthur Chattin. I love you with all my heart. After long days at work, you were always there with unconditional love. You were always ready to keep my feet warm during the cold winter days writing this thesis. You always have a paw ready to kick me out of bed at 04.30 in the morning when my alarm jangled across the sideboard, with a sigh and a look of "Get out of bed papa, you need to go and get a big boys' job so you can feed us lots and lots of gravy bones".

To my Director of Studies, Dr Gethin Evans, for his help and support in guiding me towards becoming a fantastic academic. Over the years, he has never given up on me even with my stubborn attitude and my ability to jump into a situation with my mouth open before thinking of the consequences of my actions. He always stayed calm and collected, which has allowed me to start my journey in research and academia with a balanced head on my shoulders. The experiences I have undertaken during my PhD and post-graduate teaching role have been invaluable, and the enthusiasm and dedication shown to me have been inspirational. I would like to say thank you for giving me the opportunity to conduct this PhD by choosing me in the first place. I will never forget the faith and trust you had in me. I would also like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my other two supervisors. Dr Adora Yau for your guidance and academic support. At times, it has even been enjoyable trying to juggle Health Physiology on Monday mornings at the same time as trying to find extra hands to deal with numerous participants sweating in the laboratory above us. I feel very blessed to have had the opportunity to work with you. Dr Lewis James. Thank you for your time, expertise, and guidance throughout my undergraduate degree, Masters and PhD. You have always been at the end of an email whenever I have needed you. Your investment in me will not be forgotten.

I would like to say a special thanks to Dr Victoria McIver. This journey would not have been possible without you. Laboratory mentor, colleague, and friend. I can't thank you enough, we were always there for each other and have continued to be. Academia is a brutal game; it is nice to know you will always be there for me when the going gets tough. To answer your question "you have made a friend for life".

I would also like to thank Dr Antony Scimone and very soon to be (Dr) Christopher Broughton. Completing a PhD together has joined us like brothers. Being there for each other through the quantum of knowledge and abyss of post-graduate slave labour by endeavouring the physical, mental, financial, and psychological strain cannot be broken. I am sorry boys; you are stuck with me for life. Not to forget, of course, everyone who completed a PhD with me, particularly (Dr Niall Hickey, Dr Anthony Slate, and D Samuel Capp). I am blessed to have shared this journey with you all, from the banter to supporting each other, or by sharing our experiences helped so much. No doubt I've made some friends and colleagues for a lifetime. However, I have made it, through the joys and frustrations, the early mornings, and the late nights. I would not have achieved this without you all. Thank you to all the volunteers who gave their time and effort to participate, I cannot express how grateful I am that you support my PhD studies.

I must thank my good friend, Dr Jodie Moss. It is hard enough to complete a PhD thesis, but then to offer to read someone else's, must feel like a double life sentence. Throughout this journey, I have had ups and downs. However, Jill and Adam Newton have helped me find time to forget about the strains and pressures of academia, through our passion for fine dining and alcoholism all I can say is "UUUHHHHRRRRRRRRUUUUUUUUHHHHHHH"

I would like to say a massive thank you to Stephen James Baverstock; my best friend, best man, Godfather to my son Silas Beau Mattin. You have always been there for me, throughout my journey trying to become an Olympian and now through my endeavours in becoming an academic. I will always be grateful.

I must thank my family (Luke, Liam, and Leander Mattin, Margret and Billy Taylor, Ella and Ceri Winfield, Camille Whiley and Amy Chaplin) and my second family (Thomas and Phillip Chaloner, Harold and Cora Hemmings, Jordan and Christine Smethurst, and Andy Futcher). All of you have in a small way made this process possible. Without your constant support. I do not think this thesis would have been possible. Now you will all just have to listen to me calling myself Dr Mattin every time I book a meal at a restaurant.

Furthermore, I have to give thanks to my favourite mother-in-law (Julie Chaloner) for looking after me as if I was her own son. Throughout thick and thin, you have always been there to support me. To my auntie (Arnie Louise) for giving me respite during the dreaded summer of 2020 allowing me to use her house as a tranquil study retreat in the beautiful hills of Derbyshire. Without further ado, I have to be grateful to my mum (Jennifer Mattin) and dad (Paul Mattin), who have given me every opportunity to succeed in life by giving me unwavering support throughout my educational voyage. Thank you for everything you do for me, and I hope I can continue to make you proud.

I must, however, share my gratitude to my internal motivation; Blofield County Primary School. It is amazing what a "down and out, naughty child" can do when they are told they are a waste of space. To all the gifted and talented children, I supposably disrupted. I hope they have made a considerable impact to science and achieved their greatness?

At points, this journey has felt like "space oddity", and at times, I have felt myself calling for ground control and even maybe Major Tom, so without hesitation. PhD thesis it's time to say goodnight and, goodbye.

Contents

Abstractii
Declarationiv
Publicationsiv
Conferencesv
Acknowledgmentsvi
List of Figuresxix
List of Tablesxxxv
List of Abbreviations and symbolsxxxvi
CHAPTER 1.0
GENERAL INTRODUCTION1
1.2. Thesis Aims and Objectives7
CHAPTER 2
REVIEW OF LITERATURE8
2.1. Is there an Optimal Exercise Protocol?
2.2. Function of the Gastrointestinal System
2.2.1. Gastrointestinal Wall14
2.2.2. Mouth
2.2.3. Stomach15
2.2.4. Small Intestine
2.2.5. Large Intestine
2.3. Absorption of Major Nutrients19
2.3.1. Carbohydrate
2.3.2. Protein
2.3.3. Fat

2.4. Gastric Emptying	23
2.4.1. Factors that Affect Gastric Emptying	24
2.4.2. How Exercise Affects Gastric Emptying	28
2.4.3. Measurement of Gastric Emptying	30
2.5. Gastrointestinal Hormones	32
2.5.1. Ghrelin	33
2.5.2. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)	34
2.5.3. Peptide Tyrosin Tyrosin (PYY)	36
2.5.4. Pancreatic Polypeptide (PP)	37
2.5.5. Insulin	38
2.5.6. Other Hormones that Influence GER and Metabolic Pathways	39
2.5.7. Cholecystokinin (CCK)	40
2.5.8. Leptin	41
2.6. The Effect of Acute Exercise on GI Hormones and GER	47
2.7. Regulation of Appetite and Energy Intake	48
2.7.1. How can Exercise Change Appetite	49
2.7.2. What Happens in The Postprandial Period?	51
2.7.3. Social Economy Influences on Energy Intake	52
2.8. Fasting Before Exercise	53
2.9. Substrate Utilisation	55
2.10. Postprandial Feeding	57
2.11. Summary	60
CHAPTER 3.	61
GENERAL METHODS	61
3.1. Ethical Approval	61
3.2. Participants	61
3.3. Clinical Trial Registry	62

3.4. Familiarisation Visits
3.4.1. Peak Oxygen Uptake Tests
3.4.2. Anthropometry Measurements
3.4.2.1. Height
3.4.2.2. Body Mass
3.4.2.3. Body Mass Index
3.4.2.4. Body Composition
3.4.2.5. Blood Pressure
3.5. Exercise Intensity
3.6. Meal Details
3.6.1. Calculating Estimated Trial Energy67
3.7. Pre-Trial Standardisation
3.8. Gastric Emptying Measurement
3.9. Appetite Assessment
3.10. Expired Gas Samples73
3.11. Substrate Utilisation73
3.12. Blood Sampling and Analysis74
3.12.1. Gut Hormones75
3.12.2. Metabolites75
3.12.3. I-FABP ₂
3.13. Reliability Measurements
3.14. Capillary Blood Sample79
3.15. Wellbeing Assessment
3.16. Dietary Assessment
3.17. Water Consumption
3.18. Heart Rate and RPE82
3.19. Statistical Methods

3.19.1. Area Under Curve (AUC)	
3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size	
Chapter 4	
The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying	Rate, Appetite, and Gut
Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a S	tandardised Semi-Solid
Meal in Healthy Men ^{1, 2}	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Methods	
4.2.1. Participants	
4.2.2. Experimental Trials	
4.2.3. Exercise Intensity	
4.2.4. Biochemical Analysis	
4.2.5. Statistical Analysis	
4.3 Results	91
4.3.1 Standardisation Measurements	91
4.3.3. Heart Rate (HR) and RPE	
4.3.4 Gastric Emptying	94
4.3.5 Appetite	
4.3.6. Blood Metabolites	
4.3.6.1. Glucose	
4.3.6.2. Triglycerides	
4.3.6.3. Cholesterol	
4.3.6.4. NEFA	
4.3.6.5. Metabolites AUC	
4.3.7 Gut Hormones	
4.3.7.1. Ghrelin	
4.3.7.2. Glucagon-like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)	
4.3.7.3. Insulin	

4.3.7.4. Pancreatic Polypeptide (PP)	
4.3.7.6. Hormone AUC	
4.4. Discussion	
4.4.1. Limitations	
4.4.2. Conclusion	
Chapter 5	
A Comparison Between Moderate and Low Intensity In	itermittent and
Continuous Exercise on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and	nd 24-h Energy
Intake in Males ^{3, 4}	
5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Methods	
5.2.1. Participants	
5.2.2. Experimental Trials	
5.2.3. Exercise Intensity	
5.2.4. Statistical Analysis	
5.3 Results	
5.3.1. Standardisation Measurements	
5.3.2. Energy and Macronutrient Intake	
5.3.2.1. Pre-Trial	
5.3.2.2. Post-Trial	
5.3.3. Heart rate (HR) and RPE	
5.3.4. Gastric Emptying	
5.3.5. Appetite	
5.3.5.1. Hunger	
5.3.5.2. Fullness	
5.3.5.3. PFC	
5.3.5.4. Satisfaction	
5.3.5.5. Bloat	144

5.3.5.6. Nausea
5.3.6. Blood Glucose Concentration151
5.3.7. Substrate Utilisation153
5.3.7.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation153
5.3.7.2. Fat Oxidation
5.4 Discussion
5.4.1. Limitations
5.4.2. Conclusions
Chapter 6161
The Effect of Exercising Once vs. Twice a Day on Gastrointestinal Function,
Metabolic Response, and Appetite in Healthy Males: A Randomised Cross
Over Trial. ¹
6.1 Introduction162
6.2 Methods164
6.2.1. Participants164
6.2.2. Experimental Trials165
6.2.3. Exercise Intensity167
6.2.4. Biochemical Analysis168
6.2.5. Statistical Analysis168
6.3 Results
6.3.1. Standardisation Measurements171
6.3.3. Heart Rate and RPE173
6.3.4. Gastric Emptying175
6.3.5. I-FABP ₂
6.3.6. Appetite
6.3.6.1. Hunger
6.3.6.2. Fullness

6.3.6.3. PFC
6.3.6.4. Satisfaction
6.3.6.5. Bloat
6.3.6.6. Nausea
6.3.7. Blood Metabolites187
6.3.7.1. Glucose
6.3.7.2. Cholesterol
6.3.7.3. Triglycerides
6.3.7.4. NEFA
6.3.8. Gut Hormones
6.3.8.1. Active Ghrelin
6.3.8.2. GLP-1
6.3.8.3. PYY
6.3.8.4. PP
6.3.8.5. Insulin
6.3.9. Substrate Utilisation
6.3.9.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation
6.3.9.2. Fat Oxidation
6.4. Discussion
6.4.1. Limitations
6.4.2. Conclusions
Chapter 7
How Does Exercising Twice-a-Day Affect Gastrointestinal Function,
Appetite, and Metabolic Response after Consuming a Standardised
Breakfast and Lunch Respectively after each Exercise Bout in Healthy
Males: A Randomised Cross Over Trial ¹ 211
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Methods

	7.2.1. Participants	.215
	7.2.2. Experimental Trials	.216
	7.2.3. Exercise Intensity	
	7.2.4. Biochemical Analysis	.219
	7.2.5. Statistical Analysis	219
7.	.3 Results	221
	7.3.1. Standardisation Measurements	221
	7.3.2 Energy and Macronutrients Intake	221
	7.3.3. RPE and Heart Rate	223
	7.3.4. Gastric Emptying	226
	7.3.5. Appetite	228
	7.3.5.1 Hunger	228
	7.3.5.3. PFC	229
	7.3.5.4. Satisfaction	229
	7.3.5.5. Bloat	230
	7.3.5.6. Nausea	230
	7.3.6. Blood Metabolites	237
	7.3.6.1. Glucose	237
	7.3.6.2. Cholesterol	237
	7.3.6.3. Triglycerides	237
	7.3.6.4. NEFA	237
	7.3.7. Gut Hormones	243
	7.3.7.1. Active ghrelin	243
	7.3.7.2. GLP-1	243
	7.3.7.3. PYY	243
	7.3.7.4. PP	243
	7.3.7.5. Insulin	244

7.3.8. Substrate Utilisation249
7.3.8.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation
7.3.8.2. Fat Oxidation
7.3.9. Wellbeing
7.4 Discussion
7.4.1. Limitations
7.4.2. Conclusions
Chapter 8.0
GENERAL DISCUSSION
8.1. Overview of Key Findings268
8.2. Limitations
8.3. Direction for Future research
8.4 Conclusions
Chapter 9.0
Practical Applications of Gastric Emptying Rate and Appetite after
Manipulating Exercise on a Bike for the General Public
9.1. Overview
9.2. Findings -What is the Take Home Message for Someone Aspiring to
Change their Physique
9.3. Traffic Light Decision Tree for Quick Tips for Exercise
10.0. References
11.0 Appendices
A) Ethical approval letter Study 1 (Chapter 4)
B) Ethical approval letter, Study 2 (Chapter 5)
C) Ethical approval letter, Study 3 (Chapter 6)345
D) Ethical approval letter, Study 4 (Chapter 7)
E) Medical screening questionnaire
F) Manufacturers details for breakfast meal

G) Manufacturers details for lunch meal	349
H) Pre-trial dietary and physical activity diary	350
I) Appetite VAS	353
J) Wellbeing Scale	354

List of Figures

Figure 1: The structural arrangement, and anatomy of the human stomach. Adapted from, Somaratne et al., 2020. Image from, anatomy.tv/ powered by primal pictures. Colours on the diagram represent; Blue; vein, Red; artery, Green; sphincter, and Black anatomy Figure 2: Schematic diagram of the experimental trial protocol S-1. Yellow lined rectangle represents 15 min standardised semi-solid meal period. HR, heart rate. RPE, rating of perceived exertion. GE, gastric emptying. VAS, visual analogy scale. Control, (CON). Figure 3: Representative of mean for pre-trial energy intake (KCal), with vertical error bars representing SDs (n = 12). Individual data is documented as (\circ) CON, (\blacksquare) Low and (Δ) HIGH. There was no main effect observed (p > 0.05) examined by a one-way Figure 4: Representative of mean RPE (A) and HR (bpm) (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period. There was an effect of time, trial and interaction found for RPE and HR (P < 0.001), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA * Indicating that trials were significantly different from each other. RPE; rate of perceved exertion, bpm; beats per minute, HR; heart rate......94 Figure 5: T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ are represented as mean, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Individual data is represented as (\circ) CON, (\blacksquare) Low and (Δ) HIGH. There were no main effects observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (p < 0.05) examined by a one-way repeatedmeasured ANOVA. T_{lag}, Time of maximal emptying rate; T_{1/2}, Half emptying time. Figure 6: Representative of mean for cumulative dose of % ¹³CO₂, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There were no main effect of time (P < 0.001) however no trial and interaction effect were found for dose % $^{13}CO^2$ (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA......95 Figure 7: Representative of mean DOB AUC (0-120 min⁻¹) (A) and DOB respose (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There were no main effects for DOB AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001), however no trial, nor interaction effect were found for DOB (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. DOB, delta over baseline; AUC, Figure 8: Representative of mean hunger AUC (0-225 min) (A) and hunger VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects for hunger AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeatedmeasures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001), However no trial, nor interaction effect werre found for hunger (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-

Figure 9: Representative of mean fullness AUC (0-225 min) (A) and fullness VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for fullness AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-

- Figure 15: Representative of mean serum concentration of triglycerides AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and triglycerides response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle

- Figure 17: Representative of mean serum concentration of NEFA AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and NEFA response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for NEFA AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for NEFA (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates CON was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.037). AUC; area under curve.
- Figure 18: Representative of mean serum concentration of active ghrelin AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and active ghrelin response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for active ghrelin AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There were no effect of time, trial nor interaction effect found for active ghrelin (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates LOW was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.015). AUC; area under curve.

- Figure 21: Representative of mean serum concentration of PP AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and PP response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of

a semi-solid meal. There was no main effects for PP AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for PP (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve, PP: pancreatic polypeptide.115

- Figure 26: Representative of mean T_{lag} (A) and $T_{1/2}$ (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Individual data is represented as (Δ) LOW-INT, (\circ) LOW-CON, (\blacksquare) MOD-INT and (\times) represents MOD-CON. There were no main intensity, modality nor interaction effects observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (P > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measures ANOVAs. T_{lag} , Time of maximal emptying rate; $T_{1/2}$, Half emptying time.

- Figure 32: Representative of mean satisfaction AUC (0-225 min) (A) and satisfaction VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for satisfaction AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for time observed for satisfaction (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve....148
- Figure 33 Representative of mean bloat AUC (0-225 min) (A) and bloat VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There weas no main effect of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for bloat AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there

- Figure 37: Representative of mean fat oxidation AUC (0-225 min) (A) and fat oxidation response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects of intensity nor modality (p > 0.05). However, there was a main interaction effect for fat oxidation AUC (p < 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor main interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for fat oxidation response, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates MOD-INT and CON were significantly increased from baseline to 30-min post-meal determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.

- Figure 44: Representative of mean I-FABP₂–AUC (0-270 min⁻¹) (A) and I-FABP₂ response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink and red rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period for split. There was no main effect observed for I-FABP₂ AUC (p >0.05), examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial nor main interaction

- Figure 51: Representive of mean glucose AUC (0-405 min) (A) and glucose VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. Red rectangle indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for glucose AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for glucose (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.
- Figure 53: Representive of mean triglycerid AUC (0-405 min) (A) and triglyceride VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle

- Figure 55: Representive of mean active ghrelinAUC (0-405 min) (A) and active ghrelin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. Red rectangle indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for active ghrelin (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for active ghrelin (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.
- Figure 57: Representive of mean PYY AUC (0-405 min) (A) and PYY VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 9). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-

- Figure 58: Representive of mean PP AUC (0-405 min) (A) and PP VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. Red rectangle indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for PP AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was an effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PP, pancreatic polypeptide.198

- Figure 61: Representative of mean carbohydrate oxidation (g/min) (A) and fat oxidation (g/min) (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Chequered red and green rectangle indicates 30-min exercise period; Filled green rectangle indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; Hashed black rectangle indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. Red rectangle indicates remaining 30-min exercise; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main trial effect for fat oxidation (p >0.05) although there was for carbohydrate oxidation (p <0.05). Furthermore, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for both fat and carbohydrate oxidation, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05).

- Figure 70: Representive of mean PFC AUC (0-450 min) (A) and PFC VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for PFC AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for PFC (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve; PFC, prospective food consumption.233

- Figure 73: Representive of mean nausea AUC (0-450 min) (A) and nausea VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for nausea AUC (p > 0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-

- Figure 74: Representive of mean glucose AUC (0-450 min) (A) and glucose VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for glucose AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for glucose (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.239

- Figure 81: Representive of mean PP AUC (0-450 min) (A) and PP VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for PP AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor main interaction effect observed for PP (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PP, pancreatic polypeptide.248
- Figure 82: Representive of mean insulin AUC (0-450 min) (A) and insulin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for insulin AUC (p > 0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect

- Figure 84: Representative of mean carbohydrate oxidation (g/min) (A) and fat oxidation (g/min) (B), where vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Chequered black and white rectangle indicates first 30-min exercise bout; Hashed purple rectangle indicates breakfast meal. Chequered blue and white rectangle indicates second 30-min exercise bout; Hashed yellow rectangle indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main trial effect for fat and carbohydrate oxidation (p > 0.05). Although, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p < 0.05) for both fat and carbohydrate oxidation, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM was significantly different determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05).
- Figure 85: Representative of mean for wellbeing, where vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for wellbeing. However, no trial effect (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM were significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05)......252
- Figure 86: Flow diagram illustrating the key finding of this thesis. The influences of exercising on a bike at different modes, intensity or timing on Post-EXE and Post-meal responses to: GER, AS, GH, Metab, SU, and EI. Dashed lines represent, data from multiple study's; Dashed purple & red lines findings from Chapter 4; Purple arrows findings from Chapter 5. Red arrows, findings from Chapter 6. Green arrows, findings from Chapter 7. *Effect of exercise duration, 30 min at 70% VO2Max increased hunger and 60 min decreased hunger and increased fat oxidation.[≈] Int undertaken in the second EXE bout . EXE, exercise; Metab, metabolites; GLU, glucose; SU, substrate utilisation; AS, appetite score; WB, wellbeing score. ↑, increase or faster; ↓, decrease or slower; ↔ no change or similar result; ?, Inconclusive.....276
- Figure 87:Decision tree illustrating the potential outcome when deciding how to manipulate exercise. With an easy-to-use traffic light conclusion. RO1, Research objective 1. Adjustments in exercise intensity; RO2, Research objective 2. Using an intermittent mode of exercise; RO3, Research objective 3; Organisation of exercise by conducting multiple exercise bouts; Dashed lines represent, recommendations using data only from this thesis; Dashed green lines (proceed), continue with ease; Dashed orange lines (caution), think before undertaking this exercise method; Dashed red lines (hazard), may cause negative physiological effect during or post-exercise; Blue italicize writing, key considerations. Change in the colour purple, indicates the increase in exercise intensity. CON, continuous exercise; INT, intermittent exercise; GER, gastric emptying rate; EI, energy intake; Fat OX, Fat oxidation rate; ↑, increase or faster; ↓, decrease or slower; ↔ no change or similar result; ?, Inconclusive result.

List of Tables

Table 1. Acute Exercise Literature which used Cycling to effect Appetite, Food Intake, Energy Balance or GER
Table 2: Stomach Mucosal Cell's Gastric Secretion 14
Table 3: Summary of Peptide Hormones and Neurotransmitters which Regulate Appetite, EI, and GER. Classified According to their Predominant Synthesis Site regarding, Nutrient Ingestion and Digestion
Table 4. Classification of Weight by Body Mass Index (BMI) 65
Table 5. Classification of Exercise Intensity for this Thesis 66
Table 6. Manufacturer Sensitivity Characteristics and Percentage (%) CVs of Analyses Measured within Blood Samples
Table 7: S-1, Baseline Participant's Characteristics ¹ 87
Table 8: S1, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit
Table 9: Pre-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from total Energy Intake
Table 10: S-2, Baseline Participant's Characteristics ¹ 125
Table 11: S2, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit
Table 12: Pre- and Post-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from Total Energy Intake for LOW-CON, LOW-INT. MOD-CON and MOD-INT
Table 13: S-3, Baseline Subject Characteristics ¹ 165
Table 14: S3, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit
Table 15: Pre and Post-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from Total Energy Intake for SINGLE and SPLIT Trials. 172
Table 16: S-4, Baseline Subject Characteristics ¹ 216
Table 17: S4, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit
Table 18: Pre and post-trial macronutrient content (KCal) from total energy intake for INT-AM and INT-PM trial. 222
Table 19: Summary of the Main Findings of the Effect of Exercise Intensity, Mode and Timing on Gastrointestinal Function, Metabolic Response and EI265
List of Abbreviations and symbols

0	Degree Celsius		
μl	Microlitre		
μΜ	Micromole		
¹² CO ₂	Carbon 12 carbon dioxide		
¹³ CO ₂	Carbon 13 carbon dioxide		
Acetyl-coA	Acetyle coenzyme a		
ACSM	American College of Sport Medicine		
AgRP	Agouti-related protein		
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance		
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate		
AUC	Area under the curve		
BBB	Blood brain barrier		
BM	Body mass		
BMI	Body mass index		
¹³ C	Carbon 13		
CABF	Celiac artery blood flow		
CGM	Continuous glucose monitoring		
СНО	Carbohydrate		
СКК	Cholecystokinin		
cm	Centimetre		
CNS	Central nervous system		
CO_2	Carbon Dioxide		
CON	Continuous		

DOB	Delta over baseline
DOMS	Delayed onset muscle soreness
DPP-IV	Dipeptidyl peptidase IV
EE	Energy expenditure
EI	Energy intake
EIMD	Exercise-induced muscle damage
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
et al.	et alii
ETEE	Estimated trial energy expenditure
FABP	Fatty acid-binding protein
Fat _{max}	Maximal fat oxidation
FFA	Free fatty acids
G	Gram
GER	Gastric emptying rate
GH	Growth hormone
GHS-R	Growth hormones secretagogue receptor
GI	Gastrointestinal
GIP	Glucose dependent insulinotropic polypeptide
GLP-1	Glucagon – like peptide-1
GLP-1R	Glucagon like peptide-1 receptor
h	Hour
H^{+}	Hydrogen ion
HIIE	High intensity intermittent exercise
HIIT	High intensity intermittent training
HR	Heart rate

ICV	Intracerebroventricular			
I-FABP ₂	Intestinal fatty acid binding protein 2			
INT	Intermittent			
IOM	Institute of medicine			
IR	Infrared			
K ⁺	Potassium ion			
kcal	kilocalorie			
kg	Kilogram			
kJ	Kilojoules			
L	Litre			
Ltd	Limited			
m	Metre			
MC4R	Melanocortin receptor 4			
mg	Miligram			
MICE	Moderate intense continuous exercise			
min	Minute			
mL	Millilitre			
mm	Millimetre			
mmol	Millimoles			
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging			
n	Participant number			
Na ⁺	Sodium ion			
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acid			
N ² p	Partial eta squared			
NPY	Neuropeptide Y			

O ₂	Oxygen
pmol/L	Picomoles Per Litre
Р	Probability
pН	Potential Hydrogen
POMC	Proopiomelanocortin
PPO	Peak power output
PP	Pancreatic polypeptide
РҮҮ	Peptide tyrosin tyrosin
RBE	Repeated bout effect
REE	Resting energy expenditure
RER	Respiratory Exchange Ratio
rER	Rough endoplasmic reticulum
RMR	Resting metabolic rate
rpm	Revolutions/min
RPE	Rating of perceived exertion
SD	Standard Deviation
sec	Second
SEM	Standard error of the mean
sER	Smooth endoplasmic reticulum
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Sciences
SIT	Sprint interval training
T _{Core}	Core body temperature
TAG	Triacylglycerol
T _{1/2}	Half emptying time
T _{lag}	Time of maximal emptying rate

U	Unit		
UK	United Kingdom		
USA	United States of America		
VAS	Visual analogue scale		
VCO ₂	Volume of Carbon Dioxide		
VO ₂	Volume of oxygen		
VO ₂ max	Maximum oxygen uptake		
VO ₂ peak	Peak oxygen uptake		
VTA	Ventral tegmental area		
W	Watts		
WB	Wellbeing		
WHO	World Health Organisation		
у	Year		

CHAPTER 1.0

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The global prevalence of obesity has dramatically increased becoming a leading health concern (Finucane et al., 2011), contributing to approximately 2.8 million deaths each year world-wide (Rouhani et al., 2016). The sharp increase in the prevalence of obesity has risen with around ~35% of men being defined as obese; BMI \geq 30kg/m² (Bray et al., 2018). Changes in lifestyle have contributed to reduced physical activity at work and home causing a reduction in energy expenditure (Brock et al., 2009) combined with a daily increase in food of ~500 KCal per day since the 1970s (Woodward et al., 2021, Chan and Woo, 2010). The rapidly increasing prevalence of obesity has prompted health professionals to enhance weight management strategies to control the increase in body weight by excess fat accumulation (Bray et al., 2018, Church et al., 2011, Brock et al., 2009, Heath et al., 2006). Obesity has serious implications for public health and is a major health concern which is linked to several chronic diseases such as cardiovascular and metabolic disorders, in particular atherosclerosis and type II diabetes (Poirier et al., 2006), which results in considerable health implications if untreated (Di Angelantonio et al., 2016) and in extreme cases early death (Rodgers et al., 2018). Therefore, finding efficient and effective exercise strategies to increase physical activity to improve weight management may be critical for improving health.

Recent trends have suggested the obesity epidemic is related to the substantial decline in physical activity (Church et al., 2011, Brock et al., 2009). In its most basic form, weight gain is simply the end-product of increased energy accumulation. Therefore understanding how exercise can be incorporated into the general populations daily routine may well become a prominent strategy for increasing physical activity and reducing body weight (Heath et al., 2006). Exercise can profoundly affect weight loss by increasing energy expenditure and subsequently creating a negative energy balance (Catenacci and Wyatt, 2007). Given that there are somewhat mixed findings in regard to how acute bouts of exercise impact subsequent

energy intake (EI). Schubert et al, (2013) conducted a meta-analysis on absolute and relative EI when using different acute methods of exercise (walking, running, cycling, swimming or resistance exercise) demonstrating minor differences in metabolic, endocrine and neural signalling pathways with the most diverse differences discovered after swimming (King et al., 2011b). In addition, individuals who engage in less physical activity or who have a lower fitness level are more likely to experience an anorexia effect immediately post-exercise after all forms of exercise (Schubert et al., 2013). The term "exercise-induced anorexia" has been used to describe the reduction in perceived hunger felt in the time period after exercise (Blundell et al., 2003).

Investigations involving exercise that require greater metabolic and mechanical demand, such as running, have shown a more potent suppression in perceived hunger and a higher energy expenditure from the exercise prescribed (Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2010a). Therefore, to prevent inconsistencies between investigations within this thesis cycling was selected to be the main method of exercise. It is important to add that cycling is the preferred form of exercise for commuting to work (Wardman et al., 2007) with males cycling more than females (Unwin, 1995). The potential health gain from increasing the level of cycling is widely recognised and is an excellent form of aerobic exercise (Morris et al., 1990). Information has also been gathered suggesting further benefits of cycling which are cheap, environment friendly and a time saving mode of transport (Wardman et al., 2007, Noland, 1995, Unwin, 1995). Cycling has increased in recent year as an enjoyable form of indoor activity at home or within a gym (Chavarrias et al., 2019). It has been suggested that any person wishing to increase their physical activity level from a sedentary state, should in general start by using low-impact exercise such as cycling, walking or swimming (Vincent and Vincent, 2013). Although, even with walking programmes in people with BMIs ranging from 25-40 Kg/m², 32% of participants reported musculoskeletal complaints (Janney and Jakicic, 2010). Independently using the term 'exercise' in relation to weight loss remains controversial. Therefore, it is important to define the terminology (mode, intensity, and timing) used to describe exercise characteristics within this thesis. Mode identified exercise methods described as continuous (CON) or intermittent (INT). Intensity conveyed the relative exertion participants worked at in relation to maximum oxygen

uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2Max}$) using the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM), classifications as a guideline; Low < 45% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, Moderate (MOD) 46-63% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, High 64-90% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, and Very High >91% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ (Garber et al., 2011). Finally, timing expressed when exercise bouts were conducted within a trial day, or the sequence exercise was conducted in. Manipulating exercise characteristics (mode, intensity, and timing) might be one theory why acute appetite response and subsequent food intake fluctuate in the initial hours following an acute exercise bout.

Nutritional strategies that are designed for athletic groups/ individuals endeavour to ensure adequate availability of muscles fuel stores by producing sufficient levels of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) according to the demands of the event (Burke, 2021). Although, post-exercise strategies strongly intend to optimise muscle glycogen content by supplying carbohydrate (Burke et al, 2018) and optimising muscle adaptation by increasing amino-acids within the diet (Witard et al., 2021, Phillips, 2014b), possible more so using leucine (Katsanos et al., 2006, Paddon-Jones et al., 2006). Over the last decade, opinions between the scientific literature and the media surrounding nutritional interventions to stimulate recovery after exercise have consistently suggested immediate calorie replacement within all populations to manipulate the anabolic window (Aragon and Schoenfeld, 2013). It is important to consider populations who participate in exercise for health and wellbeing reasons may have vastly different nutritional requirements than athletes. Unfortunately, any nutrient dense food or drink that is ingested after most forms of exercise might abolish or influence the overall energy deficit achieved by an exercise bout. In reality, there is often minimal provision of nutrition advice provided when it comes to post-exercise strategies for the general public. What athletes consume post-exercise may depend on their long-term approach and the phase of training that is being focused on in that particular training period, whereas the main emphasis for non-athlete adults is weight loss (Yumuk et al., 2015). Understanding how the human body responds in the hours after exercise may be mitigated by the timing of food ingestion and/or the macronutrient composition provided within the diet is an important consideration. This therefore opens an interesting debate, whether an untrained healthy population responds physiologically in the same manner as a highly physically trained population.

Periodized nutrition strategies used with athletic individuals is uncommon in healthy to overweight populations (Jeukendrup, 2017a). Individuals who perform exercise to improve health-related changes don't usually contemplate; pre, within or post session nutritional requirements. Given the current understanding that nutrient availability can modulate an increase in available energy in excess of requirements, it is somewhat surprising that very few investigations have examined the role of mixed macronutrient meal ingestion after exercise with a healthy population, with the outcome of modifying body composition (fat loss or muscle gain). Hence, welldefined guidance is required to optimise the relationship between energy expenditure and EI by expanding our awareness about the role of post-exercise nutrition and how the food that is consumed in the hours after exercise might influence how our body stores and utilises energy.

For several decades, research has mostly focused on adaptations in skeletal muscle, although there are numerous adaptations in other organs that might be influenced by nutritional intake in the hours after exercise. The phase after consuming nutrient dense material is known as the "postprandial period". Such changes in this period are often overlooked or receive significantly less consideration, such as changes in the gastrointestinal tract (GI). Examples include but are not limited to changes in the stomach and the small intestine. A well-functioning GI system, delivers nutrients to the body to form energy and any impairment in this system can delay this response (Cheng et al., 2010). Therefore, any nutrient or fluid consumed is required to first pass through the pyloric sphincter from the stomach into the duodenum (small intestines). This process is known as gastric emptying rate (GER) has been used as a method to assess how fast an ingested food or solution empties from the stomach. Several scenarios have been used to enhance how the stomach adapts to nutrient delivery and it has been suggested that the 'gastric emptying' process can be trained, with the intestinal tract being highly adaptive when delivery of nutrients is required (Yau et al., 2014, Jeukendrup and McLaughlin, 2011). The ability to recover after exercise might be limited by the capability of the stomach to deliver nutrients to the small intestine. Unsurprisingly, more information is required to identify if GER is a limiting step in the delivery of nutrients after exercise. It is important to enhance awareness of gastric emptying, by eliminating this process as a potential mechanism responsible for negative metabolic changes in the hours or days after exercise. For this reason, GER is the central focus within this thesis. By examining how the body responds to a mixed macronutrient meal (whole foods), after exercise might improve strategies to control metabolic changes within the postprandial period.

It is suspected that a slower emptying rate may delay the appearance of nutrients in the circulation that might contribute to satiety (a feeling or condition of being full after eating food). The regulation of GER is therefore perceived as an important factor in appetite control (Delzenne et al., 2010). The crosstalk between the gut and the brain, might be critical in controlling appetite and energy balance as specific brain regions such as the brainstem and the hypothalamus receive signals through the vagus nerve in the form of gut hormones secreted from the enteroendocrine cells of the stomach or intestines (Cork, 2018). Importantly, the drive to consume food does not happen by chance and must be triggered to cause the behavioural process of eating. These physiological triggering events might arise from low blood glucose, low GI activity and an empty stomach; from lack of recent ingestion (Blundell et al., 2020) or a change in emptying rate. Nevertheless, these signals lead to a potential change in biomarkers, which are responsible for central and peripheral signals that might trigger an appetite response after exercise or a period of food restrictions (Murphy and Bloom, 2006). Around ~20 peptide hormones are located in the GI tract (Ahlman and Nilsson, 2001) and a large number of these are thought to influence EI (Murphy and Bloom, 2006). Essentially, five main GI hormones will be focused on within the thesis; acylated ghrelin, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), peptide tyrosine tyrosine (PYY), insulin and pancreatic polypeptide (PP), see section 2.5. Gastrointestinal Hormones for more information.

The regulation of food intake is complex, involving hormonal signalling from the gastrointestinal system associated organs such as the liver and pancreas and adipose tissue e.g. fat cells (Zouhal et al., 2019). Aldiss et al, (2018) suggests that adipose tissue is not merely an energy store, but could also be seen as a key regulator of endocrine activity especially after intense exercise. However, there has been limited research focusing on how a healthy untrained population responds to nutritional interventions in the hours after exercise. Considerable attention has been given to the theory that muscle glycogen depletion must be restored in the first two hours following intense exercise (Friedman et al., 1991) as it might therefore elicit greater lipid oxidation rates in the following 24 h period (De Feo et al., 2003). Research suggests that consuming carbohydrate in a state of low glycogen results in an increased glycogen resynthesis rate prioritising storage rather than direct energy use (Jeukendrup, 2017b). The different rates of substrate utilisation during and after exercise have clear implications for potential fat loss (De Feo, 2013). This theory warrants further investigation as increased oxidation of lipids after an exercise bout might in principle increase total active calorie expenditure boosting exercise induced weight-loss.

Food intake and energy expenditure are homeostatically regulated (Blundell et al., 2020, Mani et al., 2019, Zouhal et al., 2019) and changes to this process are thought to respond to an acute lack of immediately available nutrients that will meet the long-term needs of the body to restore equilibrium (energy balance). Limited research has targeted changes in GER, although there is growing interest within the literature committed to recognising the role of gut hormones in regulating appetite and satiety. This area is complex, and research into gastric emptying and gut hormone responses remains relatively unexplored (Crabtree and Blannin, 2015, King et al., 2010b, Wasse et al., 2013b) after exercise in healthy untrained populations.

In summary, research focusing on gastrointestinal responses and appetite regulation needs to further expand and provide definitive conclusions on gut and intestinal hormonal markers related to energy balance. The adaptive response to exercise is determined by a combination of factors: the duration, intensity and type of exercise (Jeukendrup, 2017a). The manner in which GI hormones interact after different exercise stimulus might in theory be one mechanism to explain the physiological responses seen within the postprandial period. Additionally, eliminating methodological differences between investigations, such as fasting participants prior to exercise, using the same method of exercise (cycling) and using the same manner in which food is provided to participants in a holistic and realistic approach to energy homoeostasis will allow a more comprehensive comparison between the investigations within this thesis. Grasping a better understanding of gut hormones would potentially facilitate the development of exercise and dietary interventions to modulate the prevalence of obesity, by improving effective strategies to control

weight. The mechanisms responsible for changes in appetite as a consequence of exercise are not well defined, suggesting further attention is needed to determine what process gastric emptying plays within appetite control.

1.2. Thesis Aims and Objectives

The aim of this thesis is to determine whether there is a connection between gastric emptying rate (GER) and a consequence of, 1) adjustment in exercise intensity, 2) using an intermittent mode of exercise or 3) timing of exercise by conducting multiple exercise bouts. These aims will be examined in 4 studies reported in Chapters 4, 5, 6, and 7 using healthy men:

- Study 1, reported in Chapter 4 investigated whether changing the intensity of an exercise bout was associated with alterations in appetite regulation, metabolic responses and GER following a post-exercise semi-solid meal.
- Study 2, reported in Chapter 5 questioned whether variations in exercise mode conducted at the same intensity influenced GER, appetite regulation, glucose concentrations, and 24-h EI.
- Study 3, reported in Chapter 6 was undertaken to establish whether a oneoff exercise bout would evoke different GI function, appetite regulatory hormone response and 24-h EI, compared to a split exercise bout conducted at the same intensity.
- Study 4, reported in Chapter 7 examined whether changing the timing of exercise by performing multiple modes of exercise (continuous and intermittent) during the same day were associated with variations in GI function, appetite, and metabolic responses. This study also examined post-exercise wellbeing to elucidate any recovery effects for EI.

CHAPTER 2.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Current literature has been reviewed, in relation to the GI system and the different GI-phases that combine leading to changes in GER and intestinal absorption. Changes in hormone regulation, appetite, energy balance and the impact of exercise, when intensity, mode or timing is manipulated have been discussed and evaluated. Further information regarding the potential mechanisms and physiological differences when exercising in a fasted state have been considered in relation to metabolic adaptations. This Chapter concludes by reviewing the literature relating to the recovery process in the postprandial period.

2.1. Is there an Optimal Exercise Protocol?

There is a belief that physical activity drives up perceived hunger and increases food intake (Blundell et al., 2003). This is thought to be achieved by altering the hedonic response to food and adjusting macronutrient preference or food choices (Simon et al., 2017). Therefore, the effectiveness of exercise to induce weight loss is a controversial topic, and considerable interest in the effect of exercise on appetiteregulating hormones after short-term acute exercise bouts have witnessed a significant surge in popularity (Hazell et al., 2016, Deighton and Stensel, 2014). Previous investigations have mainly focused on continuous exercise to influence post-exercise metabolism and appetite, by predominantly prescribing exercise bouts of 30-120 min at an intensity between 35-85% VO_{2Max} (Schubert et al., 2013) (Table 1). Although, within these investigations minimal analysis has been conducted using multiple gut hormones after exercise; the most popular being ghrelin, GLP-1 and PYY. Additionally Martins et al, (2007a) and Ueda et al, (2009b) are the only two investigations to date that have considered using multiple hormones (five) after an acute cycling bout, with very few investigations also observing GER as a marker of appetite control (please see Table 1).

Additional forms of physical activity such as intermittent exercise might also manipulate appetite regulation in the postprandial period. Therefore, high-intensity exercise is at the forefront of the health and fitness industry, predominantly in the form of high-intensity intermittent exercise (HIIE) or high-intensity intermittent training (HIIT) (Hazell et al., 2016). Hence, high to moderate intermittent exercise might disrupt appetite regulation and decreases fat mass by increasing exercise-induced energy expenditure (Skelly et al., 2014, Townsend et al., 2014, Hazell et al., 2012) or decreased post-exercise EI (Sim et al., 2014). HIIE and HIIT, which consists of repeated high-intensity exercise at >80% peak power output (PPO) for 30-60 seconds, separated by 4-6 min recovery periods, with sessions lasting 10-30 min (Astorino and Schubert, 2018). In addition, other high intensity sessions have been adopted, such as "all out" training intensities of \geq 100% PPO for \leq 30 seconds known as sprint interval training (SIT).

Nevertheless, concerns have been raised with the safety of using HIIT and SIT methods in clinical populations (Weston et al., 2014). Gillen et al, (2014) agrees that HIIT protocols may not be safe or tolerable for many individuals and require specialised equipment to complete exercise of this nature. For this reason, a more appropriate variant known as modified low-volume HIIT has been employed to eliminate this issue, which consists of intervals at ~85-90% HR_{max} separated by 1-2 min of rest (Gillen and Gibala, 2014, Hood et al., 2011). Vitally, Little et al, (2010) used low-volume HIIT with healthy, untrained individuals discovering improved muscle metabolic capacity, and suggesting that more research is needed to investigate whether low-volume HIIT or HIIE can improve markers of metabolic health in healthy individuals.

The scientific literature has suggested that intermittent exercise in the form of HIIT may result in greater weight loss, by reducing the perception of appetite in the post-exercise period, when compared to continuous endurance exercise (Boutcher, 2011, Heydari et al., 2012, Trapp et al., 2008). Although, when comparing exercise matched for energy expenditure, these bouts typically result in HIIE being evidently shorter in duration than continuous endurance exercise bouts (Weston et al., 2014). Therefore, in an effort to guide future research, it is important to consider how exercise alters appetite-regulating hormones released from the GI tract, with knowledge of the

potential mechanisms involved, which might suggest exercise intensity and mode are an important aspect in the regulation of appetite, which maintains body fat mass.

The majority of gut hormones which catalyse appetite fluctuation, food intake and energy balance also stimulate the process of gastric emptying by hormonal signals and activity (Liu et al., 2019). Continuous endurance exercise performed on a bike has been shown to influence GER of a solid meal consumed post-exercise (Clegg et al., 2007) and drinking a 600ml solution pre-exercise is unaffected when GER was measured after exercise (Feldman and Nixon, 1982). These two investigations measured gastric emptying as a marker of appetite regulation in response to a cycling exercise bout, while minimal evidence has been collected on the changes in GER after HIIE. Similarly, continuous exercise has been shown to influence gastric emptying, although these changes in GER were assumed by changes in gut hormones which regulate GER, not by directly measuring GER (Zouhal et al., 2019), suggesting that, more research is needed in response to different exercise bouts provoking a change in GER after exercise.

Finally, the acute exercise bouts that have been prescribed have resulted in inadequate clarity regarding an optimal exercise protocol. Furthermore, there is an insufficient definition to describe the bout of exercise employed, as vastly different terms have been used within the literature when prescribing cycling as a form of exercise with terminology such as, 'strenuous' 'high' 'intense' 'aerobic' 'moderate' 'vigorous' being used to describe an exercise bout performed at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ and astonishingly in some cases no terminology has been used at all to describe the exercise bout being conducted (please see summary in Table 1). This has caused confusion in pinpointing the exercise intensity or mode, that specifically affects appetite regulation and hormonal control after exercise. Future studies need to clarify exercise protocol terminology and the impact of various forms of exercise that have recently engaged the public interest such as intermittent exercise in the form of interval or HIIT.

Study	Participants	Duration	Intensity	Definition	Gut Hormones	GER
Feldman et al. (1982)	M & W (2,3)	45 min	50 % VO _{2Max} 70 % VO _{2Max}	Strenuous Strenuous	Gastrin	↔ 600 mL Liquid Consumed Pre-EXE (EXE &CON)
King et al. (1994)	M (12)	60 min	30 % VO _{2Max} 70 % VO _{2Max}	Low High	NR	NR
King et al. (1996)	W (13)	50 min	70 % VO _{2Max}	Intense	NR	NR
Hubert et al. (1998)	W (11)	40 min	70 % VO _{2Max}	NR	NR	NR
Melby et al. (2002)	W (13)	75 min	65 % VO _{2Max}	Mod	NR	NR
Clegg et al. (2007)	M (8)	60 min	60 % HR _{Max}	Mod	NR	\uparrow Post-EXE Solid Meal T _{1/2} (208 ± 98; CON 238 ± 137)
Erdmann et al. (2007)	M & W (2,5)	30 min	50 W 100 W	Low High	Ghrelin, Insulin	NR
	M& W (4,3)	30, 60,120 min	50W	Low	Ghrelin, Insulin	NR
Martins et al. (2007a)	M & W (6,6)	60 min	65 % HR _{Max}	NR	Ghrelin, Insulin, GLP-1, PYY, PP	NR
Ueda et al. (2009b)	M (14)	60 min	50 % VO _{2Max}	Aerobic	Glucagon, Ghrelin, Insulin, GLP-1, PYY	NR

 Table 1. Acute Exercise Literature which used Cycling to effect Appetite, Food Intake, Energy Balance or GER

Ueda et al. (2009a)	M (10)	30 min	50 % VO _{2Max} 75 % VO _{2Max}	Mod High	Insulin, GLP-1, PYY	NR
Laan et al. (2010)	M& W (9, 10)	35 min	70 % HRR	Aerobic	NR	NR
Becker et al. (2012)	M (8)	60 min	70 % VO _{2Max}	Aerobic	Ghrelin	NR
Hagobian et al. (2012)	M & W (11, 10)	60 min	70 % VO _{2Max}	Acute EXE	Insulin, Ghrelin, Insulin, PYY	NR
Jokisch et al. (2012)	M (10)	45 min	65-75 % HR _{Max}	NR	NR	NR
Deighton et al. (2013b)	M (12)	60 min; 10 x 4 min	60 % VO _{2Max} 85-90% VO _{2Max}	SSE HIIE	РҮҮ	NR
Hazell et al. (2017)	M (10)	30 min 30 min 6 x 30s	65 % [†] O _{2Max} 85 % [†] O _{2Max} *100%	Mod High SIT	GLP-1, PYY	NR
Holliday et al. (2017c)	M (12)	15, 30, 45 min	80 % VO _{2Max}	High	Ghrelin, GLP-1, PYY	NR
Benedetti et al. (2021)	M (30)	60 min	70 % VO _{2Max}	Mod/ Vig	Ghrelin, Insulin,PYY	NR

Abbreviations and symbols: M; Men; W, women; Mod; moderate intensity; EXE = Exercise, SSE; steady state exercise; *All-out, 100%; HII, high-intense intermittent exercise, SIT; sprint interval training; Vig, vigorous; HRR; heart rate reserve; \dot{VO}_{2Max} , maximum oxygen consumption; MR_{Max}, heart rate max; CON, control; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide-1; PYY, peptide YY; PP, pancreatic polypeptide; *NR*; Not Reported; \uparrow , increased; \leftrightarrow , unchanged.

2.2. Function of the Gastrointestinal System

The gastrointestinal (GI) system comprises of a long passageway known as the alimentary canal which starts at the mouth and ends with the anus passing through the oesophagus, stomach, small intestine, large intestine, and rectum. Associated organs to the digestive system are the liver, gallbladder and pancreas (Nigam and Knight, 2017). Along the course of this journey, food is broken down and nutrients are extracted while waste material is disposed of as faeces (Van de Graaff, 1986). The primary functions of the GI tract are characterised as four distinct processes; digestion, absorption, excretion and protection (Cheng et al., 2010).

There are three main stages to gastric secretion; cephalic, gastric and intestinal phase (Katschinski, 2000). Starting with the cephalic phase, which begins before food enters the stomach by thought, sight, smell, taste and chewing (Feldman and Richardson, 1986). The gastric phase begins in the stomach where gastric glands secrete different products from several different cells (Table 2) and the simple columnar epithelium forms folds know as gastric pits. The secretion of gastric acid and intrinsic factor from the parietal cells make the initial content of the stomach very acidic > 2 pH (Dockray, 1999). Intrinsic factor is a glycoprotein which helps the absorption of folate (vitamin B_{12}) in the GI tract (Pavelka and Roth, 2010). The function of the acidic environment within the stomach is to kill potential pathogens in a non-immunological defence (Hunt et al., 2015) and begin the structural breakdown of proteins. Furthermore, pepsinogen enzymes react to the low pH and start activating pepsin. The peptide bounds of ingested protein are not directly affected by the acidic gastric acid conditions within the stomach but are digestive by pepsin which is optimised by the low pH (Van de Graaff, 1986).

Finally, the duodenum responds to the delivery of chyme by activating further enzymes, hormones and neural reflexes, which is known as the intestinal phase (Adler et al., 1991). The three phases overlap and interact contributing to overall GI motor response to food ingestion (Katschinski, 2000).

Cell	Secretion	Region of Stomach	References
Goblet	Mucus	Fundus, Cardiac, pyloric	Pelaseyed (2014)
Parietal	Gastric acid (HCI) Gastric intrinsic factor (GIF)	Fundus, Body	Allen (2005)
Chief	Pepsinogen, Gastric Lipase	Fundus, body	Hunt (2015)
Argentaffin	Serotonin, Histamine	Fundus, cardiac, pyloric	Nagai (1976)
G Cell	Gastrin	Pyloric antrum	Hunt (2015)

Table 2: Stomach Mucosal Cell's Gastric Secretion

2.2.1. Gastrointestinal Wall

The human gastrointestinal wall consists of four main layers; the mucosa, submucosa, muscularis propria, and serosa. The mucosa is the innermost layer, which surrounds the lumen of the GI tract. The rough, longitudinal folds which increase the surface area play an important role in the overall digestion process, with the support from epithelial cells, which brace gastric glands that secrete different gastric juices and a lamina propria binding layer of connective tissue (Bornhorst and Singh, 2012). External to these components there are two thin layers of smooth muscle called the muscularis mucosae. The mucosa is fundamental across the length of the GI tract as within the stomach it allows distension which increases capacity, absorption within the small intestine, and water extraction from the large intestine. With goblet cells secreting mucus throughout the GI tract (Van de Graaff, 1986).

The sub-mucosa is a very vascular layer containing a large network of capillary blood vessels where nutrients released from digestive food forming chyme within the lumen are absorbed through the mucosa and enter the vessels of the submucosa. It also contains the submucosal plexus (plexus of Meissner). The GI tract is innervated by sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the autonomic nervous system. The vagus nerves supply parasympathetic stimulation through the celiac ganglion to the stomach, pancreas, gallbladder and small intestine, whereas the large intestine receives impulses from the inferior mesenteric ganglia from the sacral region (Fung and Kong, 2018). Stimulation of the parasympathetic components increase peristaltic activity and muscle tone. The muscularis layer has two main muscle layers. The inner circular layer moves food peristaltically through the intestine and mechanically grinds and crushes food, at the same time as mixing digestive chemicals through the chyme. The longitudinal layer forces the chyme further along the digestive system (Cheng et al., 2010). These movements are controlled by the myenteric plexus (plexus of Auerbach), which is found between the two muscle layers (Van de Graaff, 1986). Therefore, the outer serosa layer is the final lining of the GI tract which is a protective layer containing fibrous connective tissue which prevent external penetration.

2.2.2. Mouth

The process of digestion begins with the ingestion of a food product that are broken down both mechanically and chemically, using enzymes to separate food into simple components. The mouth is mainly responsible for food fragmentation (Bornhorst and Paul Singh, 2014). The initial chemical breakdown of food begins in the oral cavity during mastication, where ingested solid and semi-solid foods are broken down into small particles using teeth, and the injection of salivary enzymes amylase (breakdown of carbohydrates) and lingual lipase (breakdown of fats) start the digestion process of food; although saliva is also important to help the bolus travel from the mouth to the stomach by swallowing, via the oesophagus (Foegeding et al., 2011).

2.2.3. Stomach

The stomach is the second major compartment where food is mechanically separated and therefore the stomach is critical for the release of nutrients and the formation of chyme. The stomach is a muscular J-shaped organ, which frequently has different variations. It is located beneath the diaphragm in the left hypochondriac epigastric region of the abdominal cavity. This organ is divided into four major compartments: cardia, fundus, corpus (body) and pylorus (Figure 1). The cardia is the first area of the stomach which is separated from the oesophagus by the lower oesophageal sphincter. The dome-shaped area of the upper curvature of the stomach is the fundus, which is often filled with air (Liu et al., 2021). The body which is the largest portion and usually stores food and the pylorus is the lowest section of the stomach that is divided into two parts the antrum that mixes the food with digestive juice and the pylorus canal that controls the transport of food into the duodenum (Somaratne et al., 2020).

The shape of the stomach depends on the contents and surrounding organs of the abdominal cavity (Kojima and Kangawa, 2005). However, individual variations can be affected by age, body type and respiratory phase (Liu et al., 2021). The stomach when empty is a slender cylindrical organ which will increase in size and shape after consuming fluid and food by the anterior wall increasing the area attached to the abdominal wall. During inspiration the stomach freely moves downwards, whilst it will be elevated in expiration regardless of the content or size (Burdan et al., 2012). The stomach can be subdivided into the proximal and distal regions. The proximal region represents the cardia, fundus and half of the corpus (body), regulates the gastric emptying of liquids and receives the food from the oesophagus (Urbain et al., 1989). The distal region contains the remaining half of the corpus (body), and the pylorus which mixes, folds and grinds predominantly solid food in order for it to be pumped through the pyloric sphincter into the small intestine (Kelly, 1980).

The movement of chyme through the digestive system is known as peristalsis or the antral contraction wave which begins in the stomach (Singh and Singh, 2010). As food enters the stomach an involuntarily contraction and relaxation of smooth muscle in the gastric wall is underpinned by an omnipresent electrical activity of the membrane potential, that passes through the GI musculature in a coordinated fashion (Cheng et al., 2010). The slow waves from muscle moment within the stomach, serve to move the smooth muscle cells membrane potential from a state of low probability, allowing sufficient Ca²⁺ influx leading to smooth muscle contraction (Sanders, 2008). This causes a 'slow wave' to occur at the fundus and advances towards the pylorus in regular-peristaltic contractions which start shallow at the beginning and gradually strengthens as it progresses towards the pylorus sphincter (Liu et al., 2021). When the sphincter is closed the food is pushed back into the body of the stomach allowing mixing process to begin. This will continue until the chyme is emptied from the stomach, known as gastric emptying. During a fed state 2-3 antral contraction waves happen approximately every minute (Bornhorst and Singh, 2012).

Understanding the mechanisms that govern nutrient release from food within the stomach may predict the nutrient bioavailability (Somaratne et al., 2020). How solid

foods are broken down and digested within the stomach remains a fundamental research area, as uncertainties surrounding the specific mechanisms within the stomach, such as gastric juice diffusion, nutrient release and particle size reduction process (Drechsler and Ferrua, 2016), might all be contributing factors affecting GER pre-post exercise.



Figure 1: The structural arrangement, and anatomy of the human stomach. Adapted from, Somaratne et al., 2020. Image from, anatomy.tv/ powered by primal pictures. Colours on the diagram represent; Blue; vein, Red; artery, Green; sphincter, and Black anatomy structure.

2.2.4. Small Intestine

The small intestine is on average 4-6 m in length and begins distal to the pylorus it is comprised of three sections duodenum, jejunum, and ileum. Chyme travels through the small intestine at 5-20 mm/s using weak peristaltic contractions (Cheng et al., 2010). This results in a transit time of between 3-5 h for nutrients to be absorbed from the chyme before entering the large intestine. The entry point of the common bile duct and pancreatic duct fuse before entering the duodenum with the sphincter of oddi controlling the flow of bile and pancreatic juice to the small intestine (Knight et al., 2019). Chyme that enters the duodenum is extremely acidic ~2 pH (Dockray, 1999) and this sudden increase in acidity stimulates the release of hormones from the enteroendocrine cells of the duodenum to secrete; secretin and cholecystokinin (CCK) (Fried et al., 1991). Secretin stimulates the liver to release bile, and the pancreas to release pancreatic juice rich in bicarbonate ions, giving it a strong alkaline content (~8 pH) neutralising the acidic conditions (Knight et al., 2019). This occurs for only a short time, as the bicarbonate neutralises the acidic conditions resulting in a negative feedback loop where the effect of secretin inhibits its own secretion (Van de Graaff, 1986). Whereas CCK is released simultaneously to increase the delivery of pancreatic enzymes (trypsin, lipase and amylase) which need a balanced pH to function. CCK also has a number of important functions such as preventing the duodenum from overfilling, by inhibiting gastric emptying (Konturek et al., 1990), stimulating the gallbladder and the sphincter of oddi to release bile, and therefore indirectly increase pancreatic juices (Hansen et al., 2020), and finally activate brunner's glands to continue to secrete a watery fluid containing mucus and bicarbonate ions (Sedano et al., 2015).

However, nutrient absorption occurs mainly within the jejunum and ileum, where the villi are longer and found in greater density (Knight et al., 2019). The mucosa of the small intestine secretes a number of enzymes that are relevant for specific digestion processes such as sucrase, maltase and lactase which split carbohydrates. Peptidases for protein digestion and lipases for breaking fats. These enzymes are formed within the mucosal cells and the majority of the digestive process occurs on the surfaces or the inside of these cell within the digestive system (Van de Graaff, 1986).

2.2.5. Large Intestine

The large intestine is approximately 1.5m long and comprises of the caecum, colon, rectum, anal canal, and the anus. It is connected to the small intestine by the ileocaecal valve. The large intestine structure is much wider than the small intestine and the walls of the mucosa are completely empty of villi but contain goblet cells in abundance (Nigam, 2019). The function of the large intestine is to absorb water from the remaining indigestible chyme (Goulet et al., 2009) and to allow fermentation via gut bacteria, that metabolise polysaccharides into short chain fatty acids and absorb vitamin K and biotin (Yang and Yu, 2018). This is followed by excretion, the large intestine is primarily concerned with desiccation and compaction of waste, with storage in the sigmoid colon and rectum prior to elimination from the GI tract by defecation.

2.3. Absorption of Major Nutrients

Absorption involves transferring digested nutrients, water, and electrolytes from the lumen of the small intestine through the epithelial cells of the villi by active transport and passive diffusion which then enter the capillary network (Goodman, 2010). Understanding how each macronutrient is digested, and how absorption is achieved, is a fundamental characteristic of this thesis as food/meals provided are mixed macronutrient semi-solid meals.

2.3.1. Carbohydrate

Carbohydrates can be ingested in several structures, monosaccharides also called simple sugars (glucose and fructose) which do not have to be broken down any further, disaccharides which are built from multiple monosaccharides (lactose and sucrose) and complex carbohydrates polysaccharides (Starch cellulose) from plants and glycogen from animal cells (Goodman, 2010). Initial digestion of polysaccharides begins within the mouth, using salivary amylase which can digest up to 30-40% of complex carbohydrate before it reaches the small intestine (Goodman, 2010), where pancreatic juice continues to break down complex carbohydrates (starch) using pancreatic amylase which hydrolyses polysaccharides to form disaccharides (maltose) (Southgate, 1995), before absorption of any carbohydrate from polysaccharides, additional enzymatic digestion is required, using a disaccharidases found within the

brush borders of intestinal epithelial cells. Amylopectin and amylose found within potatoes, rice, and bread uses β -glucoamylase and isomaltase to form the monosaccharide (glucose). Sucrose found in table sugar and commercialised desserts use sucrase to form glucose and fructose and lactose found within milk and milk products use lactase to form glucose and galactose (Southgate, 1995). Disaccharidases are highly prevalent within the jejunum to maximise the uptake of the monosaccharides through glucose transporters, contributing to membrane digestion and absorption across epithelial cells (Semenza et al., 1984)

Glucose (and galactose) are transported across the luminal membrane by the Na⁺ -coupled secondary active transport symporter (two molecules moving into the cell in the same direction), known as Na⁺ -glucose transporter 1 (SGLT1) which allow glucose (and galactose) in conjunction with sodium ions to move into the cytoplasm of the cell (Jeukendrup, 2017b). SGLTs do not directly utilise ATP to transport glucose (and galactose) but rely on an electrochemical gradient generated by Na/K⁺ ATP-ase sodium potassium pump located at the basolateral membrane as a source of chemical potential (Ferraris and Diamond, 1997). It is important to add, fructose does not use SGLT1 to enter enterocytes cell, but instead a glucose transporter (GLUTs) specifically GLUT5 via facilitated diffusion (Ferraris and Diamond, 1997). All three monosaccharides (glucose, galactose, and fructose) use GLUT2 which is sodium independent and allows the monosaccharides to leave the intestinal cell on the basolateral side of the cell and enter the systemic circulation. The capacity of GLUT2 to transport monosaccharides across a concentration gradient is believed to be very large (Kellett, 2001, Kellett et al., 2008) as well as the ability of GLUT5 to transport fructose (Kishi et al., 1999), although the ability of SGLT1 to transport glucose (and galactose) into the cell might be a rate limiting step in the absorption of glucose (and galactose) (Jeukendrup and McLaughlin, 2011).

There is little evidence for other carbohydrate transporters to SGLT1 and GLUT5 at the luminal membrane and GLUT2 at the basolateral membrane (Jeukendrup, 2017b). After the monosaccharides are in circulation, other important GLUT's help cells within the body utilis glucose; GLUT1, blood-brain barrier; GLUT2, expressed in beta cells of the pancreas, liver and kidneys; GLUT3, neurons and within the brain cells; GLUT4, is an insulin responsive glucose transporter, that is

found in the heart, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue and liver. It is found deep in the cytoplasm of cells and translocates to the plasma membrane when insulin is located (Navale and Paranjape, 2016).

2.3.2. Protein

Protein is consumed in a number of different ways from animal sources (meat, poultry, fish, eggs, and dairy products) and plant sources (nuts, seeds, legumes, beans, and some cereal/grain) within the diet (Górska-Warsewicz et al., 2018, Laskowski et al., 2018). Each protein consists of a number of amino acids connected by peptide bonds which are hydrolyzed by proteases and peptidases to form tripeptides, dipeptides and single amino acids in the lumen of the GI tract (Wu, 2016).

A variety of proteolytic enzymes are necessary to break down dietary protein into small peptides as certain enzymes break down specific peptide bonds (Goodman, 2010) before getting absorbed into enterocytes. Protein enzymes can be subdivided into endopeptidases (attack certain bonds making large polypeptides) or exopeptidases (cleave off one amino acid from the carboxy or amino terminus) (Heda et al., 2021). Pepsinogen is secreted by the gastric mucosa, also known as a zymogen, as gastric acid alters the conformation so it can become active pepsin (Gritti et al., 2000). Pepsin begins the breakdown of proteins within the stomach before the chyme enters the small intestine, where pancreatic protease enzymes are secreted by the pancreas as further zymogens (Goodman, 2010). Trypsinogen is cleaved to form trypsin by enteropeptidase, an enzyme produced by cells of the duodenum, resulting in the subsequent activation of chymotrypsonogen, proelastase, and procarboxypeptidases by trypsin which catalyses the cleavage of the pancreatic zymogens to form chymotrypsin, elastase, carboxypeptidases and aminopeptidases (Thrower et al., 2006). Active protein enzymes cleave polypeptides into oligopeptides. Any free amino acids begin to be absorbed by specific transport proteins, which facilitate the uptake of amino acids across the intestinal cell via a Na⁺ dependent symporter (Bröer, 2008). The oligopeptides are attacked by exopeptidases carboxypeptidases and aminopeptidases which are located on the brush border membrane which form more amino acids and di- and tripeptides which are also absorbed into the enterocytes through the di/tripeptide transporter (PepT1) (Buyse et al., 2001). The H⁺ coupled symporter uses the electrochemical gradient from the lumen to the cytoplasm and the H^+ gradient is maintained by the Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in the brush border membranes and helped by the removal of Na⁺ from the cell from the basolateral membranes Na⁺, K⁺ -ATPases pump (Mackenzie et al., 1996), once within the cell the di- and tripeptides are hydrolysed using intracellular peptidases to form free amino acids (Goodman, 2010). These amino acids leave the cell from the basolateral membrane via a Na⁺ independent facilitated diffusion transporter and enter the blood.

2.3.3. Fat

The major sources of fat in the UK diet are oils, meat, eggs, fish and dairy products (Gurr et al., 1989). These fats consist of dietary lipids, triacylglycerols, phospholipids, glycolipids and cholesterol and the source of these fatty acids can be subdivided into saturated fatty acid ~51%, monounsaturated 35% and polyunsaturated 14 % of the total fat consumed within the diet (Gurr, 1988).

Digestion of lipids starts within the mouth with lingual lipase and continues in the stomach with gastric lipase, see Table 2 (Hunt et al., 2015). The presence of fat in the duodenum signals the release of CCK and stimulates the gallbladder to contract, releasing bile (Fried et al., 1991), and with the help of secretin, the injection of pancreatic enzymes containing fat digesters, lipases, esterases and procolipase (Ahlman and Nilsson, 2001). As the lumen of the small intestine contains a large volume of water, these partly digested fats which are hydrophobic, move together forming a fat globules that is then further emulsified by bile salts forming emulsion droplets (Sarker et al., 2016). These emulsion droplets then allow procolipase activated by trypsin forming colipase to bind with the dietary fat droplets, supporting the enzyme action of lipase to hydrolyse triglycerides at position 1 and 3 of the glycerol moiety, producing two free fatty acids and one, 2-monoglyceride resulting in the lipolysis proceeds from the outside in further breakdown phospholipids and cholesterol with the help from esterases (Goodman, 2010). During the hydrolysis, emulsion oil-water droplets dissociate into multilamellar liquid crystals, using bile salts once more to form mixed micelles containing; cholesterol, 2-monoacylglycerols, lysophosphoipids, free fatty acids and bile slats (Goodman, 2010). The micelles then move down the small intestine towards the jejunum, where the mixed micelles reach the lipid bilayer of the enterocytes, resulting in the low-pH acidic surface of the brushborder membranes created by the Na⁺/ H⁺ pump exchanges, enabling lipids and free

fatty acids to diffuse across the lipid bilayer, leaving the bile salts in the lumen which are later absorbed in the terminal ileum. Some long chain fatty acids which cannot pass through the water layer beneath the brush-border membranes are further broken down by bacteria within the colon (large intestine) (Jeppesen and Mortensen, 1998). Some small fatty acids with chain lengths shorter than twelve carbon atoms (glycerol) are absorbed directly into the portal blood, before being metabolised by the liver, not contribute to adipose tissue stores (Gurr et al., 1989).

The separated lipids that transferred across the apical membrane (free fatty acids, monoglycerides and cholesterol) move freely into the cytoplasm before being transported by fatty acid binding proteins (FABPs) to the smooth endoplasmic reticulum (sER) to be reconstituted into triglycerides, by combining free fatty acids and monoacylglycerides using several enzymes (Goodman, 2010). These reformed triglycerides move to the rough endoplasmic reticulum (rER) where microsomal triglyceride transport protein (MTP) catalyses triglyceride, cholesterol, phospholipids and a protein called apolipoprotein B48 (ApoB48) to form a prechylomicron (Mansbach and Gorelick, 2007). This prechylomicron fat partially accepts the rCR simultaneously as the sER releases apoprotein AI (apoAI) combined and completed within the golgi apparatus forming a chylomicron (Siddiqi et al., 2006).

These chylomicrons are secreted into lacteal lymphatic vessels (lacteal lymph) and pass via the thoracic duct to the jugular vein adjacent to the subclavian vein (Randolph and Miller, 2014). The role of the chylomicron is to transport lipids between tissues via the blood with the apolipoprotein stabilising the lipid particle and also providing the tissues with a means to recognising the lipoprotein (Goldstein and Brown, 1977). Large amounts of the chylomicron triacylglycerols content are hydrolysed by lipoprotein lipases in the capillaries of the muscles, adipose tissues and heart cells although some incomplete particles with less triacylglycerol and more cholesterol are taken to the liver to form bile and new membrane structures (Gurr et al., 1989).

2.4. Gastric Emptying

Gastric emptying is a major research area for understanding the process and kinetics of food digestion and absorption (Liu et al., 2021). Gastric emptying is the

process by which the stomach empties its contents into the duodenum, where macronutrients are absorbed through the gut wall, and delivered around the body for metabolic processes (Bornhorst and Paul Singh, 2014). The process of gastric emptying is split into four phases (tonic contractions, peristaltic contractions, retropulsion, and emptying) (Bellmann et al., 2016). As food enters the stomach, tonic contractions move the food towards the distal stomach area, by contracting the proximal stomach. This is then followed by peristaltic movement of the stomach walls, which forces the food towards the pylorus, mixing and grinding the food into chyme; meanwhile the pylorus sphincter contracts and closes, resulting in the arrival of the peristaltic wave forcing the chyme back into the body of the stomach, this action is known as retropulsion which occurs multiple times in order for food to be emulsified with enzymes and gastric juices (Liu et al., 2021). The pylorus partly opens allowing liquid and small particles to empty, while large undigested particles (>2mm) remain in the stomach for further mixing known as a lag phase (Collins et al., 1991). Therefore, gastric emptying is an extremely significant step in the overall production of cellular energy. The process of emptying of the stomach into the small intestine is affected by a multitude of complex factors, with the underlying mechanisms still not completely clear. Even so, it is thought that in most conditions an internal feed-back mechanism is responsible (Delzenne et al., 2010), some details of which is described below.

2.4.1. Factors that Affect Gastric Emptying

Liquid foods empty faster in comparison to solid foods, this is because when liquid food is ingested it is quickly distributed throughout the stomach, allowing motor activity of the proximal stomach to force liquid food towards the pyloric sphincter, increasing pressure in the stomach and emptying rate (Goyal et al., 2019). The emptying of noncaloric liquid, such a water and dilute electrolyte solutions, begins immediately in proportion to the volume of liquid in the stomach being expelled in a single exponential manner, while nutrient rich solutions show a linear emptying curve (Collins et al., 1991).

The osmolality has been suggested to influence GER, mainly for solutions with no nutrient content (Hunt and Pathak, 1960), although this is not the case for fluids which contain energy (Rehrer et al., 1993). Using glucose polymers instead of glucose monomer is a method of changing the osmolality of a solution without effecting the carbohydrate content, however little to no difference in GER has been found regardless of the difference in osmolality (Brouns et al., 1995). Vist and Maughan (1995), support osmolality influencing GER, but the carbohydrate content appears to have a greater influence as the increased osmolality slowed gastric emptying at higher carbohydrate solution concentrations. This is thought to be in response to the osmolality of contents in the upper small intestine also strongly influencing the rate of emptying (Hunt, 1960).

Solid food empties more slowly, as large numbers of indigestible particles sit within the proximal stomach waiting for tonic contractions to mix and separate particles, known as the inter-digestive phase, which results in a slower emptying time, as these larger particles are unable to leave the stomach. High-caloric liquid solutions empty faster than solid food, but slower than low-calorie liquids. Hence, Maurer (2012), suggests there is an interaction between nutrients and small intestinal mucosal receptors, by controlling the amount of chyme which enters the duodenum. Kong and Singh (2008), stated GER ranges between 10-40 mL/min after a meal and subsequently is reduced to 2-4 mL/min as a result in pressure difference between the stomach and the duodenum. Rehrer et al (1989), revealed that gastric emptying falls exponentially with time, and during any time period a constant percentage of the consumed material that is within the stomach would have been emptied.

Energy density has a vital role in the regulation of gastric emptying as Goyal et al, (2019) found that 50% of water emptied from the stomach within 10 min, whereas ~ 40% of a high-calorie liquid remained within the stomach after 2 h of ingestion. Unsurprisingly, gastric emptying is therefore affected by the energy density of the ingested solution and/or the osmolality and energy content of the ingested solution or food which independently affects the rate of gastric emptying and consequently substrate delivery to the small intestines (Noakes et al., 1991). This evidence continues to support the findings of Costill and Saltin (1974), as approximately 65% of a water solution, 50% of a 7% carbohydrate solution and 25% of a 15% carbohydrate solution emptied during each successive 10min period, supporting the fact energy density of the ingested solution plays a major role in how fast the stomach empties. The greater the energy content of a solution (Maughan and

Leiper, 1996, Costill and Saltin, 1974) and/or meal (Hunt and Stubbs, 1975) the slower emptying rate.

Increasing the intragastric volume within a test meal accelerates GER for both liquid and solids meals (Leiper, 2015, Moore et al., 1984, Hunt and Stubbs, 1975, Costill and Saltin, 1974). The steady rate of energy delivery has been associated with a greater meal volume (Hunt et al., 1985). Nevertheless, more recent investigations found that increasing the volume of the meal within the stomach causes gastric emptying to become faster, although energy density delays the emptying rate (Camps et al., 2016, Kwiatek et al., 2009). The rate of gastric emptying increases in proportion to the volume ingested, with the maximal rate of emptying at a volume of 600ml showing a delivery rate up to 40 ml·min⁻¹ could be achieved when very large volumes of fluid were ingested. However, this change has also been shown within solid meals regardless of energy content, as the meal volume increases so does the rate of gastric emptying (Moore et al., 1984). Therefore, the volume of the food consumed, and energy density remain strong predictors of GER when consuming food before, during or after exercise.

Macronutrient (carbohydrate, fat, and protein) content of a meal or solution can effect GER, as this usually results in a difference in energy content or density (Hunt and Stubbs, 1975). Hunt (1980), suggests regardless of energy content; fat, carbohydrate, and protein slows down gastric emptying to the same degree when each meal is calorie matched. Increasing the energy content of the ingested meal will increase the osmolality. This osmolality increase results in a slower gastric emptying rate (Vist and Maughan, 1995). Among macronutrients, protein and fatty dense foods are slower at emptying compared to high carbohydrate meal (Tougas et al., 2000, Cecil et al., 1999). The presence of different macronutrients stimulates the secretion of different peptides from the cells within the gut and these will be discussed in more detail within (section 2.5 Gastrointestinal Hormones).

Blood glucose concentrations have been observed to influence gastric emptying (Chang et al., 2010), and this has been shown in healthy and diabetic subjects (Rayner et al., 2001). Subjects that are within a hyperglycaemic state (~15 mmol/L) had a delayed gastric emptying response to solid and liquid substitute meal (Fraser et al., 1990). Schvarcz et al (1997), found even when blood glucose was at a lower blood

glucose range 8 mmol/L, gastric emptying is still slower when compared to baseline glucose values of ~4 mmol/L. Nevertheless, gastric emptying has been shown to be accelerated in periods of hypoglycaemia, this is thought to be a response to increased delivery of nutrients to the small ingestion for absorption (Russo et al., 2005). Interestedly, the gastrointestinal system responds to an increased delivery of macronutrients over a period of time, suggesting a further increase in supply of nutrients to the blood. For example, several different studies have demonstrated carbohydrate absorption can be accelerated by increasing the intake of carbohydrate (glucose) within the diet for more than three days (Cunningham et al., 1991b, Horowitz et al., 1996). Importantly, Yau et al (2014) revealed that ingesting fructose, another monosaccharide for 3 days accelerated GER, for fructose but not glucose. Furthermore, Cunningham et al (1991a) and Castiglione et al (2002), exposed that increasing fats, a different macronutrient, for 14 days within the diet also accelerated gastric emptying of a test meal high in fats although carbohydrate meals were emptied at the same rate before and after a high-fat diet. This strengthens the understanding that the GI system is highly adaptable, as dietary changes can affect how a macronutrient empties from the stomach, showing adaptations in GER within three days of changing a dietary routine, when carbohydrates are increased.

GER has been shown to be affected by the time of day, as diurnal variation has been observed (Kentish et al., 2013). Goo et al (1987) found that healthy males had a delayed gastric emptying half-time after an evening meal (20:00) compared to an meal consumed in the morning (08:00) only within solid food not liquid. More recently, McIver et al (2019), found a semi-solid meal emptied slower in the evening in an fasted state compared to a morning fasted trial. It is thought that differences in the method used when measuring time of day changes to GER have made it difficult to compare between studies, as the choice of meal composition, positioning of the participant, and how often the measurements are taken could have influenced the result (Grammaticos et al., 2015, Szarka and Camilleri, 2009b, Szarka and Camilleri, 2009a). Therefore, within the current thesis GER was measured at a similar time period between 10.30-14.30 in order to prevent time of day difference between emptying rate with a consistent semi solid meal provided.

Other factors that have been shown to influence GER, but are less conclusive, are body posture and temperature of consumed food. Several studies have shown that the temperature of liquid consumed has a slight effect on GER but this only last for ~10 min post ingestion (Sun et al., 1988, Costill and Saltin, 1974). The meal consumed appears to rapidly return to normal core levels, this may be why GER is unaffected (Sun et al., 1988). Others have demonstrated GER was delayed only when a warm liquid meal was consumed (Troncon and Iazigi, 1988). Although, Mishima et al (2009), reported a hot meal accelerated GER, suggesting there is inconsistency within the literature focusing on the effect of meal temperature on GER. This is also the same for postural positioning when measuring GER, as lying in a supine position has been reported to slow emptying compared with sitting or standing (Moore et al., 1988). This was thought to be in releasing to gravity as the intragastric distribution was affected. Whilst other investigations observed no change in GER when postural position was changed (Steingoetter et al., 2006, Doran et al., 1998). Once again, showing inconsistencies may be down to research methods between meal size, volume, or sample size.

2.4.2. How Exercise Affects Gastric Emptying

Gastric emptying could influence exercise-induced changes in appetite and energy intake. This may also contribute to changes in gastric symptoms and the availability of nutrients during exercise, and therefore performance and recovery (Horner et al., 2015). The majority of evidence suggests GER is delayed during strenuous exercise (Leiper et al., 2005, Leiper et al., 2001a, Neufer et al., 1989, Fordtran and Saltin, 1967) and shown to increase emptying rate (Neufer et al., 1986, Cammack et al., 1982), unchanged during moderate exercise (Feldman and Nixon, 1982), and in an early investigation, moderate exercise accelerated GER (Hellenbrandt and Tepper, 1934). The dynamic between exercise and GER is yet to be fully defined as the majority of studies have focused on improving performance within an athletic population and the implications of exercise-induced alterations in GER for weight management strategy is under examined (Horner et al., 2015).

Therefore, it is well documented that GER during exercise is effected by exercise intensity > 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ when consuming an carbohydrate solution (Costill and Saltin, 1974). This result was further supported by Leiper et al (2001a), as a

carbohydrate-electrolyte drink delayed GER supplementary during intermittent exercise to a greater extent than continuous exercise (66% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$) or rest, showing an effect in mode of exercise. Leiper et al (2001b), additionally discovered a carbohydrate solution emptied from the stomach faster during walking than during a five-a-side football (USA: soccer) match, once again showing that the intermittent nature of exercise manipulates GER. One explanation is that walking is inherently lower intensity and the delay in GER that has been observed during exercise exceeding 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ has been attributed to a reduction in splanchnic blood flow, where walking may have less sympathetic drive (Evans et al., 2016, Brouns and Beckers, 1993). Support for this has been shown by a change in celiac artery blood flow (CABF) which supplies the stomach, pancreas, spleen, and liver with blood. Kashima et al (2017), revealed CABF was profoundly lower post-exercise, leading to a slower GER 5-min after exercise compared to 30-min, during which CABF had returned to baseline values.

Investigations examining how nutrients affect GER within the post-exercise period such as Clayton et al (2014), revealed a hypertonic 10% glucose-electrolyte drink emptied from the stomach at a slower rate compared with a hypotonic 2% glucose-electrolyte drink, when a volume of 150% of body mass lost (BML) was ingested ~30 after intermittent exercise. Evans et al (2018a), demonstrated that whey protein empties from the stomach at a slower rate than maltodextrin when consumed post-exercise. Although, in an additional investigation Evans et al (2016), provided participants with a 5% glucose solution 30-min after low-intensity and high-intensity intermittent exercise or rest found no differences in GER characteristics; where Kashima (2018), discovered timing of post-resistance exercise nutrient ingestion of a carbohydrate-protein solution delayed GER when consumed 5-min after exercise, but was unaffected after 30-min. Subsequently, the majority of literature to date which has measured the effects of GER post-exercise have predominantly used solutions which contain carbohydrate, protein or mixed carbohydrate-protein supplements. It could be considered that slower GER is detected when the meal, solution or liquid ingested provides a sufficient challenge to the gut (Chey et al., 2001), strongly suggesting that volume (meal, solution or liquid) is a major indicator of GER. As yet, minimal investigations have attempted to enhance how using a mixed macronutrient meal that

provides participants with a standardised energy content and volume might fluctuate GER after exercise, affecting nutrient delivery for recovery.

2.4.3. Measurement of Gastric Emptying

There have been a number of different methods used to assess gastric emptying, some of these methods are preferred within research or clinical settings, each method has advantages and disadvantages. Regardless of technique, standard terms and values are used to describe gastric emptying. Total emptying time, $T_{1/2}$. This is the time taken for half of the meal volume to empty (Hunt and Spurrell, 1951). T_{lag} is the time at which the lag phase ends, and the emptying begins (Liu et al., 2021)

Scintigraphy was the first method to be used to measure gastric emptying and was thought to be the gold standard in the 1960s (Griffith et al., 1966). This method involves ingestion of a meal labelled with a radioisotope (sodium chromate (200 μ C in 5ml saline solution)) before imaging the abdominal gastric area with an external gamma camera (Olausson et al., 2013, Szarka and Camilleri, 2009b). This technique allows both liquid and solid gastric emptying to be assessed, although its application was restricted due to its interference with patient care and radiation exposure (Nguyen et al., 2013). This began the pioneering work to find a more appropriate method for assessing gastric emptying such as gastric aspiration, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), ultrasound, stable isotope breath test, and recently developed wireless sports capsule technology (WMC)

A well-used method is the double sampling gastric aspiration technique. This method requires inserting/ swallowing of a tube into the stomach, after which a non-absorbable phenol red dye is consumed with the test meal to be analysed. This was first measured by Geroge (1968), and then modified and improved by Beckers et al, (1988). This method determines gastric secretion rate and volume, which then can be calculated to suggest total gastric content. Unlike the scintigraphy technique this method does not need to have a skilled operator using the gamma camera. However, one of the disadvantages is that limited participants have the ability to swallow the tube, which in turn reduces the study numbers and also limits test meals to liquids, but can be used to measure gastric emptying during exercise (Jeukendrup and Moseley, 2010, van Nieuwenhoven et al., 1999).

As methods within imaging technology have improved over recent years, other methods such as MRI and ultrasound have been used to assess gastric emptying. Although MRI is non-invasive, it does not allow accurate total gastric emptying to be measured but does allow all types of food and liquid to be ingested. Compared with other techniques MRI provides a large view of the stomach and digestive area enabling the structure of food to be viewed (Carbone et al., 2010) and validated against scintigraphy in healthy subjects, with the use of solid and liquid emptying rates showing strong correlation (Kunz et al., 1999). It is also possible to observe the natural digestion process, showing the food remaining in the digestive tract after absorption (Volkov et al., 2018). Despite being, regarded as the gold standard for determining gastric emptying processes it is expensive to buy and has a high cost to run. A further drawback is that patients are placed in a right sided semi-supine position as seated MRI are still uncommon (de Zwart and de Roos, 2010). The measurement of gastric emptying using real-time ultrasound and ultrasonography have been used by building up cross-sectional images of the stomach to produce a three-dimensional representation (Bateman and Whittingham, 1982). This technique is inexpensive, and the equipment is widely available (Szarka and Camilleri, 2009a, Szarka and Camilleri, 2009b). Nevertheless, to rebuild good quality images a skilled well trained operator is needed, and using ultrasound is time consuming (Darwiche et al., 1999).

New advances in technology have led to a nondigestible capsule (SmartPill) which records luminal pH, temperature, and pressure during GI transit providing a measure of gastric emptying time (Kuo et al., 2008). The SmartPill corporation uses a wireless transmitter capsule and a receiver which the subject wears, before being transferred to a computer for data analysis. The SmartPill technology receives information from the stomach, indicating changes in acid gastric pH to an alkaline duodenal pH associated with the capsule leaving the antrum through the pylorus into the duodenum, given an indication of the time taken for the capsule to leave the stomach not directly measuring gastric emptying (Kuo et al., 2004). This technique is relatively new, and whether it correlates with other methods requires further work, nevertheless is does show strong representation of normal and delayed gastric emptying (Maqbool et al., 2009).
Breath testing is another method for gastric emptying assessment which is performed by adding a substance with a labelled carbon atom (Carbon-13 [13C]). The ¹³C substrate is added to meals where it is absorbed within the small intestine and metabolised in the liver before being exhaled as ¹³CO₂ in the breath (Waseem et al., 2009). The stable isotope breath test method is becoming an increasingly popular indirect method for measuring GER with both liquid and semi-solid meals (McIver et al., 2020, McIver et al., 2019, Evans et al., 2018a, McIver et al., 2018, Yau et al., 2017b, Yau et al., 2014). However, one limitation is that it cannot be directly comparable to the T_{1/2} and T_{lag} from the phenol red method. Nevertheless, the breath test method is valid, non-invasive, safe, and reliable for a clinical and research setting (Braden, 2009, Ghoos et al., 1993). Please see section 3.8 General Methods for more information on how the stable isotope breath test method was used during this thesis to measure GER.

2.5. Gastrointestinal Hormones

The discovery of leptin in 1994 started the molecular era for obesity research (Zhang et al., 1994). Since this pioneering work, a number of other molecular hormones that regulate appetite, EI, and GER have been discovered (Murphy and Bloom, 2006). This section will focus on the 5 hormones measured within this thesis, with an extensive list of ~18 peptide hormones documented within Table 3, these hormones have important sensing and signalling roles derived from the gastrointestinal tract to support nutrient availability (Woodward et al., 2021, Murphy and Bloom, 2006). These peptide hormones which are secreted from enteroendocrine cells of the stomach and small intestine interact through the vagus nerve via the gutbrain axis stimulating the brainstem and the hypothalamus (Cork, 2018). In addition, other orangs such as the pancreas, liver, and adipose tissue also secrete hormones that send information from the peripheries via the central nervous system (CNS) in response to nutrient and EI (Suzuki et al., 2010), which directly communicate with the brain altering homeostatic and hedonic circuits (Woodward et al., 2021). GI peptide hormones can be divided into two categories, anorectic (appetite suppressing) and orexigenic (appetite stimulating) (Meneguetti et al., 2019). Since biomarkers may be neural or hormonal, it is important to consider the gastrointestinal tract as it is the body's largest endocrine organ (Karra and Batterham, 2010) and a large number of these hormones have not yet been characterised or defined as anorectic or orexigenic (Ahlman and Nilsson, 2001). The primary gut hormones involved in regulating appetite, food intake and GER are discussed below.

2.5.1. Ghrelin

Ghrelin is a 28 amino acid peptide that is released from X/A-like cells of the fundus within the stomach, with much smaller amounts being synthesised in the intestine and the pancreas (King et al., 2013b). This peptide stimulates or exigenic neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related protein (AgRP) expressing neurons in the central nervous system, which co-express the ghrelin receptor, growth hormone secretagogue receptor (GHS-R) (Cowley et al., 2003). Ghrelin was identified as an endogenous ligand which stimulated growth hormone (GH) by binding to GHS-R via a novel independent pathway which had not previously been found before 1999, and was unknown to be important to metabolism (Kojima et al., 1999). This peptide can be found in two molecular forms; acylated and des-acylated ghrelin (Kojima and Kangawa, 2005). The acylated form of ghrelin is considered as the biologically active peptide responsible for its orexigenic and GH releasing action (Kojima et al., 1999). Acylated ghrelin is also considered as the most stable form when researching appetite and food intake, stimulation of ghrelin is usually in response to satiety and remains unique as the only known circulating peptide that stimulates appetite and food consumption before declining immediately after ingestion of food (King et al., 2013a, Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2010b, King et al., 2010a). Recent research conducted using human participants has revealed a positive relationship between increased acylated ghrelin after moderate periods of food restriction. With ghrelin once more increasing within 1-h postprandially (McIver et al., 2018, Clayton et al., 2016). This increase in ghrelin in the hours after food is thought to be related to glucose homeostasis, as GHS-R are found to be expressed in pancreatic β -cells stopping insulin release via Ca^{2+} -mediated pathways (Alamri et al., 2016, Tong et al., 2010).

Moreover, ghrelin may also be linked to food behaviour such as taste sensation and reward (Overduin et al., 2012, Skibicka et al., 2012b, Skibicka et al., 2012a). Simon et al, (2017) used MRI to reveal that, when participants were in a satiated state, ghrelin concentrations were elevated at the same time as increased neural processing, potentially indicating ghrelin's impact on hedonic food intake. The secretion of ghrelin by the stomach is dependent on meal volume, density, and calorie amount (Callahan et al., 2004), with meals high in carbohydrate decreasing ghrelin more than meals high in protein and fat (Erdmann et al., 2004, Kojima and Kangawa, 2005). Apart from ghrelin's role in short term energy balance, it is also relevant to long term energy stores, as evidence has emerged suggesting that ghrelin levels correlate inversely with adiposity and are affected by changes in body weight (Cummings, 2006).

In addition, several studies have been conducted using rodents. These have looked at pathways which engage in reward such as the mesolimbic, dopaminergic pathway which when ghrelin is administered to the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain, ghrelin increases food intake, by boosting the willingness to work for food and arousing rodents in the anticipation of food intake and potential energy increase (Jerlhag et al., 2007, Naleid et al., 2005). Ghrelin's ability to increase food intake has been further shown when rodents were loaded with a high baseline intake of high-fat chow, before administration of an acute intracerebroventricular (ICV) ghrelin injection which caused increases in standard chow, regardless of the fact these rodents where already heavily fed (Bake et al., 2019, Le May et al., 2019). A similar response has been shown when rats' endogenous levels of ghrelin were naturally elevated during an overnight fast (Alvarez-Crespo et al., 2012). Increased perception of hunger and *ad libitum* EI has also been demonstrated in humans who were administered with an intravenous ghrelin infusion (Wren et al., 2001a).

In summary, the collective study within rodents and humans has shown ghrelin's role in hunger and meal initiation, with links to the reward and behaviour processes of food consumption. Ghrelin is now well recognised as the 'hunger hormone' although future research must take a holistic approach, as hormone regulation has the potential to override homeostatic regulations in the context of food intake.

2.5.2. Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)

GLP-1 is a 30 amino acid peptide, derived from synthesizing a large precursor protein known as pre-proglucagon, with further processing a number of biologically active peptides are formed with the most common circulating form of glucagon-like peptide-1^{7-36amide} (GLP-1) (Murphy and Bloom, 2006). This peptide is produced by

intestinal L cells located in the distal jejunum and ileum in response to food ingestion, with a key role in glucose homeostasis (Eissele et al., 1992). GLP-1 induces glucosedependent insulin release making it an incretin hormone (Woodward et al., 2021). It stimulates insulin secretion by the β cells and reduces glucagon secretion by α cells in response to a meal, which causes a decrease in hepatic glucose production (Zouhal et al., 2019).

It has been shown that GLP-1 is attenuated in the postprandial period within obese individuals delaying satiety, leading to increased EI (Carroll et al., 2007, Adam and Westerterp-Plantenga, 2005, Verdich et al., 2001). GLP-1 exerts its stimuli via GLP-1 receptors (GLP-1R), these are expressed throughout the CNS and on peripheral tissues (Bullock et al., 1996). This has led to the development of novel development of GLP-1R agonists which inhibit food intake and stimulate satiety (Vilsbøll et al., 2012). Over the last decade, GLP-1-based therapies have been developed to treat diabetes using a pharmaceutical drug 'Liraglutide' (glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist) (Ten Kulve et al., 2016). Results from studies in rodents have suggested that GLP-1R knockdown in the vagal afferents, increased meal size and duration (Krieger et al., 2016, Labouesse et al., 2012, Rüttimann et al., 2009), further supporting GLP-1 release is in part responsible for the feeling of satiety.

Within humans, higher fasting plasma GLP-1 concentrations are associated with lower carbohydrate intake (Basolo et al., 2019). Circulating levels of GLP-1 increasing 10-20 min after eating within healthy individuals and peak approximately 30 min following meal ingestion (Huda et al., 2006), although food composition can affect how fast circulating GLP-1 is present within the blood. Although, ingested carbohydrates produce a greater and more rapid secretion than lipids or proteins (Herrmann et al., 1995). It was subsequently that shown increasing dietary added sugar intake correlates with increased dorsal striatum reactivity to food cues (Bello et al., 2002, Colantuoni et al., 2002, Hajnal and Norgren, 2002). The dorsal striatum is related to motivation to engage in rewarding behaviour, suggesting the brain responds to the consumption of sugar like a drug (Volkow et al., 2002). Dorton et al, (2017) revealed following glucose consumption, individuals who consume greater habitual dietary added sugar have greater striatal responses to food cues and reduced GLP-1

response in the postprandial period. Elevated GLP-1 either prolongs the interval between meals or reduces the subsequent meal size (Feinle et al., 2002).

Additionally, changes in GLP-1 has also been shown to decrease nutrient absorption by slowing down GER (Deane et al., 2010). Hence, physiological action of endogenous GLP-1 is glucose dependent, and release is proportional to EI and might influence the reward system via changes in the mesolimbic system.

2.5.3. Peptide Tyrosin Tyrosin (PYY)

PYY is a 36 amino acid peptide that is a member of the PP fold peptide family (Tatemoto, 1982). PYY can freely cross the blood brain barrier (BBB), unlike its structural similarity peptides neuropeptide Y (NPY) and pancreatic polypeptide (PP) (Berglund et al., 2003). PYY is co-secreted with GLP-1 from L-cell of the intestinal mucosa (Lundberg et al., 1982), with increased expression of PYY along the intestine reaching its highest levels in the rectum (Adrian et al., 1985). Two main forms of PYY have been described, PYY ¹⁻³⁶ (the full-length peptide) and PYY ³⁻³⁶, this form is generated through enzymatic cleavage by dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV) of the PYY ¹⁻³⁶ at tyrosine and proline N-terminal (Meneguetti et al., 2019). The change in PYY structure occurs, with a modification in the Y receptor groups with PYY ¹⁻³⁶ having high binding affinity to Y1R, Y2R and Y5R (Cox, 2007). Thus, the biological activity of PYY¹⁻³⁶ is not abolished but co-activates Y2R and Y5R receptors to form PYY³⁻³⁶ (Cox, 2007, Medeiros and Turner, 1994). Grandt et al, (1994) revealed fasted levels of PYY³⁻³⁶ were lower than PYY¹⁻³⁶, in contrast these values were inverted within the postprandial period. PYY³⁻³⁶ has been recognised as the predominate circulating form in relation to appetite suppressant activity (Batterham et al., 2006, Chelikani et al., 2004).

Circulating concentrations of PYY^{3-36} are suppressed in the fasted state and increase within 30 min after consuming energy dense nutrient in humans (Martins et al., 2007) and rodents (Anini et al., 1999). The highest postprandial concentration of PYY^{3-36} is usually around 2-h after meal ingestion (le Roux et al., 2006). This increase can de dependent on the macronutrients within the meal, as PYY^{3-36} release is stimulated by nutrient intake in proportion to energy content (De Silva and Bloom, 2012, Huda et al., 2006). Meals high in fat have been found to stimulate PYY^{3-36} to a

greater extent than meals of similar energy content with carbohydrate and protein with human participants (Lomenick et al., 2009, Pironi et al., 1993, Adrian et al., 1985). Nevertheless, PYY³⁻³⁶ release can occur through several other mechanism, such as the secretion of CCK, gastric acid, bile acids and fatty acids irrelevant to meal composition (McGowan and Bloom, 2004).

Investigations using obese individuals found PYY³⁻³⁶ to be reduced in the postprandial period, which could lead to increased food intake and therefore a positive energy balance (Brownley et al., 2010, Zwirska-Korczala et al., 2007). Therefore, several investigations have used peripheral administration of PYY³⁻³⁶ to reduces food intake and body weight in experimental animal and human trials. The anorectic effect of PYY^{3-36} has been thought to be mediated by Y2R, because they are attenuated by Y2R antagonists (Abbott et al., 2005). Batterham et al, (2002) discovered PYY³⁻³⁶ infusion in Y2r-null mice did not cause an increase in food intake. Furthermore, in both lean and obese humans, intravenous infusion of PYY³⁻³⁶ reduces food intake (Batterham et al., 2003a, Batterham et al., 2002), showing postprandial concentrations of PYY³⁻³⁶ inhibit food intake for up to 12-h. The gut-hypothalamic pathway is possibly regulated through a Y2R-dependent mechanism in the ARC, which inhibit NPY/AgRP neurons, resulting in activation of the anorectic proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons, when considering postprandial PYY³⁻³⁶ changes regarding feeding or infusion (Batterham et al., 2006). More recently, PYY³⁻³⁶ levels did not correlated with striatal food-cue reactivity (Dorton et al., 2017). Suggesting, PYY³⁻³⁶ is unlikely to be influenced by hedonic food intake, and therefore its treatment for the aetiology of obesity is uncertain (Murphy and Bloom, 2006).

2.5.4. Pancreatic Polypeptide (PP)

PP is a 36 amino acid peptide that belongs to the PP-fold peptide family (Berglund et al., 2003). PP is produced and secreted by F-cells predominantly found in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans and released into circulation after ingestion of food (Asakawa et al., 2003). PP is also secreted in distal areas of the GI tract, although awareness of PP activity within the colon regarding appetite and EI is still insufficient (Kim et al., 2014). Blood levels peak around 15-min after consuming food and remain elevated for 90-min (Kojima et al., 2007), as with GLP-1, circulating levels of PP increase postprandially in response to nutrient load and energy content, and may

remain elevated for up to 6-h (Track et al., 1980). The increase in PP secretion has further been established after consuming a breakfast meal, with substantial increases after exercise (brisk-walk) in fed and fasted conditions (McIver et al., 2018).

The food consumption and digestion activity of PP are mediated by Y4-R and Y5-R signalling through the parasympathetic vagus nerve (Field et al., 2010), despite Michel et al, (1998) suggesting PP has the ability to bind to all Y receptors (Y1-R to Y6R), although this theory is controversial. PP might inhibit intestinal peristalsis as it appears to constitute the part of feedback loop that controls gut motility and secretion related to the 'ileal brake effect' (Fujimiya and Inui, 2000). Within investigations involving human individuals, PP infusion has been found to inhibit gastric emptying when administrated peripherally (Field et al., 2010, Schmidt et al., 2005, Batterham et al., 2003b).

The major sites of action responsible for PP are believed to be, the brainstem (area postrema) and hypothalamus (paraventricular nucleus & ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus) (Asakawa et al., 2003, Katsuura et al., 2002). Studies in rodents and humans have arrived at different conclusions on the anorexic effect of PP. The administration route seems to perform a factor, with evidence suggesting different receptors are engaged (Huda et al., 2006). Therefore, administrating PP centrally increases food intake and gastric emptying within rodents (Asakawa et al., 2003, Kanatani et al., 2000) and peripheral administration has the opposite effect, reducing food intake and gastric emptying within rodents (Asakawa et al., 2003, Ueno et al., 1999, Whitcomb et al., 1997, Malaisse-Lagae et al., 1977) and in humans (Sam et al., 2015, Batterham et al., 2003b). The data presented in this section has shown the potential of PP in weight management and the regulatory processes of gut mobility.

2.5.5. Insulin

Insulin is a peptide hormone that is produced and secreted from β -cells of the pancreatic islets of Langerhans (Fu et al., 2013). Circulating concentrations of insulin increase rapidly after a meal (Alsalim and Ahrén, 2019), potentially regulating appetite as it is key in the metabolism of carbohydrate, fat and protein making it an anabolic hormone (Dimitriadis et al., 2011). Although, most importantly insulin is well known to regulate blood glucose concentrations (Richter and Hargreaves, 2013).

The tissues most immediately related to plasma glucose changers are muscles, as insulin increasing glucose uptake and decrease gluconeogenesis within the liver and lipolysis inside adipose tissue (Pliquett et al., 2006).

Insulin is thought to play a role in regulating body weight through a direct central effect (Saad et al., 2002). An early animal model suggested insulin inhibits appetite at the CNS level as a ICV infusion of insulin reduces food intake and body weight of baboons (Woods et al., 1979). Insulin has also been suggested to promote satiety within human populations (Verdich et al., 2001, Holt et al., 1996), and furthermore regulates plasma ghrelin and modulates adipocyte leptin production (Saad et al., 2002, Saad et al., 1998). This is important as ghrelin stimulates appetite and promotes weight gain (Wren et al., 2001a, Wren et al., 2001b), whereas leptin inhibits food intake and supports weight loss (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). Insulin also circulates at levels proportional to body fat content (Schwartz et al., 2000) and insulin receptors are expressed within brain regions (hypothalamus, hippocampus and cortex) that are directly involved in EI (Hopkins and Williams, 1997).

Insulin is possibly more important for the regulation of energy balance, than appetite or GER (Berthoud et al., 2017). Therefore, changes in blood glucose concentrations remain the key mediator in a potential mechanism for insulin function in appetite control.

2.5.6. Other Hormones that Influence GER and Metabolic Pathways

CCK and Leptin that are documented within this section have not been measured within this thesis, although are important for metabolic pathways relevant to EI, weight management and regulating GER. Likewise, the role of physical activity in the management of obesity, might be regulated by changes in the concentrations of these hormones after acute exercise.

2.5.7. Cholecystokinin (CCK)

Multiple molecular forms of CCK can be found within the human body which range from 8-58 amino acids (Ritter et al., 1999). CCK is released postprandially in response to ingestion fat and protein (Lieverse et al., 1994), with carbohydrates only providing a weak stimulus (Liddle et al., 1985). Furthermore, highly acidic food enters the small intestine can also cause an increase of CCK in all macronutrient form, this increase in acidity within the duodenum also cause the release of other GI hormones (Zouhal et al., 2019).

A function of intestinal CCK is to activate organs of the alimentary canal for the arrival of macronutrients for optimal digestion and absorption (Ritter et al., 1999). It also contributes to gastrointestinal motility, exocrine pancreatic enzyme secretion, and contraction of the gallbladder (Zwirska-Korczala et al., 2007). Fasting results in a reduction in plasma CCK, whilst peripheral administration before the onset of a meal reduces meal size within humans (Stacher et al., 1982, Kissileff et al., 1981) and rodents (Crawley, 1985, Crawley and Kiss, 1985, Antin et al., 1975).

CCK is synthesised and released mainly from I-cells of the small intestine (Field et al., 2010), and the most widely investigated form of CCK in relation to appetite and food intake is CCK-8 (Dockray, 2009). CCK-8 is also synthesized and released as a neurotransmitter within the CNS binding to both CCK-1 receptors (CCK-1R) and CCK-2R (Barden et al., 1981). CCK-8 released postprandially seems to reduce food intake through CCK1-R on the vagal nerve (Murphy and Bloom, 2006). A CCK1-R antagonists have been reported to increase food intake in rodents (Edwards et al., 1986) and humans (Beglinger et al., 2001, Matzinger et al., 1999). Therefore, the short-term benefit of CCK for the regulating of satiety is well recognised, although the benefit for weight loss maybe more controversial as rodents that were repeatedly infused with CCK-8, reduced their meal size, but consumed food more regularly (Simmons et al., 1999, Asin et al., 1992), and increased net weight gain (West et al., 1984).

It is important to add, acute exercise seems to increase CCK within normal weight individuals and remains elevated for up to 2-h after exercise (Ströhle et al., 2006, Bailey et al., 2001, Sliwowski et al., 2001). This significant increase in CCK is

also associated with suppressed feelings of hunger. Castillo et al, (2004) found when using a similar hormonal receptor pathway CCK-1R, a CCK agonist (GI181771X) delayed GER in healthy volunteers. This might be a potential reason why GER is inhibited immediately after exercise, with CCK, GLP-1, and PYY all inhibiting GER after exercise (Dockray, 2009, Hellström et al., 2006).

2.5.8. Leptin

Leptin is a peptide hormone produced and secreted from adipose cells (white adipose tissue) (Münzberg and Morrison, 2015). Leptin, a product of the *ob* gene has several actions although most importantly helps to regulate energy metabolism (Schwartz et al., 2000). Circulating leptin is transported across the BBB and inhibits hunger by interacting with the hypothalamus, central and peripheral administration has been shown to reduce food intake following fasting (Farooqi et al., 1999).

Leptin stimulates neurons within the arcuate nucleus, that express POMC releasing α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone, while simultaneously neurons that express NPY are inhibited. Axons from both neurons are received from the paraventricular nucleus and lateral hypothalamic area, leading to activation of the melanocortin receptor 4 (MC4R) (Field et al., 2010, Farooqi et al., 2003). This pathway results in the reduction of food intake and increase the activation of energy expenditure (Morris and Rui, 2009).

Concentrations of leptin are strongly correlated with body mass accumulation from adipose tissue (Münzberg and Morrison, 2015). The release of leptin by adipose tissue is affected by numerous factors such as gender, age, exercise, and glucose uptake. Nevertheless, decreased levels of leptin can increase feeding behaviour (Farooqi et al., 2003) and therefore loss in body weight is associated with a rapid fall in plasma leptin levels and an increase in hunger (Chan et al., 2003).

Leptin is considered to exert a long-term regulatory role in appetite and food intake (Schwartz et al., 2000). Individuals that are obese can develop resistance to leptin, which disrupts the regulatory satiety effect of leptin and leads to uncontrolled food intake (Zouhal et al., 2019). On the other hand, exercise has been shown to affect leptin levels, with research that has investigated leptin concentrations after lowmoderate exercise training periods have found decreased levels within 1-2 weeks (Ackel-D'Elia et al., 2014, Martins et al., 2013, Unal et al., 2005, Koutsari et al., 2003, Gomez-Merino et al., 2002, Reseland et al., 2001). This is not the case after acute exercise bouts, as generally circulating leptin levels are not affected (Kyriazis et al., 2007, Jürimäe et al., 2006, Zoladz et al., 2005, Ferguson et al., 2004, Weltman et al., 2000, Torjman et al., 1999, Racette et al., 1997). Although, if acute exercise bouts are performed for >2-h (running, swimming, cycling, or rowing) circulating leptin is found to be increased (Jürimäe et al., 2009, Karamouzis et al., 2002, Zaccaria et al., 2002, Leal-Cerro et al., 1998, Landt et al., 1997). This increase in leptin after ultra-endurance events is possible to support metabolic pathways when continually exercising for long periods in a reduced energy state.

Table 3: Summary of Peptide Hormones and Neurotransmitters which Regulate Appetite, EI, and GER. Classified According to their Predominant Synthesis Site regarding, Nutrient Ingestion and Digestion.

Hormone	Sites of Synthesis [*]	Primary Receptor*	Site of Action* (Gut-Brain Axis)	Function on Appetite	Function on GER	References
Stomach						
Ghrelin	Stomach X/a-like cells, Small	GHS-R	Vagus nerve Solitary Nucleus	Inhibit Satiety	Promotes Emptying	Simon et al., 2017 ⁽¹⁾ Wren et al., 2001 ^(1,2)
	Intestine		Hypothalamus	↑ EI		Levin et al., 2006 ⁽³⁾
Gastrin	Stomach & Duodenum (G- cells)	GPCRs (CCK-2R)	Brainstem (area postrema), Parietal cells (HCI production)	No Known effect (May Promote Satiety Through Gastric Motility)	Inhibits (Increased Intragastric Volume)	Danzer et al., 2004 Goetze et al., 2009 ⁽³⁾
Intestines				•		
GLP-1	Intestinal L-cells	GPCRs (GLP-1R)	Vagus nerve Brainstem	Promotes Satiety	Strongly Inhibits (Ileal brake)	Vilsbøll et al., 2012 ^(1,2) Feinle et al., 2002 ^(1,2)
			Hypothalamus	\downarrow EI	↑ Gastric Distension	Deane et al., 2010 ⁽³⁾
GLP-2	Intestinal L-cells, Brain	GPCRs (GLP-2R)	Hypothalamus (POMC Neurons, Dorsomedial Nucleus) [¥]	No Known effect (Promotes Nutrient Absorption)	↔ Unclear (Stimulating GI Motility)	Drucker., $2005^{(1-3)}$ Cazzo et al., $2016^{(2)}$ Lovshin et al., $2004^{\text{¥}}$
PYY ₃₋₃₆	Intestinal L-cells	Y2-R, NPY2-R (Brain- ARC)	Vagus nerve Brainstem Hypothalamus	Promotes Satiety	Strongly Inhibits (Ileal Brake)	Dorton et al., 2017 ⁽¹⁻²⁾ Chen et al., 1996 ⁽³⁾

ССК	Duodenum I-cells	GPCRs (CCK-1R CCK-2R)	Vagus nerve Brainstem Hypothalamus	Promotes Satiety ↓ Food Intake (Acutely)	Inhibits	Moran., 1982 ^(2, 3) Stacher et al., 1982 ⁽¹⁾
GIP	Intestinal K-cells (Duodenum)	GPCRs (GIP-R)	Hypothalamus (ARC &VMH) Adipose Tissue [¥]	Ineffectually ↑ Satiety (↑ Insulin & Lipid storage)	Unaffected	Zhang et al., $2021^{(2)}$ Asmar et al., $2010^{(1,3)}$ Miyawaki et al., $2002^{\text{¥}}$
Motilin	Duodenum M-	GPCRs (MUNP)	Vagus nerve	Inhibit Satiety	Promotes Emptying	Schmid et al., $1991^{(3)}$
C	cens	(IVILINK)		\leftrightarrow Unknown EI		Sanger et al., 2015
Neurotensin	Small Intestine (N-cell), Brain (Immunoreactive- cell)	GPCRs (NTS1)	Hypothalamus Midbrain (VTA &SNc)	Weight Status, Food Intake (Lipid Metabolism)	Gut Motility (Intestinal Inflammatory Mechanism)	Fredrickson et al., 2014 ⁽²⁾ Boules et al., 2013 ⁽³⁾ Kalafatakis et al., 2011 ⁽¹⁾
OXM	Intestinal L-cells, (PC1) Brain	GPCRs (GLP-1R)	Vagus nerve Hypothalamus Medulla oblongata	Promotes Satiety (Suppresses Ghrelin) [¥] ↓ Food Intake	Inhibits Limits Gastric Acid Secretion	Schjoldage et al., 1989 ^(1, 3) Cohen et al., 2003 [¥]
Secretin	Duodenum S- cells, Brain	GPCRs (SCTR)	Hypothalamus (ARC &VMH), Adipose Tissue (Gut- BAT-Brain Axis)	Inversely-Promotes Satiety(† BATokines Stimulating POMC Neurons)	↔Unclear (↓ HCI & ↑ PB) Promotes Emptying (Non-Human) ^(¥)	Afroze et al., 2013 ⁽³⁾ Mynatt et al., 2018 ⁽¹⁾ Jin et al., 1994 ^(¥)

Pancreas

РР	Pancreatic Islets of Langerhans (F- cells), Distal GI (Colon)	Y4-R (All Y-R) [¥]	Vagus nerve Brainstem Hypothalamus	Promotes Satiety ↔ EI	Inhibits	Field et al., 2010 ^(1,3) Michel et al., 1998 [¥]
Insulin	Pancreatic islets of Langerhans (β- cells)	RTKs (IR)	Hypothalamus (ARC)	Promotes Satiety	↔ Unclear	Verdich et al., 2001 ^(1, 3)
Amylin	Pancreatic islets of Langerhans (β- cells)	GPCRs (AMY ₁₋₃)	Hypothalamus Brainstem (Area- Postrema)	Promotes Satiety (↓ Meal Size)	Inhibits (Preventing Overrating)	Hay et al., 2015 ^(1, 3) Hinshaw et al., 2016 ⁽²⁾
GHIH	Pancreatic islet, Stomach D-cells, Gut-brain- Neurons	GPCRs (SSTR1-5)	Hypothalamus Pancreas (↓ Insulin & Glucagon)	↓ Universal off switch (↓ Gastrin, Secretin, Motilin, CCK, VIP, and GIP)	Inhibits (Slowing Down Digestive Process)	Kumar et al., 2020 ⁽¹⁻²⁾ Kim et al., 2014 ⁽³⁾
Glucagon	Pancreatic islets of Langerhans (α- cells) (PC2)	GCGRs (GCGR-B)	Hypothalamus (ARC) Brainstem Liver	Promotes Satiety Increase Lipolysis, Gluconeogenesis and Glycogenolysis [¥]	Inhibits	Hope et al., $2018^{\text{``}}$ Patel et al., $1979^{(3)}$

Tissue

Leptin	Fat cells (White Adipose)	Cytokine-R (LEP-R)	Hypothalamus (ARC)	Promotes Satiety	↔ Unclear	Ruiter et al., 2010 ⁽²⁾
Neurons						
VIP	Neurons Throughout GI; Pancreas (D2 cells);Adrenal Medulla (G cells)	GPCRs (VPAC ₁ & VPAC ₂)	Vagus nerve Hypothalamus (ARC)	Ineffectually Promotes Satiety ↓ Food Intake	Inhibits-Gut Motility (By Increasing; GLP- 1, PYY, Leptin and Insulin)	Dickson et al., 2009 ⁽³⁾ Vu et al., 2015 ⁽¹⁻³⁾

Abbreviations and symbols: GHS-R, growth hormone secretagogue receptor; EI, energy intake; GHIH, growth hormone-inhibiting hormone (somatostatin); GPCRs, G-protein-coupled receptors; POMC, proopiomelanocortin; OXM, oxyntomodulin; BBB, blood brain barrier; GI, gastrointestinal; NPY2-R, neuropeptide Y2 receptor; ARC, arcuate nucleus; VMH, ventromedial; VIP, vasoactive intestinal peptide hypothalamus; VTA, ventral tegmental area; SNc, substantia nigra; VPAC_{1, 2}, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide receptor; PC_{1, 2}, prohormone convertases; RTKs, receptor tyrosine kinases; IR, insulin receptor; PBS, pancreatic bicarbonate secretion; SSTR₁₋₅, somatostatin receptors; MLNR, motilin receptor; BATokines, brown adipokines. \uparrow , increased; \downarrow , decreased; \leftrightarrow , unchanged;.

*Site of synthesis, primary receptor, and site of action are adapted from; Huda et al., 2006; Field et al., 2010 & Meneguetti et al., 2019.

¹Appetite references.

²EI references.

³GER references.

^{*}Relevant to that point only.

2.6. The Effect of Acute Exercise on GI Hormones and GER

The human body is a complex system in which peptides are secreted from the GI tract with the greatest attention within the literature focusing on ghrelin, PYY, and GLP-1, in response to nutrient ingestion after low, moderate and high intensity exercise (Crabtree and Blannin, 2015, Wasse et al., 2013a, King et al., 2010a, Martins et al., 2007a). The suppression in circulating concentrations of acylated ghrelin after aerobic exercise at an intensity > 60% \dot{VO}_{2Max} have been well documented (Broom et al., 2017, Holliday and Blannin, 2017b, Holliday and Blannin, 2017a, Alajmi et al., 2016, Deighton et al., 2013a, King et al., 2011b, Vatansever-Ozen et al., 2011, Broom et al., 2009, Broom et al., 2007). In contrast GLP-1 and PYY increase during and post aerobic exercise (Kawano et al., 2013, Ueda et al., 2013, Larson-Meyer et al., 2012, Ueda et al., 2009b, Ueda et al., 2009a, Martins et al., 2007a). Although, these hormonal fluctuations shown post-exercise during moderate/high intensity > 60% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, have not always been observed following low-intensity exercise < 55% VO_{2Max}, (McIver et al., 2018, King et al., 2010b, Unick et al., 2010), and therefore even if circulating GI hormones are affected by exercise, they usually return to resting control levels within 60 min (King et al., 2013b).

Nevertheless, most studies tend to investigate the effect of exercise on one or two GI hormones when many have been shown to influence appetite and EI, although minimal information has been gathered in relation to GER after exercise. Gastric emptying is understood to be regulated by a complex interaction of neuronal and hormonal input through the CNS (Horner et al., 2015). The secretion of hormones which control GER can depend on the chemical composition of chyme being delivered from the stomach to the duodenum (Liu et al., 2021). Taking CCK as an example, chyme rich in fat or protein cause CCK secretion from the upper small intestine, which stimulates pancreatic enzyme secretion and the contraction of the gallbladder releasing bile salts and in turn inhibit gastric emptying (Dockray, 2009, Fried et al., 1991, Takahashi et al., 1991). Furthermore, this processes also triggers feedback from the duodenum to slow down the gastric emptying and establish enterogastric reflex (Konturek et al., 1990, Konturek and Johnson, 1971). Therefore, other important hormones in the regulation of GER are ghrelin, which acts to accelerate GER (Janssen et al., 2011, Levin et al., 2006). PYY and GLP-1 inhibit GER (Hunt et al., 2015, Camilleri, 2009, Hellström et al., 2006, Little et al., 2006, Chen et al., 1996), where elevated PP have been shown to reduce gut motility (Batterham et al., 2003b). Insulin has not been directly found to effect GER but does increase energy expenditure and glucose uptake (Chang et al., 2010, Deane et al., 2010, Fraser et al., 1990).

As previously mentioned, the process of gastric emptying is stimulated and affected by humoral activity and gut hormones involved in the regulation of appetite, food intake and energy balance also affect the stomachs ability to process chyme (Hellström et al., 2006). The effect of these hormones and several others (see Table 3) are known to influence gastric emptying are also manipulated by exercise. Therefore, comprehending how exercise interferes with hormone regulation which in turn might result in differences in GER needed further investigation.

2.7. Regulation of Appetite and Energy Intake

Appetite can be split into several different subsections with particular attention on hunger, which is defined as a strong desire or the need to consume food (Smith and Ferguson, 2008). Whereas satiety is defined as feeling full or satisfied, with meal-tomeal behaviour controlled by hunger and satiety sensations (Rui, 2013). Apart from homeostatic signals, food intake is strongly influenced by memory, food reminders and societal factors which encourage consumption of familiar food even when homeostatic requirements have been sustained (Kenny, 2011). This drive to consume food beyond homeostatic need is coordinated by the striatum region of the brain (hedonic system) and these reward-related neurocircuitry processes are complex (Woodward et al., 2021). Nevertheless, regions of the brain (ventral pallidum, ventral striatum and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis) which motivate behaviour and reward receive projections from or overlap with the hindbrain and hypothalamus which are critical for food intake and metabolism and therefore appetite response (Hetherington and Ranson, 1983, la Fleur, 2006).

During the cephalic phase, appetite control is regulated by the anticipation of nutrient ingestion, once food is consumed and enters the digestive system, in particular the stomach and the small intestine, enteroendocrine cells secret hormones which act as signals to influence hunger and satiety (Rui, 2013). These hormones (see section 2.5. Gut Hormones), interact with G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), transporters and ion channels on the cell membrane surfaces (Gribble and Reimann, 2019). These hormones act locally to influence nutrient absorption and metabolism, but also act directly in the brain to alter feeding behaviour (Hussain and Bloom, 2013). Furthermore, the GI tract is densely innervated by vagal sensory nerves (Cork, 2018), which directly communicate nutritional information from the gut to brainstem (Berthoud et al., 2017). This theory has been strengthened in recent years as the disruption of vagal signalling leads to larger meal consuming and an impaired ability to modulate food intake (Schwartz, 2000). How nutritional status of individual cells is transmitted to other cells, tissues, organs and the brain requires more comprehensive focus (Berthoud et al., 2017).

2.7.1. How can Exercise Change Appetite

Oven recent years, literature has been conducted on acute exercise to determine the effect this has on subjective feeling of appetite and subsequent food intake. The interest in appetite responses to exercise stems from the acknowledgement that physical activity might enhance energy expenditure (Donnelly et al., 2009) and any increase in appetite after exercise is likely to reverse the negative energy balance achieved by exercise. Therefore, initial investigations focused on optimising exercise protocols to control weight management, implied appetite and EI remained largely unchanged in the hours after exercise, documented within these reviews (Blundell and King, 1999, Blundell et al., 2003).

Alternatively, food restriction was found to provoke a rapid compensatory increase in appetite and food intake, which were not mimicked after exercise at equivalent energy deficit (Hubert et al., 1998, King et al., 2011a). Importantly, in both these investigations exercise intensity was performed at ~70% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ and high-intensity aerobic exercise has been consistently observed within the literature to suppress appetite (Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2010a, Wasse et al., 2013b, King et al., 2013a, King et al., 2011a). Although, when exercise is performed at a much lower intensity < 55 $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ suppression in appetite is not perceived (Unick et al., 2010, King et al., 2010b, Imbeault et al., 1997, Pomerleau et al., 2004).

This exercise-induced anorexia found after exercising > 60% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, is also consistent when different modes/types of exercise are used including running (Broom et al., 2007, Burns et al., 2007, King et al., 2010a), cycling (Becker et al., 2012, Ueda et al., 2009a, Martins et al., 2007a), swimming (King et al., 2011b), and resistance exercise (Laan et al., 2010, Broom et al., 2009). Suggesting, exercise intensity might perform a more critical stimulus in the metabolic regulation after exercise than mode/type of exercise which is supported by Wasse et al. (2013b) who did not find a difference in appetite between cycle and running performed at the same intensity.

In contrast, the exercise-induced suppression of appetite might be different between athletic and non-athletic populations as Holliday & Blannin, (2017c) observed no significant decrease in subjective feeling of appetite when endurancetrained males ($\dot{V}O_{2max} = 61.6 \pm 6.0 \text{ mL/kg/min}$) completed a high-intensity aerobic exercise bout ~76% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$. This is consistent with other studies, which have conducted extended exercise bout using trained individuals (Deighton et al., 2013b, King et al., 2010b). Emerging research has suggested that habitual physical activity might be a fundamental indicator of how the human body responds in the hours after exercise regarding appetite and EI responses (Blundell et al., 2020, Paravidino et al., 2020, Beaulieu et al., 2016). Profoundly, any significant appetite variations discovered after most exercise conditions and environments usually returns to resting control values within 30-60 min (Deighton and Stensel, 2014).

Isolated exercise sessions elicit acute, brief cardiovascular, and metabolic responses such as blood lipids and glucose homeostasis changes (Devlin and Horton, 1985) Frequent repetition of these isolated sessions produces more permanent adaptions, known as the exercise training response (Thompson et al., 2001). These improvements have been found to target cardiorespiratory fitness, blood pressure, and body composition, which are all negatively correlated with the risk of chronic disease (Schubert et al., 2013). Although, this relationship between physical activity (PA) and total energy expenditure (TEE), in recent years has been challenged by the constrained energy hypothesis by Herman Pontzer (Pontzer, 2015). Energy expenditure does not increase with PA in a linear does response relationship among traditional Hadza hunter-gatherers living in northern Tanzania. Therefore, fat-free mass was the single strongest predictor of TEE among Hadza adults (Pontzer et al., 2015). Hadza adults

have a similar TEE compared with developed, industrial populations regardless to the fact they have greater daily walking distances and therefore increased PA levels. So, adults with high levels of habitual PA may adapt by reducing energy allocation to other metabolic pathways and systems within the human body, in order to maintain energy expenditure within a narrow range. Therefore, the role PA plays in the regulation of body weight through its effect on appetite, energy expenditure and energy intake may be more complicated than just disrupting the energy balance equation (Martins et al., 2008).

2.7.2. What Happens in The Postprandial Period?

We know several different events can affect appetite, but how the human body responds in the hours after food ingestion might be an interesting factor in key metabolic processes. Nevertheless, investigations that have monitored appetite in the immediate post-exercise period (0-120 min) have found minimal differences (Burns et al., 2007, Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, Gonzalez et al., 2013). The appetite suppression observed after exercise bouts conducted >70% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, does not seem to provoke changes in macronutrients or EI irrespective of the increased metabolic demands associated with high-intensity exercise compared to low-intensity exercise, with the majority of weight management research focusing on post exercise EI have found no significant modifications in the hours and days after exercise (2-24 hours) (McIver et al., 2020, McIver et al., 2019, King et al., 2013a, Hanlon et al., 2012, King et al., 2010a, Pomerleau et al., 2004, King et al., 1997).

It has been popular to provide an *ad libitum* meal 30-60 min after exercise conducted in a fasted state to assess EI. This method has been used after versus forms of exercise including running (Shorten et al., 2009, Kelly et al., 2012, Vatansever-Ozen et al., 2011, Balaguera-Cortes et al., 2011), walking (Tsofliou et al., 2003, Unick et al., 2010, King et al., 2010b), and cycling (Melby et al., 2002, Jokisch et al., 2012, Laan et al., 2010, Erdmann et al., 2007, King et al., 1994). However, investigations that have used *ad libitum* meal period can achieve energy replacement at ~1300 KCal, which could be seen as an unrealistic meal replacement and not an indication of compensatory effects post-exercise (King et al., 2013a).

2.7.3. Social Economy Influences on Energy Intake

Below are some quotes from the media related to post-exercise nutrition recommendations for the average user. Firstly, a quote from medical news today (Barhum, 2021).

"Physical activity uses a lot of energy. It is difficult for the body to recover if energy levels are not replenished within 15-30 minutes after finishing a workout. Eating even a snack shortly after exercise can help to restore energy levels."

Secondly, a quote from Healthline (Semeco, 2016). These quotes are both very generalised, with no consideration of the adaptive response to exercise at different duration, intensity, or type.

"Eating the right nutrients soon after you exercise can help your body rebuild its glycogen stores and repair and regrow those muscle proteins faster. It is particularly important to eat carbs and protein after your workout"

It is fundamental to consider, in situations where exercise volume and duration are minimal, nutritional intervention other than the traditional main three meals breakfast, lunch, and dinner (Gonzalez, 2014) is not required except the replacement of minor fluid loss during exercise. Interestingly, more than 60 years ago, Mayer et al (1956) exposed the amount of food eaten was associated with the sedentary or active nature of the work being completed. Within jute mill workers high energy expenditure (EE) was closely associated with high levels of food intake. Suggesting the drive to eat reflects a need generated by metabolic EE. There is much more to be understood about the interaction between physical activity energy expenditure and the behaviour of consumers to select and eat food (Blundell et al., 2020). The biological drive to eat is closely balanced with cultural and socio-economical changes, resulting in an increase in the frequency of eating occurrences (Cutler et al., 2003), or the demand for continuous economic growth driving purchasing and consumption (Blundell, 2018). Such as the use and promotion of post-exercise recovery snakes which could affect EI in the hours after exercise. The large proportion of media hyped recovery aids are saturated with carbohydrate, protein and high in energy (KCal) such as:

• Sci-Mx protein flapjack chocolate and hazelnut (276 KCal)

- Grenade Carb Killa white chocolate Peanut Bar (242 KCal)
- Weetabix on the go chocolate drink (207 KCal)
- Lucozade original (186 KCal)

This list is not exhaustive. However, gives an example of commonly used 'between exercise period snacks' on most retail shelves. Unsurprisingly, together with a consumer driven environment and a nutritionally hyped market it is understandable how the accumulation of adipose tissue can spiral out of control. This might propose the use of whole mixed macronutrient meals in the period after exercise, advocating scheduled meal periods to avoid snacking might be an important consideration when designing exercise sessions for health promotion purposes. There are limitations in the literature related to measuring post-exercise EI as research has suggested that compensatory increase may expand further than the post 24-h after exercise as Rocha et al, (2013) has reported increases in food intake 48-h post-exercise. It therefore remains important to understand how exercise and physical activity status influences resting appetite and EI responses in the hours and days after exercise.

2.8. Fasting Before Exercise

Fasting is defined as restraining from consuming food/or energy dense material over a period of time (Longo and Panda, 2016). Fasting prior to exercise has gained substantial attention over recent years and has become increasingly popular when investigating breakfast consumption versus breakfast skippers in relation to overall appetite regulation and weight management (Betts et al., 2016). There are several fasting approaches used, although intermittent fasting is one of the most popular, also categorised as, "time-restricted feeding and alternate-day fasting" (Patterson et al., 2015). When commencing in any strategy related to fasting the main aim is to reduce calorie intake (Freedman et al., 2014), usually achieved by reducing the total number of hours available for eating, thereby controlling EI (Patterson et al., 2015). The majority of individuals accomplish an overnight fast regularly when sleeping for 8-10 h (Maughan et al., 2010) and if this overnight fast is extended and exercise is conducted, it is believed fat metabolism is increased resulting in increased weight loss. This question has raised significant attention as to why fasted exercise might therefore

be an effective weight loss strategy to improve health related metabolic and appetite markers.

During starvation, ketone bodies, NEFA, and glucose from liver glycogen and gluconeogenesis are the main energy sources (Cahill, 2006). It was originally thought that the glucose-FA cycle could explain why fat metabolism increase in fasted states (Randle et al., 1963). Fat metabolism is amplified when the availability of free fatty acids (FFA) are increased within circulation (Costill et al., 1977). These FFA's undergo β -oxidation in the mitochondria where they are converted to acetyl-CoA. An increase in acetyl-CoA can inhibit pyruvate dehydrogenase, which is responsible for the breakdown of pyruvate to acetyl-CoA from glycolysis (Jeukendrup, 2002). Additionally, increased formation of acetyl-CoA from FFA's causes a surge in citrate levels and inhibits phosphofructokinase, a rate limiting enzyme in glycolysis (Garland and Randle, 1964). This theory is one example, if an overnight fast is extended and exercise is conducted may further promote fat metabolism and oxidation (see section 2.9. Substrate Utilisation).

Additional research is required to appreciate whether regulating meal patterns in coordination with exercise will improve metabolic and appetite regulation in the postprandial period after exercising-fasted (La Bounty et al., 2011). Research has been conducted which demonstrated that breakfast consumption prior to exercise can drastically alter metabolic responses (Gonzalez, 2014, Gonzalez et al., 2013). Although, previous studies have found it may be more pertinent to omit breakfast if a negative fat balance is desired, with EI from breakfast and energy expenditure from exercise are not compensated for at a further meal period (lunch) (Gonzalez et al., 2013). Furthermore, Edinburgh et al, (2019) expanded on this research and reported no compensatory effects post-exercise for energy expenditure following fasted exercise, suggesting breakfast omission prior to exercise can produce a greater negative energy balance. This has also been reported by Bachman et al (2016), observed when healthy men perform 60 min of running after breakfast, their evening and 24-h EI are higher than if they exercise before breakfast. Further suggesting and supporting the theory endogenous carbohydrate stores (liver and muscle glycogen) may contribute to energy balance regulation after exercise (Flatt, 2001).

In addition, it is important to consider hormonal control when exercising, as GLP-1 concentrations increased after acute exercise in a fed state (Martins et al., 2007a), whether this increase was in relation to the food that was consumed or the exercise is an important consideration. For example GLP-1 increases when nutrients interact with intestinal L-cells which potentiates insulin secretion and a decreased food intake, and therefore perception of hunger (Suzuki et al., 2010). Performing endurance exercise in a fasted state increase the appearance of endogenous glucose and therefore will increase muscle glucose uptake after exercise (Goodyear et al., 1990). This might demonstrate that, when nutrients are ingested immediately post- exercise, the effect on acute post-prandial glucose may be predetermined on the nutritional status (fasted or fed) prior to exercise (Gonzalez et al., 2013).

Based on the current literature, there seem to be different benefits to conducting fasted and fed exercise although the mechanisms are still unclear. Nevertheless, the majority of research that focuses on gut hormone regulation after exercise has predominantly been conducted in a fasted state (Farah and Gill, 2013) and understanding diet/exercise strategies to control body fat/mass by exercising in a fasted state is becoming increasingly popular (Morton et al., 2010). Further studies are warranted to develop the research area of 'fasted exercise', with no investigation focusing on GER.

2.9. Substrate Utilisation

During aerobic exercise, carbohydrates and lipids are the primary substrates oxidised to facilitate oxidative processes and provide energy (Astorino and Schubert, 2018). Substrate utilisation can be affected by different exercise; duration, intensity, type (mode), and nutritional status (Jeukendrup and Wallis, 2005). At lower exercise intensities (~40% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) fat oxidation provides energy to perform external work with the remaining energy demand being supplied by carbohydrate oxidation (Thompson et al., 1998, Romijn et al., 1993, Jones et al., 1980). As exercise intensity increases from low (25% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) to moderate (60% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) fat oxidation increases, whereas at high intensity (80% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) fat oxidation declines and muscle/liver glycogen becomes the main fuel source (van Loon et al., 2001). During high intensity exercise (>70% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) fat oxidation decreases, and carbohydrate oxidation increases in a

linear manner to allow for a change in energy demands during the exercise bout (Melanson et al., 2007, Kang et al., 2006). However, the way in which fat oxidation interacts to an increase in exercise intensity is not linear, in fact the amount of energy that is provided to the working muscle by fat peaks at ~ 65% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Kang et al., 2006).

Several investigations have tried to explain the mechanisms how fuel selection within the human skeletal muscle is regulated although, it is well-established that plasma FFA concentrations do not change or decrease when the exercise intensity increases from moderate to high intensity (van Loon et al., 2001, Romijn et al., 1993), and robust evidence suggests plasma FFA availability within the blood is not the answer to why fat oxidation is limited during exercise above 65% VO_{2max} (Randle et al., 1963). Unsurprisingly, it is thought that there is a molecular change at the cellular level which causes a decrease in fat oxidation rates at high exercise intensities, such as a reduction in blood supply to adipose tissue which prevents the delivery of FFA to metabolic pathways (Hodgetts et al., 1991). A further theory suggests the transport of FFA into the mitochondria from long-chain fatty acids oxidation requires the carnitine palmitoyl transferase complex to be used as an energy source and enzymes in this process are down regulated as the buffering capability of the muscle is reduced (van Hall, 2015), whereas some medium-chain fatty acids can freely diffuse into the mitochondria unlike long-chain fatty acids (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004, Romijn et al., 1993). This reduction in FFA therefore limit the capacity to produce ATP from oxidation of plasma FFA (Fielding et al., 2018). Nevertheless, we know fat oxidation has individual variability, and therefore within different populations a change in exercise intensity around the fat max zone may result in energy being unutilised in different amounts.

The nutritional state of an individual is an important determinant of substrate utilisation as fasting prior to exercise (> 6 h) heightens fat oxidation, whereas ingesting carbohydrate in the hours before an exercise bout does not (Coyle, 1995). This is primarily thought to be in relation to exogenous supply of glucose to body cells which decreases plasma fatty acid mobilisation. Furthermore, ingesting carbohydrate also causes an increase in plasma insulin concentration which inhibits the activation of adipose tissue triglyceride lipase, this in turn prevents intramuscular triacylglycerol

breakdown and reduces the availability of NEFA for oxidation (Spriet, 2014, Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004, Coyle and Coggan, 1984). Fasting prior to exercise stimulates hepatic glycogen breakdown to provide substrate for energy production (Maughan et al., 2010), although as glycogen availability diminishes causing a decrease in blood insulin concentrations this promotes once again energy to be predominantly provided by oxidation of plasma fatty acids (Aird et al., 2018).

Limited investigations have measured lipid oxidation rates in prolonged periods post exercise or after consuming food (Mulla et al., 2000). Therefore, the energy demands in the recovery period must be considered (Melanson et al., 2002), as any increase in fat oxidation during exercise may be mitigated by consuming food (carbohydrate) post-exercise. Overfeeding with carbohydrate has been shown to increase carbohydrate oxidation and energy expenditure 24 h post-trial, whereas overfeeding with fat did not lead to any further changes (Horton et al., 1995). Performing exercise at an intensity that increases fat oxidation 55-65% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Achten et al., 2002) has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity (Venables et al., 2005). Therefore, research focusing on understanding the mechanisms behind how fat oxidation is adapted when exercise intensity is increased from low- high in the general population is required to clarify the acute and chronic adaptations to energy demands in the recovery period after exercise. How individuals metabolise substrate post-exercise may have critical long-term consequences for the way in which the human body stores and utilises body fat.

2.10. Postprandial Feeding

Circulating glucose concentrations represent the enhanced ability of the human body to switch between endogenous glucose appearance (from hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis) and exogenous glucose appearance (via intestinal digestion), combined with glucose absorption into cells (Gonzalez, 2014). This carefully regulated homeostatic function enables energy to be provided, so the human body can function appropriately ensuring normal body function (Woodward et al., 2021). Therefore, the human body is dependent on the tight control of its blood glucose levels. This is accomplished by a network of hormones and neuropeptides released by organs (pancreas, liver, intestines, adipose, and muscle tissue) and interpreted and disseminated by the brain to react and respond when necessary (Röder et al., 2016b). Fundamentally, this network is controlled and regulated by the pancreas, which secretes the blood sugar-lowering hormone insulin and its antagonist glucagon (Röder et al., 2016a). Insulin suppresses hepatic glucose output and stimulates muscle glucose uptake (Craig et al., 1961), by induing GLUT4 to translocate to the cell membrane surface increasing the absorption of glucose into the cell via facilitated diffusion (muscle and adipose tissues) (Navale and Paranjape, 2016, Jeukendrup, 2002). Muscle is extremely important with respect to postprandial glucose uptake, as at rest large amounts of glucose clearance is in response to the action of muscle tissue (Welsh et al., 2002).

Eating patterns usually result in the consumption of three meals per day (De Castro, 1997), given that the majority of people eat while still in the postprandial state from a previous meal, it is for that reason investigations need to better comprehend postprandial responses to sequential meal ingestion (Gonzalez, 2014). Nevertheless, an early investigation used sequential OGTTs when ingesting glucose repeatedly, they discovered the second-meal phenomenon (Hamman and Hirschmann, 1919). This theory suggests glucose tolerance is improved with the ingestion of sequential meals probably related to slower gastric emptying, increased insulin secretion which will inhibit endogenous glucose output from the liver resulting in enhanced glucose clearance by the muscle (Astbury et al., 2011, Jovanovic et al., 2009). Therefore, the pancreas is key in the regulation of macronutrients being digested and therefore controlling metabolism and energy homeostasis by releasing various digestive enzymes and pancreatic hormones at rest after food consumption or multiple meal ingestion (Cheng et al., 2010).

Besides the fact, most individuals identify that exercise is influential in the management of body composition, which stems from the acceptance that physical activity enhances weight loss via an increase in energy expenditure (EE) produced by a substantial change in substrate utilisation (Donnelly et al., 2009). Although, during high intensity endurance exercise carbohydrates provide energy in the form of muscle glycogen and plasma glucose (van Loon et al., 2001), as shown by Wee et al (2005) when exercising for 30 min at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ muscle glycogen were depleted by ~30%. This potentially suggests that postprandial glucose kinetics is driven to replenish

muscle and liver glycogen stores post-exercise. It is well established that exercise increases muscle glucose uptake independent of insulin (Richter and Hargreaves, 2013), which might be related to the fact that exercise training is the most potent stimulus to increase skeletal muscle GLUT4 expression (Richter and Hargreaves, 2013, Richter et al., 1985). With this in mind, elevated muscle glycogen concentrations from consuming food prior to exercise was thought to contribute to lower glucose uptake post exercise when compared to fasted exercise, although higher muscle glycogen before exercise actively increased the use of glycogen during exercise producing similar muscle glycogen concentrations at the end of exercise (Wee et al., 2005). Support of this notion has regularly been discovered after consuming food before exercise, which result in greater rates of carbohydrate utilisation during exercise (McIver et al., 2018, Clayton et al., 2015, Gonzalez et al., 2013).

It is important to consider that most populations consume food post-exercise and how the body responds in the postprandial period might provide insight into morbidity and mortality of chronic long-term illnesses (diabetes, heart disease and obesity). Improved glucose tolerance has been seen after consuming mixedmacronutrient meals (Astbury et al., 2011, Jovanovic et al., 2009), although limited research has considered whether a delayed gastric emptying and enhanced GLP-1 concentration supports insulin secretion leading to enhanced muscle glucose uptake and better regulation of blood glucose. In support of the above knowledge, it is becoming increasingly clear that adaptations initiated by exercise, can be strengthened by nutritional intervention, and consuming food in the hours after exercise is promoted to improve recovery (Thomas et al., 2016). One of the most frequently recommended strategies to stimulate post-exercise adaptations by accelerating the remodelling process is immediate protein feeding (Ranchordas et al., 2017). It has been documented by a number of recent reviews (Phillips, 2014a, Phillips, 2014b), in the absence of protein post-exercise, net protein synthesis is lowered leading to a reduced protein balance within the muscle. There is also evidence, low-carbohydrate availability can promote specific adaptations in the muscle and blood glucose is the primary energy fuel for the human body following carbohydrate ingestion. According to the glucostatic theory, low blood glucose concentration is associated with elevated food intake (Mayer, 1955).

In summary, several factors can affect how the human body responds in the postprandial period such as pre-nutritional intervention (fed or fasted) and exercise characteristics (mode, intensity, and timing). Hence the mechanisms which control glucose tolerance following exercise may involve enhanced intestinal absorption and reduced insulin sensitivity after exercise but may be counteracted by exercise-induced muscle damage by the working muscle and elevated NEFA accumulation within the non-exercised muscle. More recently, following exercise, glucose tolerance was worsened by prior meal ingestion (Gonzalez et al., 2013). Therefore, within this thesis all investigations were conducted in the fasted state, so comparisons can be made between different exercise conditions within the postprandial period.

2.11. Summary

Regular physical activity is an important component of overall health with reductions in chronic disease risk factors associated with as little as 3% change in body weight (Donnelly et al., 2009). Therefore, regularly exercising can help to create an energy deficit that may disturb homeostasis and hormone levels which regulate substrate utilisation and unwanted accumulation of substrates within tissues and cells of the human body. Despite a large amount of research focusing on appetite control by endeavouring to emphasise the relationship between energy expenditure from physical activity and EI from food consumption (Blundell et al., 2003), it is still apparent, exactly how exercise influences EI and appetite regulation is quite controversial and is constantly evolving (Schubert et al., 2013). Nevertheless, vast amounts of data have demonstrated that the fundamental aspect of the GI system is to digest and absorb nutrients, although very little is known about the extent GER performs in the regulation of appetite and metabolic health. It is unclear whether an increase or decrease in the ability of the stomach to empty its contents (GER) is responsible for the metabolic adjustments seen in the postprandial period, as GER has been suggested as a mediator of energy recovery. The absence of any studies connecting the modifications in GER to alterations in food intake and appetite regulation in the immediate hours after exercise is clear, warranting further investigation. Furthermore, concentrating on a healthy untrained population is also required to foster the research relevant to the general population. This thesis will give further insight into this developing theory and area of research.

CHAPTER 3.

GENERAL METHODS

3.1. Ethical Approval

This Chapter describes the materials and methods used within each of the experimental Chapters within this thesis. Any methodologies that were used only in a specific study were described within the section of the methodology of that specific Chapter. All experimental Chapters followed all procedures and protocols adhered to the guidelines of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki version (2013) and all investigations were approved by the Faculty of Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee prior to commencement (Approval letters provided in Appendix A to D).

3.2. Participants

Healthy male participants were recruited for each experimental trial within this thesis. Female participants were excluded due to evidence suggesting that periodic changes in sex hormones during different phases of the menstrual cycle can cause variations in appetite regulating hormones, and EI (Lissner et al., 1988, Wade and Jones, 2004, Brennan et al., 2009, Brennan et al., 2011). Participants were aged between 18y to 40 y, this narrow age range was chosen as food intake diminishes with age as changes to gut function; dyspepsia hypochlorhydria, and quicker filling of the distal gastric antrum all leading to reduced appetite (Nieuwenhuizen et al., 2010, Nigam and Knight, 2017). Furthermore, physiological changes such as decreased secretion of ghrelin have also been noted with an elderly group compared to a young control (Di Francesco et al., 2008) and Di Francesco et al (2005) also revealed longer gastric emptying time with an elderly group (77 \pm 3 years old) compared with younger controls (32 \pm 8 years old). Participants had a body mass index (BMI) <29.9 kg/m² and had no history of respiratory, cardiovascular or chronic gastrointestinal disease, and were not taking regular prescription medication as assessed by a medical screening

questionnaire (see Appendix E). Furthermore, participants were non-smokers, not dieting, vegan or lactose intolerant (Chapter 6 & Chapter 7 only) and free from musculoskeletal injury.

During recruitment, participants approached the principal investigator via email or by telephone after browsing a requirement poster located around MMU buildings (lecture theatres, laboratories, social spaces and the library), social media pages (e.g. Twitter) and MMU TV's located in John Dalton. Details outlining the study were provided, so that participants could make an informed decision whether to participate before attending a familiarisation trial. Potential participants were encouraged to read the information before making a decision in private, so that they did not feel pressurised into agreeing to participate. All participants were made fully aware of their right to withdraw from the study at any time before being informed of the experimental details both verbally and in writing prior to providing their written informed consent.

3.3. Clinical Trial Registry

Clinical trial registry helps to reduce selective reporting of results and ensures an unbiased and complete evidence base. Both Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 within this thesis were prospectively clinically registered with ISRCTN or ClinicalTrials.gov. Details and reference numbers are provided in the relevant chapters.

3.4. Familiarisation Visits

All participants conducted a familiarisation visit at least 7 days prior to their first experimental trial in each study within this thesis. During this visit, participants were provided with a written handout, which outlined the nature of the study and any risks and discomforts associated with taking part before completing a health screening questionnaire. Participants were familiarised with the gastric emptying breath sampling technique and the appetite visual analogue scale (VAS) questionnaire both detailed below (see section 3.8. Gastric Emptying Measurement; and 3.9. Appetite Assessment) to be used during the experimental trials before commencing anthropometric measures of height, weight, body composition and blood pressure were made (see section 3.4.2. Anthropometry Measurements). Following this, all participants completed an incremental exercise test to exhaustion (described below-

see section 3.4.1. Peak Oxygen Uptake Tests). Before leaving participants were provided with food scales (Salter, ARC 1066 Electronic Kitchen scale Range 1g to 3 kg, Tonbridge, UK) and a physical activity and food diary to be completed prior to their first visit (example; Appendix H).

3.4.1. Peak Oxygen Uptake Tests

For the study reported in Chapter 4, peak oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) was determined using an incremental exercise test. $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was measured on a cycle ergometer (Lode Excalibur Sport, Groningen, Netherlands). Oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$) and carbon dioxide output ($\dot{V}CO_2$) measurements were taken by indirect calorimetry and expired air was collected using a Douglas bag (HaB International Ltd, Warwickshire, UK). Heart rate (HR) (Polar FS2c, Kemple, Finland) was recorded along with ratings of perceived exertion (RPE; Borg, 1982). Before the incremental exercise test commenced a 3 min resting expired gas sample was measured on the cycle ergometer. After the resting gas sample was collected, participants started cycling at a power output of 50 watts (W) with a cadence maintained throughout of 70 revolutions/min (rpm). Workload increased by 50 W every 3 min until participants began to show signs of fatigue (assessed through HR and RPE). Once reached, workload was increased by 20 W every minute until volitional exhaustion. $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was calculated by averaging the highest oxygen volume consumed over the final 1 min period before exhaustion.

For the study reported in Chapter 5, \dot{VO}_{2peak} was measured on a cycle ergometer. HR was measured continuously and RPE at regular 2 min intervals. Expired air was continuously collected using a breath-by-breath gas analyser (Metalyzer 3b, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany). The protocol initially commenced with a 5 min warm-up with workload set at 0 W after which workload was increased to 50 W. Participants cycled at a cadence of 70 rpm throughout. Workload was then increased by increments of 50 W every 3 min until respiratory exchange ratio (calculated as VCO₂/VO₂) was greater than 1.0 for at least 1 min. From this point onwards, increments of 20 W were applied every minute until volitional exhaustion. \dot{VO}_{2peak} was calculated by averaging the oxygen volume consumed over the final 1 min period.

For the studies reported in Chapter 6 and Chapter 7, $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was assessed through the performance of a continuous, incremental protocol that initially commenced with a 5 min warm-up with workload set on 0 W followed by increments of 1 W every 2 s until volitional exhaustion using a cycle ergometer (Lode Corival CPET, Cranlea Human Performace Ltd, Birmingham). Expired gas (Metalyzer 3b, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany) and HR were continuously collected using a breath-bybreath gas analyser with RPE being obtained every 2 min. $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ was calculated by using the rolling mean of 10 breaths and work rate. The highest mean value of the rolling 10-breath $\dot{V}O_2$ values was accepted as $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$.

3.4.2. Anthropometry Measurements

3.4.2.1. Height

Height was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm using a wall-mounted stadiometer (Holtain Limited, Crymych, Dyfed, Great Britain). Participants removed footwear and stood flat footed with their heels against a back plate standing vertically facing away from the stadiometer.

3.4.2.2. Body Mass

Body mass was recorded to the nearest 0.01kg using electronic scales (GFK 150; Adam Equipment Co. Ltd., Milton Keynes, UK). Participants removed their shoes and socks and only wore minimal clothing (shorts, t-shirt and underwear) during body mass measurements.

3.4.2.3. Body Mass Index

Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the formula kg/m². This was performed by dividing body weight (kg) by the square of height (m) (Hoffman, 2006). BMI standards were used to control the population within this thesis, BMI Classification (Table 4). Participants with a BMI >29.9 Kg/m² were excluded from the study after the familiarisation visit.

Category	BMI (Kg/m ²)
Underweight	<18.5
Normal	18.5-24.9
Overweight	25.0-29.9*
Obese	30.0-34.9

Table 4. Classification of Weight by Body Mass Index (BMI)

* Cut off range for all studies within this thesis (Hoffman., 2006)

3.4.2.4. Body Composition

Body fat percentage was approximated using a bioelectrical impedance analysis (Omron BF306; Kyoto, Japan). Data was entered into the device (height, body mass, sex and age) before participants were asked to remove their shoes and socks and laid down flat on a bed face up. Electrodes were placed on the participants right hand and foot and they were asked to keep as still as possible for 30s whilst a small electrical current was passed through their body between the electrodes.

3.4.2.5. Blood Pressure

Participants were seated for ~15 min before blood pressure was measured using a non-invasive digital sphygmomanometer (Omron M2, Kyoto, Japan). Normal blood pressure was assumed around 120/80 mmHg.

3.5. Exercise Intensity

Off-line analysis was used to calculate exercise intensity that would elicit the required percentage of maximal oxygen uptake to be used during main trials. This analysis was calculated independently for each experiment. Details are provided in the relevant research chapters and within Table 5.

Study	Intervention	WR	Intensity
Chapter 4	CON cycle for 60 min	40 % VO _{2Peak} 70 % VO _{2Peak}	LOW HIGH
Chapter 5	CON cycle for 60 min INT cycling for 60 min [20x (1 min cycle / 2 min rest)]	40 % VO2Peak 60 % VO2Peak	LOW MOD
Chapter 6	CON cycle for 60 min CON cycles @ 2 x 30 min	70 % VO2Peak	HIGH
Chapter 7	CON cycle for 30 min	50 % VO _{2Peak}	MOD
	INT cycling for 30 min [10 x (1 min cycle / 2 min rest)]	100 % ЙО _{2Peak} (PPO)	VERY HIGH

Table 5. Classification of Exercise Intensity for this Thesis

WR = work rate of percentage of maximal oxygen uptake, CON = continuous, MOD = moderate, INT = intermittent, PPO = peak power output

3.6. Meal Details

Food was provided to participants in all four experimental Chapters within this thesis. Within Chapter 4, a standardised semi-solid meal consisted of one ~400g can of Heinz classic chicken and sweetcorn soup. The meal provided 242 KCal (1006 kJ) and the macronutrient content of the meal was 11.8 g fat, 8.2 g protein, 25.2 g carbohydrates, 0.8g fibre and 2.2 g salt according to manufactures details (Appendix G). The amount provided was determined by the manufacturer's recommendation of an average serving and provided each participant with ~10% of their reference intake of an average male adult 2500 KCal (Public Health England, 2016).

Chapter 5 also entailed one meal period in which a standardised semi-solid meal consisted of two cans (~800 g) of Heinz classic vegetable soup heated in a microwave. The meal provided 376 KCal/1584 kJ and the macronutrient content was 6.4 g fat, 8.8 g protein, 66.4 g carbohydrates, 7.2 g fiber and 4.8 g salt according to manufactures details (Appendix G). The amount (~400 to 800 g) and overall EI (242 to 376 KCal) of the meal was increased from Chapter 4 to Chapter 5 respectively. The

rationale for this increase was firstly to provide a vegetarian choice of soup so a more diverse population could be recruited and secondly to better understand if increase in meal volume would influence GER.

Food was provided to participants in Chapter 6 through two meal periods. The total energy utilisation during exercise and the remaining periods of rest between exercises was calculated as estimated trial energy expenditure (ETEE). This equation is documented in section 3.6.1. Meal one (breakfast) consisted of a glass of semi-skimmed cow's milk which equalled approximately 30% of ETEE. The volume of milk that was provided to participants was determined by using manufacturer's details (Appendix F). Participants were also provided with water so the total volume during meal period one was standardised to 500 mL to prevent differences in gastric distension. The second meal (Lunch) consisted of a bowl of ETEE. The weight of soup was determined using manufacturer's details (Appendix G). Water was added to the soup in order for the final weight to be standardised at 1000g.

Chapter 7 consisted of providing participants with food over two meal periods. The first of which was breakfast (meal-one) consisted of 30g of Kellogg's Special K original cereal with 125 mL of semi-skimmed cow's milk, a Sainsbury's butter croissant $(51 \pm 4 \text{ g})$ and a 200 mL of Sainsbury's pure orange juice. This provided a total of 434 KCal (1,816 kJ) and the macronutrient content was 13 g fat, 67g carbohydrate and 12.5g protein according to manufacturer's details (Appendix F). The second meal (lunch) was identical to the lunch meal provided within Chapter 5 (see details above). The amount of food chosen for the breakfast meal was based on the recommended serving size of approximately 400 Kcal for a man (Public Health England, 2018). Furthermore Betts et al (2016) state, that generally most investigations providing a breakfast meal are typically above 400 KCal (1673.6 KJ).

3.6.1. Calculating Estimated Trial Energy Expenditure

Daily estimated calorie requirements was calculated in Chapter 6 using the Mifflin-St Jeor formula (Mifflin et al., 1990) (Equation 1). This predictive equation determined resting energy expenditure (REE) using multiple-regression analyses to
derive relationships between REE and weight, height and age within healthy men. The calculated REE predicts 24-h energy expenditure (24-EE, in Kcal/d). Equation 2 establishes trial resting energy expenditure (TR-EE). This is determined by dividing REE by the number of hours within a day (24 h), before multiplying by six the number of resting hours within each trial day (Td). All participants completed 60 min of exercise at a continuous intensity at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$. Equation 3 determined exercise expenditure in KJ (EE-KJ) by multiplying work rate (W) by exercise duration in seconds, before divided the answer by one thousand. Then EE-KJ were converted to physical activity energy expenditure in KCal (PA).

Equation 4 was used to add physical activity energy expenditure (PA) and trial resting energy expenditure (TR-EE), which equalled estimated trial energy expenditure (ETEE).

Equation 1 $REE = (((10 \times weight [kg]) + 6.25) \times (height [cm] - 5)) \times (age [y] + 5))$

Equation 2	$TR \ EE = ((REE \ \div 24) \ \times 6 \ [Td])$
Equation 3	$EE \ KJ = ((W \times 3600) \div 1000)$ $PA = (EE \ KJ \times 0.2390057361)$

Equation 4 $ETEE = (PA + TR \ EE)$

3.7. Pre-Trial Standardisation

In the 24 h preceding each experimental trial, participants were asked to refrain from alcohol and caffeine consumption as well as strenuous physical activity. Any activity that was performed was documented in a 24 h activity log. Each participant was asked to record and weigh all food and drink consumed until 2200 h and then asked to replicate this prior to the next experimental visit (s). Participants fasted overnight for a minimum of 9 h with the exception of *ad libitum* water intake. All experimental trials were performed between 0700 h to 0900 h to allow an overnight fasted baseline blood samples to be collected in the morning as metabolic and gut hormone response were being measured.

To ensure that participants were adhering to the standardised dietary procedures, the research team contacted each participant via email or telephone 48 h before each experimental trial. This was to ensure standardisation and consistency of macronutrient intake and metabolic status in the 24 h leading up to each trial.

Approximately 90 min prior to the arrival at the laboratory participants were asked to consume 500 mL of water. This was to ensure euhydration upon arrival and a consistent level of hydration status before any blood sample was collected.

All experimental Chapters within this thesis involved multiple experimental trials and were conducted in a single blind randomised-crossover fashion. The order of trials within each experimental study were randomised for each participant to eliminate order effects occurring or bias from the investigator. Allocation of participant numbers was also randomly assigned to increase the randomisation sequence. Randomisation for all studies was conducted using a research randomizer website, which is a free resource for researchers to generate random numbers or assign participants to experimental conditions (Urbaniak and Plous, 1997). Due to the nature of the experiments conducted in this thesis, blinding of trials for both investigator and participant was not possible. The investigator was not aware of the condition and/or the sequence of trials that participants were going to follow before recruitment. Both participants and researcher were not made aware of the condition they were undertaking until they were setting up the cycle ergometer for the commencement of exercise. Participants were blinded from the order of the exercise for the whole experiment, except for the final experimental trial as participants could guess which trial they were going to be doing by deduction.

3.8. Gastric Emptying Measurement

Gastric emptying was assessed in all four experimental Chapters within this thesis using the ¹³C breath test method. This method does not expose participants to

large doses of radiation and, is a reliable, non-invasive and accurate measurement of gastric emptying (Braden, 2009) when compared with other methods such as scintigraphy (Ghoos et al., 1993). Isotope breath tests are usually measured using 14 C octanoic acid (Ghoos et al., 1993, Maes et al., 1994, Galmiche et al., 1998) however Braden et al., (1995) identified ¹³C sodium acetate was as effective at measuring gastric emptying when ingesting a liquid or semi-solid meal. The test meals provided to measure gastric emptying rate was a semi-solid meal containing100 mg of [¹³c] Sodium acetate (1-13C, 99%; Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc., Andover MA, USA). This isotope absorbs freely in the proximal small intestine, before being transported to the liver and metabolised to ${}^{13}CO_2$ which is then exhaled from the lungs in the breath (Wölnerhanssen et al., 2016). Prior to ingestion of the semi-solid test meal (described in more detail within each research method section of each Chapter), a basal end-expiratory breath sample was collected into a 100 mL foil bag by exhalation through a one-way valve mouthpiece (Wagner Analyzen-Technik, Bremen, Germany) and further test samples were collected every 15 min for a total of 120 min following the ingestion of the meal. Bags were sealed with a plastic stopper and stored in a dark and temperate environment, temperature (19 °C to 21°C) ready for analysis within 2 weeks from sample collection.

Previous studies have used a range of time frames to measure gastric emptying, depending on the composition of the nutrient/meal being consumed. Liquid emptying has been assessed over 1 h (Yau et al., 2014, Yau et al., 2017b). While semi-solid (Braden et al., 1995) and solid meal (Galmiche et al., 1998) ingestion have been assessed over a 4 h period. However, a 2 h sampling period was deemed sufficient as data collected from our laboratory with seven participants showed that the results from sampling every 10 min for a period of 2 h period did not show the parameter time of maximum emptying rate (T_{lag}) to increase over 90 min post-ingestion (Evans et al., 2018b).

Breath samples were determined by non-dispersive infrared spectroscopy using an isotope ratio mass spectrophotometer (IRIS Dynamic, Kibion, Germany) for the ratio of ${}^{13}CO_2$: ${}^{12}CO_2$. The difference in the ratio of ${}^{13}CO_2$: ${}^{12}CO_2$ from baseline breath to post-ingestion breath samples are expressed as delta over baseline (DOB). Half emptying time (T_{1/2}) and time of maximum emptying rate (T_{1ag}) was calculated using the manufacturer's integrated software evaluation based on the equations of (Ghoos et al., 1993). This software also calculated recovery of 13 C tracer in breath over time, by using the CO₂ production of the participants, which was assumed to be 300 mmol/h multiplied by the body surface area. This body surface area was calculated using the Haycock et al., (1978) weight height formula. This value would allow percentage accumulative dose over time to be documented.

A previous study documented that a sampling period of a least 4 hours is required to allow the full recovery of the ingested food (Sanaka & Nakada, 2010). Although, using this duration for sample collection may burden participants or patients involved. Alternatively, liquid meals have been found to empty somewhat faster, showing rapid emptying rates particularly if the macronutrient content of the test solution is low (Camps et al., 2016). Therefore, lower calorie or semi-solid meals which are less dense may empty a lot quicker, making a shorter breath sampling period more adequate to detect differences (Bluemel et al., 2015). A basel end-expiratory breath sample was collected pre-meal ingestion then at 15 min intervals post -meal ingestion for a total of 2h following food ingestion. The ¹³C sodium acetate breath test method is reliable with liquids and semi-solid test meals to measure gastric emptying (Braden et al., 1995). Previous studies have also used a sampling period of 60 min for liquid emptying rate (Jeukendrup and Moseley, 2010, Yau et al., 2014, Yau et al., 2017b). Breath samples were analysed for the ratio of ${}^{13}CO_2$: ${}^{12}CO_2$. The difference in the ratio ¹³CO₂: ¹²CO₂ from baseline breath to post-ingestion breath samples are expressed as delta over baseline (DOB). Half emptying time $(T_{1/2})$ and time of maximum emptying rate (T_{lag}) were calculated using the manufacturer's integrated software evaluation based on the equation of Ghoos et al (1993). DOB would be considered to be the most important result for GER within the studies presented in this thesis. $T_{1/2}$ and T_{lag} results should be used with caution if DOB results were not significantly different.

The measurement of gastric emptying was an essential outcome for each experiment conducted within this thesis, for this reason each participant was shown by the researcher how to perform an end-expiratory breath sample during their familiarisation visit. The purpose of introducing this technique was to make sure each participant was competent with provided the breath sample before their first experimental visit. On experimental trial days the researcher demonstrated how to perform the end-expiratory breath sample again before participants completing their first sample at baseline. To make sure each breath sample was valid, the researcher reminded the participants how to conduct the measurement before each sample was performed.

3.9. Appetite Assessment

Appetite was assessed using a visual analogue scale (VAS). This method of measurement attempts to quantify sensations that are not directly or easily measured. Most VAS use a straight horizontal line with a fixed length. A 100 mm visual analogue scale was chosen to measure: ratings of hunger, fullness, prospective food consumption (PFC), satisfaction, nausea and bloat in the studies presented in this thesis. These measurements were collected at baseline, post-exercise, pre-food consumption and at regular intervals during recovery; 15 min (Chapter 3), 30 min (Chapter 4 & Chapter 5) and 1 h (Chapter 6). Each VAS was composed of questions which asked "how hungry do you feel?" "How full do you feel?" "How much do you think you can eat?" "How satisfied do you feel?" "How nauseous do you feel" and "How bloated do you feel. Each anchor defined the extreme limits of the parameter being measured. A copy of this VAS used is in Appendix I. These scales are often used in clinical research to measure the intensity or frequency of a particular symptom and the choice or terms defined on this assessment was based on research conducted by (Flint et al., 2000).

The measurement of appetite was an important outcome, and for this reason each participant was shown a VAS during their familiarization visit. The purpose of introducing this scale was to explain how each question was relevant to the assessment of appetite and each question had to be completed correctly with a vertical straight line on each horizontal line. Each participant was also informed that during experimental trials that they would be provided with multiple VAS and the order of the questions and the anchors would not change. Participants were shown a VAS again before completing their first scale at baseline. After this the researcher did not intervene at any point when the participants completed each VAS, apart from checking each question had been completed. This was to prevent the researcher influencing the outcome of the result.

3.10. Expired Gas Samples

Expired gas was collected for the study reported in Chapter 4. Gas samples were collected via Douglas bags and samples were analysed for $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ production using a paramagnetic oxygen analyser and an infa-red carbon dioxide analyser (Series 1400, Servomex, East Sussex, UK). Analysers were initially calibrated using known concentrations of nitrogen and an oxygen and carbon dioxide mixture. The volume of expired air was measured with a dry gas meter (Harvard Ltd., Kent, UK) and corrected to standard pressure and temperature (Edale Thermistor, Cambridge, UK), before $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ determined (Varley, 2014).

Each participant inserted a sterile mouthpiece into their mouth for a 2 min period during exercise and 5 min during rest. Expired air was only collected for analysis during the final 1 min during exercise and 3 min during rest so $\dot{V}O_2$ could be calculated in 15 min durations at 15, 30, 45, and 60 min. This allowed workload during the main trials to be monitored.

3.11. Substrate Utilisation

Expired air was collected using a breath-by-breath gas analyser (Metalyzer 3b, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany) during Chapter 5, Chapter 6, and Chapter 7, for the calculation of substrate utilisation at baseline and at further regular intervals throughout all trials. During the rest period participants wore the expired air mask for 15 min in a controlled semi-supine position on a bed and continuously throughout exercise only within Chapter 6.

Average $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ measurements from the last 5 -min were used to calculate fat and carbohydrate (CHO) oxidation rates using stoichiometric equations (Péronnet and Massicotte, 1991). Whole-body rates of CHO and fat oxidation (g/min) were calculated from respiratory gas samples that were collected using non-protein respiratory exchange ratio (RER) equations, which are based on the assumption that $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ accurately reflect tissue O_2 consumption and CO_2 production (Leckey et al., 2018);

CHO oxidation $(g/min) = 4.585 VCO_2 (L/min)$

-3.226 VO₂ (L/min)

Fat oxidation $(g/min) = 1.695 VCO_2 (L/min)$

-1.701 VO₂ (L/min)

3.12. Blood Sampling and Analysis

Blood samples were collected in the studies reported in Chapter 4, Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 of this thesis. All blood samples were collected with the participant in a semi-supine position. A 20-gauge cannula (Venflon: Becton Dickinson, Plymouth, UK) was inserted into an antecubital vein and an extension (Vygon, Ecouen, France) attached. Before a blood sample for analysis was drawn, 4 -5 milliliters (mL) sample was drawn to clear the catheter extension and disposed of. Next 5 mL of blood was collected using a syringe (Terumo 10mL sterile syringe, Bunzl Heathcare, UK) and dispensed into serum vacutainers (Gold top, Becton Dickinson, Plymouth, UK). The cannula was kept patent by flushing with nonheparinized saline (0.9% sodium chloride; Becton Dickinson, USA) after every blood sample was taken to prevent blood clotting within the cannula.

Upon collection of blood samples, 50 microliters (μ L) of Pefabloc (Roche Diagnostics Limited, Burgess Hill, UK) and 50 μ L Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor (DPP-IV), (Merck Millipore Limited, UK) was immediately added to the vacutainers to prevent the degradation of acylated ghrelin and active GLP-1. Each compound was prepared in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions using 10 μ L/mL of whole blood for both inhibitors.

Blood samples were kept on ice until they were centrifuged (Sigma 3-16KL, Germany) at $1500 \times g$ for 15 min at 4 °C. Serum was then extracted from the

vacutainers using a Gilson pipette (Gilson single P1000, Fisher Scientific Ltd, UK) and blue pipet tip-ends (Thermo Scientific, ART Barrier Pipet Tip P1000, Fisher Scientific Ltd, UK), before aliquoting the serum into three separate 1.5 mL Eppendorf tubes (Flat-top snap cap microcentrifuge tubes, Fisher Scientific Ltd, UK) labeled (*a*, *b and c*). Serum was then immediately stored at -80 °C. During biochemical analysis, only one Eppendorf tube was removed for each sample to prevent defrosting samples multiple times. Each batch was left to rise to room temperature naturally over 60 - 120 min.

3.12.1. Gut Hormones

Gut hormones were determined using a multiplex analyser (Luminex 200, Luminex Corporation, Austin, TX, USA). This machine analysed fluorescently labelled microsphere beads. Equipment settings were set for a minimum of 50 beads per event and a sample size of 50 μ L. The probe height was adjusted between every plate and gate parameters were set to 8,000-15,000 count (CT) which was sufficient to measure circulating concentrations of total peptide YY (PYY), pancreatic polypeptide (PP), insulin, active GLP-1 (both GLP-1⁷⁻³⁶ and GLP-1⁷⁻³⁷) and acylated ghrelin using human gut hormone Merck-Millipore kits (Milliplex MAP, Merck Millipore Ltd, UK). This method allowed simultaneous quantification of all gut hormones on their respective immunoassay plate in a 96 well format. This procedure included an overnight incubation period at 4 °C for 17 h, in order to improve the sensitivity of the assays. Manufacturer kit sensitivities of each analyte are shown in Table 6 and coefficient of variance results are presented in each individual Chapter. Each plate contained a background, seven standards, a high and low quality control with the remaining wells filled with serum samples in duplicate.

3.12.2. Metabolites

Biochemical markers were determined from serum samples using a clinical chemistry analyser (Randox Daytona, Randox Laboratories, Crumlin, UK) that operates a photometric technique allowing dye that is produced during reagent reactions between the target markers within the serum to be measured using an enzymatic end point method. Glucose (GOD-PAP), total cholesterol (CHOD-PAP),

triglycerides (GPO-PAP) and non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) (ACOD-POD), concentrations were determined in duplicate and an average value was calculated. Manufacturer kit sensitivities of each analyte are shown in Table 6 and coefficient of variance results are presented in each individual Chapter.

Glucose was determined by enzymatic oxidation of glucose, by glucose oxidase to form gluconic acid and peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide, phenol and 4aminophenazone are catalyzed by peroxidase to form quinoneimine and measured at a wavelength of 505 nanometers (nm).

Similarly, total cholesterol was determined when cholesterol esterase is added to hydrolyse cholesterol esters into cholesterol and fatty acids, then oxidation by cholesterol oxidase to give cholestene-3-one and peroxide. This peroxide reacts with 4-aminoantipyrine and hydroxybenzoate, catalyzed by peroxidase to form quinoneimine, which were measured at a wavelength of 600 nm.

Triglycerides were determined by an enzymatic hydrolysis by lipases into glycerol and fatty acids, followed by glycerol and ATP forming glycerol-3-phosphate and ADP catalysed by glycerol-kinase. Glycerol-3-phosphate and oxygen is then hydrolysed to form dihydroxyacetone, phosphate and peroxide, which converts 4-aminophenazone and 4-chlorophenol in the presence of peroxidase forms the marker quinoneimine, which were measured at a wavelength of 546 nm.

NEFA and triglycerides should not be tested in the same run nor serum samples that are heparinised, as this stimulates lipoprotein lipase activity, causing the release of NEFA from triglycerides. Therefore, NEFA samples were analysed separately. NEFA were measured in a 2-stage reaction, in which NEFAs were converted to thioesters of coenzyme A by acyl-CoA synthetase in the presence of ATP, magnesium ions and CoA. Stage 2, acyl-CoA is oxidized by acyl-CoA oxidase to produce hydrogen peroxide, which converts 3-methyl-N-ethyl-N-(β -hydroxy-ethy)-aniline and 4-aminoantipyrine in the presence of peroxidase forms the marker quinoneimine, which were detected at 550 nm (Stokol and Nydam, 2006).

3.12.3. I-FABP₂

Circulatory intestinal fatty-acid binding protein-2 (I-FABP₂) concentration was measured using commercially available Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) (EHF-ABP2 Human FABP2 Intestinal ELISA, Thermo Scientific, Frederick, USA) in Chapter 6. Manufacturer kit sensitivities of the analyte are shown in Table 6, and the coefficient of variance results are presented in Chapter 6. Assay plates were analysed using a 96 well microplate reader set for absorbance (Synergy HTX Multi-mode microplate reader, BioTek, Winooski, VT, USA). The ELISA plate reader was set at 450 nm and 550 nm. The 550 nm values were subtracted from the 450nm values to correct for optical imperfections in the microplate. A standard curve generated by absorbency readings were used to calculate concentrations. Samples were run in duplicate and an average value calculated.

Analyses	Minimum Detectable Concentration	Intra-Assay %CV	Inter-Assay %CV
Gut Hormones (pg/mL) *			
РҮҮ	28	10	15
PP	2	10	15
Insulin	87	10	15
Active GLP-1	1.2	10	15
Acylated ghrelin	13	10	15
Metabolise (mmol/L) #			
Glucose	0.200	1.96	1.96
Total cholesterol	0.865	1.67	1.00
Triglycerides	0.134	1.55	2.58
NEFA	0.040	0.42	1.00
Intestinal (ng/mL) ‡			
I-FABP ₂	0.025	10	12

Table 6. Manufacturer Sensitivity Characteristics and Percentage (%) CVs ofAnalyses Measured within Blood Samples.

Sensitivity characteristics are those provided by the manufacturer. *Intra-assay percentage CV is calculated from 8 reportable results at 2 concentrations. Inter-assay percentage CV across 2 different concentrations of analyses across 6 different assays (Merck Millipore, UK). # Information provided by the manufacturer (Randox laboratories, UK). Intra-assay percentage CV is calculated from 20 results for each analyte. \ddagger information provided by the manufacturer (Thermo Scientific, USA) Intra-assay percentage CV is calculated from 3 reportable results at 2 concentrations. Inter-assay percentage CV across 2 different concentrations. Inter-assay percentage CV across 2 different concentrations of analyses across 3 different assays.

3.13. Reliability Measurements

Coefficients of variation (CVs) is widely used to quantify precision of biological measures and inter and intra-assay CV are used to control for potential analytic error (Hanneman et al., 2011). Using CVs is well accepted as a more useful index than standard deviation (SD), because SD can be proportional to the sample

values and can increase or decrease systematically over time depending on the participant sample being used (Connett and Lee, 1990). Where applicable (i.e. blood metabolites, gut hormones and I-FABP₂), samples from each participant were assayed in the same plate or run to minimise inter-assay variation. Within this thesis, a large number of samples were tested, and for this reason samples were run on multiple assay plates, or multiple batch runs on a clinical chemistry analyser. Plates and batches were run with their own calibration for the standard curve and known concentration controls were used at a high and low value. The inter-assay CV is an expression of plate-to-plate consistency that is calculated from the mean values for the high and low controls on each plate (Salimetrics, 2018). Corresponding intra-assay CVs were determined from all duplicate samples. The % CV for each sample were calculated by (CV % = SD/mean \times 100). The average of the individual CV is reported as the intra-assay CV (Boss et al., 2015). The intra-assay and inter-assay CVs are reported within Biochemical analysis section off Chapter 4, Chapter 6 and Chapter 7.

3.14. Capillary Blood Sample

Capillary blood sampling was only utilised in Chapter 5. Within Chapter 5 all blood samples were collected using the capillary method, with the participant in a seated position. A capillary blood was taken from the fingertip in order to provide a small (25 μ L) blood sample for the measurement of glucose. Prior to the puncture being made the participants finger was cleaned using an isopropyl 70% alcohol swab (UHS, Enfield, UK) before making an approximately 3-mm puncture using a 23 gauge single use safety lancet (Unistik-3, Owen Mumford, Oxford, UK). The lancet was then disposed of directly into a sharps bin before blood was collected in microvettes (Hemocue Glucose 201⁺ Microcuvettes, Ângelholm, Sweden) containing anticoagulant EDTA, lithium heparin. Blood was analysed immediately using a desk top plasma glucose analyser (Hemocue Glucose 201⁺ analyser, Ângelholm, Sweden). Blood glucose results were obtained and documented in ~60 s as mmol/L.

3.15. Wellbeing Assessment

Wellbeing was assessed only during Chapter 7, using an in-house questionnaire. The wellbeing questionnaire was designed using a numeric rating scale (NRS). In recent years this method of obtaining valuable information in a fast, undemanding manner to quantify the participants feelings in an easy to process way has become a popular method (Heidari et al., 2019, Saw et al., 2016). These questionnaires have predominately been used by swimmers (Hooper et al., 1995) and professional football players (Abbott et al., 2019a). By depicting the player's perception of his or her stress level and provides information on the training load both from a physiological and psychological standpoint when multiple exercise bouts are performed on the same day or over a long training week.

Most NRS use a straight horizontal line with a fixed length with evenly spaced numbers starting at zero and ending at ten. For the experimental trials a scale between one to seven was chosen to measure ratings of muscle soreness, fatigue, mood, stress and sleep. Each question was added together and the sum of scores for the five questions was used for data analysis. These measurements were collected at baseline (0 min), post-first exercise (30 min), pre-second exercise (255 min), post-second exercise (285 min), end-trial (450 min) and 24 h post trial.

The choice or terms defined on the wellbeing assessment were based on previous research (Abbott et al., 2019a, Hooper et al., 1995). Each wellbeing assessment was composed of questions asking "How sore do your muscles feel?" "How fatigued do you feel?" "How is your mood?" "How stressed do you feel?" and "How sleepy do you feel". Each anchor defined the extreme limits of the parameter being measured. A version of this questionnaire is presented in Appendix J.

Participants were shown a wellbeing questionnaire during their familiarisation visit and shown how to complete the questionnaire correctly by circling the number that best identified their feelings on the scale. The questionnaire was also provided in colour; point one (purple) through to point seven (red). This was so participants could visually understand the differences between the wellbeing questionnaire and the appetite VAS provided at the same time. Participants were also informed that during main trials they would be provided with multiple wellbeing questionnaires and the order of the questions and the anchors would not change.

On experimental trial days, the wellbeing questionnaire was shown again before completing baseline measurements. The researcher did not intervene at any point when the participants completed each questionnaire, apart from checking each question had been completed. This was to prevent the researcher influencing the outcome of the result. The final wellbeing questionnaire was given to participants to be completed 24 h after they had finished each main trial. To ensure that participants completed their final wellbeing questionnaire, the research team contacted participants via telephone.

3.16. Dietary Assessment

Participant's 24 h post-trial food and drink consumption was assessed using a weighed dietary record during Chapter 5, Chapter 6, and Chapter 7; for the calculation of total calorie (KCal) content, macronutrient content from the total KCal (carbohydrate, fat, protein and fiber), and total water intake.

Participants recorded and weighed all food and drink consumed from the point the cannula was removed (Chapter 6 and Chapter 7) or final capillary blood sample was taken (Chapter 5). After which, participants were free to leave the laboratory, consume food, and drink for a further 24 h. Each participant was informed of the time period during which they had to record their diet. For instance, if the participant finished their trial at1300 h they would record and weigh their diet through to 1300 h the next day for 24 h. Food records were analysed using the weight documented for each food or ingredient by using manufacturer's values provided when possible, or by using DietPlan dietary analysis (Software 6, Forestfield software limited, Horsham, West Susses, UK).

3.17. Water Consumption

Cold water (~6 °C) was provided to the participants in all four experimental trials within this thesis. The nature and design of each study resulted in water being provided at different intervals and periods. Participants completed a number of different strenuous exercise bouts (low, moderate and high) in each study. For this reason, it was integral for participants to be able to consume water during or after exercise. Within each study, participants consumed water provided before the start of the gastric emptying measurement phase. This was to prevent the fluid intake manipulating the gastric emptying outcome.

Water was provided *ad libitum* during the first 60 min of exercise or resting control period during Chapter 4. Each participant had access to water *ad libitum*. If

participants finished the water provided, further water was available. This water bottle was weighed pre and post and the weight was recorded for further analysis.

Water was provided in a standardised amount (125 mL) within Chapter 5 during exercise period (15, 30, 45 and 60 min), resulting in a total of 500 mL being consumed during the 60 min exercise bout. This meant participants did not consume any further water after exercise in both Chapters 4 and Chapter 5, leaving a 30 min gap between water ingestion and consumption of the semi-solid meal.

Within Chapters 6 and Chapter 7, 500 mL of water was provided to participants during their first post-exercise recovery phase, 60 min after breakfast in a standardised amount (125 mL). All water that was provided was consumed before participants started their second bout of exercise. No more water was provided to participants until the end of the trial, apart from the semi-solid lunch meal post second exercise bout.

3.18. Heart Rate and RPE

Heart rate (HR) and RPE were measured during exercise in all four research chapters within this thesis. An HR strap was placed around the participants upper torso and was measured continuously throughout all exercise periods to monitor exercise intensity. With the nature of each study, HR was documented at different intervals and periods depending on the exercise mode and study design.

Rating perceived exertion (RPE), is a simple objective measure used during exercise trials. The scale allows participants to rate their individual rating of exercise intensity, formed by assessing the body's physical signs, HR and breathing rate. A 15-point scale starting at 6 (Very, Very light) to 20 (exhaustion) was used to measure RPE during this thesis (Borg, 1973). Participants were introduced to the scale before they started exercise and were told, 'there is no right or wrong answer'. The number that was chosen by the participant gives the researcher an idea of how they were feeling.

3.19. Statistical Methods

The statistics used during this thesis are reported in the methodological section of each Chapter. P values of < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analysis was performed with Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) version 24 (IBM, New York, NY, USA).

3.19.1. Area Under Curve (AUC)

The methodological approach to an AUC calculation was undertaken using the trapezoidal rule. This uses a numerical integration method to approximate the integral or the area under a curve. The integration of (a, b) from a functional form is divided into equal pieces, called a trapezoid (see Equation 5). Each subinterval is added together resulting in a total (Yeh, 2002). One of the benefits of using AUC is time series data are integrated to form a single value characterising the overall response of an area. This practice can provide a valid estimate of the overall exposure to the parameter of interest (Narang et al., 2020) .Within this thesis a number of AUC calculations have been performed within Chapter 4, Chapter 5, Chapter 6 and Chapter 7 and documented as the product of concentration and time (e.g mmol·L⁻¹. 120 min⁻¹).

Equation 5
$$A = \frac{a+b}{2}h$$

3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size

Post-statistical effect size was determined for all results documented in this thesis (Chapter 4, Chapter 5, Chapter 6, and Chapter 7). For all analyses of variance (ANOVA), effect size was calculated as partial eta squared (η^2_p) with the effect size being interpreted at small (0.01-0.06), medium (0.06-0.14) or large (≥ 0.14). For all pairwise comparisons and paired sample t-tests, effect size was calculated as Cohen's (d) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were shown. The effect sizes can also be interpreted as trivial (< 0.20), small (0.20–0.49), moderate (0.50–0.79) or large (≥ 0.80) (Cohen, 1992).

Chapter 4.

The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite, and Gut Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a Standardised Semi-Solid Meal in Healthy Men^{1, 2}

¹ Some of the data from this study contained within this chapter was orally presented "Mattin LR, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH. (2016). Is appetite and gastric emptying effected by different exercise intensities after consuming a standardised calorie semi-solid meal. *19th-21st December 2016, ISENC International sports* + *Exercise Nutrition Conference, Newcastle.*

² The data from this study contained within this chapter has been accepted for publication in "Mattin LR, Yau AMW, McIver VJ, James LJ, Evans GH. (2018). The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and Gut Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a Standardised Semi-Solid Meal in Healthy Males. Nutrients. 10(6): 787. https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6643/10/6/787 "

4.1 Introduction

Exercising at different intensity has become increasingly popular over recent years, with the belief that high-intensity (Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2010a, Wasse et al., 2013b, King et al., 2013a, King et al., 2011a) but not low intensity (Unick et al., 2010, King et al., 2010b, Imbeault et al., 1997, Pomerleau et al., 2004) aerobic exercise suppresses appetite. Strenuous exercise >60% of $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ has been consistently shown to suppress appetite for up to 30 min after an exercise bout and this small delay in appetite does not influence EI regardless of the increased metabolic response of the exercise (Thompson et al., 1988, Ueda et al., 2009a, Becker et al., 2012). Although, it has been reported that changes in appetite do not always result in decreased food intake, but instead an increase (Martins et al., 2007a, Martins et al., 2007b, Shorten et al., 2009). Therefore, optimising physical activity to increase energy expenditure without increasing subsequent EI may be critical for preventing a positive energy balance in the hours after a bout of exercise which might lead to overall weight gain (King et al., 2008, Deighton and Stensel, 2014).

The literature that have measured appetite hormones in relation to changes in exercise intensity, has designated one or two peptide hormones to examine, with ghrelin, GLP-1 and PYY being deemed the most important (Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2010a, King et al., 2011a, Crabtree and Blannin, 2015). Martins et al (2007a), observed that cycling at a moderate intensity for 60 min increased PYY, GLP-1 and decreased ghrelin. Which strengthens the idea that ghrelin remains unique as the only known orexigenic hormone (Hazell et al., 2016). The digestive system is complex with many more peptide hormones that are secreted for the gastrointestinal tract in response to nutrient ingestion after low to moderate intensity exercise (Wasse et al., 2013a, Martins et al., 2007a). Therefore, expanding this critical area of research by measuring a wider number of appetite hormones within the same study is required to increase understanding of perception of hunger and satiety.

Interestingly, limited research has focused on how GER might influence appetite regulation. To date it is known that GER is influenced by some gut-derived hormones, as ghrelin increases GER (Levin et al., 2006, Falkén et al., 2013) while PYY and GLP-1 have been shown to decrease GER (Witte et al., 2009, Edholm et al., 2010). The regulation of both appetite and gastrointestinal motility appears to be intrinsically linked, as the rate of gastric emptying determines the time of gastric distention, which is known to be a satiety signal (Horner et al., 2011). Therefore, GER may be an important, understudied factor in appetite control and metabolic health, as GER has been suggested as a rate-limiting step in the delivery of nutrients to the small intestine after exercise (Geliebter, 1988). This delay in nutrients being absorbed in the small intestine is largely dependent on the GER process. One potential mechanism of interest after feeding is how GER and a selection of gut derived peptide hormones (ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY) may influence subjective feelings of hunger during recovery.

The majority of studies that have focused on using exercise as a long-term programme for weight loss have exposed little change in post exercise EI (Schubert et al., 2013), but these investigations typically provide *ad libitum* meals as a method of assessing EI (Imbeault et al., 1997, King et al., 1997, Wasse et al., 2012, King et al., 2010a). Controversially, providing an *ad libitum* meal after exercise could be seen as unrealistic as energy within these ingestion periods can be as high as ~ 5500 kJ (King et al., 2013a). No studies have attempted to determine whether a standardised meal consumed 30 min after exercise affects appetite regulation in healthy untrained males.

To date, no investigation has examined gastrointestinal responses after exercise, compared to a non-exercise control trial following the consumption of a standardised semi-solid meal. Therefore, it was hypothesised that exercise, regardless of intensity would delay GER, compared to a no-exercise control and consequently lead to a delay in appetite. The null hypothesis is, therefore, no differences between control and exercise conditions. Hence, the aim of this investigation was to compare the effect of exercise intensity and the response to a standardized semi-solid meal on 1) Gastric emptying rate, 2) Circulating gut-derived hormone response, 3) Changes is blood metabolite response, and 4) participant feelings of appetite.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1. Participants

Twelve healthy males were recruited from central Manchester, UK (Table 7). Verbal and written explanations of the experimental procedures were given before the start of any trial and written informed consent to participate was obtained. The nature of the study design did not allow for a power-calculation to be performed. However, previous research within this area had commonly used twelve participants (Alajmi et al., 2016, Holliday and Blannin, 2017c, King et al., 2011a, Martins et al., 2007a); eleven (King et al., 1997, Wasse et al., 2013b, Crabtree and Blannin, 2015); Ueda *et al* (2009a) used ten participants and Broom et al, (2007) used nine. From this data, we decided to recruit twelve participants, as this was the higher participant number from the range of journals reviewed.

Males (<i>n</i> =12)		
Age, (y)	26 ± 5	
Height, (cm)	176 ± 0.10	
Weight, (Kg)	80.6 ± 12.7	
BMI, (kg/m²)	25.5 ± 3.5	
Body fat, (%)	18.9 ± 8.1	
Systolic BP, (mmHg)	134 ± 8	
Diastolic BP, (mmHg)	74 ± 11	
VO2max, (ml/kg/min)	42 ± 6	
70% VO2max, (W)	165 ± 31	
40% VO2max, (W)	78 ± 23	

Table 7: S-1, Baseline Participant's Characteristics ¹

 1 Values are means \pm SD

4.2.2. Experimental Trials

Participants reported to the laboratory on three occasions, each separated by a minimum of 7 days. In addition to the pre-trial familiarisation outlined in general methods. Each participant was also required to standardise their diet and physical activity before each trial (see section 3.7. Pre-trial standardisation). Upon arrival at the

laboratory, participants were asked to completely empty their bladder before pre-trial body mass was obtained. Following this, participants rested for 15 min in a semisupine position whilst a cannula was inserted into the antecubital vein to enable venous blood collection. A baseline (0-min), blood sample was obtained, and a VAS appetite questionnaire was completed using the procedure outlines in general methods.

Participants then completed a 60 min period of rest (CONTROL) or cycle exercise at 40% (LOW) or 70% (HIGH) $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. HR and RPE was recorded at 0, 15, 30, 45 and 60 min and expired air was collected and analysed for $\dot{V}O_2$ every 15 min during the exercise or rest 15, 30, 45 and 60 min. During the first 60-min of the experimental trials, participants had *ad libitum* access to water. The volume of water consumed was measured by weighing the drink bottles pre and post-exercise (Adam Equipment Co Ltd., PGL 303, Milton Keynes, UK). After completion of the exercise bout, a further blood sample was collected and a VAS was completed (60 min; post-exercise), before participants were given 30 min to shower and change their clothes if necessary.

Following collection of a further blood sample and completion of a VAS premeal (90 min), participants were fed a standardised meal consisting of ~400g of chicken and sweetcorn soup (see section 3.6. Meal Details). Whereby participants were given a maximum of 15 min to consume the standardised meal and were given verbal instructions to consume it as quickly as they were able. The time taken to eat this meal was recorded. Participants remained in a semi-supine position throughout the remaining 2 h sampling procedure. Additional blood samples were obtained every 30 min (135, 165, 195 and 225 min). GER and appetite were assessed during the trial as described in general methods every 15 min post-meal ingestion (120, 135, 150, 165, 180, 195, 210 and 225 min). Following all sample collections, the cannula was removed and participants were free to leave the laboratory. A schematic diagram of the experimental protocol is presented in (Figure 2)

4.2.3. Exercise Intensity

Exercise intensity was calculated independently for each participant within this Chapter. Using the results from the peak oxygen uptake test which participants completed during their familiarisation visit (see section 3.4.1). This information allowed $\dot{V}O_2$ (ml/kg/min) to be calculated by multiplying $\dot{V}O_2$ (l/min) by one thousand and dividing by body mass (Kg). $\dot{V}O_2$ (ml/kg/min) was then plotted on the Y axis against exercise intensity (W) on the X axis. Workload was then calculated using the liner trend line equation to evoke a work rate equivalent to 40% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (Low intensity) and 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (High intensity).

4.2.4. Biochemical Analysis

Blood sample analysis is described in general methods. Gut hormone analysis was performed on 168 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 14%, 18%, 17%, 14% and 13%, respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across four different assays for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 24%, 26%, 19.5%, 10.75 and 16%, respectively.

Metabolite analysis was performed on 168 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA were 1%, 1%, 0.9% and 4.2%, respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across three verification runs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA were 3.4%, 1.9%, 0.9% and 7.3%, respectively.

4.2.5. Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. Data was tested for normality of distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Differences in standardisation measurements, Pre-EI, *ad libitum* fluid intake, gastric emptying T_{lag}, T_{1/2}, and all AUC results were analysed using one-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). Two-way repeated ANOVA were used to examine differences in HR, gastric emptying DOB values, gut hormones concentrations, metabolites concentrations and appetite VAS scores. Sphericity for repeated measures was assessed and Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon < 0.75 and the Huynh-Feldt correction adopted for less severe differences to correct for violations. Significant main effects were followed by paired students' t-Test or one-way repeated ANOVA with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons as appropriate. Effect size was documented as partial eta squared (η^2_p) or Cohen's (d) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) (see section 3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size).



Time in minutes (Basic time points)

Figure 2: Schematic diagram of the experimental trial protocol S-1. Yellow lined rectangle represents 15 min standardised semi-solid meal period. HR, heart rate. RPE, rating of perceived exertion. GE, gastric emptying. VAS, visual analogy scale. Control, (CON). Exercise Bout, (LOW, HIGH).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Standardisation Measurements

Pre-trial body mass was not significantly different between trials (P = 0.621, $\eta^2_p = 0.042$). In addition, environmental temperature during exercise (P = 0.182, $\eta^2_p = 0.143$) and recovery (P = 0.460, $\eta^2_p = 0.068$) was similar between trials. VO₂ was significantly different between trials (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.968$). Therefore, this resulted in the percent VO₂ participants worked at also being significantly different (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.989$). Water consumption during the 1 h exercise was significantly greater during the HIGH than CON trial (P = 0.008, d = 1.14, 95% CI=-148.80 - 162.39 g). The weight of the soup consumed was not significantly different between trials (P = 0.150, $\eta^2_p = 0.158$). Differences in time to eat the soup between trials approached significance (P = 0.063, $\eta^2_p = 0.058$) (Table 8)

	CON	LOW	High	P=Value
Pre-trial measurements				
Body Mass (KG)	80.4 ± 12.6	80.6 ± 12.7	80.7 ±12.5	0.621
Exercise measurements				
V02 (ml/kg/min)	4 ± 1	17 ± 3	30 ± 5	< 0.001
V02 (%)	9 ± 2	41 ± 4	70 ± 4	< 0.001
Environment				
Temperature during exercise (°C)	20.5 ± 0.4	20.2 ± 0.3	20.3 ± 0.5	0.182
Temperature during recovery (°C)	23.4 ± 1.2	23.7 ± 1.2	23.1 ± 1	0.460
Semi-solid meal				
Weight of soup consumed (g)	397 ± 3	395 ± 2	396 ± 2	0.150
Time to eat soup (S)	307 ± 113	303 ± 82	327 ± 73	0.063
Fluid Consumption (mL)	317 ± 285	476 ± 303	617 ± 264	0.008

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant P<0.005

4.3.2. Pre-Trial Diet Analysis

Pre-trial energy intake was not different between trials (CON, 2363 \pm 720 Kcal; HIGH, 2399 \pm 666 Kcal; LOW, 2384 \pm 706 Kcal; P = 0.968, $\eta^2_p = 0.003$) (Figure 3). This led to a similar proportion of energy from carbohydrates (P = 0.670,

 $\eta^2_p = 0.105$), fats (P = 0.339, $\eta^2_p = 0.093$), protein (P = 0.294, $\eta^2_p = 0.030$) and fibre (P = 0.875, $\eta^2_p = 0.019$) being consumed. In addition, fluid consumption before was also not significantly different between trials (P = 0.196, $\eta^2_p = 0.088$, Table 9).

Table 9: Pre-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from total Energy Intake

	CON	LOW	HIGH	P =Value
Carbohydrate	1051 ± 424	1095 ± 397	996 ± 379	0.670
Protein	447 ± 204	461 ± 198	494 ± 228	0.294
Fat	823 ± 313	787 ± 301	867 ± 338	0.339
Fibre	42 ± 23	41 ±20	41 ± 27	0.875
Water (g)	2042 ± 288	2170 ± 954	2176 ± 1046	0.196

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant at (P < 0.005)



Figure 3: Representative of mean for pre-trial energy intake (KCal), with vertical error bars representing SDs (n = 12). Individual data is documented as (\circ) CON, (\Box) Low and (Δ) HIGH. There was no main effect observed (p > 0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA.

4.3.3. Heart Rate (HR) and RPE

Two-factor ANOVA demonstrated main effects of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.951$), trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.914$) and interaction effects for HR (p <0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.887$) (Figure 4A). Post hoc tests revealed. RPE was not significantly different at baseline (P = 0.331, $\eta^2_p = 0.096$); HIGH (6 ± 0 bpm), Low (7 ± 1 bpm) and CON (6 ± 0 bpm). 15 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.874$); HIGH (13 ± 1 bpm), Low (9 ± 2 bpm) and CON (6 ± 0 bpm). 30 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.906$); HIGH (15 ± 2 bpm), Low (10 ± 2 bpm) and CON (6 ± 0 bpm). 45 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.919$); HIGH (16 ± 2 bpm), Low (11 ± 2 bpm) and CON (6 ± 0 bpm). 60 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.931$); HIGH (17 ± 2 bpm), Low (11 ± 2 bpm) and CON (6 ± 0 bpm).

Two-factor ANOVA demonstrated main effects of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.924$), trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.955$) and interaction effects for HR (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.923$) (Figure 4B). Post hoc tests revealed. HR was not significantly different at baseline (P = 0.876, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.019$); HIGH (63 ± 9 bpm), Low (64 ± 7 bpm) and CON (66 ± 8 bpm). 15 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.949$); HIGH (149 ± 19 bpm), Low (113 ± 14 bpm) and CON (69 ± 10 bpm). 30 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.951$); HIGH (156 ± 19 bpm), Low (113 ± 15 bpm) and CON (65 ± 8 bpm). 45 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.954$); HIGH (158 ± 19 bpm), Low (112 ± 15 bpm) and CON (66 ± 8 bpm). 60 min (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.942$); HIGH (160 ± 18 bpm), Low (114 ± 17 bpm) and CON (69 ± 11 bpm).



Figure 4: Representative of mean RPE (A) and HR (bpm) (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period. There was an effect of time, trial and interaction found for RPE and HR (P < 0.001), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA * Indicating that trials were significantly different from each other. RPE; rate of perceved exertion, bpm; beats per minute, HR; heart rate.

4.3.4 Gastric Emptying

The time taken to empty half of the soup from the stomach (T_{half}) amounted to $89 \pm 13 \text{ min}$, $82 \pm 8 \text{ min}$ and $94 \pm 31 \text{ min}$ on CON, LOW and HIGH, respectively (P = 0.247, $\eta^2_p = 0.121$). The time of maximal emptying rate (T_{lag}) amounted to 63 ± 13 min, 56 ± 10 min and 60 ± 16 min for CON, LOW and HIGH, respectively (P = 0.235, $\eta^2_p = 0.125$) (Figure 5). No statistical difference in mean DOB-AUC over 120 min post meal ingestion was demonstrated (P = 0.848, $\eta^2_p = 0.015$) (Figure 7A) nor

cumulative dose of percent ¹³CO₂, as final values at 120 min were similar (CON, 24 ± 3 ¹³CO₂ %; HIGH, 24 ± 4 ¹³CO₂ %; LOW, 24 ± 4 ¹³CO₂ %; P = 0.134, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.222$) (Figure 6)

Two factor ANOVA demonstrated no main effect of trial (P = 0.853, $\eta^2_p = 0.014$), a main effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.929$) and no interaction effect (P = 0.162, $\eta^2_p = 0.135$) for DOB values (Figure 7B). DOB values were elevated (P < 0.05) from pre-meal values from 15 minutes after soup ingestion until the end of each trial.



Figure 5: T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ are represented as mean, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Individual data is represented as (\circ) CON, (\Box) Low and (Δ) HIGH. There were no main effects observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (p < 0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. T_{lag} , Time of maximal emptying rate; $T_{1/2}$, Half emptying time.



Figure 6: Representative of mean for cumulative dose of % $^{13}CO_2$, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There were no main effect of time (P < 0.001) however no trial and interaction effect were found for dose % $^{13}CO^2$ (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA.



Figure 7: Representative of mean DOB AUC (0-120 min⁻¹) (A) and DOB respose (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There were no main effects for DOB AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001), however no trial, nor interaction effect were found for DOB (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. DOB, delta over baseline; AUC, Area under curve.

4.3.5 Appetite

A repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated no main effects for AUC; hunger (P = 0.453, $\eta^2_p = 0.060$; Figure 8A), PFC (P = 0.070, $\eta^2_p = 0.221$; Figure 10A), Satisfaction (P = 0.431, $\eta^2_p = 0.067$; Figure 11A) and Bloat (P = 0.199, $\eta^2_p = 0.136$; Figure 12A). However, there was a main effect for Fullness (P = 0.041, $\eta^2_p = 0.253$; Figure 9). A post hoc test revealed LOW was significantly larger than HIGH (3150 ± 2091 vs 2555 ± 1828 mm 225 min⁻¹; P = 0.023, d = 0.32, 95% CI = -1182 - 1034 mm 225 min⁻¹). Furthermore, there was also a main effect for nausea (P = 0.023, $\eta^2_p = 0.289$; Figure 13) A post hoc test revealed HIGH was significantly larger than CON (1939 ± 2359 vs 1106 ± 1575 mm 225 min⁻¹; P = 0.020, d = 0.43, 95% CI = -1333 - 898 mm 225 min⁻¹).

Two-factor ANOVA demonstrated main effects of time for hunger (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.507$: Figure 8B), fullness (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.509$; Figure 9B), PFC (p = 0.008, $\eta^2_p = 0.343$: Figure 10B), and satisfaction (p < 0.001, , $\eta^2_p = 0.124$; Figure 11B), but not for nausea (p = 0.074, $\eta^2_p = 0.201$; Figure 13B) and bloating (p = 0.218, $\eta^2_p = 0.478$: Figure 12B). Hunger and PFC decreased, whilst fullness and satisfaction increased after eating the semi solid meal. There were no trial or interaction effects for hunger (p = 0.339, $\eta^2_p = 0.098$; p = 0.190, $\eta^2_p = 0.123$), PFC (p = 0.058, $\eta^2_p = 0.240$; p = 0.087, $\eta^2_p = 0.155$), satisfaction (p = 0.248, $\eta^2_p = 0.102$; p = 0.650, $\eta^2_p = 0.074$), nausea (p = 0.104, $\eta^2_p = 0.637$; p = 0.637, $\eta^2_p = 0.054$) or bloating (p = 0.302, $\eta^2_p = 0.120$; p = 0.456, $\eta^2_p = 0.058$). There was no interaction effect for fullness (p = 0.456, $\eta^2_p = 0.079$), but there was a main effect of trial (p = 0.025, $\eta^2_p = 0.287$); however, post hoc tests revealed no between-trial differences.



Figure 8: Representative of mean hunger AUC (0-225 min) (A) and hunger VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects for hunger AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001), However no trial, nor interaction effect werre found for hunger (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.



Figure 9: Representative of mean fullness AUC (0-225 min) (A) and fullness VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for fullness AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial, nor interaction effect were found for fullness (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates LOW was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.023). AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.



Figure 10: Representative of mean PFC AUC (0-225 min) (A) and PFC VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; Hashed rectangle indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for PFC AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for PFC (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.PFC, prospective food consumption.



Figure 11: Representative of mean satisfaction AUC (0-225 min) (A) and satisfaction VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There were no main effect for satisfaction AUC (P >0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for satisfaction (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.



Figure 12: Representative of mean bloat AUC (o-225 min) (A) and bloat VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for bloat AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for bloat (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.



Figure 13: Representative of mean nausea AUC (0-225 min) (A) and nausea VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for nausea AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for nausea (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates CON was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.020) AUC, area under curve. VAS, visual analogue scale.
4.3.6. Blood Metabolites

4.3.6.1. Glucose

Glucose responded differently immediately post-exercise as HIGH increased from baseline (5.2 ± 0.4 vs 5.4 ± 0.1 mmol.L) and LOW (5.1 ± 0.3 vs 5.0 ± 0.4 mmol.L) and CON (5.1 ± 0.4 vs 4.9 ± 0.3 mmol.L) decreased from baseline. Glucose increased in all three trials after lunch; HIGH (7 ± 1 mmol.L), LOW (6.9 ± 0.8 mmol.L) and CON (6.8 ± 1 mmol.L). However, these changes in glucose did not lead to differences in the 2h recover period post-lunch. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.727$), but not for trial (P = 0.426, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.106$) nor interaction effect (P = 0.215, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.188$) (Figure 14B).

4.3.6.2. Triglycerides

Triglyceride responded differently immediately post-exercise as HIGH (1.42 $\pm 1.22 \text{ vs} 1.50 \pm 1.01 \text{ mmol.L}$) and CON ($1.18 \pm 0.70 \text{ vs} 1.20 \pm 0.66 \text{ mmol.L}$) increased from baseline, and LOW decreased ($1.24 \pm 0.81 \text{ vs} 1.15 \pm 0.61 \text{ mmol.L}$). Although, triglyceride remained elevated within the HIGH trial this did not lead to differences in the 2h recover period post-lunch. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed no effect of time (P = 0.107, $\eta^2_{\text{ P}} = 0.295$), trial (P = 0.197, $\eta^2_{\text{ P}} = 0.218$) nor interaction (P = 0.342, $\eta^2_{\text{ P}} = 0.140$) (Figure 15B).

4.3.6.3. Cholesterol

Cholesterol increased in all three trials from baseline to immediately postexercise; HIGH (4.06 ± 0.71 vs 4.41 ± 0.86 mmol.L), LOW (4.08 ± 0.93 vs 4.29 ± 0.89 mmol.L) and CON (4.17 ± 0.79 vs 4.31 ± 0.77 mmol.L). Furthermore, cholesterol then decreased in all three trials pre-meal and further decreased 30 min after food ingestion, where cholesterol remained stable throughout the 2 h recovery period. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.817$), but not for trial (P = 0.414, $\eta^2_p = 0.114$) nor interaction effect (P = 0.093, $\eta^2_p = 0.251$) (Figure *16*B).

4.3.6.4. NEFA

NEFA increased from baseline to immediately post-exercise in HIGH (0.47 ± 0.15 vs 0.90 ± 0.19 mmol.L) and LOW trials (0.50 ± 0.13 vs 0.68 ± 0.26 mmol.L) but decreased in CON (0.59 ± 0.20 vs 0.54 ± 0.24 mmol.L). Post-meal, NEFA decreased in all three trial. However, HIGH remained elevated over LOW and CON throughout the 2 h recovery period. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.763$), but not for trial (P = 0.114, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.278$) nor interaction effect (P = 0.103, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.232$) (Figure 17B).

4.3.6.5. Metabolites AUC

A repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated there was a main effect for, NEFA AUC (P = 0.037, $\eta^2_p = 0.376$; Figure 17A). A post hoc test revealed HIGH showed significantly more NEFA than CON ($68.5 \pm 22.9 \text{ vs } 43 \pm 11.5 \text{ mmol.L } 225 \text{ min}^{-1}$; P = 0.50, d = 1.60, 95% CI = -14.36 - 9.47 mmol.L 225 min^{-1}). However, no main effects for; glucose (P = 0.316, $\eta^2_p = 0.152$; Figure 14A), triglyceride (P = 0.158, $\eta^2_p = 0.232$; Figure 15A) and cholesterol (P = 0.553, $\eta^2_p = 0.081$; Figure 16A).



Figure 14: Representative of mean serum concentration of glucose AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and glucose response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for glucose AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect were found for glucose (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve.



Figure 15: Representative of mean serum concentration of triglycerides AUC $(0-225 \text{ min}^{-1})$ (A) and triglycerides response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for triglycerides AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There were no main effect of time, trial nor interaction effect found for triglycerides (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve.



Figure 16: Representative of mean serum concentration of cholesterol AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and cholesterol response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for cholesterol AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect found for cholesterol (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve.



Figure 17: Representative of mean serum concentration of NEFA AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and NEFA response (B), with vertical error bars display (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for NEFA AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. A main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for NEFA (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates CON was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.037). AUC; area under curve.

4.3.7 Gut Hormones

4.3.7.1. Ghrelin

Active ghrelin responded differently immediately post-exercise as LOW increased from baseline (222 ± 108 vs 174 ± 52 pg.mL) and HIGH decreased from baseline (100 ± 38 vs 174 ± 63 pg.mL). However, these changes in active ghrelin did not lead to differences in the 2h recovery period post-lunch. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed no effect of trial (P = 0.080, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.335$), time (P = 0.249, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.180$) or interaction (P = 0.090, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.259$;Figure 18B).

4.3.7.2. Glucagon-like Peptide-1 (GLP-1)

GLP-1 responded similarly in all three trials pre-meal. Although, post-meal GLP-1 was elevated in the LOW trial 14.56 \pm 12.42 pg.mL at 135 min and 11.44 \pm 9.53 pg.mL 165 min, compared to the CON (10.48 \pm 10.01; 6.28 \pm 6.12 pg.mL) and HIGH (10.56 \pm 10.28; 8.30 \pm 5.36 pg.mL). However, a two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P = 0.018, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.390$), but not for trial (P = 0.629, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.060$) nor interaction effect (P = 0.392, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.130$; Figure 19B).

4.3.7.3. Insulin

Insulin responded similarly in all three trials pre-meal. Nevertheless, post-meal insulin did increase higher during the LOW trial (2048 ± 1192 pg.mL) 30 min after consuming food, compared to CON (1647 ± 389 pg.mL) and HIGH (1649 ± 1096 pg.mL). However, a two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.829$), but not for trial (P = 0.604, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.050$) nor interaction effect (P = 0.422, $\eta^2_{p} = 0.119$;Figure 20B).

4.3.7.4. Pancreatic Polypeptide (PP)

PP increased from baseline in both exercise trials immediately post-exercise; LOW (47.7 ± 30.1 vs 78.8 ± 61.4 pg.mL), HIGH (31.4 ± 30 vs 94.4 ± 93.8 pg.mL) and decreased in the CON (53.5 ± 31.3 vs 51.3 ± 30.8 pg.mL). Although, pre-meal, HIGH continued to be elevated, before all three trials increased post-meal ingestion. Nevertheless, HIGH remained elevated over LOW and CON at 30 and 60 min post-meal. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed an effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2_{P} = 0.619$), but not for trial (P = 0.377, $\eta^2_p = 0.116$) nor interaction (P = 0.153, $\eta^2_p = 0.210$; Figure 21B).

4.3.7.5. Peptide YY (PYY)

PYY responded similarly, both immediately post-exercise and pre-meal. However, there was a marginal small increase in PYY 30 min after consuming a meal in all three trials. This slight elevation remained until the end of the 2 h recovery period. A two-way repeated ANOVA showed no effect of time (P = 0.361, $\eta^2_p =$ 0.126), trial (P = 0.992, $\eta^2_p = 0.001$) nor interaction (P = 0.422, $\eta^2_p = 0.119$:Figure 22B).

4.3.7.6. Hormone AUC

A repeated measures ANOVA demonstrated there was a main effect for, active ghrelin AUC (P = 0.015, $\eta^2_p = 0.451$; Figure 18A). A post hoc test revealed Low specified significantly more circulating active ghrelin than HIGH (3150 ± 2091 vs 2555 ± 1828 pg.mL⁻¹. 225 min⁻¹; P = 0.006, d = 1.60, 95% CI = -3149 - 2099 pg.mL⁻¹ . 225 min⁻¹). However, no main effects for; GLP-1 (P = 0.414, $\eta^2_p = 0.118$; Figure 19A), insulin (P = 0.796, $\eta^2_p = 0.032$; Figure 20A), PP (P = 0.320, $\eta^2_p = 0.150$; Figure 21A) or PYY AUC (P = 0.917, $\eta^2_p = 0.012$; Figure 22 A).



Figure 18: Representative of mean serum concentration of active ghrelin AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and active ghrelin response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was a main effect for active ghrelin AUC (P < 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There were no effect of time, trial nor interaction effect found for active ghrelin (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates LOW was significantly different than HIGH. Determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t test (P = 0.015). AUC; area under curve.



Figure 19: Representative of mean serum concentration of GLP-1 AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and GLP-1 response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for GLP-1 AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for GLP-1 (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA AUC; area under curve, GLP-1; glucagon-like peptide-1.



Figure 20: Representative of mean serum concentration of insulin AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and insulin response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for insulin AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for insulin (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve.



Figure 21: Representative of mean serum concentration of PP AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and PP response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effects for PP AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no trial nor interaction effect was found for PP (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve, PP: pancreatic polypeptide.



Figure 22: Representative of mean serum concentration of PYY AUC (0-225 min⁻¹) (A) and PYY response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 8). *Unfilled rectangle* with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; *Hashed rectangle* indicates ingestion of a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect for PYY AUC (P > 0.05), examined by repeated-measures ANOVA. There was no main effect of time, trial nor interaction effect found for PYY (P > 0.05), examined by 2-way repeated-measures ANOVA. AUC; area under curve, PYY; Peptide YY.

4.4. Discussion

The aim of the present study was to assess the effect of exercise intensity on subjective appetite, gastric emptying, blood metabolites and appetite-regulating hormones in healthy males. The main findings were that exercise intensity had little effect on GER, appetite, nor gastrointestinal hormone response despite some minor deviations at some time points. This suggests that exercise intensity is unlikely to have a significant effect on EI in the period after exercise despite the increased energy expenditure that occurs at higher exercise intensities.

To date, this is the first study to examine GER of a standardised semi-solid meal and the responses of numerous appetite-regulating hormones after continuous aerobic exercise at different intensities. Previous studies have reported exercise intensity >60% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ results in suppression of appetite in untrained individuals (Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, Ueda et al., 2009a, King et al., 2010a). In the present study, appetite was marginally suppressed immediately post-exercise in the HIGH and LOW trials, yet no significant difference was observed at subsequent time points post-exercise or post-meal.

Appetite suppression immediately post-exercise has been observed in nonathletic populations (Martins et al., 2007a, King et al., 2010a) but this suppression has not always been reported. Holliday et al, (2017c) reported that in endurance-trained males ($\dot{V}O_{2max} = 61.6 \pm 6.0 \text{ mL/kg/min}$), no significant reductions in subjective appetite were seen when participants completed a bout of high intensity aerobic exercise. Consistent with these findings, King et al, (2010b) recruited trained males $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (55.9 ± 1.8 mL/kg/min) and found no difference in appetite between a control trial and brisk walking. The present study supports these observations as healthy untrained males did not show differences in appetite when a standardised semi-solid meal was consumed instead of an *ad libitum* meal post exercise.

It must be noted that there were some differences observed for appetite AUC, as fullness was significantly lower after the HIGH trial compared to the LOW and nausea increased during the HIGH trial compared to control but not the LOW exercise trial. An increase in nausea within the present study and a decrease in fullness may suggest participants' perception of appetite might have been reduced post exercise as

the feelings of nausea may override the physical desire to eat. It is important to add, regardless of this result, appetite was unchanged in the short 2 h monitoring period after consuming a standardised semi-solid meal and should not be misinterpreted.

It is unknown whether exercise intensity within the present study would have affected appetite responses in the days following. Food intake and therefore EI was not measured post-trial or over the following 24-72 h, so potential compensation in EI cannot be estimated. However, the majority of the available research suggests that exercise does not stimulate any changes in EI >20-h after exercise (King et al., 1997, Hanlon et al., 2012). Although, in contrast, Rocha et al, (2013) demonstrated compensation in EI immediately post-trial and three-days after an acute bout of aerobic exercise. Further investigations are required to clarify subsequent EI and whether this response differs if the energy expenditure for exercise is matched.

GER in humans has been shown to respond to ingested volume, nutrient content and may be influenced by previous dietary intake (Noakes et al., 1991, Costill and Saltin, 1974, Rehrer et al., 1989). This is the first study, to have investigated gastric emptying responses to a semi-solid meal after continuous aerobic exercise at different intensities. Evans et al, (2016) observed that exercise intensity appeared to have little effect on GER of a glucose solution after the completion of an exercise stimulus. The results of this study support these observations. GER is regulated by splanchnic blood flow and central nervous system activity during exercise while some circulating gut-derived hormones have been shown to influence this variable. It would seem as though the changes in splanchnic blood flow and CNS activity that occur during exercise are likely to return to pre-exercise levels relatively quickly after completion of exercise thus having less of an influence on GI function in recovery. In this study, little difference was observed in circulating gut-derived hormone response after exercise which could also explain the lack of difference in GER of the test meal.

Ad libitum water consumption during the trial was significantly different with the largest fluid consumption within the HIGH and the lowest in the CONTROL, as would be expected. This difference in fluid intake may have affected GER; however, whether these fluid results in the present study indicate a potential mechanism for the results observed is questionable as the influence of hydration level during exercise on GER is unclear. This suggests exercise intensity, at least between 40-70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$, has no effect on GER of a semi-solid meal.

No significant differences for blood glucose, total cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations were observed in the present study. These findings are consistent with previous research that also reports significantly higher glucose 30-60 min after food ingestion (King et al., 2010b, Clayton et al., 2016). Interestingly, Clayton et al (2016), investigated 24 h severe energy restriction (providing 25% of energy requirements) and revealed that following 24 h energy restriction, similar to the CONTROL trial in the present study, plasma glucose concentration 60-minutes after consuming a standardised breakfast was increased compared to an energy balanced control trial. Within the current study, NEFA increased from pre to post exercise in both exercise conditions. Aligned with previous literature (Martins et al., 2007a, Clayton et al., 2016, Yau et al., 2017a), NEFA concentrations fall after the ingestion of food containing carbohydrate due to its stimulatory effect on insulin release. NEFA AUC was significantly increased after the HIGH trial compared to the control, but not the LOW. The current study might suggest NEFA increases after exercise in a fasted state regardless of intensity. These findings are consistent with McIver et al (2018), as they reported participants who walked at a relatively low intensity (50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) in a fasted state for 45min had significantly more circulating NEFA than participants who had eaten breakfast.

Triglyceride concentration was unchanged, with no differences between trials regardless of exercise intensity. Triglycerides usually increase within the blood in response to changes in energy demands (Aldiss et al., 2017). The lack of difference between the trials is to be expected as GER was unaffected by exercise intensity and thus nutrients would have been available for absorption at a similar rate.

No significant differences were observed for gut peptide concentrations (GLP-1, PYY and PP) or insulin). Nevertheless, ghrelin AUC was significantly lower during the HIGH trial compared to the LOW trial. As ghrelin acts as an appetite stimulant, it would be expected that appetite response would have been different in response to this change in circulating ghrelin. However, within the present study acylated ghrelin only responded to exercise intensity differently immediately after exercise as serum concentrations decreased by ~27% in the HIGH and increased by ~12% in the LOW. This decrease in ghrelin has consistently been observed within the literature for exercise intensity >70% VO_{2max} (Broom et al., 2007, King et al., 2011a). These changes were not significantly different post exercise in this study and consideration must be taken when interpreting the ghrelin AUC data. Despite these changes showing no significance previous research has also failed to observe an immediate difference in ghrelin following an acute bout of exercise (King et al., 2010b). Investigations have shown an inverse relationship between ghrelin and insulin (Solomon et al., 2008, Saad et al., 2002, Flanagan et al., 2003, Blom et al., 2005). This was not observed within the current study, as no changes in ghrelin were seen regardless of the rise in insulin concentrations post-meal. The findings for GLP-1 and PP are consistent with previous literature regarding elevated levels following food consumption (Ueda et al., 2013, Koska et al., 2004, Orskov et al., 1994). However, within the current study the increase 30-min post meal was not significant. There was also a lack of variation for PYY within the current study. However, De Silva and Bloom (2012), suggest PYY may be increased dependent on the energy content of the meal consumed. Therefore, the PYY findings within the current study may be due to the relatively small standardised semisolid lunch provided. These findings suggest that increasing the exercise intensity potentially represents a viable strategy to increase the likely negative energy balance augmented by exercise, without increasing short-term appetite later in the day. If subsequent metabolic responses are sustained in the long-term this could have important implications for weight management.

4.4.1. Limitations

This study has strengths and limitations. The main strength of this study is the crossover design, with the comparison to a control trial. This allowed direct comparisons between the two-exercise intensity. Similarly, this study is one of the few that has examined how a standardised semi-solid meal responds after different exercise intensities with the primary outcome to examine GER. Although, limitations must be acknowledged as sample numbers within the blood measurements were relatively low (n=8) due to complications with blood sampling. For this reason, caution must be considered when interpreting this data as it may be seen as being underpowered. However, this situation is a common issue within research of this nature (Broom et al., 2007), and future research within this area must consider larger

sample size to continue expanding research in relation to appetite regulation. Secondly, another limitation of the present study is the short 2-h monitoring period after exercise, as a longer monitoring period after exercise may offer more information on longer-term appetite regulation. Further studies should examine how post-exercise energy demands may cause different appetite response in the hours or days after exercise, which might lead to increased EI and therefore a negative effect on weight loss. Finally, some further limitations must be acknowledged. The meal challenge provided was in accordance with a single serving suggested by the food manufacturers and, as such, the energy content provided was relatively low. If this were to be increased, some subtle difference in GER may be observed. This is in agreement with the results of Moore et al, (1984) who reported the volume and energy density of the meal is crucial to the speed at which gastric emptying occurs. The rate is exponentially related to the volume in the stomach, therefore the fuller the stomach the faster the rate of emptying. This suggests using a standardised meal size is an important consideration when designing further research within the area.

4.4.2. Conclusion

In conclusion, post-exercise GER was similar regardless of exercise intensity. There was no effect of exercise intensity on subjective appetite after consuming a standardised semi-solid meal post-exercise. While some minor deviations in gut hormone response were noted, these were not statistically different between trials. These findings suggest exercise intensity does not affect GI measurements within a 2 h recovery period. Furthermore, the additional significant physiological demands of the high intensity trial did not result in compensatory alterations in the hormonal regulation of appetite or subjective appetite responses in the time period measured.

Future research is required to investigate the mechanisms responsible for changes in appetite, GER and circulating hormones as a consequence of different modes of exercise to explore if appetite regulation is affected when exercise intensity is matched but the modality changes (comparing continuous to intermittent exercise). Additionally, extending the observation period to include EI post-trial would also provide a greater indication on whether compensatory effects occur 24 h after participants leave the laboratory.

Chapter 5.

A Comparison Between Moderate and Low Intensity Intermittent and Continuous Exercise on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and 24-h Energy Intake in Males^{3, 4}

³ Some of the data from this study contained within this chapter was presented as a poster communication and the abstract published in "Mattin LM, VJ. Yau, A. James, LJ. Evans, GH. (2018). A comparison of the effect of high and low intensity intermittent and continuous exercise on gastric emptying rate, appetite and substrate utilisation in healthy males. Europhysiology. The QEII Centre, London, UK: *The physiology Society*, 2018:376-7"

⁴ The data from this study contained within this chapter has been accepted for publication in "Mattin LR, McIver VJ, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH. (2020). A Comparison of Intermittent and Continuous exercise Bouts at Different Intensities on Appetite and Postprandial metabolic Responses in Healthy Men. Nutrients. 12(8):2370"

5.1 Introduction

As outlined in Chapter 4, GER was unaffected by continuous aerobic exercise performed at a low or high intensity and whether this was the direct effect of exercise regardless of intensity or the capability of the GI system to respond to the relatively small semi-solid meal provided (~242 Kcal) warrants further investigation. In contrast, considerable research has focused on the effectiveness of intermittent exercise on improving physical fitness and reducing cardiovascular disease risk (Laursen et al., 2005, Heydari et al., 2013). Although, some evidence, but not all, suggests intermittent exercise might facilitate greater weight loss (Jakicic et al., 1999) than continuous aerobic exercise, possibly related to a greater suppression of appetite post-exercise (Trapp et al., 2008, Boutcher, 2011, Heydari et al., 2012). Therefore, comprehending how physical activity, such as intermittent cycling affects the 'appetite response' post-exercise is critical to improving long-term modifications in EI following acute exercise.

Evidence has suggested GER of a liquid solution is delayed during exercise, when performed continuously (Rehrer et al., 1989, Maughan et al., 1990) and intermittently (Leiper et al., 2001a, Leiper et al., 2005) at a high intensity. However, post-exercise Evans et al, (2016) established that mode of exercise appears to have little effect on GER of a glucose solution ingested after completing moderate intense continuous exercise (MICE) for 30-min at 33% peak power output (PPO) and a HIIE bout ($10 \times$ 1 min at PPO). Only a small number of studies have examined GER in the postprandial periods after exercise (McIver et al., 2019, Evans et al., 2018a, McIver et al., 2018, Evans et al., 2016, Clayton et al., 2014) and studies that have investigated the impact of moderate to high exercise intensity on appetite and EI have not included GER as a primary measurement (King et al., 1997, King et al., 2010a, Martins et al., 2015). However, despite these findings, research from Poon et al, (2018) demonstrated the interval nature of HIIE had no effect on EI nor appetite regulation when compared to a continuous exercise bout and once again no measurement of GER was documented. Several reviews focusing on acute exercise have indicated further work is needed to better comprehend how intermittent or interval exercise bouts might affect EI in the hours after exercise (Schubert et al., 2013, Deighton and Stensel, 2014, Hazell et al.,

2016). It is currently unclear whether intermittent exercise at different intensities differentially affects GER or stimulates a compensatory increase in appetite response. We do, however, expect the same response in GER post-exercise as has been found previously during intermittent exercise.

MICE is the preferred exercise type for recreational activities (King et al., 2001) and favoured during acute energy deficit research (Wasse et al., 2013a, Martins et al., 2015, Ueda et al., 2009a, Deighton et al., 2013b). Whilst the effects of continuous exercise on post-exercise appetite/metabolism have been relatively well documented, less is known about the effects of intermittent exercise in this regard. Nevertheless, Sim et al. (2015) found performing three high intensity intermittent exercise sessions per week for 12 weeks caused variations in appetite regulation, leading to reduced EI compared to an equivalent period of MICE and control. This suggests long-term benefits of training in an intermittent manner that might increase weight loss. Additional work from this group found when a single exercise session was matched for total workload, EI remained lower after HIIE compared with MICE as EI was attenuated in the post-exercise meal (Sim et al., 2014). Despite showing minor changes in EI, intermittent exercise results in additional physiological adaptation, such as improved muscle oxidative capacity (Hood et al., 2011, Gillen and Gibala, 2014), that may lead to greater health benefits than continuous exercise.

To date, no investigation has compared the postprandial responses to a single bout of intermittent and continuous exercise at a moderate and low intensity to assess if the modality of exercise is as important as intensity. Therefore, it was hypothesised that intermittent exercise, regardless of intensity, would delay GER and lead to a greater suppression of appetite post-exercise than continuous exercise. The null hypothesis therefore is there would be no differences between exercise conditions. The purpose of this study was to compare how intermittent and continuous exercise at a low and moderate intensity would influence postprandial response to a standardized semi-solid meal on 1) GER and feelings of appetite, 2) Leading to a modified metabolite response, and 3) Altering 24 h post-trial EI.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1. Participants

Fourteen healthy men were recruited from central Manchester, UK (Table 10). Verbal and written explanations of the experimental procedures were provided before the start of the trials and written informed consent to participate was obtained. Two participants withdrew prior to completing the study, meaning twelve participants completed the study. An a priori calculation was conducted using data from chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018b). An effect size $\eta^2 p = 0.135$ from a repeated measures ANOVA model, attributing GER as the primary outcome measure, and using an α of 0.05 and a statistical power of 0.8 determined that ≥ 12 participants would be required to reject the null hypothesis (G*Power 3.0.10, Heinrich Hein Universitat, Dusseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany).

Males (n=12)					
Age, (y)	30 ± 6				
Height, (m)	1.79 ± 0.08				
Weight, (Kg)	79.1 ± 9.0				
BMI, (kg/m²)	24.6 ± 2.0				
Body fat, (%)	17.8 ± 3.9				
Systolic BP, (mmHg)	132 ± 13				
Diastolic BP, (mmHg)	79 ± 11				
^{VO} 2max, (ml/kg/min)	38 ± 6				
LOW-CON, (W)	76 ± 26				
LOW-INT, (W)	221 ± 76				
MOD-CON, (W)	114 ± 31				
MOD-INT, (W)	417 ± 90				

Table 10: S-2, Baseline Participant's Characteristics¹

¹ Values are means \pm SDs

5.2.2. Experimental Trials

Participants reported to the laboratory on four occasions, each separated by a minimum of 7 days. In addition to the pre-trial familiarisation outlined in general methods. Each participant was also required to standardise their diet and physical activity before each trial (see section 3.7. Pre-trial standardisation).

Upon arrival at the laboratory, participants' post-void body mass was obtained before they completed seated rest for 10 min, during this period baseline measurements for appetite (VAS questionnaire) were completed, before a capillary blood sample was collected. Expired gas samples were collected for 15 min in a semisupine position on a bed, and this data was used to calculate substrate utilisation. The procedures for these baseline measurements are outlined in general methods.

Participants then completed a 60 min exercise protocol either at 60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ (MOD) or 40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ (LOW) in a continuous (CON) or intermittent (INT) manner. CON consisted of 60-min continuous cycling and INT consisted of 20×1 min exercise bouts interspersed by 2 min rest period. INT and CON at each intensity were matched for total work output, which is documented below (5.2.3 exercise intensity). HR and RPE (Borg, 1973) were recorded every 5 min in CON (5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 45, 50, 55 and 60 min) and at the end of each 1 min exercise bout (1, 4, 7, 10, 13, 16, 19, 22, 25, 28, 31, 34, 37, 40, 43, 46, 49, 52, 55 and 58 min) and at the end of each 2 min rest period in INT. The heart rate data is reported as individual points during exercise (Figure 25) and average heart rate across the 60 min exercise period (Table *11*).

During exercise, each participant was provided with a standardized amount of water (125 mL) at 15, 30, 45 and 60 min resulting in a total of 500 mL during the exercise period. Furthermore, a capillary blood sample was collected mid-exercise (30 min) and at the end of the exercise bout 60 min (post-exercise). After completion of the exercise bout a further VAS was completed, before participants were given 30 min to shower and change their clothes.

Following collection at 90 min of a pre-meal blood sample and VAS, participants were fed a standardised meal consisting of two cans (~800 g) of vegetable soup (see section; 3.6. Meal Details), in which they were given a maximum of fifteen minutes to consume the standardised meal and instructed to consume it as quickly as

they were able. Time taken to eat this meal was recorded. After the meal, no more food or drink was consumed until participants left the laboratory at 225 min. Participants remained in a semi-supine position throughout the remaining 2h sampling procedure. Additional blood and expired gas samples were obtained every 30min (135, 165, 195 and 225 min), gastric emptying rate was obtained pre-meal ingestion and at (120, 135, 150, 165, 180, 195, 210 and 225 min); with appetite response being documented at (105, 120, 135, 150, 165, 180, 195, 210 and 225 min). The measurements within this trial are described in general methods. Following the collection of the final samples, participants were free to leave the laboratory. A schematic diagram of the experimental protocol is presented in (Figure 23).

5.2.3. Exercise Intensity

Exercise intensity was calculated in a similar manner as described within Chapter 4. Workload was then calculated using the liner trend line equation to evoke a work rate equivalent to 40% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (Low intensity) and 60% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (Moderate intensity) duration continuous exercise trial. Intermittent exercise was matched for power output compared to the continuous counterpart. The established W intensity for the continuous low/moderate trials were used to determined energy expenditure kilojoules (KJ) using *Equation6*. Using the notion (1W = 1 joule per second). The total energy expenditure (KJ) for the 60 min continuous trials were used to calculate 1 min W intensity for the intermittent trials. This ensured equal power output between continuous and intermittent trials at the required low and moderate exercise intensity.

Equation 6:
$$Joule's[J] = (W \times Time [s])$$

 $KJ = (J \div 1000)$

5.2.4. Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. Data was tested for normality of distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Pretrial body mass, exercise and environmental measurements, time to eat soup, AUC calculations, gastric emptying T_{lag} and T_{1/2}, and EI were analysed using a two-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) for intensity and modality of exercise. Substrate utilisation, DOB, blood glucose, HR and appetite were analysed using a three-way repeated measures ANOVA for time, intensity and modality of exercise. Sphericity for repeated measures was assessed and Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon < 0.75 and the Huynh-Feldt correction adopted for less severe differences to correct for violations. Significant main effects were followed by paired student's t-Test or one-way repeated ANOVA with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons as appropriate. Effect size was documented as partial eta squared (η^2_p) or Cohen's (d) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) (see section 3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size).



Time in minutes (Basic time points)

Figure 23: Schematic diagram of the experimental trial protocol S-2. Yellow lined rectangle represents 15 min standardised semi-solid meal period. HR, heart rate. RPE, rating of perceived exertion. GE, gastric emptying. VAS, visual analogy scale. Expired Air, (Substrate Utilisation). Intermittent, (LOW-INT and MOD-INT). Continuous, (LOW-CON and MOD-CON)

5.3 Results

5.3.1. Standardisation Measurements

Pre-trial body mass was not significantly different between trials with statistical analysis showing no effect of intensity (p = 0.256, $\eta_p^2 = 0.116$), modality (p = 0.388, $\eta_p^2 = 0.068$) and intensity × modality interaction effect (p = 0.726, $\eta_p^2 = 0.012$). There was no difference in environment temperature between trials with statistical analysis showing no effect of intensity (p = 0.262, $\eta_p^2 = 0.113$; p = 0.061, $\eta_p^2 = 0.283$), modality (p = 0.592, $\eta_p^2 = 0.027$; p = 0.793, $\eta_p^2 = 0.007$) and intensity × modality interaction effect (p = 0.297, $\eta_p^2 = 0.097$; p = 0.752, $\eta_p^2 = 0.009$).

No main effect of modality (p = 387, $\eta_p^2 = 0.019$) was shown for average heart rate (HR) during the 60 min exercise period, however a main effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.969$) and an intensity × modality interaction (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.582$) was observed. Post-hoc tests revealed HR was significantly higher between MOD-CON compared to LOW-CON (139 ± 18 vs. 104 ± 16 bpm: p < 0.001, d = 2.15, 95% CI = -8.04 - 11.20 bpm) and MOD-INT compared to LOW-INT was reported (130 ± 17 vs. 106 ± 16 bpm: p < 0.001, d = 1.52, 95% CI = -8.10 - 10.57 bpm)

No main effect of modality (p = 0.118, $\eta_p^2 = 0.207$) nor intensity × modality interaction (p = 0.119, $\eta_p^2 = 0.150$) was shown for total estimated work completed during exercise (KJ), however a main effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.975$) was observed. Post-hoc tests revealed significantly more work was completed between LOW-CON compared to MOD-CON (277 ± 94 vs. 524 ± 104 KJ: p < 0.001, d = 2.60, 95% CI = -56.24 - 55.79 W) and LOW-INT compared to MOD-INT was reported (271 ± 73 vs. 518 ± 103 KJ: p < 0.001, d = 2.89, 95% CI = -55.39 - 44.19 KJ)

Exercise intensity (W) was significantly different between all trials, with statistical analysis demonstrating an effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.944$), modality (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.963$) and an intensity × modality interaction (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.0957$). Post-hoc tests revealed significantly lower exercise intensity for LOW-CON compared to LOW-INT (77 ± 26 vs. 222 ± 73 W: p < 0.001, d = 2.76, 95% CI = -38.54 - 17.47 W) and MOD-CON compared to MOD-INT was reported (145 ± 29 vs. 423 ± 86 W: p < 0.001, d = 4.52, 95% CI = -44.13 - 20.93 W).

Finally, differences in time to eat the soup were found between trial modality (p = 0.005, $\eta_p^2 = 0.519$) but not for intensity (p = 0.253, $\eta_p^2 = 0.117$) nor an intensity x modality interaction (p = 0.999, $\eta_p^2 = 0.010$). Post-hoc tests revealed time to eat soup was significantly longer during MON-INT compared to MOD-CON (434 ± 91 vs. 405 ± 101 s: p = 0.011, d = 0.32, 95% CI = -51.95 - 57.32 s) but not between LOW-CON and LOW-INT (313 ± 166 vs. 343 ± 91 s: p = 0.456, d = 0.23, 95% CI = -51.25 - 94.16 s, Table 11).

Measurements	LOW-CON	LOW- INT	MOD-CON	MOD-INT	P = Value				
Pre-Trial Measurements									
Body Mass (Kg)	79.3 ± 8.8	79.3 ± 8.9	79.4 ± 8.7	79.6 ± 8.9	0.726				
Exercise Measurements									
Average HR (60-min)	104 ± 16	106 ± 16	139 ± 18	130 ± 17	< 0.001				
Work Completed (KJ)	277 ± 94	271 ± 73	524 ± 104	518 ± 103	0.119				
Exercise Intensity (W)	$77\pm26^{\dagger}$	$222\pm73^{\dagger}$	$145\pm29^{\dagger}$	$423\pm86^{\dagger}$	< 0.001				
Environment Temperature									
During Exercise (°C)	20.8 ± 1.1	20.6 ± 0.9	20.7 ± 0.9	21.2 ± 1.1	0.297				
During Recovery (°C)	21.2 ± 1.1	21 ± 0.7	21.4 ± 0.8	21.4 ± 0.8	0.752				
Semi-Solid Meal									
Weight of Soup Consumed (g)	773 ± 15	768 ± 10	771 ± 14	775 ± 10	0.058				
Time to Eat Soup (s)	313 ± 166	343 ± 91	405 ± 101	$434 \pm 91^{*}$	0.999				

Table 11: S2, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant *P* < 0.05; * MOD-INT is significantly different from MOD-CON; † Value is significantly different from all other trials. P = Values are documented as main interaction effect.

5.3.2. Energy and Macronutrient Intake

5.3.2.1. Pre-Trial

Pre-trial energy intake amounted to 2483 ± 721 kCal, 2474 ± 854 kCal, 2486 ± 660 kCal and 2396 ± 803 kCal during the LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON trials, respectively, and there was no significant effect for intensity (p =0.745, η^2_p = 0.010), modality (p = 0.621, η^2_p = 0.023) nor intensity x modality (p = 0.665, η^2_p = 0.018, Figure 24A).

This led to a similar proportion of energy from carbohydrates (P = 0.770, $\eta^2_p = 0.188$); fats (P = 0.239, $\eta^2_p = 0.193$); protein (P = 0.594, $\eta^2_p = 0.090$) and fibre (P = 0.775, $\eta^2_p = 0.009$). In addition, fluid consumption before was not significantly different between trials (P = 0.587, $\eta^2_p = 0.056$, Table 12).

5.3.2.2. Post-Trial

No main effect of the intensity × modality (p = 0.093, $\eta^2_p = 0.256$) interaction was detected for 24 h post trial energy intake (kCal), however a main effect of intensity (p = 0.005, $\eta^2_p = 0.556$) and modality (p = 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.667$) was observed. Posthoc tests revealed MOD-INT was significantly higher compared to MOD-CON (3500 ± 1419 vs. 2777 ± 1042 kCal: p < 0.001, d = 0.61, 95% CI = -802.25 – 590.16 kCal) but no difference was found between LOW-INT and LOW-CON (2556 ± 989 v 2320 ± 985 kCal: p = 0.258, d = 0.25, 95% CI = -559.32 -557.56 kCal, Figure 24B).

This led to a different proportion of energy from carbohydrates. There was a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.022, $\eta^2_p = 0.425$) interaction, intensity (p = 0.003, $\eta^2_p = 0.611$) and modality (p = 0.002, $\eta^2_p = 0.635$) observed. Post-hoc tests revealed MOD-INT was significantly higher compared to MOD-CON (1639 ± 318 KCal and 1198 ± 325 KCal: p = 0.002, d = 1.44, 95% CI = -186.48 - 193.50 kCal) but no difference was found between LOW-INT and LOW-CON (1223 ± 296 KCal, 1094 ± 235 kCal p = 0.088, d = 0.51, 95% CI = -174.42 - 139.38 kCal, Table 12)

There was no main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.240, $\eta^2_p = 0.135$) interaction nor modality (p = 0.074, $\eta^2_p = 0.284$) observed. However, there was a main effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.819$) found for fat. Post-hoc tests revealed LOW-CON was significantly lower compared to MOD-CON (801 ± 247 KCal and $1024 \pm$ 235 KCal: p < 0.001, d = 0.97, 95% CI = -137.90 – 146.94 kCal) and LOW-INT was significantly lower compared to MOD-INT (906 ± 279 KCal, 1241 ± 382 kCal p = 0.020, d = 1.05, 95% CI = -224.69 –165.93 kCal, Table 12)

There was no main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.151, $\eta^2_p = 0.015$) interaction nor modality (p = 0.445, $\eta^2_p = 0.045$) observed. However, there was a main effect of intensity (p = 0.007, $\eta^2_p = 0.534$) found for protein. Post-hoc tests revealed LOW-CON was significantly lower compared to MOD-CON (388 ± 76 KCal and 515 ± 233 KCal: p < 0.001, d = 0.77, 95% CI = -136.92 - 45.68 kCal) but no difference was found between LOW-INT and MOD-INT (404 ± 114 KCal, 554 ± 130 kCal p =0.098, d = 1.29, 95% CI = -75.54 - 68.66 kCal, Table 12).

There was no main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.106, $\eta^2_p = 0.240$) interaction, modality (p = 0.221, $\eta^2_p = 0.145$) nor intensity (p = 0.415, $\eta^2_p = 0.067$) observed for fibre (23 ± 13 KCal, 39 ± 27 KCal, 37 ± 27 KCal and 40 ± 16 kCal, Table 12) for LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON trials, respectively.

In addition, fluid consumption post (2054 ± 857 g, 2013 ± 1347 g, 2395 ± 1089 g and 2187 ± 1160 g: P = 0.087, η^2_{p} =0.99, Table 12) LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON trials was not significantly different between trials





Figure 24: Representative of mean values for pre-energy intake (KCal) (A, n= 12) and Post-energy intake (KCal) (B, n = 11) with vertical error bars display SD's. Individual data is represented as (Δ) LOW-INT, (\circ) LOW-CON, (\Box) MOD-INT and (\times) represents MOD-CON. There were no intensity, modality nor interaction main effects for pre-trial energy intake (P > 0.05), examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. An intensity and modality effect was observed (P < 0.05). However, no interaction main effects for post-trial energy intake (P > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA. * Indicates MOD-INT were significantly different than MOD-CON, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (*p*<0.05).

Macronutrient	LOW-CON	LOW-INT	MOD-CON	MOD-INT	P= Value				
Pre-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)									
Carbohydrate	1131 ± 394	1120 ± 347	1109 ± 349	1201 ± 337	0.770				
Protein	449 ± 211	449 ± 184	413 ± 218	425 ± 179	0.594				
Fat	856 ± 442	874 ± 335	834 ± 402	821 ± 322	0.239				
Fibre	39 ± 17	40 ± 17	40 ± 17	40 ± 18	0.775				
Water (g)	2635 ± 1744	2777 ± 1704	2728 ± 1740	2678 ± 1838	0.587				
Post-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)									
Carbohydrate	1094 ± 235	1223 ± 296	1198 ± 325	$*1639 \pm 318$	0.022				
Protein	388 ± 76	404 ± 114	515 ± 233	554 ± 130	0.151				
Fat	801 ± 247	906 ± 279	1024 ± 235	1241 ± 382	0.240				
Fibre	38 ± 27	23 ± 13	40 ± 40	37 ± 27	0.106				
Water (g)	2031 ± 1347	2054 ± 857	2187 ± 1160	2395 ± 1489	0.087				

Table 12: Pre- and Post-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from Total Energy Intake for LOW-CON, LOW-INT. MOD-CON and MOD-INT

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant P < 0.005 * Indicates MOD-INT were significantly larger than MOD-CON. P = Values are documented as main interaction effect

.

5.3.3. Heart rate (HR) and RPE

No main effect for intensity x modality x time interaction (p = 0.942, $\eta_p^2 = 0.025$) was observed, however a main effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.827$), modality (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.945$) and time (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.930$) was observed for RPE during exercise.

Post-hoc test revealed there was an effect for modality as MOD-INT was significantly higher than MOD-CON and LOW-INT was significantly higher than LOW-CON; main interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.449$) and an intensity effect as LOW-INT was significantly lower than MOD-INT and LOW-CON was significantly lower than MOD-CON; main interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.436$), all time points were highly significant (p < 0.001) apart from interval one (Baseline) and two (10 min) (p > 0.05) (Figure 25A)

No main effect of time (p = 0.089, $\eta_p^2 = 0.999$) was observed, however a main effect of intensity (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.833$), modality (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.945$) and intensity x modality x time interaction (p = 0.045, $\eta_p^2 = 0.318$) was observed for heart rate during exercise. Post-hoc test revealed there were no further differences for modality as MOD-INT was not significantly different than MOD-CON, main interaction effect (p = 0.337, $\eta_p^2 = 0.094$) and LOW-INT was also not significantly different than LOW-CON (p = 0.070, $\eta_p^2 = 0.138$). Although, there was an intensity effect as LOW-INT was significantly lower than MOD-INT (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.801$), all time points were highly significantly (p < 0.001) apart from interval one (124 ± 24 v 120 ± 12 bpm: P = 0.580, d = 0.22, 95% CI = -13.36 - 7.40 bpm), and LOW-CON was significantly lower than MOD-CON (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.395$), all time points were highly significantly (p < 0.001; Figure 25B)



Figure 25: Representative of mean RPE (A) and HR (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was no main effect of time (p > 0.05). However, there were a main effects for modality, intensity and a main interaction effect (p < 0.05) for HR and RPE during exercise, examined by a three-was repeated-measured ANOVA. \dagger Indicates LOW-CON vs MOD-CON and LOW-INT vs MOD-INT were significantly different at each time point determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). RPE; rate of perceived exertion. HR, heart rate; bpm, beats per minute.

5.3.4. Gastric Emptying

The time taken to empty half of the soup from the stomach (T_{half}) amounted to 111 ± 31 min, 106 ± 29 min, 95 ± 20 min and 107 ± 13 min on LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON, respectively. There was also no main effect of intensity (p = 0.591, $\eta^2_p = 0.027$), modality (p = 0.262, $\eta^2_p = 0.113$) or intensity x modality interaction effect (p = 0.055, $\eta^2_p = 0.259$; Figure 26B) observed for T_{1/2}. The time of maximal emptying rate (T_{lag}) amounted to 58 ± 15 min, 62 ± 15 min, 60 ± 17 min and 59 ± 15 min on LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON, respectively. No main effect of intensity (p = 0.581, $\eta^2_p = 0.029$), modality (p = 0.990, $\eta^2_p = 0.011$) or intensity × modality interaction (p = 0.595, $\eta^2_p = 0.027$; Figure 26A) was observed for T_{lag}.

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.745, $\eta_p^2 = 0.010$) was shown for delta over baseline AUC, however a main effect of modality (p = 0.003, $\eta_p^2 = 0.560$) and intensity × modality interaction (p = 0.041, $\eta_p^2 = 0.328$) were observed. Post-hoc test revealed significantly lower AUC for MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON (2246 ± 467 vs. 2670 ± 412 ¹³CO₂:¹²CO₂⁻¹ 120 min⁻¹: p = 0.002, d = 1.01, 95% CI = -232.10 - 265.23 120 min⁻¹; Figure 27A).

No main effect of modality (p = 0.760, $\eta_p^2 = 0.009$) or intensity × modality x time interaction (p = 0.302, $\eta_p^2 = 0.711$) was observed for delta over baseline. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.987$) and intensity (p = 0.003, $\eta_p^2 = 0.568$) was observed. Post-hoc test revealed MOD-INT was significantly lower than MOD-CON at **30-min** ($20.33 \pm 5.3 \vee 23.34 \pm 4.1 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.028$, d = 0.66, 95% CI = -1.66 - 3.66 $^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$); **45-min** ($21.87 \pm 4.8 \vee 25.39 \pm 4.3 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.019$, d = 0.80, 95% CI = $-1.64 - 3.51 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$); **60-min** ($22.76 \pm 4.6 \vee 26.53 \pm 4.5 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P =$ 0.004, d = 0.87, 95% CI = $-1.68 - 3.47 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$); **75-min** ($21.74 \pm 4.2 \vee 26.15 \pm$ 4.3 $^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.001$, d = 1.08, 95% CI = $-1.35 - 3.46 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$); **90-min** ($20.59 \pm 4.1 \vee 24.76 \pm 4.2 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.003$, d = 1.04, 95% CI = $-1.30 - 3.47 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$), **105-min** ($18.11 \pm 4.2 \vee 22.84 \pm 3.9 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.001$, d = 1.05, 95% CI = $-1.33 - 3.37 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$); and **120-min** ($16.48 \pm 4 \vee 20.47 \pm 3.8 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2: P = 0.001$, d = 1.07, 95% CI = $-1.08 - 3.33 \ ^{13}C0_2:^{12}C0_2$) post-meal
ingestion. These differences were not seen between the LOW-INT and LOW-CON trials (P > 0.05). All trials and time points were significantly increased from baseline to 120min (p < 0.001; Figure 27B).

Cumulative dose of percent ¹³CO₂, final values at 120 min were similar (LOW-INT, 22 ± 4 ¹³CO₂ %; LOW-CON, 23 ± 3 ¹³CO₂ %; MOD-INT, 21 ± 3 ¹³CO₂ % and MOD-CON, 24 ± 3 ¹³CO₂ %; P = 0.104, $\eta^2_{\ p} = 0.122$) (Figure 28)



Figure 26: Representative of mean T_{lag} (A) and $T_{1/2}$ (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Individual data is represented as (Δ) LOW-INT, (\circ) LOW-CON, (\Box) MOD-INT and (\times) represents MOD-CON. There were no main intensity, modality nor interaction effects observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (P > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measures ANOVAs. T_{lag} , Time of maximal emptying rate; $T_{1/2}$, Half emptying time.



Figure 27: Representative of mean DOB AUC (0-120 min⁻¹) (A) and DOB respose (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was no main effect of intensity (p > 0.05), but there was for modality and a main interaction effect for DOB-AUC (p < 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measures ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality nor interaction (p > 0.05). However, there was an effect for intensity and time (p < 0.05) for DOB, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates MOD-INT values are significantly different than MOD-CON, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). DOB, delta over baseline; AUC, area under curve.



Figure 28: Representative of mean for cumulative dose of % $^{13}CO_2$, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001). However, no modality, intensity nor interaction effect were found for dose % $^{13}CO^2$ (P > 0.05), examined by three-way repeated-measures ANOVA.

5.3.5. Appetite

5.3.5.1. Hunger

Hunger decreased in all trials, apart from LOW-CON immediately post-exercise. Moreover, hunger also decreased after food ingestion before gradually rising throughout recovery in all trials. A main effect of time was observed for hunger (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.510$). However, there were no intensity or modality effects for hunger (p = 0.222; $\eta^2_p = 0.132$: p = 0.895, $\eta^2_p = 0.002$) and therefore no intensity x modality x time interaction effect observed (p = 0.387, $\eta^2_p = 0.976$) (Figure 29B)

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.667, $\eta_p^2 = 0.017$) nor a main effect of intensity \times modality (p = 0.073, $\eta_p^2 = 0.264$) was detected, however a main effect of modality (p = 0.034, $\eta_p^2 = 0.346$) was observed for hunger AUC. A significantly lower AUC for MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON was reported (10011 ± 96 vs. 3103 ± 93 mm. 225 min: p = 0.002, d = 0.60, 95% CI = -2583.37 - 1756.26 mm. 225 min; Figure 29A), but not between LOW-INT compared to LOW-CON was reported (11363 ± 4567 vs. 11548 ± 2730 mm. 225 min: p = 0.835, d = 0.05, 95% CI = -1544.56 - 2584.03 mm. 225 min).

5.3.5.2. Fullness

Fullness increased in all trials, apart from LOW-CON immediately post-exercise. Moreover, fullness also increased after food ingestion before gradually decreasing throughout recovery in all trails. A main effect of time was observed for fullness (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.617$). Although, there were no intensity or modality effects for fullness (p = 0.437, $\eta^2_p = 0.056$; p = 0.237, $\eta^2_p = 0.125$), but there was an intensity x modality x time interaction effect observed (p = 0.041, $\eta^2_p = 0.201$), However, post-hoc tests revealed no further differences between trials for fullness (Figure 30B)

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.177, $\eta_p^2 = 0.159$), modality (p = 0.254, $\eta_p^2 = 0.116$) nor a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.985, $\eta_p^2 = 0.001$) was detected, for fullness AUC (Figure 30A).

5.3.5.3. PFC

PFC decreased in all trials, apart from LOW-CON immediately post-exercise. Moreover, PFC also decreased after food ingestion before gradually rising throughout recovery in all trials. A main effect of time was observed for PFC (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p =$ 0.534). However, there were no intensity or modality effects for PFC (p = 0.300, $\eta^2_p =$ 0.097; p = 0.485, $\eta^2_p = 0.045$), but there was an intensity x modality x time interaction effect observed (p = 0.04, $\eta^2_p = 0.147$). Post-hoc tests revealed MOD-INT was significantly lower post-exercise compared to the other three trials (p = 0.011, d = 0.54, 95% CI = -8.18 - 15.84 mm) (Figure 31B)

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.314, $\eta_p^2 = 0.092$), modality (p = 0.052, $\eta_p^2 = 0.302$) nor a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.220, $\eta_p^2 = 0.133$) was detected, for PFC AUC (Figure 31A).

5.3.5.4. Satisfaction

Satisfaction remained relatively stable in all trials immediately post exercise. Moreover, satisfaction increased after food ingestion before gradually decreasing throughout recovery in all trails. A main effect of time was observed for satisfaction $(p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.640)$. Although, there were no intensity or modality $(p = 0.353, \eta_p^2)$ = 0.079; p = 0.530, $\eta^2_p = 0.037$) nor intensity x modality x time interaction effects observed for satisfaction (p = 0.430, $\eta^2_p = 0.082$) (Figure 32B)

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.581, $\eta^2_p = 0.029$), modality (p = 0.209, $\eta^2_p = 0.139$) nor a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.939, $\eta^2_p = 0.001$) was detected, for satisfaction AUC (Figure 32A).

5.3.5.5. Bloat

Bloat remained relatively stable in all trials apart from a small increase within MOD-INT immediately post exercise, Moreover, bloat increased after food ingestion before gradually decreasing throughout recovery in all trails. A main effect of time was observed for bloat (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.373$). Although, there were no intensity or modality effects (p = 0.222, $\eta_p^2 = 0.076$; p = 0.895, $\eta_p^2 = 0.075$) nor intensity x modality x time interaction effect observed for bloat (p = 0.47, $\eta_p^2 = 0.100$) (Figure 33B)

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.557, $\eta_p^2 = 0.032$), modality (p = 0.263, $\eta_p^2 = 0.112$) nor a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.341, $\eta_p^2 = 0.083$) was detected, for bloat AUC (Figure 33A).

5.3.5.6. Nausea

Nausea remained relatively stable in all trials across the whole trial, apart from an increase within MOD-INT immediately post exercise. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.107$), intensity (p < 0.018, $\eta^2_p = 0.413$) and an intensity x modality x time interaction effect observed for nausea (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.377$). However, there was no effect for modality (p = 0.069, $\eta^2_p = 0.270$). Post-hoc tests revealed MOD-INT was higher post-exercise (p = 0.011, d = 1.24, 95% CI = -13.47 - 4.18 mm; Figure 34B)

There was a main effect of intensity (p = 0.032, $\eta^2_p = 0.353$), modality (p = 0.012, $\eta^2_p = 0.448$) and a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.014, $\eta^2_p = 0.439$) was observed for nausea AUC. A significantly higher AUC for MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON was reported (1925 ± 512 vs. 588 ± 186 mm. 225 min: p = 0.009, d =

3.63, 95% CI = -286.06 - 108.86 mm. 225 min; Figure 29A), but not between LOW-INT compared to LOW-CON was reported (599 ± 188 vs. 604 ± 237 mm. 225 min: *p* = 0.974, d = 0.02, 95% CI = -134.07 - 106.39 mm. 225 min).



TIME (min)

Figure 29: Representive of mean hunger AUC (0-225 min) (A) and hunger VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect of intensity (p > 0.05), but there was for modality and a main interaction effect for hunger AUC (p < 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effect of modality, intensity nor interaction (p > 0.05). However, there was an effect for time (p < 0.05) for hunger, examined by a three-was repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates MOD-INT values were significantly different than MOD-CON, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.





Figure 30: Representative of mean fullness-AUC (0-225 min) (A) and fullness VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle with black spots* indicates 60-min exercise period; *filled black rectangle* indicates a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for fullness-AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were main effects for interaction and time observed for fullness (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.



Figure 31: Representative of mean PFC AUC (0-225 min) (A) and PFC VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for PFC-AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effect of modality nor intensity (p > 0.05). However, there was for time, a main interaction effect (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates MOD-INT were significantly different from all other trials determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). PFC, prospective food consumption; AUC, area under curve.





Figure 32: Representative of mean satisfaction AUC (0-225 min) (A) and satisfaction VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle with black spots* indicates 60-min exercise period; *filled black rectangle* indicates a semi-solid meal. There was no main effect of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for satisfaction AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for satisfaction (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.

Α



TIME (min)

Figure 33 Representative of mean bloat AUC (0-225 min) (A) and bloat VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There weas no main effect of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for bloat AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for time observed (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve



TIME (min)

Figure 34: Representative of mean nausea AUC (0-225 min) (A) and nausea VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle with black spots* indicates 60-min exercise period; *filled black rectangle* indicates a semi-solid meal. A main intensity, modality and main interaction effect for nausea AUC was observed (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for modality (p > 0.05). However, there was for intensity, time and main interaction effect (p < 0.05), examined by a three-way repeated-measures ANOVA. † Indicates MOD-INT were significantly different from all other trials determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.

5.3.6. Blood Glucose Concentration

No main effect of modality (p = 0.638, $\eta^2_p = 0.021$) was observed, however a main effect of intensity (p = 0.036, $\eta^2_p = 0.342$), time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.882$) and intensity x modality x time interaction (p = 0.009, $\eta^2_p = 0.210$) was observed for blood glucose concentration. Post-hoc tests revealed that MOD-INT was significantly higher midexercise (4.9 ± 0.4 mmol.L: p = 0.016, $\eta^2_p = 0.266$) compared to the other three trials. LOW-CON was significantly higher than LOW-INT post-exercise (4.8 ± 0.5 vs. 4.4 ± 0.5 mmol.L: p = 0.004, d = 0.84, 95% CI = 0.55 - 1.12 mmol.L). Subsequently, blood glucose was higher 30-min post-meal ingestion for LOW-CON compared to LOW-INT (7.6 ± 1.0 vs. 7.0 ± 1.0 mmol.L: p < 0.001, d = 0.64, 95% CI = 0.07 - 1.20 mmol.L). This was also replicated during the MOD trials as blood glucose was higher during MOD-CON compared to MOD-INT (7.5 ± 0.9 vs. 6.5 ± 0.9 mmol.L: p < 0.001, d = 1.07, 95% CI = 0.55 - 1.57 mmol.L; Figure 35B). There were no further differences for blood glucose during the remaining recovery period post-meal (135-225 min).

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.634, $\eta^2_p = 0.021$) nor modality (p = 0.107, $\eta^2_p = 0.164$) was detected, however a main effect of intensity × modality (p = 0.022, $\eta^2_p = 0.394$) was observed for blood glucose AUC. A significantly lower AUC for LOW-INT compared to LOW-CON was reported (1027 ± 96 vs. 1085 ± 93 mmol.L⁻¹ 225 min⁻¹: p = 0.003, d = 0.64, 95% CI = -51.98 - 54.96 225 min⁻¹; Figure 35A), but not between MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON was reported (1042 ± 61 vs. 1057 ± 77 mmol.L⁻¹ 225 min⁻¹: p = 0.533, d = 0.20, 95% CI = -43.36 - 43.77 min⁻¹).



Figure 35: Representative of mean blood glucose AUC (0-225 min) (A) and blood glucose response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle with black spots* indicates 60-min exercise period; *filled black rectangle* indicates a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects of intensity nor modality (p > 0.05), but there weas a main interaction effect for blood glucose AUC (p < 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect of modality (p > 0.05). However, there was a main intensity, time, and an interaction effect (p < 0.05) for blood glucose response, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates MOD-INT were significantly higher than all other trials. # Indicates LOW-INT were significantly different from LOW-CON. *Indicates MOD-INT were significantly different from MOD-CON, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.

5.3.7. Substrate Utilisation

5.3.7.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation

No main effect of intensity (p = 0.677, $\eta_p^2 = 0.016$), modality (p = 0.346, $\eta_p^2 = 0.081$), or intensity × modality x time interaction (p = 0.766, $\eta_p^2 = 0.023$) was observed for carbohydrate oxidation response. Although, a main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.409$) was observed. Post-hoc tests revealed carbohydrate oxidation significantly increased from baseline at 60-min post-meal ingestion (P = 0.047, $\eta_p^2 = 0.123$) in all four trials. However, LOW-CON was the only trial to remain elevated 90-min post meal ingestion compared to baseline (0.31 ± 0.07 vs. 0.23 ± 0.08 g/min: p = 0.001, d = 1.11, 95% CI = 1.76 - 1.16 g/min; Figure 36B)

There was no main effect of intensity (p = 0.543, $\eta^2_p = 0.035$), modality (p = 0.445, $\eta^2_p = 0.054$) nor intensity x modality interaction (p = 0.158, $\eta^2_p = 0.172$) for carbohydrate oxidation AUC (Figure 36A).

5.3.7.2. Fat Oxidation

No main effect for intensity (p = 0.639, $\eta^2_p = 0.021$), modality (p = 0.170, $\eta^2_p = 0.164$) or intensity × modality × time interaction (p = 0.939, $\eta^2_p = 0.018$) was observed for fat oxidation response. Although, a main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.512$) was observed as fat oxidation significantly increased from baseline at 30-min postmeal ingestion for MOD-INT ($0.064 \pm 0.04 \text{ v} 0.113 \pm 0.04 \text{ g/min}$: P = 0.003, d = 1.45, 95% CI = 1.42 - 1.46 g/min) and MOD-CON ($0.063 \pm 0.03 \text{ v} 0.105 \pm 0.03$ g/min: P = 0.001, d = 1.46, 95% CI = 1.45 - 1.48 g/min). Although, LOW trials also increased this small increase was not significant; LOW-INT ($0.057 \pm 0.05 \text{ v} 0.096 \pm 0.04 \text{ g/min}$: P = 0.051, d = 0.90, 95% CI = 0.88 - 0.93 g/min) and LOW-CON ($0.073 \pm 0.04 \text{ v} 0.100 \pm 0.04 \text{ g/min}$: P = 0.050, d = 0.71, 95% CI = 0.68 - 0.73 g/min; Figure 37B)

There was no main effect of intensity (p = 0.262, $\eta^2_p = 0.113$) or modality (p = 0.921, $\eta^2_p = 0.001$). An intensity × modality interaction was observed for fat oxidation AUC (p = 0.041, $\eta^2_p = 0.327$; Figure 37A), however, post-hoc tests revealed no further differences between trials for fat oxidation AUC.



Figure 36: Representative of mean carbohydrate oxidation AUC (0-225 min) (A) and carbohydrate oxidation response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Unfilled rectangle with black spots indicates 60-min exercise period; filled black rectangle indicates a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects of intensity, modality nor main interaction effect for carbohydrate oxidation AUC (p > 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor main interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (p < 0.05) for carbohydrate oxidation response, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates all trials significantly increased from baseline to 60-min post meal. # Indicates LOW-CON trial significantly increased from baseline to 90-min post-meal determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.

Α



Figure 37: Representative of mean fat oxidation AUC (0-225 min) (A) and fat oxidation response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Unfilled rectangle with black spots* indicates 60-min exercise period; *filled black rectangle* indicates a semi-solid meal. There were no main effects of intensity nor modality (p > 0.05). However, there was a main interaction effect for fat oxidation AUC (p < 0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main effects of modality, intensity nor main interaction effect (p > 0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (p < 0.05) for fat oxidation response, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates MOD-INT and CON were significantly increased from baseline to 30-min post-meal determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p < 0.05). AUC, area under curve.

5.4 Discussion

The primary aim of this investigation was to examine the effect of INT/CON exercise at different exercise intensities on GI responses and subsequent appetite response following ingestion of a standardized semi-solid meal. The main findings were that modality of exercise appears to have little impact on the markers measured during this study when performed at a low and moderate intensity. However, 24-h post-exercise EI increased by approximately ~21% in the MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON despite the activities being matched for power output. Further studies are required to determine whether GER, might have influenced the increase in 24-h EI post-exercise. It is also important to add that the participants in the present study were healthy, physically active men, so whether these findings extend to different populations (females or overweight/obese) is currently unknown.

To date, this is the first study to examine GER of a semi-solid meal after moderate intensity intermittent exercise compared to an energy matched continuous exercise bout. There are a number of physiological factors that regulate GER, including GI hormones such as ghrelin, peptide YY (PYY) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1). GLP-1 and PYY have been shown to increase post-exercise which may increase parasympathetic activation, providing a potential mechanism why GER was unaffected in the present study (Schubert et al., 2014).

In contrast, ghrelin levels are usually high pre-exercise and decline immediately after exercise before gradually increasing prior to food intake as seen within chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018b). Although appetite regulating hormones were not measured within the present study, appetite was assessed using a VAS. Previous studies that have used VAS have reported exercise intensity > 60% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ results in suppression of appetite in untrained individuals (Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, King et al., 2013a). In the present study, PFC was significantly lower post-exercise and nausea was higher only during the MOD-INT trial. An increase in nausea within the present study may suggest why subjective measures of hunger were subdued in all trials apart from LOW-CON which increased immediately post-exercise, however, there was no significant difference observed. It is important to add; regardless of this result, hunger in the short 2-h monitoring period after consuming a standardized semi-solid meal

responded similarly in recovery, irrespective of modality of exercise or intensity. These findings are consistent with Holliday et al (2017c), who reported no significant reduction in subjective appetite when participants completed a bout of high intensity aerobic exercise. Although subjective appetite was unchanged, the time taken to eat the semi-solid meal was marginally longer during the MOD-INT trial compared to MOD-CON. It should be considered that when participants were challenged to consume the whole semi-solid meal 30 min after exercise, it took 29 s longer to consume the meal on the MOD-INT trial compared to its counterpart. This result may suggest a possible suppression in appetite post-exercise may also be indicated by the prospective food consumption data as food volume, energy density and macronutrient composition all influence postprandial fullness (Rolls et al., 1998, Marciani et al., 2015), and so in the present study, all of these components of the meal were standardized. Proposing the delay in meal consumption did not compromise appetite regulation during the 2-h recovery period after exercise helping to maintain an energy deficit after both exercise modality and intensity.

Despite appetite responding similarly within the postprandial period in the current study, EI was ~21% (723 kCal) higher 24-h post-trial for MOD-INT compared to MOD-CON. In contrast, the majority of the available research suggests that exercise does not stimulate any changes in EI > 20-h after exercise (King et al., 1997, Hanlon et al., 2012) when using a self-reported measurement of food intake. In addition, King et al, (2010a) provided each participant with an overnight food bag and also found EI remained unchanged. Intermittent exercise has been suggested to evoke greater weight loss than traditional endurance exercise due to greater reductions in appetite during the post-exercise period (Trapp et al., 2008, Boutcher, 2011, Deighton and Stensel, 2014). These findings indicate that the moderate intensity intermittent trial stimulated an increase in EI 24-h post-trial. The mechanism for this increase in EI after the MOD-INT trial is not directly clear. Hengist et al, (2020) assessed the metabolic responses to maximal eating and discovered that participants who consumed on average nearly double the EI when compared to ad libitum eating, had marginal differences in physiological responses and glycaemic control within the post-prandial period, suggesting the increase in EI documented in the current study undoubtedly had very small physiological effects after a one-off single bout of intermittent exercise.

However, it must be considered that consuming excess energy will eventually lead to weight gain and therefore increase the risk of developing obesity. When comparing the present findings to previous data, it has been demonstrated among the majority of the scientific literature that land-based exercise does not stimulate increases in EI in the hours after exercise (King et al., 2010a, Deighton and Stensel, 2014). It must be noted, examining EI via a weighed dietary assessment may cause recall bias, as the nature of any documentation data collection method has potentially high participant variation. For this reason, caution must be used when interpreting this data.

Recent studies have provided a semi-solid meal after exercise and reported that low intensity (brisk walking) or cycling (Mattin et al., 2018b, McIver et al., 2018) did not affect GER after exercise. GER in humans has been shown to be affected by ingested volume and nutrient content (Noakes et al., 1991). For this reason, during the current study the meal provided was standardized for energy content and volume. It is well known that ingesting protein-rich food immediately after exercise stimulates muscle protein synthesis. Although strenuous continuous exercise delays GI function and delivery of nutrients to the circulation, Kashima et al, (2017) found that intermittent supramaximal cycling delayed GER of a 300 mL carbohydrate-protein drink when participants consumed the drink 5 and 30-min after exercise compared to a control. This discovery of delayed GER after intense exercise was suggested to be a result of small intestine mucosal damage as a significant increase in I-FABP was observed in both exercise trials. These findings suggest mucosal damage increases in response to strenuous exercise. Within the current study, a lower DOB for MOD-INT may indicate a potential mechanism, as delayed GER may also result in reduced intestinal absorption, affecting nutrient uptake post-exercise. Further research is needed to understand if small intestine permeability results in a delay in GER after strenuous exercise. However, this theory warrants further investigation as I-FABP was not measured in this study, hence whether increases in I-FABP may have an effect on GER is unclear.

Increased fat oxidation has been suggested to be beneficial for reducing fat mass (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004). The current study found fat oxidation peaked 30-min post ingestion in all conditions compared to baseline values, but a significant increase was only seen during MOD-INT/CON trials. This increase in fat oxidation suggests

exercising at 60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$, regardless of the modality of exercise results in an increase in fat metabolism up to 30-min post food consumption. Nevertheless, beyond 60 min fat oxidation reduced, resulting in no differences between exercise conditions in the postprandial period. This corresponds with existing literature, as fasted exercise increases fat metabolism and feeding carbohydrate induces a greater increase in carbohydrate metabolism (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004, McIver et al., 2018).

Furthermore, carbohydrate oxidation significantly peaked during LOW-INT/CON at 60–90 min and during the 2-h recovery, fat oxidation increased at 90and 120-min only during the MOD-INT which might suggest carbohydrate oxidation was more heavily relied on in the later stages of MOD-INT compared to other trials. Glucose levels increased mid-exercise during MOD-INT and, regardless of intensity, were lower 30 min after food ingestion when intermittent trials were compared to continuous trials. This suggests that, within a non-endurance trained population, carbohydrate became the primary source for energy during intermittent exercise. This may have resulted in increased muscle and liver glycogen replacement during recovery to maximize muscle glycogen resynthesis, which might account for the change in fat oxidation in the postprandial period. This result should not be misinterpreted, as AUC data for both fat oxidation and carbohydrate oxidation did not show any significant differences. Therefore, the intermittent exercise trial corresponds to similar work output, as 60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ continuous exercise did not significantly increase energy metabolism in the postprandial period.

5.4.1. Limitations

This study presents with both strengths and limitations. The main strength of this study is the crossover design, as each modality was matched for power output at a low and moderate intensity. This study is also one of the few that examines GER. A limitation was that we have not accounted for changes in gut-derived hormone data. Previous research has shown that ghrelin regulates GER (Levin et al., 2006, Falkén et al., 2013) and this may modulate feelings of hunger and EI. Further studies should further examine the differences in post-exercise energy demands after moderate intensity intermittent exercise to understand the reason why EI was higher, which could have a negative effect on energy balance and possibly relevant exercise

outcomes (i.e., weight loss). The manner in which EI were assessed might also be considered as a limitation. When using weighed diet recall it is difficult to minimize mistakes made by the participants and, in addition, the post-exercise diet analysis was undertaken by an experienced member of the research team rather than a qualified dietician, which could have introduced error or bias. Blinding participants from the modality of exercise was impossible and therefore the elevation in EI after the MOD-INT trial was possibly established for the reason that participants thought they should consume more food after the 'hard' intermittent exercise. Further work is needed to establish how EI is assessed in the 24–48 h after exercise.

Another limitation was the nature of the moderate intensity intermittent exercise when matched for power output to moderate intensity continuous exercise, as the healthy, untrained participants within the current study found this session extremely difficult, which resulted in two participants having to withdraw as they were unable to complete MOD-INT trial. This is not unusual as Martins et al, (2015) found inactive overweight individuals also struggled when exercise induced an energy expenditure of 250 kCal. This would suggest modality of exercise is an important consideration when designing physical activity sessions.

5.4.2. Conclusions

There was no change in GER between trials and similar appetite and substrate utilisation response in the short 2-h monitoring period after all exercise trials. However, 24-h EI following MOD-INT was greater than MOD-CON. The mechanisms behind this are unclear as exercise was matched for power output. These findings may have important implications for current exercise prescription guidelines as the modality of exercise appears to have little impact on these markers when performed at a low intensity. Going forward, it may be important to consider if splitting exercise, by completing multiple exercise sessions over the same day would affect appetite regulation, as future studies should aim to develop whether the nature of exercising intermittently (stop start) leads to increased EI and therefore weight gain.

Chapter 6

The Effect of Exercising Once vs. Twice a Day on Gastrointestinal Function, Metabolic Response, and Appetite in Healthy Males: A Randomised Cross Over Trial.¹

⁵ Some of the data from the study contained within this chapter was presented as a poster communication and the abstract published in "Mattin LM, McIver VJ. Yau, A. James, LJ. Evans, GH.(2019). The effects of multiple exercise bouts on appetite and metabolic response to food ingestion. The Physiological Society annual conference. Aberdeen Exhibition and conference centre, Aberdeen, UK: *The physiology Society*."

6.1 Introduction

It has been previously shown, GER is unaffected after a low intense continuous bout of exercise (40% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$) and a high (70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$), when a semi-sold meal is consumed 30 min after the exercise bout (Mattin et al, 2018). Moreover, continuous, and intermittent exercise performed at a low intensity (40% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$) and moderate intensity (60% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$), does not affect how fast a semi-solid meal empties from the stomach (Mattin et al, 2020). Therefore, performing an acute one-off exercise bout at various intensities and modes, does not appear to disrupt GER. No literature to date has examined whether GER is affected when exercising multiple times, also knownwithin the literature as 'exercise snacking' (Francois et al., 2014, Perkin et al., 2019). It would also be important to discover whether dividing exercise into two separate bouts across the same day compared to a one-off bout matched at a high intensity (70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$) would provoke a similar appetite regulatory hormone and metabolic response to that of 'time of day feeding' research.

The majority of work to date that has focusing on time of day feeding after exercise within a, healthy population (Hagobian and Braun, 2006, Stephens et al., 2007, Hagobian et al., 2009), overweight (Hagobian et al., 2008, Kozey-Keadle et al., 2014b) and type 2 diabetics (Blankenship et al., 2019) and have identified metabolic health as their main outcome. To our knowledge, this is the first investigation to examine the acute effects of exercising 'Twice-a-day' on changes in GER and the association between EI.

It must be noted, modifying nutritional intake post exercise to optimise recovery and enhance performance has been well documented (Burke et al., 2004, Jeukendrup and Tipton, 2009, Rodriguez et al., 2009, Jeukendrup, 2017a). In particular, the use of feeding with carbohydrate rich nutrients to drive recovery was researched by Ivy et al, in (1988). They revealed that highly trained cyclists consuming a carbohydrate supplement at 2 g/Kg of body weight immediately after exercise resynthesised muscle glycogen faster than if the same carbohydrate supplement was consumed 2 h post exercise (Ivy et al., 1988). For this reason, immediate feeding of carbohydrate after exercise is seen within the world of athletes as an optimal way to maximise performance (Thomas et al., 2016). Gut hormones such as GLP-1 and PYY

are thought to be co-localised and increase after consuming nutrient dense material (Neary et al., 2005). This change in hormones has been thought to increase parasympathetic activation, proving a potential mechanism as to why GER fluctuates post-exercise (Schubert et al., 2014). In contrast, circulating ghrelin levels are elevated when participants are in a fasted state or pre-nutrient intake (Broom et al., 2007, Broom et al., 2009, Wasse et al., 2013b) and decline immediately after nutrient intake (Mattin et al., 2018a), shown within Chapter 4. Alterations in the secretion of gut hormones may have important implications for GER and the delivery of nutrients to the small intestine which may be an understudied factor in present literature, focusing on time of day feeding, and appetite control (Geliebter, 1988).

Nevertheless, more emphasis has been placed on diabetic clinical patients as Devlin et al, (1987) discovered endogenous glucose production rates were 20% lower in the morning after a single bout of exercise compared to a no-exercised state within non-insulin dependent diabetic men. Furthermore, an investigation which examined time of day feeding by breaking up sedentary sitting periods with light physical activity after meals (breakfast, lunch and dinner), compared to a one-off continuous walk after breakfast, revealed a reduced glucose response in both conditions only after breakfast. One potential reason for the reduced glucose response after lunch and dinner were suggested to be the low intensity nature and frequency of the physical activity (Blankenship et al., 2019). Surprisingly, less emphasis has been given to the timing of nutrient intake after an exercise bout to improve health-related benefits within the general population (Stephens and Braun, 2008).

Literature focusing on the effects of appetite regulation post-exercise (Martins et al., 2007a, King et al., 2010a, Deighton et al., 2013b, Wasse et al., 2013b) have regularly used an exercise duration > 60 min when a single bout of exercise was prescribed. This follows a recommendation from the Institute of Medicine (IOM), suggesting that 60 min of physical activity is needed per day to prevent the decline in metabolic effects gained from embarking on exercise (Brooks et al., 2004).Therefore, without regular stimulus or sufficient quantity of exercise a natural decline in metabolic health will result in a gain in body fat over time. Despite this, the effects of time of day feeding after exercise within a healthy population for improving metabolic health, weight loss or enhancing insulin stimulated glucose metabolism are less-

established and warrant further investigation (Kozey-Keadle et al., 2014b, Kozey-Keadle et al., 2014a).

To our knowledge, no investigation has yet compared whether 'Twice-a-day' exercise influences appetite and GER response leading to a change in metabolic regulation within healthy males. We hypothesised that a single bout of exercise would exhibit compensatory changes in appetite, and acylated ghrelin response post-exercise leading to a slower GER post lunch. Hence, the null hypothesis was that there would be no difference between exercise conditions regardless of whether a single bout or multiple bouts of exercise were completed.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore the effect of exercising 'Twicea-day' (two high intensity continuous exercise bouts for 30-min separated by 2 h recovery), compared to a one off 60-min single bout of high intensity continuous exercise on: 1) GER of a post-lunch semi-solid meal, 2) Subjective and hormonal appetite regulation, 3) Overall metabolic response, and 4) Whether an energy balanced feeding schedule would lead to differences in 24 h post trial EI.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1. Participants

Sixteen healthy men were recruited from central Manchester and undertook experimental trials between December 2018 and April 2019 in the Physiology Laboratories at Manchester Metropolitan University, UK (Table 13). Verbal and written explanations of the experimental procedures were provided before the start of the trials and written informed consent was obtained. Two participants withdrew prior to completing the study, meaning fourteen participants completed the study. An a priori calculation was conducted using data from Chapter 5 focusing on GER and appetite data (Mattin et al., 2020b). An effect size $\eta^2 p = 0.081$ from a repeated measures ANOVA model, attributing GER as the primary outcome measure, and using an α of 0.05 and a statistical power of 0.8 determined that \geq 14 participants would be required to reject the null hypothesis (G*Power 3.0.10, Heinrich Hein Universitat, Dusseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany). This chapter was registered at

ISRCTN online, resource provided by BMC part of Springer Nature. Identifier: ISRCTN48264634; Is it more beneficial for appetite and weight management to exercise once or twice a day?

	Males (<i>n</i> =14) *
Age, y	27 ± 6.0
Height, m	1.79 ± 0.09
Weight, Kg	79.3 ± 10.4
BMI, kg/m²	24.9 ± 2.0
Body fat, %	18.5 ± 4.1
Systolic BP, mmHg	133 ± 14
Diastolic BP, mmHg	74 ± 9.0
V02max, ml/kg/min	42 ± 9.0
Exercise Intensity, W	164 ± 37
ETEE, Kcal	556 ± 53

Table 13: S-3, Baseline Subject Characteristics¹

¹ Values are means \pm SDs

^{*} Two subjects withdrew from the study

ETEE; Estimated trial energy expenditure

6.2.2. Experimental Trials

Participants reported to the laboratory on two occasions to complete each \sim 7 h (0-420min) trial. Experimental trials commenced between 0730 and 0830 following an overnight fast from 22:00 with the exception of plain water consumption. In addition to the pre-trial familiarisation outlined in general methods, each participant was also required to standardise their diet and physical activity before each trial (see section 3.7. Pre-trial standardisation).

Upon arrival at the laboratory, participants were asked to completely empty their bladder before pre-trial body mass was obtained. Following this, participants rested for 15 min in a semi-supine position whilst a cannula was inserted into the antecubital vein to enable venous blood collection. Following collection of a baseline blood sample (0 min), each participant was asked to strap a heart rate monitor (Polar H10, Kemple, Finland) around their chest so HR could be observed during the exercise periods. Following this VAS appetite questionnaires were completed, and expired gas samples were collected for 15 min from a semi-supine position on a bed. The procedures for these baseline measurements are outlined in general methods.

Participants then completed a 60-min continuous cycle (SINGLE) or a split 30-min morning (0-30 min) and 30-min afternoon cycle (210-240 min) (SPLIT) at the same intended intensity of ~70% V02peak. SINGLE participants exercised continuously from 0-60-min and rested until 75-min. SPLIT participants exercised from 0-30-min and rested until 75-min. The rationale for using different amounts of rest after the first exercise period was to keep the timing of measurements identical in relation to the overall time scale of the study. This resulted in both trials starting breakfast at 75 min regardless of exercise condition. Therefore, the SINGLE exercise trial received 15 min rest and the SPLIT exercise trial 45 min rest before breakfast. This time difference has been illustrated towards the left of Figure 38. Furthermore, expired air was collected continuously during exercise periods using a breath-bybreath gas analyzer (Metalyzer 3b, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany), participants wore the expired air mask from 0-60 min during the first exercise period, and samples were analyzed at (15, 30, 45 and 60 min) and from 210-240 min during the second exercise period (210, 225, 240 min) regardless of whether the participants were exercising or resting. HR was also recorded every 5 min during the first exercise session in both SINGLE and SPLIT trials (5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30, 45, 50, 55 and 60 min) and RPE (Borg, 1973) every 10 min (0, 10, 20, 30, 40, 50 and 60 min). HR was also collected during the second exercise session at (210, 215, 220, 225, 230, 235 and 240 min) and RPE (210, 220, 230 and 240 min). HR and RPE data were reported as; individual points during exercise period (Figure 40) and average HR across the total completed 60 min exercise period (Table 14).

At 75-min (pre-breakfast) a further blood sample and VAS were collected before participants were provided with a glass of semi-skimmed milk (see section 3.6. Meal Details), which amounted to 30% of ETEE (see section 3.6.1. Calculating Estimated Trial Energy Expenditure) and water so the total volume during this breakfast meal period amounted to a standardised 500ml (Table 14). Participants then entered their first rest period, in which they rested in the laboratory for 2-h (90-210 minutes). During this period, participants were free to work, read or watch DVDs; expired air samples and VAS were collected every 30-min (120, 150, 180 and 210 min) and blood samples at 60-min intervals (150 and 210 min). During this recovery phase, each participant was provided with a standardized amount of water (125ml) every 15-min from (150-195 min) resulting in a total of 500 ml being consumed.

At 210-min (start of second exercise period) participants who were undertaking the SPLIT trial started their second 30 min afternoon exercise session and SINGLE participants continued to rest for the 30 min duration from (210-240 min). At this point all participants were given 30 min to shower and change their clothes before, a further blood sample and VAS was collected at 270 min (pre-lunch).

Participants were then provided with meal two (Lunch), a bowl of Heinz vegetable soup which amounted to the remaining 70% of ETEE. Water was added to the soup before heating in a microwave, in order for the final meal volume to be standardised to 1000g (Table 14). Each participant was given a maximum of 15 minutes to consume the standardised meal and instructed to consume it as quickly as they were able. Time taken to eat this meal was recorded.

Participants remained in a semi-supine position throughout the remaining 2h sampling procedure (second recovery period). Gastric emptying samples were obtained pre-meal ingestion (270 min) and every 15 min post-meal (300, 315, 330, 345, 360, 375, 390 and 405 min). Additional expired air samples and VAS were collected every 30-min (315, 345, 375 and 405 min) and blood samples were obtained every 60 min (345 and 405 min). Following the collection of the final samples (405 min), participants were provided with a 500 ml bottle of water and free to leave the laboratory at 420 min and start their post-trial 24 h weighed dietary intake. The measurements within this trial are described in general methods. A schematic diagram of the experimental protocol is presented in (Figure 38)

6.2.3. Exercise Intensity

Exercise intensity was calculated in a similar manner as described within Chapter 4. Workload was then calculated using the liner trend line equation to evoke a work rate equivalent to 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (High intensity). Each exercise bout was designed, so total estimated energy expenditure KJ during exercise was matched

between both trials, using *Equation 6* (see section 5.2.3). The work rate was consistent between the continuous one-off 60 min exercise bout and the split 2 x 30 min continuous exercise bouts.

6.2.4. Biochemical Analysis

Blood sample analysis is described in general methods. Gut hormone analysis was performed on 126 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 6.7%, 10.8%, 7.6%, 10% and 7.9% respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across five different assays for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 6.4%, 15.2%, 9.6%, 20.8 and 11.2% respectively.

Metabolite analysis was performed on 196 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA were 1.2%, 1.2%, 1.2% and 7.4% respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across five verification runs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA and were 4.9%, 3.7%, 3.1% and 5.3% respectively.

I-FABP₂ analysis was performed on 84 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for I-FABP₂ were 4%. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across two different assays for I-FABP₂ 20% respectively.

6.2.5. Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. Data was tested for normality of distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Differences in standardisation measurements, pre-trial body mass, weight of soup consumed, volume of milk consumed, weight and volume of water, time to consume breakfast and lunch, Pre and post-EI, proportion of macronutrient, average HR, gastric emptying T_{lag}, T_{1/2}, and all AUC results were analysed using one-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA). Two-way repeated ANOVA were used to examine differences in; HR, RPE, I-FABP₂, carbohydrate and fat oxidation, gastric emptying DOB and cumulative dose %13C0₂ values, gut hormones concentrations, metabolites concentrations and appetite VAS scores. Sphericity for repeated measures was assessed and Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon < 0.75 and the Huynh-Feldt correction adopted for less severe differences to correct for violations. Significant main effects were followed by paired student's t-Test or one-way repeated ANOVA with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons as appropriate. Effect size was documented as partial eta squared (η^2_p) or Cohen's (d) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) (see section 3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size).



Time in minutes (Basic time points)

Figure 38: Schematic diagram of the experimental trial protocol S-3. Black lined rectangle represents breakfast drink period. Yellow lined rectangle represents 15 min standardised semi-solid meal period. HR, heart rate. RPE, rating of perceived exertion. GE, gastric emptying. VAS, visual analogy scale. Expired Air, (Substrate Utilisation). Split 2 x 30 min exercises bouts (SPLIT). One-off 60 min exercise bout (SINGLE)

6.3 Results

6.3.1. Standardisation Measurements

Pre-trial body mass was not significantly different between SINGLE compared to SPLIT (P = 0.432, $\eta_p^2 = 0.048$). There were no differences between the weight of soup and the volume of milk consumed (P > 0.05), nor weight or volume of water (P > 0.05) during meal periods. Time to consume breakfast was not significantly different (P = 0.194, $\eta^2 p = 0.126$) and this was the same for time to consume lunch (P = 0.554, $\eta^2 p = 0.028$). Average heart rate over the total 60-min exercise period was not significantly different between SINGLE compared to SPLIT (P = 0.534, $\eta^2 p = 0.128$, Table 14)

	SINGLE	SPLIT	<i>P</i> =value		
Pre-Trial Measurements					
Body Mass (Kg)	80.7 ± 11.2	80.6 ± 11.1	0.432		
Exercise Measurement					
Average HR (60-min)	156 ± 14	154 ± 14	0.534		
Breakfast Measurements					
Milk (mL)	334 ± 33	334 ± 33	1.00		
Water (mL)	165 ± 32	165 ± 32	1.00		
Total breakfast (S)	114 ± 80	82 ± 57	0.194		
Lunch Measurements					
Soup (g)	823 ± 82	823 ± 82	1.00		
Water (g)	172 ± 79	172 ± 79	1.00		
Total lunch (s)	420 ± 217	392 ± 198	0.554		

Table 14: S3, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant *P*<0.05

6.3.2. Energy and Macronutrient Intake

Pre-trial energy intake was not significantly different between SINGLE compared to SPLIT respectively (2571 ± 1173 Kcal vs 2547 ± 1311 Kcal, P = 0.779,

 $\eta^2 p = 0.006$, Figure 39A). This led to a similar proportion of energy from carbohydrates (P = 0.898, $\eta^2_p = 0.001$), fats (P = 0.326, $\eta^2_p = 0.074$), protein (P = 0.243, $\eta^2_p = 0.103$) and fibre (P = 0.919, $\eta^2_p = 0.001$). In addition, fluid consumption before was also not significantly different between trials (P = 0.483, $\eta^2_p = 0.039$, Table 15).

24-hour post-trial energy intake revealed SPLIT was significantly higher compared to SINGLE ($3240 \pm 1171 \text{ vs } 2556 \pm 1049 \text{ Kcal}$: *P* =0.007, d = 0.64, 95% CI = -635.9–570.8 KCal, Figure 39B). Individual data indicated 10 out of 13 participants had a higher energy intake 24-h after the SPLIT trial compared to the SINGLE. This led to different proportion of macronutrients being consumed 24 hours after the trial had ended. There was no differences between; carbohydrates (P = 0.280, η^2_{p} =0.096), protein (P = 0.055, η^2_{p} =0.274), fibre (P = 0.525, η^2_{p} =0.034) and water (P = 0.488, η^2_{p} =0.041). However, participants did consume considerably more fat 24-h after completing the SPLIT trial compared to the SINGLE (*P* =0.037, d = 0.67, 95% CI = -364.8–266.4, Table 15)

	SINGLE	SPLIT	<i>P</i> =value		
Pre-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)					
Carbohydrate	1141 ± 445	1132 ± 564	0.898		
Protein	376 ± 152	403 ± 149	0.243		
Fat	1021 ± 674	976 ± 703	0.326		
Fibre	37 ± 18	38 ± 28	0.919		
Water (g)	1929 ± 1118	1857 ± 968	0.483		
Post-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)					
Carbohydrate	1092 ± 615	1206 ± 597	0.280		
Protein	393 ± 123	628 ± 412	0.055		
Fat	994 ± 489	$*1373\pm671$	0.037		
Fibre	34 ± 26	40 ± 30	0.525		
Water (g)	1355 ± 741	1481 ± 1148	0.488		

Table 15: Pre and Post-Trial Macronutrient Content (KCal) from Total EnergyIntake for SINGLE and SPLIT Trials.

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant *P*<0.05

* Indicates SPLIT is significantly larger than SINGLE.



Figure 39: Representative of mean values for pre-energy intake (KCal) (A, n=14) and post-energy intake (KCal) (B, n=13) with vertical error bars display SD's. Individual data is represented as (\circ) for SINGLE and (\Box) represents SPLIT. There was no main effect observed for pre-energy intake (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. # Indicates, SPLIT was significantly different from SINGLE, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (*p* <0.05).

6.3.3. Heart Rate and RPE

A main effect for trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.879$), time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.827$) and trial x time interaction (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.918$) was observed for RPE during exercise. Post-hoc test revealed there was an effect at bassline as SINGLE was marginally higher than SPLIT ($9 \pm 3 \text{ v } 8 \pm 2 \text{ RPE}$: P = 0.022, d = 0.41, 95% CI = -1.16–1.45 RPE). SINGLE was significantly higher from 40-60 min compared to SPLIT; all time point were highly significant (p < 0.001). Unsurprisingly, SPLIT was significantly higher from 210-240 min compared to SINGLE where all time points were highly significant (p < 0.001; Figure 40A). A main effect for trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p$ = 0.939), time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p$ = 0.885) and trial x time interaction (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p$ = 0.944) was observed for heart rate during exercise. Post-hoc test revealed SINGLE was significantly higher from 35-60 min compared to SPLIT, all time points were highly significant (p < 0.001). Unsurprisingly, SPLIT was significantly higher from 215-240 min compared to SINGLE all time points were highly significant (p < 0.001; Figure 40B).



Figure 40: Representative of mean RPE (A) and HR (B), with vertical error bars display SDs. (n = 14). There was a main effect for trial, time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for HR and RPE during exercise, examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates, SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different? at each time point (p <0.001). *Indicates, SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different (p <0.05). Post-hoc tests were determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test*. RPE; rate of perceived exertion. HR, heart rate: bpm, beats per minute.

6.3.4. Gastric Emptying

No main effect of trials (P = 0.086, $\eta^2_{p}=0.210$) was observed for DOB. However, a main effect of time (P <0.001, $\eta^2_{p}=0.936$) and interaction (P <0.01, $\eta^2_{p}=0.240$) was observed for DOB. Post-hoc test revealed for DOB, SPLIT was significantly higher at 330-min (23.9 ± 5 vs 21.5 ± 5.1¹³C0₂:¹²C0₂: P = 0.020, d = 0.49, 95% CI = -2.13–3.16 ¹³C0₂:¹²C0₂) and 345-min (25.5 ± 5 vs 22.8 ± 4.9¹³C0₂:¹²C0₂: P = 0.013, d = 0.57, 95% CI = -2.05–3.13 ¹³C0₂:¹²C0₂) Both trials increased at every time point from baseline (P<0.001, Figure 43B). There was no main effect observed for DOB AUC (p = 0.065, $\eta^2 p = 0.239$, Figure 43A)

There was a main effect observed for T_{lag} as SPLIT was significantly faster compared to SINGLE (73 ± 15 vs 89 ± 24 min: *P* =0.007, d = 0.83, 95% CI = -11.74–8.69 min). There was also a main effect observed for $T_{1/2}$ as SPLIT was significantly faster compared to SINGLE (118 ± 29 vs 149 ± 49 min: *P* =0.027, d = 0.80, 95% CI = -24.87–15.99 min, Figure 41). There was a main effect observed for trials (*P* = 0.026, $\eta^2_{p}=0.326$), time (P <0.001, $\eta^2_{p}=0.980$) and interaction (P =0.039, $\eta^2_{p}=0.276$) observed for percent ¹³C0₂. Post-hoc test revealed, SINGLE was significantly lower than SPLIT at **330-min** (5.8 ± 1.3 vs 6.5 ± 1.1¹³CO₂ %: *P* =0.024, d = 0.60, 95% CI = 0.03–1.28 ¹³CO₂%), **345-min** (8.9 ± 1.8 vs 9.9 ± 1.7¹³CO₂%: *P* =0.018, d = 0.59, 95% CI = -0.30–1.54 ¹³CO₂%), **360-min** (12.1 ± 2.3 vs 13.4 ± 2.3¹³CO₂%: *P* =0.019, d = 0.59, 95% CI = -0.62–1.79 ¹³CO₂%) and **375-min** (15.3 ± 2.8 vs 16.9 ± 2.7 ¹³CO₂%: *P* =0.025, d = 0.60, 95% CI = -0.81–2.07 ¹³CO₂%). However, cumulative dose of percent ¹³CO₂, final values at 120 min were similar and not significantly different (SINGLE, 21.6 ± 3.5 ¹³CO₂% vs SPLIT, 23.1 ± 3.3 ¹³CO₂%; *P* = 0.053, $\eta^2_{p}=0.258$, Figure 42).


Figure 41: Representative of mean T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). Individual data is represented as (\circ) for SINGLE and (\Box) represents SPLIT. There was a main effect observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. # Indicate, SPLIT was significantly different from SINGLE, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (*p* <0.05). T_{lag} , Time of maximal emptying rate; $T_{1/2}$, Half emptying time.



Figure 42: Representative of mean cumulative dose of % $^{13}CO_2$, with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). There was no main effect for trial and time (p>0.05). Although, a main interaction effect observed (p <0.05), examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA * Indicate, SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (*p* <0.05).



Figure 43: Representative of mean DOB AUC (0-120 min⁻¹) (A) and DOB response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). There was no main effect observed for DOB AUC (p >0.05), examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial (p >0.05). Although, there was a main effect for time and interaction effect observed for DOB (p <0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicate, SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (p <0.05). DOB, delta over baseline; AUC, area under curve.

6.3.5. I-FABP₂

There was no main effect for I-FABP₂ AUC for SINGLE vs SPLIT respectively (P = 0.400, $\eta^2 p = 0.060$, Figure 44A). No main effect for trial (p = 0.252, $\eta^2 p = 0.108$) nor trial x time interaction (p = 0.780, $\eta^2 p = 0.011$) was observed. However, an effect for time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.618$) was identified for I-FABP₂. Post-hoc test revealed SINGLE and SPLIT trials increased from baseline to pre-breakfast (0-75 min) and baseline to pre-lunch (0-270 min), both increases in both trials were highly significant (p < 0.001, Figure 44B).



Α

Figure 44: Representative of mean I-FABP₂–AUC (0-270 min⁻¹) (A) and I-FABP₂ response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink and *red rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period for split. There was no main effect observed for I-FABP₂ AUC (p >0.05), examined by a one-way repeatedmeasured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial nor main interaction effect (p < 0.05). However, a main effect for time was observed (p <0.001), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates a significant increase for time from baseline to 75 and 270 min within SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p < 0.001). I-FABP₂; Intestinal fatty acid binding protein 2.

6.3.6. Appetite

6.3.6.1. Hunger

Hunger increased during SPLIT and decreased during SINGLE post exercise compared to baseline. Moreover, hunger remained elevated during SPLIT until 150 min. Both trials decreased in hunger after food ingestion (breakfast) before gradually rising throughout recovery in all trials. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.735$) and interaction effect (p = 0.031, $\eta^2 p = 0.137$) was observed for hunger. However, there were no trial effects for hunger (p = 0.108; $\eta^2 p = 0.187$; Figure 45B). Post-hoc tests revealed SPLIT was significantly increased at 75min (pre-breakfast) compared to SINGLE (70 ± 14 vs. 53 ± 22 mm: p = 0.025, d = 0.96, 95% CI = -6.38-12.48 mm) There was no main effect for hunger AUC (p = 0.136, $\eta^2 p = 0.163$; Figure 45A).

6.3.6.2. Fullness

Fullness remained relatively stable in both trials until 120 min before fullness started to decrease in both trials until 270 min (pre-lunch). Both trials then increased after lunch before gradually decreasing throughout recovery in both trials. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.740$) was observed for fullness. However, there were no trial (p = 0.290, $\eta^2 p = 0.086$) nor main interaction effects observed (p = 0.723, $\eta^2 p = 0.036$, Figure 46B). There was no main effect for fullness AUC (p = 0.309, $\eta^2 p = 0.080$; Figure 46A).

6.3.6.3. PFC

PFC decreased from baseline during SINGLE and increased during SPLIT at 75 min (pre-breakfast), before remaining relatively stable in both trials until 270 min (prelunch). In both trials PFC decreased after lunch before gradually increasing throughout recovery. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.721$) was observed for PFC. However, there were no trial (p = 0.341, $\eta^2 p = 0.070$) nor main interaction effects observed (p = 0.134, $\eta^2 p = 0.106$, Figure 47B). There was no main effect for PFC AUC (p = 0.490, $\eta^2 p = 0.037$; Figure 47A).

6.3.6.4. Satisfaction

Satisfaction decreased from baseline during SPLIT and increased during SINGLE at 75 min (pre-breakfast), before SINGLE continued to increase until 120 min. Both

trials then remained relatively similar until 270 min (pre-lunch). Both trials then increased after lunch before gradually decreasing throughout recovery to 345 min were SPLIT decreased in satisfaction visible more than SINGLE at 375 and 405 min. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.705$) was observed for satisfaction. However, there were no trial (p = 0.203, $\eta^2 p = 0.121$) nor main interaction effects observed (p =0.361, $\eta^2 p = 0.079$, Figure 48B). There was no main effect for satisfaction AUC (p =0.207, $\eta^2 p = 0.119$; Figure 48A).

6.3.6.5. Bloat

Bloat remained relatively stable in both trials until 270 min (pre-lunch), before both trials then increased after lunch resulting in a gradual decrease throughout recovery in both trials. A main effect of time (p = 0.033, $\eta^2 p = 0.231$) was observed for bloat. However, there were no trial (p = 0.427, $\eta^2 p = 0.049$) nor main interaction effects observed (p = 0.377, $\eta^2 p = 0.075$, Figure 49B). There was no main effect for bloat AUC (p = 0.428, $\eta^2 p = 0.049$; Figure 49A).

6.3.6.6. Nausea

Nausea increased during SINGLE and decreased during SPLIT at 75 min (prebreakfast) compared to baseline. Both trials then remained relatively similar until 405 min. There was no main effect of time (p = 0.121, $\eta^2 p = 0.167$), trial (p = 0.975, $\eta^2 p =$ 0.001) nor main interaction effect observed (p = 0.309, $\eta^2 p = 0.090$, Figure 50B). There was no main effect for nausea AUC (p = 0.826, $\eta^2 p = 0.004$; Figure 50A).



Figure 45: Representive of mean hunger AUC (0-405 min) (A) and hunger VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semisolid meal. There was no main effect observed for hunger AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for hunger (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 46: Representive of mean fullness AUC (0-405 min) (A) and fullness VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for fullness AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for fullness (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.







Figure 48: Representive of mean satisfaction AUC (0-405 min) (A) and satisfaction VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for satisfaction AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There were no main trial, time nor main interaction effects observed for satisfaction (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.



Figure 49: Representive of mean bloat AUC (0-405 min) (A) and bloat VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for bloat AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for bloat (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.



Figure 50: Representive of mean nausea AUC (0-405 min) (A) and nausea VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the reaming 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for nausea AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for nausea (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.

6.3.7. Blood Metabolites

6.3.7.1. Glucose

Glucose responded differently post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE increased and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. Glucose remained similar until 270 min, before glucose increased during the SINGLE trial compared to the SPLIT. This increase remained at 345 and 405 min during the SINGLE trial compared to SPLIT. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.693$), trial (p = 0.006, $\eta^2 p = 0.474$) and interaction effect was observed for glucose (p = 0.048, $\eta^2 p = 0.208$, Figure 51B). Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE was significantly increased at 270 min (pre-lunch) compared to SPLIT (4.5 ± 0.3 vs. 4.3 ± 0.2 mmol.L: p = 0.015, d = 0.81, 95% CI = -0.66-0.92 mmol.L) and 405 min (5.1 ± 0.4 vs. 4.5 ± 0.3 mmol.L: p < 0.001, d = 1.76, 95% CI = 1.55-1.92 mmol.L). There was a main effect for glucose AUC as SINGLE was significantly increased compared to SPLIT (4.05 min^{-1} : p = 0.031, d = 0.70, 95% CI = -64.3-42.7 mmol.L⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹: p = 0.031, d = 0.70, 95% CI = -64.3-42.7 mmol.L⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹; p = 0.031, d = 0.70, 95% CI = -64.3-42.7 mmol.L⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹; p = 0.031, d = 0.70, 95% CI = -64.3-42.7 mmol.L⁻¹.

6.3.7.2. Cholesterol

Cholesterol responded similarly across the duration of the whole study in both the SINGLE and the SPLIT trials. Although SINGLE tended to be elevated over and SPLIT across most time points. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.509$), trial (p = 0.050, $\eta^2 p = 0.283$) and interaction effect was observed for cholesterol (p = 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.306$, Figure 52B). Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE was significantly increased at 75 min (pre-breakfast) compared to SPLIT (4.6 ± 0.9 vs. 4.0 ± 0.6 mmol.L: p = 0.009, d = 0.81, 95% CI = -0.34-1.13 mmol.L), 345 min (4.3 ± 0.9 vs. 3.9 ± 0.6 mmol.L: p = 0.037, d = 0.59, 95% CI = -0.17-0.90 mmol.L) and 405 min (4.3 ± 0.8 vs. 3.9 ± 0.6 mmol.L: p = 0.049, d = 0.58, 95% CI = 0.12-0.91 mmol.L). There was no main effect for cholesterol AUC. However, SINGLE did approach significance compared to SPLIT (p = 0.051, $\eta^2 p = 0.283$, Figure 52A).

6.3.7.3. Triglycerides

Triglycerides responded similarly across the duration of the whole study in both the SINGLE and the SPLIT trials until SPLIT stated to elevate more than SINGLE at 345 and 405 min. A main effect of time (p = 0.048, $\eta^2 p = 0.223$) and interaction effect

 $(p = 0.004, \eta^2 p = 0.379)$ was observed for triglycerides. However, there were no trial effects for triglycerides $(p = 0.275; \eta^2 p = 0.098;$ Figure 53B). Post-hoc tests revealed SPLIT was significantly increased at 345 min compared to SINGLE $(0.95 \pm 0.45 \text{ vs.} 0.80 \pm 0.34 \text{ mmol.L}: p = 0.031, d = 0.39, 95\%$ CI = -0.15-0.57 mmol.L) and 405 min $(0.83 \pm 0.5 \text{ vs.} 0.67 \pm 0.34 \text{ mmol.L}: p = 0.041, d = 0.39, 95\%$ CI = 0.13-0.57 mmol.L). There was no main effect for triglycerides AUC $(p = 0.381, \eta^2 p = 0.064, \text{Figure 53A})$.

6.3.7.4. NEFA

NEFA responded differently post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE increased and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. NEFA then decreased at 150 min (60 min post breakfast) in both trials, although remained elevated in the SINGLE trial compared to the SPLIT. NEFA then continued to rise in both trials until 270 min (post-second exercise), where NEFA peaked in the SPLIT trial compared to SINGLE, before decreasing in both trials 60 min post-lunch. NEFA began to elevate once more at 405 min in the SPLIT trial compared to SINGLE. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.801$) and interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.692$) was observed for NEFA. However, there were no trial effects for NEFA (p = 0.084; $\eta^2 p = 0.228$; Figure 54B). Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE was significantly increased at 75 min (pre-breakfast) compared to SPLIT $(1.23 \pm 0.45 \text{ vs. } 0.38 \pm 0.12 \text{ mmol.L: } p < 0.001, d = 2.68, 95\% \text{ CI}$ = 2.44–2.74 mmol.L) and 150 min (0.34 \pm 0.23 vs. 0.19 \pm 0.09 mmol.L: p =0.038, d = 0.89, 95% CI = 0.77-0.94 mmol.L). Post second exercise bout post-hoc tests revealed SPLIT was significantly increased at 270 min compared to SINGLE (1.21 \pm 0.50 vs. $0.88 \pm 0.38 \text{ mmol.L}$: p = 0.027, d = 0.77, 95% CI = 0.51–0.97 mmol.L) and 405 min (0.88 ± 0.04 vs. 0.24 ± 0.16 mmol.L: *p* =0.007, d = 5.07 95% CI = 5.67-5.78 mmol.L).

There was a main effect for NEFA AUC as SINGLE was significantly increased compared to SPLIT (231 ± 84 vs. 180 ± 45 mmol.L⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹: p = 0.022, d = 0.79, 95% CI = -43.3-24.3 mmol.L⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹, Figure 54A).



Figure 51: Representive of mean glucose AUC (0-405 min) (A) and glucose VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for glucose AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for glucose (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 52: Representive of mean cholesterol AUC (0-405 min) (A) and cholesterol VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for cholesterol AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for cholesterol (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 53: Representive of mean triglycerid AUC (0-405 min) (A) and triglyceride VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main effect observed for triglyceride AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect observed for triglyceride (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 54: Representive of mean NEFA AUC (0-405 min) (A) and NEFA VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for NEFA AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial (p>0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect observed for NEFA (p<0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acid.

6.3.8. Gut Hormones

6.3.8.1. Active Ghrelin

Active ghrelin responded similarly post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. Active ghrelin then gradually increased throughout the first recovery phase post-breakfast until in both trials active ghrelin peaked at 270 min (pre-lunch). Active ghrelin then decreased post lunch, before beginning to rise in both trials at 405 min. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.546$), trial (p = 0.017, $\eta^2 p = 0.392$) and interaction effect was observed for ghrelin (p = 0.030, $\eta^2 p = 0.251$, Figure 55B). Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE significantly decreased at 75 min (pre-breakfast) compared to SPLIT (138± 49 vs. 166± 67 pg.mL: p = 0.024, d = 0.50, 95% CI = -34.6–26.1 pg.mL). A post-hoc test also revelled SPLIT was significantly increased at 405 min compared to SINGLE (223± 82 vs. 151± 87 pg.mL: p = 0.017, d = 0.88, 95% CI = -42.0–46.4 pg.mL).

There was a main effect for active ghrelin AUC as SPLIT was significantly increased compared to SINGLE (61866 ± 21333 vs. 56896 ± 20008 pg.mL⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹: p = 0.043, d = 0.25, 95% CI = -11174-10480 pg.mL⁻¹. 405 min⁻¹, Figure 55A).

6.3.8.2. GLP-1

GLP-1 responded similarly post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. Both trials then increased post-breakfast (150 min), before SINGLE began to decline until 270 min. However, SPLIT increased once more at 150-min to 210 min before also declining at 270 min. GLP-1 increased post lunch in both trials at 345 min before decreasing at similar rates at 405 min. A main effect of time (p = 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.367$) was observed for GLP-1. However, there were no trial (p = 0.740, $\eta^2 p = 0.009$) nor main interaction effects observed (p = 0.544, $\eta^2 p = 0.059$, Figure 56B). There was no main effect for GLP-1 AUC (p = 0.795, $\eta^2 p$ = 0.006; Figure 56A).

6.3.8.3. PYY

PYY responded differently post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE increased and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. Both trials then increased postbreakfast (150 min). SPLIT then remained elevated above SINGLE for the remainder of the study. A main effect of time (p = 0.003, $\eta^2 p = 0.452$) was observed for PYY. However, there were no trial (p = 0.295, $\eta^2 p = 0.136$) nor main interaction effects observed (p = 0.098, $\eta^2 p = 0.193$, Figure 57B). There was no main effect for PYY AUC (p = 0.355, $\eta^2 p = 0.108$; Figure 57A).

6.3.8.4. PP

PP increased in both trials from baseline until 270 min (pre-lunch). PP responded similarly across both trials in the 2h post lunch recovery phase. A main effect of time $(p = 0.002, \eta^2 p = 0.470)$ was observed for PP. However, there were no trial $(p = 0.838, \eta^2 p = 0.004)$ nor main interaction effects observed $(p = 0.102, \eta^2 p = 0.163, Figure 58B)$. There was no main effect for PP AUC (p = 0.643, $\eta^2 p = 0.018$; Figure 58A).

6.3.8.5. Insulin

Insulin responded differently post exercise at 75 min (pre-breakfast) as SINGLE increased and SPLIT decreased compared to baseline. Insulin then responded similarly as both trials increased at 150 min (60 min post breakfast), before declining gradually until 270 min (pre-lunch). Insulin then increased once again post-lunch in both trials where SINGLE remained elevated above SPLIT at 345 and 405 min. A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.799$) and interaction effect (p = 0.021, $\eta^2 p = 0.366$) was observed for insulin. However, there were no trial effects for insulin (p = 0.090, $\eta^2 p = 0.317$; Figure 59B). A post-hoc test revealed SINGLE was significantly increased at 405 min compared to SPLIT (1056 ± 514 vs. 547 ± 356 pg.mL: p = 0.011, d = 1.22, 95% CI = -334.5–233.8 pg.mL). There was no main effect for insulin AUC (p = 0.052, $\eta^2 p = 0.239$; Figure 59A).



Figure 55: Representive of mean active ghrelinAUC (0-405 min) (A) and active ghrelin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for active ghrelin (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for active ghrelin (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 56: Representive of mean GLP-1AUC (0-405 min) (A) and GLP-1 VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for GLP-1AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor main interaction effect observed for GLP-1 (p >0.05). However, there was an effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide-1.



Figure 57: Representive of mean PYY AUC (0-405 min) (A) and PYY VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 9). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for PYY AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor main interaction effect observed for PYY (p >0.05). However, there was an effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PYY, peptide-YY.



Figure 58: Representive of mean PP AUC (0-405 min) (A) and PP VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for PP AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was an effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PP, pancreatic polypeptide.



Figure 59: Representive of mean insulin AUC (0-405 min) (A) and insulin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 9). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was a main effect observed for insulin AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for insulin (p >0.05). However, there was an effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between SINGLE vs SPLIT, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.

6.3.9. Substrate Utilisation

6.3.9.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation

Carbohydrate oxidation AUC was significantly lower for SINGLE compared to SPLIT (175 ± 35 vs 200 ± 43 g/min⁻¹ 405 min⁻¹, P = 0.022, d = 0.66, 95% CI =-21.86–19.00 g/min⁻¹ 405 min⁻¹, Figure 60). There was a main effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.951$), trial (P = 0.024, $\eta^2 p = 0.333$) and interaction (P < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.896$) effects for carbohydrate oxidation.

Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE was significantly lower at 30-min (2.52 ± 0.60 vs 3.05 ± 0.80 g/min: P = 0.020, d = 0.78, 95% CI =0.36–1.09 g/min) and unsurprisingly higher at 45-min (2.30 ± 0.63 vs 0.17 ± 0.13 g/min: P < 0.001, d = 4.86, 95% CI =4.53–4.93 g/min) and 60min (2.21 ± 0.51 vs 0.10 ± 0.10 g/min: P < 0.001, d = 5.92, 95% CI =5.65–5.97 g/min) compared to SPLIT. Subsequently, carbohydrate oxidation was higher 2-h post breakfast (210-min) during SPLIT compared to SINGLE (0.16 ± 0.07 g/min vs 0.11 ± 0.07 g/min: P = 0.003, d = 0.74, 95% CI =0.70–0.78 g/min). SPLIT exercise was also significantly higher at 225-min (2.67 ± 0.62 vs 0.16 ± 0.07 g/min: P < 0.01, d = 5.90, 95% CI =5.58–5.94 g/min) and 240-min (2.52 ± 0.73 vs 0.09 ± 0.10 g/min: P < 0.01, d = 4.84, 95% CI =4.46–4.89 g/min), which was during exercise compared to rest in the SINGLE trial (Figure 61A).

6.3.9.2. Fat Oxidation

Fat oxidation AUC was significantly higher for SINGLE compared to SPLIT $(51 \pm 18 \text{ vs } 42 \pm 12 \text{ g/min}^{-1} \text{ 405 min}^{-1}, P = 0.036, d = 0.61, 95\% \text{ CI} = -8.82-6.90 \text{ g/min}^{-1}$ 405 min⁻¹, Figure 60). There was a main effect of time ($P < 0.001, \eta^2 p = 0.527$) and interaction ($P < 0.001, \eta^2 p = 0.480$), but no main effect of trial ($P = 0.055, \eta^2 p = 0.255$) for fat oxidation.

Post-hoc tests revealed SINGLE was significantly higher at 45-min (0.36 ± 0.24 g/min vs 0.14 ± 0.05 g/min: P = 0.004, d = 1.32, 95% CI =1.19-1.34 g/min) and 60-min (0.42 ± 0.23 g/min vs 0.14 ± 0.05 g/min: P = 0.001, d = 1.75, 95% CI =1.63-1.77 g/min). During the first recovery period post breakfast fat oxidation was higher during SINGLE at 180-min (0.13 ± 0.04 g/min vs 0.09 ± 0.02 g/min: P = 0.001, d = 1.31, 95% CI =1.29-1.32 g/min) and 210-min (0.15 ± 0.02 g/min vs 0.10 ± 0.02 g/min: P = 0.001, d = 2.59, 95% CI =2.58-2.60 g/min) compared to SPLIT. Therefore, during

the second exercise bout SPLIT was unsurprisingly higher at 225-min (0.24 \pm 0.15 g/min vs 0.12 \pm 0.03 g/min: P = 0.009, d = 1.15, 95% CI =1.07-1.17 g/min) and 240-min (0.34 \pm 0.16 g/min vs 0.13 \pm 0.05 g/min: P = 0.001, d = 1.84, 95% CI =1.75-1.86 g/min) compared to the SINGLE trial rest period. Within the second recovery period post lunch SINGLE was significantly higher 60-min post-lunch (345-min) compared to SPLIT (0.09 \pm 0.03 g/min vs 0.06 \pm 0.03 g/min: P = 0.015, d = 1.04, 95% CI =1.02-1.05 g/min, Figure 61B)



Figure 60: Representative of mean fat and carbohydrate oxidation AUC (0-405 min⁻¹), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). There was a main effect observed for fat and carbohydrate oxidation AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *Indicates SPLIT was significantly different from SINGLE, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t*-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve; CHO, carbohydrate.



Figure 61: Representative of mean carbohydrate oxidation (g/min) (A) and fat oxidation (g/min) (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 14). *Chequered red and green rectangle* indicates 30-min exercise period; *Filled green rectangle* indicates the remaining 30-min exercise period of the 60-min single bout; *Hashed black rectangle* indicates 30% ETEE milk-drink. *Red rectangle* indicates remaining 30-min exercise period for split exercise; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates indicates ingestion of 70% ETEE semi-solid meal. There was no main trial effect for fat oxidation (p >0.05) although there was for carbohydrate oxidation (p <0.05). Furthermore, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for both fat and carbohydrate oxidation, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates SINGLE vs SPLIT was significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p < 0.05).

6.4. Discussion

The primary aim of the current study was to compare the effects of twice-aday (two high intensity continuous exercise bouts for 30 min separated by 2 h recovery) vs single bout (one off 60 min high intensity continuous exercise bout) of exercise on hormonal and subjective appetite regulation, metabolic responses, GER, and EI in the subsequent 24 h. The main findings were SINGLE exercise caused a transient elevation in fat utilisation by ~17 % overall, which was possibly directly related to exercising in a fasted state for 60 min. Nevertheless, this led to a suppression in hunger (subjective appetite) by ~17% and strengthened by molecular data, as acylated ghrelin also reduced by ~16% post-first exercise bout (75 min) compared to SPLIT exercise. In addition, there was no difference in hormonal nor subjective appetite regulation within the recovery period after a breakfast meal. Subsequently, GER of a semi-solid lunch meal was significantly accelerated within the SPLIT compared to SINGLE exercise leading to a raised acylated ghrelin concentration 2 h post lunch at 420 min, which might account for the ~29% increase in EI in the subsequent 24-h after twice-a-day exercise. These results suggest that a single bout of continuous exercise completed at a high intensity, might be superior at controlling appetite and EI within healthy men, and whether these findings extend to different populations (lean/overweight men or females) is currently unknown.

To the author's knowledge, this is the only study to examine GER of a semisolid meal after completing twice-a-day vs. one off exercise bout. Previous studies have examined how different nutritional solutions or meals effect GER within the post-exercise period. A number of investigations have found an accelerated emptying rate (Clayton et al., 2014, Evans et al., 2018a); no change between emptying rate (Evans et al., 2016, Mattin et al., 2018b, McIver et al., 2018); and a time of day difference in emptying rate after exercise (McIver et al., 2019). Within the current study GER of a semi-solid meal was accelerated, indicated by a ~17% faster maximal emptying time (T_{lag}) and a ~20% faster half emptying time (T_{half}) after the SPLIT compared to the SINGLE exercise trial. Consequently, the majority of previous literature investigating the effects of exercise intensity on GER during exercise have suggested GER is impeded at intensity >75% \dot{VO}_{2max} (Neufer et al., 1989) and slower GER is detected after intermittent sprint exercise compared to moderately intense continuous exercise (Leiper et al., 2001a).

Therefore, it is apparent that exercising at a high intensity disrupts gastric emptying more so during exercise than within the post-prandial period. To emphasise this point data from Chapter 5 (Mattin et al., 2020a), identified the emptying rate of a semi-solid meal was unaffected 30 min after intermittent exercise at a low (40% \dot{VO}_{2peak}) and a moderate intensity (60% \dot{VO}_{2peak}), compared to an energy matched continuous exercise bout at the same low and moderate intensity. Data from the current investigation indicated that a semi-solid meal is released from the stomach at a faster rate when a meal in consumed 30 min after a bout of exercise in excess of >60% VO_{2peak}. This may suggest if sufficient time is allocated after high intensity strenuous exercise the body's ability to recover and deliver nutrients to the small intestine is increased to match the demands of exercise delivered. Nevertheless, Jeukendrup (2017b), advocates that the GI system is highly adaptable and gastric emptying as well as the stomach can be 'trained'. With limited research, directly focusing on measuring GER, this statement is bold and warrants further investigation to understand if highly trained individuals' or athletes' GER responds similarly to that of an untrained population as for an athlete an accelerated GER post-exercise may be seen as an advantage. Although, whether an accelerated GER is beneficial for health-related changes requires further investigation.

One potential mechanism for changes in GER is gut permeability as increased I-FABP₂ have been shown to correlate with splanchnic hypoperfusion (reduced blood flow to the abdominal region), post strenuous exercise (van Wijck et al., 2011). Kashima et al, (2017) supports these findings as I-FABP₂ concentration increased after intermittent supramaximal cycling and GER was delayed post-exercise compared to a control. The delay in GER was attributed to the increase in I-FABP₂ and therefore suggests small intestinal mucosal damage triggered a delay in GER. Nevertheless, within the current investigation an increase in I-FABP₂ was observed for both trials after the first exercise bout, although no differences in I-FABP₂ were documented between conditions.

Previous studies have reported that healthy individuals express a suppression in appetite immediately after exercise at an intensity >60% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, King et al., 2013b). Consistent with the current study, participants reported a ~17% decrease in hunger after 60 min of continuous exercise at 70% VO_{2peak} (SINGLE) but surprisingly, no difference was established after the SPLIT exercise trial operated at the same intensity for 30 min. It must be noted, the difference between subjective hunger may not have been related to the duration of exercise, but instead, to the time difference between finishing exercise at 30 min during SPLIT and 60 min for SINGLE before completing a VAS questionnaire at 75 min pre-breakfast. Holliday and Blannin, (2017c) found no suppression in appetite immediately after completing an exercise bout for 15, 30 and 45 min at ~80% VO_{2peak} showing high intensity continuous exercise does not result in further decreases in appetite, regardless of the difference in duration. However, they did discover that after as little as 20 min after exercise subjective appetite began to increase from immediate post-exercise values (Holliday and Blannin., 2017c). Deighton and Stenel et al, (2014) are in agreement, that appetite values tend to return to control values within 30 min of the cessation of exercise; reinforcing the point appetite suppression experienced after a high intensity exercise bout is short lived. Despite this decrease in perceived hunger post exercise, subjective appetite sensations were not significantly different between trials, after a relatively small breakfast drink (semi-skimmed milk). This suggests that subjective appetite can be offset by a small breakfast meal, independent of the changes observed after exercise. No differences were seen for the remaining appetite related questions (fullness, PFC, satisfaction, bloat nor nausea), and no further differences were observed during the remainder of trial.

Despite appetite responding similarly within the postprandial period after lunch in the current study, EI was ~29% (733 KCal) higher in the subsequent 24 h after the SPLIT exercise trial; although the majority of the available literature states exercise does not stimulate a change in EI > 20 h after exercise (King et al., 1997, King et al., 2010a, Hanlon et al., 2012). Controversially, within Chapter 5 (Mattin et al., 2020a), revealed moderate, intense, intermittent exercise stimulated an 723 KCal increase in EI in the subsequent 24 h, when compared directly to an energy matched continuous exercise bout. Disappointingly, the mechanism for this increase in EI within Chapter 5 was not directly clear as limitations within the protocol, prevented the collection of metabolic and hormonal markers. Nevertheless, within the current study, metabolic and hormonal markers were collected as concentrations of the orexigenic hormone acylated ghrelin and the anorexigenic hormone GLP-1, which are thought to respond to fluctuations in energy balance (Cummings, 2006, Holst, 2007, Clayton et al., 2015). Therefore, the crosstalk between the gut and the brain might be critical in controlling energy balance, as many of the gut hormones secreted from enteroendocrine cells signal through the vagus nerve; following meals, ingestion cells in the GI tract secrete a number of satiety-inducing hormones; CCK, GLP-1 and PYY (Cork, 2018).

One potential mechanism is the role of GLP-1 in the mechanical distension of the stomach, signalling to the brain that the recipient is content. Evidence has emerged within mice models, that GLP-1R are highly expressed on vagal afferent terminals in the hepatic vein (Vahl et al., 2007) and brainstem (Williams et al., 2016). Furthermore, these findings suggest that GLP-1R are also highly predominant in the afferent vagus nerve and are not found in great numbers near to the intestinal villi close to GLP-1 secreting cells but are largely expressed in stomach muscle. This theory is further supported by Krieger et al, (2016) as they demonstrated that knockdown GLP-1R in the vagal afferents of rates increased meal size and meal duration. For this reason, within the current study, each meal period was standardised for volume, regardless of the difference in EI between participants, to prevent the change in stomach size between meals affecting satiety-inducing hormones. GLP-1 and PYY did increase after both meal periods; however, there was very little difference between conditions.

Acylated ghrelin positively correlates with the feeling of hunger, with concentrations being high before and decreasing after eating (Cummings et al., 2004, Clayton et al., 2016, Hazell et al., 2016, McIver et al., 2018). However, acylated ghrelin has demonstrated large reductions in concentrations ~60%, compared to preexercise or resting controls, after completing high to moderate intense, aerobic exercise <70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ (Broom et al., 2009, King et al., 2011a, Balaguera-Cortes et al., 2011, Becker et al., 2012, Wasse et al., 2012, Wasse et al., 2013b, Kawano et al., 2013, Broom et al., 2017). Consistent with the current study, acylated ghrelin decreased from fasting baseline values by ~24% after SINGLE and by ~12% after SPLIT. Subsequently, acylated ghrelin concentrations remained relatively stable during the remainder of the trial, until the final sample at 420 min where acylated ghrelin concentrations increased by ~31% during the SPLIT trial compared to the SINGLE. The mechanism for this increase in acylated ghrelin 2 h after lunch is not directly clear, although this increase might be an indicator of the body's response to restore energy balance homeostasis. A number of factors might account for the increase in acylated ghrelin, which in turn might strengthen the fact EI was ~29% high after the SPLIT trial. This indirect increase in appetite during the hours after leaving the laboratory, might be accounted for in response to the different acylated ghrelin concentration before leaving.

Research suggests that increased blood glucose (Shiiya et al., 2002, Sim et al., 2014) and insulin concentrations (Flanagan et al., 2003, Broglio et al., 2004) are associated with decreased ghrelin levels. This has been well established within animal models as injecting insulin into rat stomach cells was found to impair ghrelin (Gagnon and Anini, 2012). Iwakura et al, (2010) also found that ghrelin producing cells express insulin receptors, which potentially explains why insulin might inhibit ghrelin after consuming nutrient dense substances. To further discuss the changes discovered in the present study, overall glucose AUC was greater and overall insulin AUC tended to be greater (P = 0.052) during SINGLE, suggesting glycaemic control was impaired after a single bout of exercise, compared to a split exercise bout. As we know from previous studies, any person with higher blood glucose after feeding is at an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Pekkanen, 1999, Ning et al., 2012) or becoming insulin resistant (Pöykkö et al., 2003, Purnell et al., 2003). To further emphasise this point, within the current study, glucose and insulin values were significantly lower 2 h post lunch (420 min) during SPLIT, and the reason for this may be explained by a number of different deviations throughout the trial. In particular, Gonzalez et al, (2013) suggested plasma glucose concentrations are elevated after exercise by pre-exercise feeding. Although, within the present study participants within the SINGLE trial consumed breakfast ~270 min prior to the increases seen in glucose at 60- and 120min post lunch. Therefore, exercising 2 h after consuming a liquid breakfast (30% ETEE), potentially stimulated postprandial insulin sensitivity from a semi-solid lunch meal (70% ETEE).

One potential theory for the difference seen in glucose and insulin, might be explained by limited glucose availability during exercise because of glycogen depletion (Coyle and Coggan, 1984). Plasma glucose during exercise when fasting is primarily derived from hepatic sources, suggesting a potential role for liver carbohydrate status in the regulation of postexercise energy balance (Edinburgh et al., 2019). However, carbohydrate in the form of muscle glycogen has been shown to be the predominant substrate used during prolonged exercise above $\sim 65\%$ V02_{Max} (van Loon et al., 2001, Romijn et al., 1993). Edinburgh et al, (2019) observed that plasma glucose disposal rates during a fasted exercise bout represented the use of glucose from hepatically derived sources, as no carbohydrate was ingested before or during a fasted exercise trial. Eating breakfast is encouraged in the literature to maximize carbohydrate stores before exercise performance (Williams and Serratosa, 2006), as liver glycogen stores have been shown to decrease substantially after an overnight fast, resulting in a greater decrease in blood glucose concentration during a prolonged exercise bout (Taylor et al., 1996, Learsi et al., 2019). We know from work carried out within our own laboratory, fasting prior to exercise reduces carbohydrate utilisation during exercise (McIver et al., 2018, McIver et al., 2019), and these results are consistent with the current study as fat utilisation increased and carbohydrate utilisation decreased during 60 min of exercise at 70% VO_{2peak} in a fasted state. Overall Fat oxidation AUC was greater during SINGLE by ~17%, suggesting overall lipolysis may have been increased. Although, this result should not be misinterpreted, as the increase in fat oxidation AUC data between trials was most likely a result of exercising for 60 min fasted during the SINGLE trial compared to 30 min during the SPLIT trial. This can further be supported by the fact that fat oxidation did increase in the second exercise bout within the SPLIT trial 2 h after breakfast, although this was not at the same extent as exercising in the morning after a ~10 h fast.

In brief, these differences observed 2 h post-lunch might further be supported by an increase in NEFA and triglycerides within the SPLIT trial compared to the SINGLE, suggesting a switch in energy utilisation before the end of the trial at 420 min. It could be considered that the increase in acylated ghrelin, NEFA and triglycerides and the decrease in glucose and insulin between trials may support the reason why EI was higher 24 h after the SPLIT trial. Although, additional work must consider how changes in the metabolic effects after exercise might further effect EI, and appetite in the days following strenuous exercise.

6.4.1. Limitations

Limitations within the current study must be acknowledged, as any research that investigates substrate utilisation during high intensity exercise may be brought into question. The assumptions on which indirect calorimetry is based can be more problematic during intensity >75% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ and the validity of using gas exchange measurements to calculate substrate oxidation above this intensity must be questioned (Jeukendrup and Wallis, 2005). However, if researchers acknowledge that indirect calorimetry under various experimental conditions might have relatively high variation between participants, when exercise >60% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$, gas exchange measurements can be a very useful tool for the measurement of substrate oxidation. Future studies should further examine the differences in post-exercise energy demands after consuming food, as the energy demands in the recovery period must be considered, as any increase in fat oxidation during exercise may be mitigated by consuming food post-exercise (Melanson et al., 2002).

There might be some extenuating factors contributing to the reason why I-FABP₂ was increased but not different between exercise conditions. To begin with, both trials were conducted at the same high exercise intensity 70% VO_{2peak}, suggesting 30 min was sufficient to cause an increased intestinal cellular injury which caused cell membrane integrity to be compromised following strenuous exercise to the same extent as 60 min. According to March et al, (2017) 20 min of running at 80% VO_{2peak} was enough to cause an increase in I-FABP₂ within a control group. Secondly, no further increases were observed after the second exercise bout (SPLIT only) at 270 min. This may be related to the fact these samples were not collected in a fasted condition, and any further increase in I-FABP₂ might have been affected by the role of I-FABP₂ in cellular uptake and metabolism of fatty acids (Ockner and Manning, 1974, Lowe et al., 1987, Zimmerman et al., 2001). It must be added, the large proportion of literature which has identified an increase in I-FABP₂ post exercise after continuous exercise (van Wijck et al., 2011), resistance exercise (van Wijck et al., 2013) and an intermittent mode of exercise (Pugh et al., 2017, Kashima et al., 2017), has directly compared the increase to a non-exercise control group. Therefore, it may be considered that without a non-exercise control group to directly compare the basal state, it is unclear if the increase in I-FABP₂ seen after exercise, and the accelerated GER after lunch, is a response to the exercise stimulus, or the environment the study was conducted in, and without control data, these types of conclusions may be invalid.

6.4.2. Conclusions

The results of this study demonstrate that exercising twice-a-day at a high intensity (70% VO_{2peak}), compared to a one-off single bout of exercise matched at the same intensity, accelerated GER. Despite this, no differences were observed during the short 2 h monitoring period after lunch, for subjective appetite in response to the accelerated GER within the twice-a-day trial. However, an increase in acylated ghrelin was reported at the end of the trial after twice-a-day exercise, but surprisingly not after the single bout. This suggests a potential rationale for the reason why EI was elevated 24 h after twice-a-day exercise. These findings may have important implications for current exercise prescription guidelines, as performing multiple exercise bouts within the same day, separated by a short recovery phase (2 h) is possibly less effective at controlling EI in response to high intensity physical activity energy expenditure, when meal periods are balanced for energy in, to energy out. If increased EI persisted over a longer period, this might eventually lead to weight gain and long-term health concerns. Going forward, it is important to understand that if structured exercise is completed in multiple bouts throughout the day to reflect a normal working schedule, it will also affect appetite regulatory hormones and EI. This would require lengthening the time between exercise bouts and providing participants with a breakfast period, which reflects an adequate calorie consumption during this meal period. Conversely, promoting the simple act of providing a more substantial breakfast meal could theoretically compensate for the changes seen when exercising twice-a-day rather than once.

Chapter 7

How Does Exercising Twice-a-Day Affect Gastrointestinal Function, Appetite, and Metabolic Response after Consuming a Standardised Breakfast and Lunch Respectively after each Exercise Bout in Healthy Males: A Randomised Cross Over Trial¹

⁶ The data from this study contained within this chapter was going to be presented at Europhysiology. However, this event was cancelled due to COVID-19. "Mattin LR, Ishihara K, McIver LR, Yau AMW, James LJ, Evans GH (2020). How does a 'twice-a-day approach' to a daily exercise routine, effect gastrointestinal hormonal, appetite regulation and metabolic response after consuming a standardised breakfast and lunch respectively after each exercise bout in healthy males. Europhysiology. ESTREL, Congress centre, Berlin, Germany."
7.1 Introduction

What we know from the literature is that ghrelin commonly decreases immediately after moderate or high intensity exercise (60-75% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) (Broom et al., 2007, Broom et al., 2009, King et al., 2010a, Becker et al., 2012, Wasse et al., 2013b, Holliday and Blannin, 2017c). However, investigations have predominantly focused on continuous exercise bouts, suggesting further investigations are needed to improve understanding of the appetite response after an acute bout of high intensity intermittent exercise. As discussed previously, one potential mechanism for adaptation in GER after exercise is potentially a modification in gut hormone response, as even a small alteration in the secretion of gut hormones may have important implications in the regulation of GER, and consequently EI (Little et al., 2007, Meneguetti et al., 2019). With exercise intensity possibly being more important for appetite regulation than exercise duration (Hazell et al., 2016).

In recent years the health effects of interval/ intermittent training on cardiometabolic outcomes have been strongly investigated (Atakan et al., 2021). Larger groups of adult males and females are engaging in HIIT based training programmes to improve health and fitness (Thompson, 2021). Adaptations within the general population such as improvements in VO2max, body composition, mitochondrial biogenesis and fat oxidation during exercise are just a small potential benefit of intermittent exercise (Andrade-Souza et al., 2020, Bishop et al., 2019, Wewege et al., 2017). Increase in whole-body fat oxidation and reduction in carbohydrate utilisation during exercise and rest is a regular adaptation observed in populations who commit to regular endurance training (Hurley et al., 1986, Hargreaves and Spriet, 2020).

Therefore, limited research has identified GER as a potential mechanism responsible for an altered appetite response or substrate utilisation in the hours and days following exercise or particularly intermittent exercise. Higher fat oxidation capacity is associated with better metabolic health (Kelley et al., 1999, Thompson et al., 2001). To date, this is the first investigation to examine whether intermittent exercise will affect appetite regulatory hormones, GER and the association between EI after exercise.

Food is an excellent anorexic agent known to reduce hunger and to suppress eating for a period after administration. Although, as the desire to eat begins to increase the feeling of hunger is mitigated, leading to nutritional and calorie intake once more (Blundell, 1991). One major disadvantage of consuming food to reduce the feelings of hunger, is the increase in weight gain if not balanced with energy expenditure (Paravidino et al., 2020). It must be noted within Chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018a), Chapter 5 (Mattin et al., 2020a) and Chapter 6 of this thesis; participant's subjective appetite responses were unaffected in the short 2 h monitoring period after exercise, which is consistent with the majority of investigations that have studied appetite response after exercise (Burns et al., 2007, Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, Gonzalez et al., 2013). Subsequently, EI was significantly higher 24 h after completing a moderate intensity intermittent exercise bout (Chapter 5) and after multiple exercise bouts separated by 2 h recovery (Chapter 6). Interestingly Notable, Deighton and Stensel et al, (2014) suggest that exercising at high intensities >60% \dot{VO}_{2max} , have consistently been found to supress appetite via changes in appetiteregulating hormones, known as 'exercise-induced anorexia' which subsequently restricts EI immediately after exercise. Despite these transient effects in appetite, it is unlikely that overall EI is influenced as many investigations have failed to discover any changes in EI >24 h after exercise (King et al., 1997, Pomerleau et al., 2004, Hanlon et al., 2012, King et al., 2013a). For this reason, it is unknown if the unanticipated increase in EI was governed by the intermittent nature of exercise or the separation of exercise bouts throughout the day.

It must be noted that endurance trained athletes have several different methods of training. The primary focus is to improve performances, by intensifying the productivity of the human body and potentially increasing the number of mitochondria within a cell, these generate cellular energy via oxidative phosphorylation (Bishop et al., 2019, Ghiarone et al., 2019). It has been suggested that performing regular intermittent exercise increases $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ and shifts substrate metabolism from carbohydrate to lipid oxidation, leading to showing a reduction in fat mass by increased exercise induced energy expenditure (Kiens et al., 1993, Hazell et al., 2012, Skelly et al., 2014, Townsend et al., 2014). A potential mechanism for this adaptation is the stimulation of cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins post endurance exercise, which increase mitochondrial biogenesis, which is the generation of new mitochondrial components leading to increased mitochondrial content and respiratory functions (Ghiarone et al., 2019, Granata et al., 2018, Andrade-Souza et al., 2020).

A number of investigations using athletes have suggested initiating training sessions with reduced muscle glycogen stores, by using a 'train-low' approach (Burke et al., 2021, Lane et al., 2015, Hulston et al., 2010, Yeo et al., 2008a, Yeo et al., 2008b); this might better improve training induced adaptations in markers of oxidative metabolism when compared with exercise sessions with a normal muscle glycogen stores (Morton et al., 2009, Hulston et al., 2010). Recently, one exercise design has had increased attention within the athlete population, known as the 'twice-a-day' approach (Hansen et al., 2005, Cochran et al., 2015, Ghiarone et al., 2019, Andrade-Souza et al., 2020). Participants usually perform an exercise bout for 30 to 90 min at >50% VO_{2max}, followed by a second exercise session 1-3h later with reduced muscle glycogen (Ghiarone et al., 2019). This method has been shown to improve aerobic fitness (VO_{2peak} and lactate thresholds) and was sufficient within 3 weeks to reduce body mass and body fat (Andrade-Souza et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the primary attention of most of the literature within this area of research is skeletal muscle adaptations and gene expression. To date, no study has investigated whether exercising 'twice-a-day' will disrupt appetite regulation within a healthy population leading to similar body fat responses found within athletes.

To our knowledge, no investigation has compared whether the timing or routine of intermittent exercise influences appetite and GER response, leading to a change in metabolic and hormonal regulation within healthy males. It was hypothesised that performing intermittent exercise within the morning would reveal a reduction in appetite, and acylated ghrelin post exercise, leading to compensatory increases in EI. Hence, the null hypothesis was that there would be no differences between the conditions, regardless of whether an intermittent bout of exercise was performed within the morning or afternoon.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore whether performing intermittent exercise during the morning $[10 \times 1 \text{ min high intensity bouts at PPO, separated by 2 min recovery}]$, followed by a 30 min low intensity (50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) continuous exercise bout separated by 3 h recovery, compared to an intermittent session within the

afternoon [continuous exercise during the morning followed by intermittent exercise 3 h later within the afternoon] would affect: 1) Hormonal regulation of appetite, 2) GER following a post-lunch semi-solid meal, and 3) Whether the timing of intermittent exercise affects subjective feelings of wellbeing, leading to overall alterations in EI 24 h following acute bouts of exercise?

7.2 Methods

7.2.1. Participants

Twelve healthy men were recruited from central Manchester and undertook experimental trials between September 2019 and March 2020 in the physiology laboratories at Manchester Metropolitan University, UK (Table 16). Verbal and written explanations of the experimental procedures were provided before the start of the trials and written informed consent was obtained. An a priori calculation was conducted using data from Chapter 6 focusing on GER and appetite data. An effect size $\eta^2 p = 0.240$ from a repeated measures ANOVA model, attributing GER as the primary outcome measure, and using an α of 0.05 and a statistical power of 0.8 determined that ≥ 12 participants would be required to reject the null hypothesis (G*Power 3.0.10, Heinrich Hein Universitat, Dusseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany). This chapter was registered at clinicaltrials.gov online, a resource provided by the U.S. National Library of medicine. Identifier: NCT04122209; Does the timing of when High Intensity Intermittent exercise is undertaken matter?

Males (<i>n</i> =12)		
Age, (y)	26 ± 6	
Height, (m)	1.82 ± 0.04	
Weight, (Kg)	81.8 ± 12.8	
BMI, (kg/m²)	24.6 ± 4	
Body fat, (%)	20.4 ± 6.7	
Systolic BP, (mmHg)	134 ± 8	
Diastolic BP, (mmHg)	75 ± 11	
[.] VO _{2peak} , (ml/kg/min)	48 ± 10	
Continuous, (W)	116 ± 20	
HIIE, (W)	295 ± 28	
ETEE, (KCal)	628 ± 35	
1 37-1	י ח י	

Table 16: S-4, Baseline Subject Characteristics¹

¹ Values are means \pm SDs

ETEE; Estimated trial energy expenditure

7.2.2. Experimental Trials

Participants reported to the laboratory on two occasions to complete each ~8 h (0-450min) trial. Experimental trials commenced between 0700 and 0800 following an overnight fast from 22:00, except for plain water consumption. In addition to the pre-trial familiarisation outlined in general methods, each participant was also required to standardise their diet and physical activity before each trial (see section 3.7. Pre-trial Standardisation).

Upon arrival at the laboratory, participants were asked to completely empty their bladder before pre-trial body mass was obtained. A heart rate monitor (Polar H10, Kemple, Finland) was then strapped around each participant's chest so heart rate (HR) could be observed during exercise periods. Participants then rested for 15 min in a semi-supine position whilst a cannula was inserted into the antecubital vein to enable baseline (0 min) venous blood samples to be collected. Following this, VAS appetite and wellbeing questionnaires were completed prior to expired gas samples being collected for 15 min in a semi-supine position on a bed using a breath-by-breath gas analyser (Metalyzer 3b, Cortex, Leipzig, Germany). All expired gas samples during this study were collected during rest (0, 30, 135, 195, 255, 285, 390 and 450 min). The procedures for these baseline measurements are outlined in general methods.

Participants then completed a 30-min intermittent cycle (INT-AM) at peak power output (PPO) consisting of 10×1 min exercise bouts interspersed by a 2 min rest period or a 30 min continuous cycle (INT-PM) at 50% VO_{2peak}, from 0-30 min. In the afternoon, participants completed the second 30 min exercise bout in the opposite mode, INT-AM continuous exercise or INT-PM intermittent exercise from 255-285 min. Details of exercise intensity are documented in general methods. HRs were recorded every 5 min during the continuous exercise morning bout (0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 min) and afternoon bout (255, 260, 265, 270, 275, 280 and 285 min); and RPE (Borg, 1973) was recorded every 10 min during the morning bout (0, 10, 20 and 30 min) and afternoon bout (255, 265, 275 and 285 min). HR was also collected during intermittent exercise at the end of each 1 min interval during the morning at (0, 1, 4, 7, 10, 13, 16, 19, 22, 25 and 28 min) and afternoon (255, 256, 259, 262, 265, 268, 271, 274, 277, 280 and 283 min). RPE was recorded at regular intervals during intermittent exercise in the morning (0, 4, 10, 16, 22 and 28 min) and afternoon (255, 259, 265, 271, 277 and 283 min). HR and RPE data are reported as; individual points during exercise period (Figure 64) and average heart rate across the total completed 60 min exercise period (Table 17).

At 30 min (post-exercise) participants removed themselves from the cycle ergometer and laid in a semi-supine position for 15 min to collect expired gas sample. A further blood sample, appetite VAS and wellbeing questionnaires were collected during this rest period. At 60 min (pre-breakfast) a further blood sample and appetite VAS were collected before participants were provided with a standardised breakfast meal (see section 3.6. Meal Details) in which they had 15 min to consume the meal and instructed to consume it as quickly as they were able. Time taken to eat the breakfast meal was recorded. Participants then entered their first rest period, in which they rested in the laboratory for 3-h (75-255 minutes). During this period, participants were free to work, read or watch DVDs; expired air samples, appetite VAS and blood samples were collected every 60-min (135, 195 and 255 min) and a wellbeing questionnaire at 255 min. Furthermore, during the first recovery phase, each

participant was provided with a standardised amount of water (125ml) every 15-min from (135-180 min) resulting in a total of 500 ml being consumed.

At 255-min the start of the second exercise period, participants completed the exercise mode that they did not undertake within the morning exercise period for the remaining 30 min exercise period (255-285 min). At the end of the second exercise period (285 min) participants removed themselves from the cycle ergometer and laid in a semi-supine position for 15 min to collect expired gas sample, blood, appetite VAS and wellbeing questionnaire. Following these post exercise measurements participants were given 15 min to shower and change their clothes, before a further blood sample, appetite VAS and baseline gastric emptying sample were collected at 315 min (pre-lunch). Participants were then provided with meal two (Lunch), a bowl of Heinz vegetable soup (see section 3.6. Meal Details). Each participant was given a maximum of 15 minutes to consume the standardised meal and instructed to consume it as quickly as they were able. Time taken to eat this meal was recorded.

Participants remained in a semi-supine position throughout the remaining 2h sampling procedure (second recovery period) 330-450 min. Gastric emptying samples were obtained pre-meal ingestion (315 min) and every 15 min post-meal (345, 360, 375, 390, 405, 420, 435 and 450 min). Additional expired air samples, VAS and blood samples were collected at 60-min intervals (390 and 450 min) and wellbeing questionnaires were collected at 450 min. Following the collection of the final samples, participants were provided with a 500 ml bottle of water and were free to leave the laboratory at 465 min and start their post-trial 24 h weighed dietary intake, and final wellbeing questionnaire, which was to be completed 24-h after the final blood sample had been withdrawn. The measurements within this study are described in general methods. A schematic diagram of the experimental protocol is presented in (Figure 62).

7.2.3. Exercise Intensity

Exercise intensity was calculated in a similar manner as described within Chapter 4. Workload was then calculated using the liner trend line equation to evoke a work rate equivalent to 50% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (Moderate intensity) for the continuous section and for the intermittent section intensity was set at ~100% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$ (Very high intensity) and peak power output (PPO) were calculated. Each result was then

calculated, with account taken for ramp exercise exchange, which resulted in twothirds of the ramp rate being deducted from the calculated work rate (Whipp et al., 1981).

7.2.4. Biochemical Analysis

Blood sample analysis is described in general methods. Gut hormone analysis was performed on 180 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 9%, 17%, 8%, 8% and 11% respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across seven different assays for active ghrelin, GLP-1, insulin, PP and PYY were 9.6%, 7.8%, 9%, 9.6 and 15.8% respectively.

Metabolite analysis was performed on 240 duplicate samples. Corresponding intra-assay CVs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA were 1%, 1.2%, 1.2% and 4.3% respectively. Inter-assay CVs were determined from concentrations across six verification runs for glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol and NEFA were 5.4%, 5.2%, 3.9% and 6.5% respectively.

7.2.5. Statistical Analysis

All data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated. Data was tested for normality of distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Differences in standardisation measurements, pre-trial body mass, time to consume breakfast and lunch, weight of soup consumed, pre and post-EI, proportion of macronutrient, average HR, gastric emptying T_{lag}, T_{1/2}, and all AUC results were analysed using paired student's t-Test. Two-way repeated ANOVA were used to examine differences in; HR, RPE, carbohydrate and fat oxidation, gastric emptying DOB and cumulative dose %¹³CO₂ values, gut hormones concentrations, metabolites concentrations, appetite VAS scores and wellbeing. Sphericity for repeated measures was assessed and Greenhouse-Geisser epsilon < 0.75 and the Huynh-Feldt correction adopted for less severe differences to correct for violations. Significant main effects were followed by paired student's t-Test or one-way repeated ANOVA with Bonferroni adjusted pairwise comparisons as appropriate. Effect size was documented as partial eta squared (η^2_p) or Cohen's (d) and 95% confidence intervals (CI), see section (3.19.2. Post-Statistics Effect Size).



Time in minutes (Basic time points)

Figure 62: Schematic diagram of the experimental trial protocol S-4. Green rectangle represents 30 min continuous exercise bout. Red lined rectangle represents 30 min intermittent exercise bout. Black dotted rectangle represents 15 min breakfast period. Yellow lined rectangle represents 15 min standardised semi-solid meal period. HR, heart rate. RPE, rating of perceived exertion. Appetite, visual analogy scale questionnaire. Expired Air, (Substrate Utilisation). Morning INT, (INT-AM). Afternoon INT, (INT-PM)

7.3 Results

7.3.1. Standardisation Measurements

Pre-trial body mass was not significantly different between INT-AM compared to INT-PM (P = 0.448, $\eta^2 p = 0.053$). Average HR over the total 60-min exercise period was not significantly different between INT-AM compared to INT-PM (P = 0.533, $\eta^2 p = 0.036$). Furthermore, there were no differences between time to consume breakfast (P = 0.835, $\eta^2 p = 0.004$) nor lunch (P = 0.586, $\eta^2 p = 0.028$) and no difference between the weight of soup consumed (P = 0.350, $\eta^2 p = 0.080$; Table 17).

Table 17: S4, Standardisation Measurements During Laboratory Visit

	INT-AM	INT-PM	<i>P</i> =value		
Pre-Trial Measurements					
Body Mass (Kg)	81.7 ± 12.6	81.8 ± 12.7	0.448		
Exercise Measurement					
Average HR (60-min)	143 ± 11	142 ± 12	0.533		
Breakfast Measurements					
Time to eat breakfast (s)	445 ± 118	452 ± 109	0.835		
Lunch Measurements					
Weight of soup consumed (g)	782 ± 9	778 ± 9	0.350		
Time to eat soup (s)	441 ± 136	456 ± 155	0.586		

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant *P*<0.05

7.3.2 Energy and Macronutrients Intake

Pre-trial energy intake was not significantly different between INT-AM compared to INT-PM respectively (2921 ± 571 Kcal vs 2888 ± 620 Kcal, *P* =0.357, $\eta^2 p = 0.078$, Figure 63A). This led to a similar proportion of energy from carbohydrates (P = 0.625, $\eta^2 p$ =0.022), fats (P = 0.772, $\eta^2 p$ =0.008), protein (P = 0.841, $\eta^2 p$ =0.004) and fibre (P = 0.910, $\eta^2 p$ =0.001). In addition, fluid consumption before was also not significantly different between trials (*P* = 0.848, $\eta^2 p$ =0.003, Table 18).

24-hour post-trial energy intake revealed that INT-PM was significantly higher compared to INT-AM (3511 ± 879 vs 2829 ± 614 Kcal: P = 0.007, d = 0.94, 95% CI = -496.39–348.34 KCal, Figure 63B). Individual data indicated 9 out of 12 participants had a higher energy intake 24-h after the INT-PM trial compared to the INT-AM. This led to a different proportion of macronutrients in the 24-h after the trial. There was no difference between; Fat (P = 0.140, $\eta^2_{P}=0.187$), protein (P = 0.163, $\eta^2_{P}=0.169$), fibre (P = 0.061, $\eta^2_{P}=0.284$) and water (P = 0.577, $\eta^2_{P}=0.029$). However, participants did consume considerably more carbohydrate 24-h after completing INT-PM trial compared to INT-AM (P = 0.018, d = 1.10, 95% CI = -142.04–243.26, Table 18)

Macronutrients	INT-AM	INT-PM	<i>P</i> =value		
Pre-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)					
Carbohydrate	1313 ± 385	1290 ± 409	0.625		
Protein	502 ± 231	508 ± 217	0.841		
Fat	1048 ± 336	1030 ± 361	0.772		
Fibre	58 ± 40	59 ± 33	0.910		
Water (g)	2251 ± 1667	2216 ± 1428	0.848		
Post-Trial Macronutrients (KCal)					
Carbohydrate	1227 ± 428	$*1593 \pm 464$	0.018		
Protein	466 ± 134	553 ± 253	0.163		
Fat	1026 ± 388	1254 ± 557	0.140		
Fibre	81 ± 54	95 ± 50	0.061		
Water (g)	1971 ± 1430	2063 ± 1148	0.577		

 Table 18: Pre and post-trial macronutrient content (KCal) from total energy intake for INT-AM and INT-PM trial.

Data are means \pm SD. Values are significant *P*<0.05

* Indicates INT-PM is significantly larger than INT-AM.



Figure 63: Representative of mean values for pre-energy intake (KCal) (A) and post-energy intake (KCal) (B) with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n=12). Individual data is represented as (Δ) for INT-AM and (\Box) represents INT-PM. There was no main effect observed for pre-energy intake (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. However, there was a main effect observed for post-energy intake (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA.

7.3.3. RPE and Heart Rate

A main effect for time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.866$) and trial x time interaction (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.878$) was observed. However, there was no effect of trial (p = 0.867, $\eta^2 p = 0.003$) on RPE. Post-hoc test revealed no differences between intermittent exercise bouts, as a main trial (p = 0.408, $\eta^2 p = 0.063$) and trial x time interaction effect (p = 0.203, $\eta^2 p = 0.123$). However, there was an effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.933$).

Furthermore, continuous exercise bouts did show a main trial (p = 0.034, $\eta^2 p = 0.348$) and time effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.866$). However, there was no trial x time interaction effect (p = 0.427, $\eta^2 p = 0.076$) observed. Further post hoc tests revealed no between-trial differences.

There were no differences found within the first exercise period regardless of exercise mode as a main trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.919$) and time effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.728$) was observed, but no trial x time interaction effect (p = 0.461, $\eta^2 p = 0.061$). Further post-hoc tests revealed no between-trial differences. This result was mimicked for the second exercise period as a main trial (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.702$) and time effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.702$) and time effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.727$) was observed, but no effect for trial x time interaction effect (p = 0.051, $\eta^2 p = 0.273$, Figure 64). Further post-hoc tests revealed no between-trial differences.

A main effect for time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.945$) and trial x time interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.951$) was observed for heart rate. However, there was no effect of trial (p = 0.389, $\eta^2 p = 0.068$). Post-hoc test revealed there were no significant differences at baseline (0 min) for INT-AM vs INT-PM (65 ± 9 vs. 68 ± 12 BPM: P=0.383, d = 0.30, 95% CI = -6.49–5.39). There was however an effect observed presecond exercise bout (255 min) (79 ± 9 vs. 66 ± 8 BPM: P < 0.001, d = 1.08, 95% CI = -4.01–7.87).

There were no differences between the first (0 min- 30 min) and second exercise bouts (255 min- 285 min) for intermittent exercise, as a main trial (p =0.419, $\eta^2 p = 0.060$) and trial x time interaction effect (p =0.333, $\eta^2 p = 0.095$). However, there was a main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.975$). Although, there was an effect found between the first and second exercise bouts for continuous exercise, as there was a main trial (p =0.015, $\eta^2 p = 0.427$), time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.952$) and trial x time interaction effect (p =0.017, $\eta^2 p = 0.202$) observed. Further analysis revealed INT-AM was significantly higher than INT-PM at 280 min (126 ± 13 vs. 118 ± 10 BPM: P < 0.002, d = 0.72, 95% CI = -6.63–6.38) and 285 min (128 ± 13 vs. 121 ± 11 BPM: P < 0.007, d = 0.61, 95% CI = -6.75–6.83).

There were differences found within the first and second exercise periods regardless of exercise mode between INT-AM vs INT-PM. A main effect for trial (*p*

<0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.889$; *p* <0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.921$), time (*p* <0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.980$; *p* <0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.964$) and trial x time interaction effect (*p* <0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.909$; *p* <0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.879$) was observed respectively. Post-hoc tests revealed all points between 1 min – 30 min (p<0.001) and 256 min – 285 min (p<0.001; Figure 64) were highly significant.



Figure 64: Representative of mean RPE (A) and HR (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs. (n = 12). There was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for HR and RPE during exercise. However, no trial effect observed for HR nor RPE (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. † Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM were significantly high at each time point (p < 0.001). * Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM was significantly different (p < 0.05). Post-hoc tests were, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test*. RPE; rate of perceived exertion. HR, heart rate; bpm, beats per minute.

7.3.4. Gastric Emptying

There was no main trial (P = 0.208, $\eta^2_p = 0.140$) nor main interaction effect (P = 0.068, $\eta^2_p = 0.184$) observed for DOB. However, there was a main effect of time (P <0.001, $\eta^2_p = 0.956$). Post-hoc test revelled both trials increased at every time point from baseline (P<0.001, Figure 66B).

There was no main effect observed for DOB AUC (p = 0.202, $\eta^2 p = 0.143$, Figure 66A). No main trial (P = 0.117, $\eta^2 {}_p = 0.208$) nor main interaction effect (P = 0.084, $\eta^2 {}_p = 0.234$) observed for percent ¹³C0₂. However, there was a main effect of time (P < 0.001, $\eta^2 {}_p = 0.992$, Figure 67).

The time taken to empty half of the soup from the stomach (T_{half}) amounted to 151 ± 111 min and 99 ± 24 min for INT-AM vs INT-PM respectively (P = 0.171, η^2 _p=0.163). The time of maximal emptying rate (T_{lag}) amounted to 62 ± 11 min and 57 ± 8 min for INT-AM vs INT-PM, respectively (P = 0.139, η^2 _p=0.188; Figure 65)



Figure 65: Representative of mean T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). Individual data is represented as (Δ) for INT-AM and (\Box) represents INT-PM. There was no main effect observed for T_{lag} and $T_{1/2}$ (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. T_{lag} , Time of maximal emptying rate; $T_{1/2}$, Half emptying time.



Figure 66: Representative of mean DOB AUC (0-120 min⁻¹) (A) and DOB response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). There was no main effect observed for DOB AUC (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main effect for trial nor interaction (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time observed for DOB (p <0.05), examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. DOB, delta over baseline; AUC, area under curve.



Figure 67: Representative of mean cumulative dose of % $^{13}CO_2$, with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12) There was no main effect for trial, nor main interaction effect observed (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (p <0.05), examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA.

7.3.5. Appetite

7.3.5.1 Hunger

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.447$) and main interaction effect ($p = (0.001, \eta^2 p = 0.356)$) was observed for hunger. However, there was no trial effect (p = 0.103; $\eta^2 p = 0.224$; Figure 68B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-PM was significantly increased post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-AM (72 ± 20 vs. 39 ± 22 mm: p = 0.002, d = 1.64, 95% CI = -9.68-14.09 mm). Moreover, hunger remained increased during INT-PM pre-breakfast (60 min), despite hunger beginning to rise during INT-AM (79 ± 25 vs. 51 ± 26 mm: p = 0.016, d = 1.15, 95% CI = -13.56-15.29 mm). Both trials decreased in hunger after food ingestion (breakfast) before gradually rising throughout recovery. Post second exercise bout (285 min), INT-PM decreased, before both trials followed the same pattern, until the end of the trial at 450 min showing no further significance. No differences in AUC were observed (p = 0.118, $\eta^2 p = 0.207$; Figure 68A)

7.3.5.2. Fullness

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.581$) and interaction effect (p = 0.016, $\eta^2 p = 0.180$) was observed for fullness. However, there was no trial effect for fullness (p = 0.926, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$, Figure 69B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-AM was significantly higher pre-breakfast (60 min) compared to INT-PM (27 ± 19 vs. 7 ± 7 mm: p = 0.007, d = 1.46, 95% CI = -9.29–5.42 mm). Fullness remained relatively stable in both trials until post second exercise bout (285 min) and pre-lunch (315 min) were INT-PM increased compared to INT-AM, although these results were not significant. There was no main effect observed for AUC (p = 0.926, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$; Figure 69A).

7.3.5.3. PFC

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.494$) and interaction effect (p = 0.023, $\eta^2 p = 0.216$) was observed for PFC. However, there was no trial effect (p = 0.500, $\eta^2 p = 0.042$, Figure 70B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-PM was significantly higher prebreakfast (60 min) compared to INT-AM (87 ± 12 vs. 62 ± 24 mm: p = 0.012, d = 1.38, 95% CI = -5.41-14.96 mm). PFC remained relatively stable in both trials until post second exercise bout (285 min) where INT-PM was lower compared to INT-AM, although these results were not significant. There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.498, $\eta^2 p = 0.043$; Figure 70A).

7.3.5.4. Satisfaction

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.574$) and interaction effect (p = 0.040, $\eta^2 p = 0.200$) was observed for satisfaction. However, there was no trial effect (p = 0.102, $\eta^2 p = 0.0224$, Figure 71B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-AM was significantly higher post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-PM (30 ± 17 vs. 20 ± 13 mm: p = 0.006, d = 0.69, 95% CI = -8.93-8.05 mm). Moreover, satisfaction remained increased during INT-AM pre-breakfast (60 min) as INT-PM rapidly decreased (29 ± 19 vs. 8 ± 6 mm: p = 0.003, d = 1.53, 95% CI = -9.22-5.49 mm). Satisfaction remained relatively stable in both trials until post second exercise bout (285 min) where INT-PM was higher compared to INT-AM, although these results were not significant. There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.181, $\eta^2 p = 0.156$; Figure 71A).

7.3.5.5. Bloat

There was no main effect of time (p = 0.056, $\eta^2 p = 0.216$), trial (p = 0.793, $\eta^2 p = 0.007$) nor main interaction effect observed for bloat (p = 0.681, $\eta^2 p = 0.046$, Figure 72B). There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.757, $\eta^2 p = 0.009$; Figure 72A).

7.3.5.6. Nausea

There was a main effect of time (p = 0.042, $\eta^2 p = 0.252$), trial (p = 0.033, $\eta^2 p = 0.352$) and main interaction effect observed for nausea (p = 0.005, $\eta^2 p = 0.302$, Figure 73B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-AM was significantly higher post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-PM (19 ± 16 vs. 6 ± 6 mm: p = 0.003, d = 2.26, 95% CI = -1.13-5.66 mm). Both trials then remained relatively similar until 450 min showing no further differences for nausea. There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.123, $\eta^2 p = 0.203$; Figure 73A).



Figure 68: Representive of mean hunger AUC (0-450 min) (A) and hunger VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for hunger AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for hunger (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 69: Representive of mean fullness AUC (0-450 min) (A) and fullness VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for fullness AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for fullness (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (<0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.

Α



Figure 70: Representive of mean PFC AUC (0-450 min) (A) and PFC VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for PFC AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for PFC (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve; PFC, prospective food consumption.



Figure 71: Representive of mean satisfaction AUC (0-450 min) (A) and satisfaction VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for satisfaction AUC. (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for satisfaction (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 72: Representive of mean bloat AUC (0-450 min) (A) and bloat VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for bloat AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for bloat (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve



Figure 73: Representive of mean nausea AUC (0-450 min) (A) and nausea VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for nausea AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main trial, time and interaction effect observed for nausea (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.

7.3.6. Blood Metabolites

7.3.6.1. Glucose

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.431$) and a main interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.406$) was observed for glucose. However, no main trial effect was observed (p = 0.067, $\eta^2 p = 0.273$, Figure 74B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-AM was significantly increased post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-PM (5.07 ± 0.43 vs. 4.70 ± 0.25 mmol.L: p = 0.017, d = 1.10, 95% CI = 0.86–1.24 mmol.L). INT-PM then remained marginally elevated post breakfast until 1h post lunch (390 min) where INT-AM was significantly elevated compared to INT-PM (6.27 ± 0.91 vs. 5.22 ± 0.69 mmol.L: p = 0.001, d = 1.36, 95% CI = 0.84–1.75 mmol.L) and remained higher at 450 min (5.09 ± 0.5 vs. 4.51 ± 0.36 mmol.L: p = 0.004, d = 1.39, 95% CI = 1.11–1.59 mmol.L). No differences in AUC were observed (p = 0.093, $\eta^2 p = 0.235$; Figure 74A)

7.3.6.2. Cholesterol

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.858$) and a main interaction effect (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.512$) was observed for cholesterol. However, no main trial effect was observed (p = 0.423, $\eta^2 p = 0.059$, Figure 75B). Cholesterol responded similarly across the duration of the whole study in both INT-AM and INT-PM trials, as post-hoc tests revealed no further significance (p >0.05). There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.386, $\eta^2 p = 0.069$, Figure 75A).

7.3.6.3. Triglycerides

A main effect of time (p = 0.006, $\eta^2 p = 0.405$) was observed for triglycerides. However, no main trial (p = 0.220, $\eta^2 p = 0.133$) nor main interaction effect (p = 0.082, $\eta^2 p = 0.221$, Figure 76) was observed. There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.210, $\eta^2 p = 0.139$, Figure 76A).

7.3.6.4. NEFA

There was a main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.624$), trial (p = 0.029, $\eta^2 p = 0.366$) and main interaction effect observed for NEFA (p = 0.005, $\eta^2 p = 0.433$, Figure 77B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-PM was significantly increased post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-AM (0.490 ± 0.328 vs. 0.240 ± 0.070 mmol.L: p =

0.020, d = 1.10, 95% CI = 0.91–1.14 mmol.L) and pre breakfast (60 min) (0.495 \pm 0.329 vs. 0.235 \pm 0.077 mmol.L: *p* = 0.018, d = 1.14, 95% CI = 0.95–1.18 mmol.L). NEFA remained elevated during the first recovery period; 1h post breakfast (135 min) (0.495 \pm 0.328 vs. 0.240 \pm 0.075 mmol.L: *p* = 0.018, d = 1.12, 95% CI = 0.93–1.16 mmol.L), 2h post breakfast (195 min) (0.462 \pm 0.240 vs. 0.265 \pm 0.095 mmol.L: *p* = 0.012, d = 1.13, 95% CI = 0.99–1.18 mmol.L) and 3h post breakfast (255 min) (0.441 \pm 0.240 vs. 0.255 \pm 0.098 mmol.L: *p* = 0.018, d = 1.06, 95% CI = 0.92–1.12 mmol.L). Moreover, NEFA remained increased during INT-PM compared to INT-AM post second exercise bout (285 min) (0.453 \pm 0.240 vs. 0.262 \pm 0.098 mmol.L: *p* = 0.01, d = 1.09, 95% CI = 0.95–1.14 mmol.L). There was no further significance pre-lunch (315 min) until the end of the trial at 450 min.

There was a main effect for NEFA AUC as INT-PM was significantly increased compared to INT-AM (159 \pm 81 vs. 94 \pm 29 mmol.L⁻¹. 450 min⁻¹: p = 0.022, d = 1.12, 95% CI = -44.71-17.52 mmol.L⁻¹. 450 min⁻¹, Figure 77A).



Figure 74: Representive of mean glucose AUC (0-450 min) (A) and glucose VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for glucose AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for glucose (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 75: Representive of mean cholesterol AUC (0-450 min) (A) and cholesterol VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for cholesterol AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for cholesterol (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. Post-hoc tests revealed no further significance between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p >0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 76:Representive of mean triglyceride AUC (0-450 min) (A) and triglyceride VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for triglyceride AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor interaction effect observed for triglyceride (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. Post-hoc tests revealed no further significance between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p >0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 77: Representive of mean NEFA AUC (0-450 min) (A) and NEFA VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was a main effect observed for NEFA AUC (p <0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was a main effect for trial, time and a main interaction effect observed for NEFA (p <0.05). examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. *, # Indicates posthoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired t-test (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acid.

7.3.7. Gut Hormones

7.3.7.1. Active ghrelin

A main effect of time (p = 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.018$) and a main interaction effect (p = 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.379$) was observed for active ghrelin. However, no main trial effect was observed (p = 0.665, $\eta^2 p = 0.018$, Figure 78B). Post-hoc tests revealed INT-PM was significantly increased pre breakfast (60 min) compared to INT-AM (435 ± 236 vs. 267 ± 211 pg.mL: p = 0.001, d = 0.80, 95% CI = -132.73–120.18 pg.mL). Active ghrelin then decreased post breakfast, before beginning to rise in both throughout the first recovery phase. Post second exercise bout (285 min) INT-PM significantly decreased compared to INT-AM (267 ± 167 vs. 585 ± 419 pg.mL: p = 0.003, d =1.04, 95% CI = -236.03–95.53 pg.mL) and remained lower pre-lunch (315 min) (361 ± 223 vs. 519 ± 357 pg.mL: p = 0.022, d = 0.55, 95% CI = -201.43–126.73 pg.mL). There was no further significance post lunch until the end of the trial at 450 min. Furthermore, no main effect for AUC (p = 0.773, $\eta^2 p = 0.008$, Figure 78A).

7.3.7.2. GLP-1

A main effect of time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.458$) was observed for GLP-1. However, no main trial (p = 0.973, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$) nor main interaction effect (p = 0.442, $\eta^2 p = 0.112$, Figure 79) was observed. Despite there being no further differences, GLP-1 did spike 1h after breakfast (135 min) and lunch (390 min). There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.934, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$, Figure 79A).

7.3.7.3. PYY

There was no main effect of time (p = 0.510, $\eta^2 p = 0.083$), trial (p = 0.731, $\eta^2 p = 0.014$) nor main interaction effect observed for PYY (p = 0.313, $\eta^2 p = 0.121$,Figure 80B). Despite there being no significant difference, PYY was marginally elevated during INT-PM pre-breakfast (60 min) PYY then responded similarly across the remainder of the whole study in both INT-AM and INT-PM. There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.546, $\eta^2 p = 0.042$; Figure 80A).

7.3.7.4. PP

A main effect of time (p = 0.004, $\eta^2 p = 0.500$) was observed for PP. However, no main trial (p = 0.951, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$) nor main interaction effect (p = 0.343, $\eta^2 p = 0.101$,

Figure 81) was observed. Despite there being no further differences, PP did spike in both INT-AM and INT-PM 1h after breakfast (135 min) and lunch (390 min) showing similar responses (p >0.05). There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.914, $\eta^2 p = 0.001$, Figure 81A).

7.3.7.5. Insulin

There was no main effect of time (p = 0.218, $\eta^2 p = 0.128$), trial (p = 0.434, $\eta^2 p = 0.057$) nor main interaction effect observed for insulin (p = 0.755, $\eta^2 p = 0.028$, Figure 82B). Despite there being no further differences, insulin did show marginal increases in both INT-AM and INT-PM 1h after breakfast (135 min) and lunch (390 min) showing similar non-significant responses (p >0.05). There was no main effect for AUC (p = 0.438, $\eta^2 p = 0.056$; Figure 82A).



Figure 78: Representive of mean active ghrelin AUC (0-450 min) (A) and active ghrelin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for active ghrelin AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial effect observed for active ghrelin (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates post-hoc tests were significantly different between INT-AM vs INT-PM, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p <0.05). AUC, area under curve.



Figure 79: Representive of mean GLP-1 AUC (0-450 min) (A) and GLP-1 VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 9). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for GLP-1 AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor main interaction effect observed for GLP-1 (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (p <0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; GLP-1, glucagon-like peptide-1.



Figure 80: Representive of mean PYY AUC (0-450 min) (A) and PYY VAS response (B), with vertical error bars display SDs (n = 10). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for PYY AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for PYY (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PYY, peptide-YY.


Figure 81: Representive of mean PP AUC (0-450 min) (A) and PP VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for PP AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial nor main interaction effect observed for PP (p >0.05). However, there was a main effect for time (P<0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; PP, pancreatic polypeptide.



Figure 82: Representive of mean insulin AUC (0-450 min) (A) and insulin VAS response (B), with vertical error bars displaying SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main effect observed for insulin AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. There was no main trial, time nor main interaction effect observed for insulin (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve.

7.3.8. Substrate Utilisation

7.3.8.1. Carbohydrate Oxidation

Carbohydrate oxidation AUC was lower for INT-AM compared to INT-PM. Although, this result was not significantly different (128 ± 43 vs 138 ± 37 g/min⁻¹ 450 min⁻¹, P = 0.425, $\eta^2 p = 0.059$, Figure 83)

Α

There was a main effect of time (P = 0.003, $\eta^2 p = 0.240$) and main interaction effect (P = 0.017, $\eta^2 p = 0.194$), but no main trial effect (P = 0.460, $\eta^2 p = 0.051$) for carbohydrate oxidation. Post-hoc tests revealed INT-PM was significantly higher post first exercise bout (30-min) compared to INT-AM (0.355 ± 0.09 vs 0.261 ± 0.12 g/min: P = 0.045, d = 0.93, 95% CI = 0.87–0.99 g/min, Figure 84A).

7.3.8.2. Fat Oxidation

Fat oxidation AUC was lower for INT-PM compared to INT-AM. Although, this result was not significantly different (33 ± 8 vs 37 ± 12 g/min⁻¹ ·450 min⁻¹, P = 0.454, $\eta^2 p = 0.052$, Figure 83).

There was a main effect of time (P = 0.018, $\eta^2 p = 0.234$) and main interaction effect (P < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.586$), but no main trial effect (P = 0.465, $\eta^2 p = 0.049$) for fat oxidation. Post-hoc tests revealed INT-AM was significantly higher post first exercise bout (30-min) compared to INT-PM (0.119 ± 0.048 vs 0.040 ± 0.037 g/min: P < 0.001, d = 1.93, 95% CI = 1.90–1.95 g/min). Post second exercise (285 min), fat oxidation was significantly higher during INT-PM compared to INT-AM (0.119 ± 0.048 vs 0.073 ± 0.042 g/min: P = 0.023, d = 1.07, 95% CI = 1.04–1.09 g/min). One-hour post lunch (390 min) fat oxidation reduced in both INT-AM and INT-PM however, INT-PM remained significantly increased compared to INT-AM (0.087 ± 0.030 vs $0.054 \pm$ 0.027 g/min: P = 0.004, d = 1.21, 95% CI = 1.19–1.22 g/min, Figure 84B).



Figure 83: Representative of mean fat and carbohydrate oxidation AUC (0-450 min⁻¹), where vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was no main effect observed for fat and carbohydrate oxidation AUC (p >0.05) examined by a one-way repeated-measured ANOVA. AUC, area under curve; CHO, carbohydrate.



Figure 84: Representative of mean carbohydrate oxidation (g/min) (A) and fat oxidation (g/min) (B), where vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). *Chequered black and white rectangle* indicates first 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed purple rectangle* indicates breakfast meal. *Chequered blue and white rectangle* indicates second 30-min exercise bout; *Hashed yellow rectangle* indicates ingestion of semi-solid lunch meal. There was no main trial effect for fat and carbohydrate oxidation (p > 0.05). Although, there was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p < 0.05) for both fat and carbohydrate oxidation, examined by a three-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM was significantly different determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p < 0.05).

Α

7.3.9. Wellbeing

A main effect for time (p < 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.384$) and trial x time interaction effect (p = 0.001, $\eta^2 p = 0.393$) was observed. However, there was no effect for trial (p = 0.324, $\eta^2 p = 0.088$) for wellbeing. Post-hoc test revealed INT-AM was significantly higher post first exercise bout (30 min) compared to INT-PM (14 ± 2 vs. 12 ± 2 total: P = 0.018, d = 1.04, 95% CI = -0.09–2.18). Furthermore, INT-PM was significantly higher post second exercise bout (285 min) (14 ± 2 vs. 12 ± 3 total: P = 0.013, d =0.82, 95% CI = -0.31–2.52) and 24 h post trial (13 ± 3 vs. 11 ± 2 total: P = 0.043, d =0.82, 95% CI = -0.88–1.95, Figure 85).





Figure 85: Representative of mean for wellbeing, where vertical error bars display SDs (n = 12). There was a main effect for time and a main interaction effect (p <0.05) for wellbeing. However, no trial effect (p >0.05) examined by a two-way repeated-measured ANOVA. * Indicates INT-AM vs INT-PM were significantly different, determined by Bonferroni adjusted paired *t-test* (p < 0.05).

7.4 Discussion

The primary aim of the current study was to investigate whether mixing the modality of exercise (continuous and intermittent), by switching when intermittent exercise is performed, using a twice-a-day exercise approach, might influence GER, GI hormonal, metabolic response, feelings of wellbeing and EI in the subsequent 24 h following acute bouts of exercise. The main findings were that mixing modality did not cause an elevation in fat nor carbohydrate utilisation. Nevertheless, fat oxidation did peak after both high intensity, intermittent exercise (HIIE), regardless of whether the participants were fed or fasted. Furthermore, the timing of the exercise mode did not cause any compensatory changes in GER. A ~35% decrease in perception of hunger resulted in a ~31% decrease in peripheral acylated ghrelin, and a ~7% increase in circulating glucose immediately after completing HIIE in the morning (30 min). Regardless, that the afternoon values were not significant for hunger and glucose, the results were mimicked, as a ~54% decrease in acylated ghrelin was found immediately after HIIE (285 min), despite participants not being in a fasted state. Moreover, overall wellbeing scores were ~15% higher 24-h post-trial after completing HIIE in the afternoon, which might account for the ~19% increase in EI after INT-PM. These results suggest that the order in which continuous and intermittent exercise are performed does not affect GER of a semi-solid meal nor overall substrate utilisation, and only minor differences in metabolic and hormonal responses can be observed within the same day. Consequently, there might be some differences in the days following mixed exercise bouts, if intermittent exercise is conducted in the second exercise bout during a multiple exercise day, as shown by increases in feeling of wellbeing and EI. Whether these findings extend to different populations is currently unknown, as within the current study healthy men were investigated.

To date, this is the only study to have examined GER of a semi-solid meal after mixing the modality of exercise (continuous and intermittent). Within the current study GER was unaffected by the order of modality. This is not uncommon, as Evans et al, (2016) revealed exercising at 30% (Low) and 100% PPO (High) for 1 min followed by 2 min rest did not result in compensation in postprandial GER. In addition, chapter 4, Mattin et al, (2018a) utilised cycling and McIver et al, (2018) explored walking as a mode of exercise; both studies maintain that GER was unaffected in the

postprandial period after exercise. Conversely, within Chapter 6, GER of a semi-solid meal was accelerated after a twice-a-day (SPLIT) continuous to continuous exercise schedule, compared to a one off (SINGLE) bout of continuous exercise. It is important to consider why GER was accelerated within Chapter 6, and not within the current study (Chapter 7), despite similar study designs. It must be acknowledged there were two noticeable differences; the exercise modality, and secondly the calorific amounts that were provided to participants within the meal periods. Within Chapter 6, resting energy expenditure (REE) and physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) were calculated to estimate trial energy expenditure (ETEE), which was provided to participants through two meal periods. Although, a number of studies have used total daily energy expenditure (TDEE) to quantify how the human body responds physiologically to nutritional intake after exercise, when the total energy requirements of exercise are replaced (Stephens et al., 2007, Hagobian et al., 2009), neither investigation examined GER as a primary outcome. It must not be forgotten, if sufficient time is allocated after strenuous exercise, the body's ability to recover and deliver nutrients to the small intestine is maintained, regardless of whether HIIE is performed within the morning or afternoon, when undertaking multiple exercise sessions within the same day. The long-term effects of the stomach and the GI system are trainable, remain a desirable outcome and warrant further investigation, to identify if changes in GER relate to differences in metabolic health within a healthy population.

There is strong evidence to suggest that healthy individuals demonstrate a suppression in appetite immediately after exercise at an intensity >60% \dot{VO}_{2max} (Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, King et al., 2013b). Consistent with the current study, participants reported a ~35% decrease in hunger immediately after 30 min of HIIE (INT-AM), and surprisingly, an increase in hunger immediately after 30 min of continuous exercise during INT-PM (50% \dot{VO}_{2peak}). Nevertheless, this suppression in appetite was prolonged as hunger remained significantly lower 30 min post-exercise (pre-breakfast consumption) during the INT-AM trial, regardless of Deighton and Stensel et al, (2014) stating that appetite values tend to return to control values within 30 min of the cessation of exercise. The suppression in appetite seen within the current study can be strongly connected to the modality of exercise, for example Mattin et al, (2020a) (Chapter 5) discovered a variance in appetite, as hunger

AUC was significantly lower after exercising intermittently rather than performing a continuous mode of exercise. Despite the fact, exercise bouts were matched for power output (60% \dot{VO}_{2peak}). This might potentially suggest that intermittent modes of exercise might acutely affect appetite to a greater extent than continuous exercise. Research has been conducted to further support this statement, as performing exercise at a high intensity (~80% \dot{VO}_{2peak}) in a continuous manner has been found by Holliday and Blannin, (2017c) not to affect appetite immediately after continuous exercise, when comparing the duration of exercise. Reinforcing once again the differences between continuous and intermittent modes of exercise, by further suggesting that intermittent modes of exercise might suppress appetite differently, in the periods after exercise, before the consumption of nutrient dense material.

It must be stated, any change in hunger within the current study was not unique, as further VAS questions; prospective food consumption (PFC) responded similarly by decreasing immediately post-exercise, with fullness and satisfaction significantly increasing during INT-AM post-exercise. Although appetite suppression after an intermittent exercise bout is short lived once food is administered, as shown within the current study, subjective appetite sensations were not significantly different between trials after consuming a standardised breakfast meal. This result is consistent with results from Chapter 6 (Mattin et al., 2020a), as a small breakfast drink ~ 334 ml semiskimmed milk was sufficient to counterbalance the exercise effects on appetite. This suggests, subjective appetite can be offset by a relatively small amount of nutrient dense material after exercise, independent of the changes observed after exercise in a fasted state. Whether the same response would have been seen within the current study if a breakfast drink was consumed, rather than a substantially larger breakfast meal, warrants further investigation. Critically, the larger breakfast meal within the current study resulted in appetite responding similarly for the reminder of the 3h recovery period, before participants commenced in the second exercise bout, although there were no significant differences between trials, it is important to add that appetite trended towards a suppression post-second exercise within the INT-PM trial.

It is important to consider the reasons why EI was elevated by ~19% (681 Kcal) after completing a HIIE bout within the second exercise bout undertaken during the same day (INT-PM). The sole difference between the trials was the order in which

the HIIE bout was performed. Interestingly, an increase in EI has previously been discovered by Mattin et al (2020a) (Chapter 5), which demonstrated an elevated EI by 723 Kcal, 24 h after completing moderate, intense, intermittent exercise. Furthermore, an increase in EI was also discovered within Chapter 6, as exercising twice a day resulted in a 733 KCal increase, compared to a one-off bout. Controversially, the majority of the available literature which has focused on appetite as a major outcome measure has revealed that EI is usually unaffected >20 h after exercise (King et al., 1997, Pomerleau et al., 2004, King et al., 2010a, Hanlon et al., 2012, King et al., 2013a). It is important to consider the reasons why EI has been found to be increased within the research conducted during this thesis. One noticeable difference is the manner in which EI was assessed, as weighed diet recall has potentially high participant variation. Examining EI via a weighed dietary assessment may cause recall bias, and might be one explanation as to why EI was elevated within the current study, although King et al, (1997) and Hanlon et al, (2012) discovered no differences in EI after using a self-reporting measurement of food intake, suggesting their participants could also have been subject to the same reporting bias.

Another theory is the training status of the population recruited, as trained athletes have been shown to experience less inflammation and oxidative stress than untrained individuals, after performing the same bout of exercise (Abbott et al., 2019b). Within the current study the participants were healthy untrained males ($\dot{V}O_{2max} = 48 \pm 10 \text{ ml/kg/min}$; Body Fat 20.4 ± 6.7 %). In contrast, the voluntary demographic of participants used within appetite research has been shown to be vastly different; King et al, (2013a) used endurance trained males ($\dot{V}O_{2max} = 61.5 \pm 4.8 \text{ ml/kg/min}$; body Fat 14.9 ± 3.2 %) and King et al, (2010b) used well trained ($\dot{V}O_{2max} = 56 \pm 1.8 \text{ ml/kg/min}$, Body Fat 19.2 ± 1.2 %). Whether the participants' training state influenced how the body responded to post exercise calorie consumption might be critical for weight management strategies.

One potential mechanism which might explain why post-exercise EI was elevated, is the assessment of subjective wellbeing. It is well established that strenuous exercise can cause damage to the skeletal muscle fibres (Hyldahl and Hubal, 2014). This damage instigates an acute inflammatory response, characterised by the migration of phagocytic immune cells to the affected fibres (Chazaud, 2016). Nevertheless, limited research has focused on changes in post exercise EI, in relation to recovery from exercise, using a healthy untrained population. Subjective wellbeing was documented as an additional measurement during the current study, to better understand if the unanticipated increase in EI, witnessed within Chapter 5 (Mattin et al., 2020a), and Chapter 6, is related to the body's response to recovery after the physical demands of exercise. Participants reported a relatively minor increase in subjective wellbeing immediately after the first exercise period within the HIIE bout (INT-AM), and this was replicated in the second exercise period, once again subjective wellbeing was elevated within the HIIE bout (INT-PM). Suggesting regardless of the fact that participants performed a HIIE bout within the morning (fasted), or during the afternoon (not fasted), indicating participants may have been in a different metabolic state. Surprisingly, wellbeing was increased 24 h after the INT-PM trial. The mechanisms for the difference in wellbeing score after the INT-PM trial is not welldefined, but might imply a valid reason why EI was similarly increased after INT-PM. Therefore, proposing a low intensity continuous exercise bout (~50% VO_{2peak}) might be a more effective recovery aid, if performed 3 h after a HIIE bout, rather than before.

Hulston et al, (2010) discovered well-trained cyclists who had reduced muscle glycogen before exercise had enhanced fat metabolism. Morton et al, (2009) suggested this might be related to improved training induced adaptation by markers of oxidative enzyme activity in healthy trained participants. Interestingly, Abbott et al, (2019a) investigated whether supplementing professional football players with tart cherry juice post-match aided muscle recovery. Curiously, 24 h dietary intake was unaffected despite the fact that wellbeing was increased at 12 h and 36 h in both trials, compared to baseline (Pre-Match). This similar response in wellbeing values \geq 36 h post-match might support the reason why EI was not different between trials. It must be acknowledged that some studies restrict participants' dietary intake, when the research focused on using polyphenol as a post-exercise recovery aid, by excluding any fruits, vegetables, or foods which are high in polyphenol contents (Bell et al., 2014, Bell et al., 2015, Bell et al., 2016). Yet, within the current study, dietary intake was only restricted for alcohol and caffeine consumption. The rationale in Bell et al, (2014, 2015, 2016) for eliminating foods high in polyphenol, is because there is a growing body of evidence suggesting that functional food-based supplements that contain antiinflammatory and/or antioxidant phytonutrients, can attenuate symptoms of exerciseinduced muscle damage (EIMD), by accelerating the recovery of muscle function (Myburgh, 2014, Harty et al., 2019). Conversely, participants within the current study consumed ~366 KCal more carbohydrate within the INT-PM trial, which might suggest a higher polyphenol intake, as most fruit and vegetables are carbohydrate dense. Despite this, wellbeing scores were higher within the INT-PM trial. The only true method to understand if polyphenols or total antioxidant status were increased, is to measure individual blood samples, which would help to provide a more comprehensive overview, when combined with the subjective wellbeing and EI data. Unfortunately, no samples were collected during the post 24 h period, and samples that were collected during the ~ 8 h trial were not used to measure markers of muscle damage nor antioxidant status. Further research is required, to explore the mechanistic effects for the increase in EI and wellbeing, discovered within the present study, when a healthy untrained population is investigated. Whether an increased inflammatory response, and reduced muscle function capacity in the >12 - 48 h following multiple exercise bouts, within the same day is responsible, is unknown.

Within the current study, meal periods (breakfast and lunch) were standardised for volume, weight, and calories, allowing any differences discovered to be attributed to the exercise condition, rather than the food provided. Nevertheless, GLP-1 was not significantly different between trials, although an increase was revealed in both conditions after breakfast (27 ± 19 vs. 26 ± 22 pg.mL) and lunch (22 ± 19 vs. 23 ± 18 pg.mL) during INT-AM vs INT-PM. Consistent with the current study, GLP-1 was reported during Chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018b), to respond similarly 30-min after consuming a standardised semi-solid lunch meal (control, 12 ± 10 pg.mL; 40% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$, 15 ± 12 pg.mL; and 70% $\dot{V}O_{2Peak}$, 12 ± 10 pg.mL). This trend is further supported within Chapter 6, as GLP-1 spiked 60-min after consuming breakfast ($12 \pm$ 8 vs. 10 ± 7 pg.mL) and lunch (12 ± 9 vs. 14 ± 8 pg.mL) during SINGLE vs SPLIT, once again displaying no differences between trials. Evidence has emerged suggesting that GLP-1 concentration can change in response to mechanical distension of the stomach (Vahl et al., 2007, Krieger et al., 2016, Williams et al., 2016), rather than in response to the calorie density of the consumed nutrients. The results within the current study, with support from Chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018a), and Chapter 6, might strengthen the theory GLP-1 reacts to a change in stomach size. Although, without directly measuring changes in muscle activation or movement of the stomach, this theory cannot fully be determined. Further work should focus on better understanding of the communication between the gut and the brain, in relation to appetite control.

Ghrelin has been shown to be reduced after aerobic exercise at moderate to high intensity (>65 VO_{2peak}), running (Broom et al., 2009, King et al., 2010a, Balaguera-Cortes et al., 2011, King et al., 2011a, Wasse et al., 2012, Wasse et al., 2013b, Broom et al., 2017) and cycling (Becker et al., 2012, Kawano et al., 2013, Wasse et al., 2013b, Mattin et al., 2018a). Although, more recent literature has investigated low/high intermittent exercise (Gholipour et al., 2014, Sim et al., 2014, Martins et al., 2015, Panissa et al., 2016, Holliday and Blannin, 2017d). Consistent with the current study, acylated ghrelin decreased from fasting baseline values by ~31% after INT-AM, and by ~4% after INT-PM immediately post exercise. Additionally, acylated ghrelin values were still ~40% lower pre-breakfast after a HIIE bout (INT-AM), compared to a continuous bout (INT-PM). Subsequently, acylated ghrelin concentrations remained relatively stable during the remainder of the 3h recovery periods post-breakfast, prior to starting exercise bout two, where acylated ghrelin concentrations were ~54% lower immediately after completing a HIIE bout (INT-PM) and remained ~ 30% lower pre-lunch. Regardless of the fact that participants were in a different metabolic state within the second exercise bout, HIIE still caused a substantial reduction in acylated ghrelin concentration, compared to a continuous exercise bout. Nevertheless, not all studies have found a reduction in ghrelin post exercise, as Lardon-Meyer et al, (2012) discovered acylated ghrelin increased after participants walked for 60 min. This can be further supported by Ueda et al, (2009b) who revealed that cycling at 50% VO_{2max} increased acylated ghrelin within a control group (normal weight), compared to an obese population. The changes seen in the current study further support the robust evidence that high intensity, intermittent exercise causes a suppression in ghrelin immediately post exercise, and continuous exercise that is at an intensity $\leq 50 \text{ VO}_{2\text{peak}}$ increases ghrelin, which in turn might result in a surge in hunger.

One particular theory that should be discussed is the link between blood glucose and ghrelin responses. The glucoregulatory actions of ghrelin is well documented within humans (Broglio et al., 2001, Cummings et al., 2001, Tschöp et al., 2001, Egido et al., 2002, Broglio et al., 2003b) and literature using animal models (Reimer et al., 2003, Dezaki et al., 2004). Nevertheless, during fasting conditions ghrelin increases blood glucose, through stimulating glucagon secretion by acting on the pancreatic islet endocrine α -cell lines to increase glycemia (Chuang et al., 2011). The ability for ghrelin to employ glucagon as a pathway to rise blood glucose is potentially restricted to situations such as an overnight fast (Broglio et al., 2003a, Tack et al., 2006, Tong et al., 2010), and enhancing hepatic glucose production may be an action via the brain (Mani et al., 2019). Interestingly, within the current study, blood glucose increased by 0.25 mmol.L (4.9%) immediately after completing HIIE (INT-AM), compared to a 0.03 mmol.L decrease after a continuous exercise bout (INT-PM). In fact, oral administration of macronutrients such as amino acids and fatty acids can each suppress ghrelin, with glucose in particular causing a rapid and profound suppression in ghrelin in humans, when administered orally (Djurhuus et al., 2002, Shiiya et al., 2002). Although, within the current study, participants were fasted overnight for ~10 h before starting the exercise bouts, suggesting the blood glucose increases observed after completing the HIIE bout was primarily derived from hepatic sources. This novel finding further supports the concept that glucose impairs ghrelin release only after it has made its way into circulation. Subsequently, to further discuss the changes discovered in the present study, glucose was significantly lower at 1 h and 2h post lunch during INT-PM. Suggesting, lower glucose response in the 2h after lunch might explain the reason why EI was higher 24 h after the INT-PM trial. A large cohort study (1,070 participants) revealed postprandial glucose dips 2-3 h after a meal were responsible for an increase in hunger at 2h and greater EI at 3h and a further increase in EI 24 h post-trial (Wyatt et al., 2021).

Adipose tissue lipid mobilisation increases during exercise and muscle lipid utilisation increases similarly, however the lipid oxidation rate is dependent on the relative workload which is thought to be maximised at around 65% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Purdom et al., 2018). We know from work carried out within our own laboratory that fasting prior to exercise reduces carbohydrate and increases fat utilisation during exercise (McIver et al., 2018, McIver et al., 2019). These findings were further supported within Chapter 6, as exercising for 60 min at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ caused an increase in fat

utilisation during exercise. The energy demands in the recovery period after exercise may hold the key to how individuals metabolise energy post-exercise, and critically how the body responds after consuming nutrient dense food may mitigate the increase in fat oxidation established during exercise. Within the current study, overall fat and carbohydrate oxidation shown by AUC results were not affected by mixing the modality of exercise (continuous and intermittent). This may be related to the fact fat oxidation peaked after both HIIE bouts, regardless of the fact that within INT-AM participants were fasted for ~10h and after INT-PM participants had previously consumed a relatively normal breakfast (~434 KCal) 180 min before. It is vital to consider that blood glucose levels had returned to baseline values within INT-PM (4.7 ± 0.2 vs. 4.5 ± 0.3 mmol.L) prior to starting the second exercise bout. Proposing 180 min recovery after breakfast was sufficient to increase fat oxidation during intermittent exercise, retaining the benefits of exercising fasted. Increased fat oxidation has been suggested to be beneficial for reducing fat mass (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004), although this result should not be misinterpreted, as any increase in fat oxidation during exercise is diminished after consuming nutrient dense food.

An anomaly within the data must be discussed, as NEFA increased after the first exercise bout within INT-PM and remained elevated until post second exercise bout (285 min). This retained elevation is an unusual response for NEFA, as in previous investigations carried out within our own lab by McIver et al, (2018) and chapter 4 (Mattin et al., 2018a), found NEFA decreased shortly after consuming nutrient dense food. Nevertheless, one study using trained and untrained older adults found increased NEFA was not associated with increased fat oxidation, rather an increase in carbohydrate oxidation (Bassami et al., 2007). Consistent with the current study, carbohydrate oxidation and NEFA were significantly elevated after the first exercise bout during continuous exercise at 50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ (INT-PM). Although, the metabolic reasons why NEFA was increased remains to be investigated. Subsequently, there was not an overall or between trial differences for gut hormones (PYY, PP and insulin) and metabolites (cholesterol and triglyceride).

7.4.1. Limitations

A limitation was not accounting for physiological changes in the days (24 h-48 h) following multiple exercise bouts. It must be acknowledged, the nature of measuring subjective wellbeing via a questionnaire, may make the findings within the current study variable and less reliable than using objective muscle measuring strategies. Selected literature has previously shown changes in muscle function and strength tests >60 h after strenuous exercise, with the majority using a mixture of tests to functionally understand if muscle recovery was hindered or improved (Bell et al., 2014, Bell et al., 2015, Bell et al., 2016, Clifford et al., 2016, Clifford et al., 2017, Jackman et al., 2019). Using a muscle function test may modulate if feelings of wellbeing and muscle soreness correlate. Understanding the physiological mechanisms as to why the human body responds in a certain manner post exercise may enhance how the body stores and utilises energy. Therefore, not assessing blood markers of muscle function and recovery could be considered another limitation, as changes in muscle damage markers directly post exercise, and in the days after exercise, might strengthen the concept that increased damage shown by an inflammatory response within the muscle post-exercise may lead to compensatory increases in EI. Future studies should examine the differences in post-exercise energy demands after intermittent exercise to explain why wellbeing and EI were higher within the current study. An increased energy demand 24 h post-trial, may simply be the functional response of the body to recover after an energy diminishing protocol. Nevertheless, if energy balance continues to increase over a long period of time, this might eventually lead to weight gain and health concerns.

One potential weakness with conducting any type of questionnaire-based research is the potential to introduce error or bias. Blinding participants from which exercise condition they were involved in was not impossible, and therefore the elevation in the recorded wellbeing result may have been manipulated by the fact that participants might have found the afternoon HIIE bout harder. Unfortunately, there is no documented evidence to support this statement. However, physiological HR results may show some interesting data to suggest otherwise, as participants did start the second exercise bout with a higher HR within the INT-AM trial (79 ± 9 vs. 66 ± 8 BPM: *P*<0.001). Although, the INT-PM bout had a significantly higher HR at the end

of the second exercise bout compared to INT-AM. Regardless of the fact that there was no difference in HR between trials after the first exercise bout, we know an increased HR can be a sign of increased strain or fatigue (Nelesen et al., 2008). This would suggest the modality and order of exercise is an important consideration when designing physical activity programmes which are intended for weight management strategies.

7.4.2. Conclusions

We found that a decrease in peripheral active ghrelin elicited a lower perception in hunger and an increase in circulating glucose immediately after completing HIIE in a fasted state. Despite this, no differences were observed during the 3 h monitoring period between exercise bouts, showing the timing of different exercise modes (continuous and intermittent) does not result in any compensatory effects in GER or overall substrate utilisation, regardless of the fact that active ghrelin significantly decreased during the second exercise bout post HIIE. Nevertheless, wellbeing and EI were greater 24-h post-trial after completing HIIE in the afternoon. Further work is required, to assess additional long-term responses after exercising multiple times throughout a normal working schedule, in an applied setting with a larger cohort. Additionally, it would be beneficial to correlate these subjective measurements of wellbeing with in vivo markers of muscle damage and inflammatory response. This novel approach of using blood and functional muscle assessments has been used consistently within literature which focuses on post exercise muscle recovery. Conversely, these techniques provide substantial potential to explore the possible preventive targets in the treatment of weight management, within a healthy, male, untrained population after exercise.

Chapter 8.0

GENERAL DISCUSSION

This chapter commences with a summary of the research findings (see Table 19), followed by the key overview of the main findings and their significance within the studies. Methodological considerations and limitations with respect to the recruitment of participants and the study designs are also discussed before introducing the recommendations for further investigation are suggested. Finally, an overall conclusion of this thesis is discussed. Additionally, a general public overview has been added to highlight the potential applications and implications for practice is acknowledged with a decision tree flow diagram to help guide exercise choices (see Figure 87).

The current work explored whether changing the mode, intensity or timing of exercise affected postprandial GI function, metabolic responses, appetite, and EI; by supporting the development of novel non-pharmacological interventions for weight management. This chapter will collate and consider the findings from the experimental chapters in this thesis.

A series of studies on human volunteers are presented in this thesis. The aim of this thesis is to determine whether there is a connection between GER and a consequence of, 1) adjustment in exercise intensity, 2) using an intermittent mode of exercise or 3) timing of exercise by conducting multiple exercise bouts.

Participants Design* Measures **Main Outcomes** Study 60 min of CON EXE Male (n = 12); Pre-EI: Food record: HR & GER DOB & AUC, T_{lag} (63 ± 13 min, 56 ± 10 min, 60 ± 16 min) One (Mattin et Age; 26 ± 5 yr; @ LOW (40% **RPE:** During EXE; GER: and T_{half} (89 ± 13 min, 82 ± 8 min 94 ± 31 min) CON > LOW > al., 2018) BMI: 25.5 ± 3.5 \dot{VO}_{2Max}), High (70%) Pre-lunch: Post-lunch 15-HIGH, N.S; N.S. for AS VAS; Fullness-AUC; LOW > HIGH Kg/m²; Body Fat; **VO_{2Max}**) & non- $(3150 \pm 2091 \text{ vs } 2555 \pm 1828 \text{ mm } 225 \text{ min}^{-1}; P = 0.023)$. Nauseamin PP x 120min; AS VAS: 18.9 ± 8.1 %; exercise control. Pre- & Post-EXE; Pre-AUC; CON > HIGH (1939 \pm 2359 vs 1106 \pm 1575 mm 225 min⁻ $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ 42 ± 6 lunch: 15-min PP x120mim: ¹; P = 0.020); N.S. for Metab; NEFA-AUC; LOW > HIGH (68.5) ± 22.9 vs 43 ± 11.5 mmol.L 225 min⁻¹; P = 0.050); N.S. for GH; ml/Kg/min Metab & GH: Pre- & post-242 KCal Semi-solid meal 30 min after Ghrelin-AUC: LOW > HIGH $(3150 \pm 2091 \text{ vs } 2555 \pm 1828)$ EXE: Pre-lunch: 30-min PP EXE bout. x 120min $pg.mL^{-1}$. 225 min⁻¹; P = 0.006). Two Male (n=12); Age; 60 min of CON EXE Pre- & Post EI: Food Post EI (3500 \pm 1419 vs. 2777 \pm 1042 kCal: p < 0.001) MOD- 30 ± 6 yr; BMI; & INT EXE [20x (1 record; HR & RPE: During INT > MOD-CON. N.S. for LOW-INT > LOW-CON; GER DOB $24.6 \pm 2.0 \text{ Kg/m}^2$; min cycle / 2 min EXE; GER: Pre-lunch; Postfaster @ 30-120-min, p = 0.050; DOB-AUC higher, p = 0.002(Mattin et Body Fat: $17.8 \pm$ rest)] @ LOW (40% lunch 15-min PP x 120min; MOD-CON > MOD-INT; T_{lag} (58 ± 15 min, 62 ± 15 min, 60 ± al., 2020) $3.9\%; \dot{V}O_{2peak} 38 \pm$ **VO_{2Max}) & MOD** AS VAS: Pre- & Post-EXE: 17 min, 59 \pm 13 min); T_{half} (110 \pm 31 min, 106 \pm 29 min 95 \pm 20 6 ml/Kg/min Pre-lunch; Immediately $(60\% \text{ VO}_{2\text{Max}}).$ min, 107 ± 13 min) LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MO post-lunch; 15-min PP x 120 D-CON, N.S; AS VAS: PFC was lower p = 0.011 Post-EXE and 376 KCal Semi-solid mim; GLU: Pre- mid & nausea higher p = 0.011 for MOD-INT; Hunger-AUC (10011 ± meal 30 min after 96 vs. 3103 ± 93 mm . 225 min: p = 0.002) MOD-INT > MOD-Post-EXE; Pre-lunch; 30-EXE bout. CON; N.S. for LOW-INT > LOW-CON; GLU higher Mid-EXE min PP x 120min; SU; Pre-EXE; 30-min PP x 120 min \neq BL (4.9 \pm 0.4 mmol.L, p = 0.016) MOD-INT; Post-lunch, MOD -INT > MOD-CON (7.5 \pm 0.9 vs. 6.5 \pm 0.9 mmol.L, *p* <0.001) & LOW-CON > LOW-INT (7.6 \pm 1.0 vs. 7.0 \pm 1.0 mmol.L, p<0.00 1); N.S. SU, LOW-INT, LOW-CON, MOD-INT and MOD-CON

Table 19: Summary of the Main Findings of the Effect of Exercise Intensity, Mode and Timing on Gastrointestinal Function, Metabolic Response and EI

Three	Male (n = 14); Age; 27 \pm 6 yr; BMI; 24.9 \pm 2.0 Kg/m ² ; Body Fat; 18.5 \pm 4.1 %; $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ 42 \pm 9 ml/Kg/min	60 min of CON (SINGLE) & 2 x 30 min EXE (SPLIT) @ High (70% VO _{2Max}). Post-EXE breakfast 30% ETEE; ~172 KCal semi-skimmed milk; TMC 500 mL Post-2EXE lunch 70% of ETEE; ~400 KCal Semi-solid meal 30 min after EXE bout; TMC 1000 mL	Pre- & Post EI: Food record; HR & RPE: During EXE and EXE-rest; GER: Pre-lunch; Post-lunch 15- min PP x 120min; AS VAS: Pre-EXE & Pre-BK; 30-min PP x 120 mim; Pre-Lunch; 30-min PP x 120 min; Metab & GH: Pre-EXE & Pre-BK; 60-min PP x 120 min; Pre-lunch; 60-min PP x 120min; SU; Pre-EXE; 15- min mid-EXE x 60 min; Post- BK, 30-min PP x 120 min; Second EXE bout, 15-min mid-EXE x 30 min; Post- lunch, 30-min PP x 120 min; I- FABP ₂ : Pre-EXE, Post-EXE & Post-2EXE	Post EI (3240 ± 1171 vs. 2556 ± 1049 kCal: $p = 0.007$) SPLIT > SINGLE; GER DOB faster @ 45-60-min, $p < 0.001$ SPLIT > SINGLE; T _{lag} (73 ± 15 min vs 89 ± 24 min, $p = 0.007$); T _{half} (118 ± 29 min vs 149 ± 49 min, $p = 0.027$) SPLIT > SINGLE; AS VAS: Pre-BK hunger increase (70 ± 14 vs. 53 ± 22 mm: $p =$ 0.025) SPLIT > SINGLE. Remaining AS VAS & AUC N.S; Metab: GLU & CHOL, $p < 0.005$ increased @ 405 min SINGLE > SPLIT; NEFA & TRIG, $p < 0.005$ increased @ 405 min SPLIT > SINGLE; Higher GLU & NEFA-AUC, $p < 0.005$ SINGLE > SPLIT; GH: Ghrelin decreased Pre-BK (138 ± 49 vs. 166 ± 67 pg.mL, $p = 0.024$) SINGLE > SPLIT; Increased @ 405 min (223 ± 82 vs. 151 ± 87 pg.mL, $p = 0.017$) SPLIT > SINGLE. Insulin increased @ 405 min (1056 ± 514 vs. 547± 356 pg.mL: $p = 0.011$) SINGLE > SPLIT; SU, FAT-AUC (51 ± 18 vs 42 ± 12 g/min ⁻¹ 405 min ⁻¹ , $P = 0.036$) SINGLE > SPLIT; N.S. I-FABP ₂ , SINGLE = SPLIT.
Four	Male (n = 12); Age; 26 \pm 6 yr; BMI; 24.6 \pm 4.0 Kg/m ² ; Body Fat; 20.4 \pm 6.7 %; $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ 48 \pm 10 ml/Kg/min	30 min of CON EXE @ MOD (50% VO _{2Max}) & INT EXE [10x (1 min cycle / 2 min rest)] @ Very High (100% VO _{2Max}) PPO.	Pre- & Post EI: Food record; HR & RPE: During EXE; GER: Pre-lunch; Post- lunch 15-min PP x 120min; AS VAS, Metab & GH: Pre- & Post EXE;	Post EI (3511 ± 879 vs 2829 ± 614 Kcal: P =0.007) INT-PM > INT-AM; HR: Pre-2EXE (79 ± 9 vs. 66 ± 8 BPM: P <0.001) INT-AM > INT-PM; GER-DOB & AUC, T _{lag} (62 ± 11 min vs 57 ± 8 min) & T _{half} (151 ± 111 min vs 99 ± 24 min) INT-AM > INT-PM, N.S; AS VAS; hunger increased Post-EXE (72 ± 20 vs. 39 ± 22 mm: p = 0.002) & Pre-BK (79 ± 25 vs. 51 ± 26 mm: p = 0.016) INT-PM > INT-AM; Nausea increased Post-EXE (19 ± 16 vs. 6 ± 6 mm: p = 0.003) INT-AM > INT-PM;

Four (Continued)Post-EXE breakfast 434 KCal mixed solid and liquid food.Pre-BK; 60-min PP x 180 mim; Post-2EXE; Pre- Lunch; 60-min PP x 120 min; SU: Pre- & Post-EXE; 60-min PP x 180 min;Post- 2EXE; 60-min PP x 120min; WB; Pre- & Post- EXE; Post-2EXE; End-TR; Post-24H	Metab: GLU increased Post-EXE (5.07 ± 0.43 vs. 4.70 ± 0.25 mmol.L: $p = 0.017$), 1h Post-lunch (6.27 ± 0.91 vs. 5.22 ± 0.69 mmol.L: $p = 0.001$) & End-TR (5.09 ± 0.5 vs. 4.51 ± 0.36 mmol.L: $p = 0.004$) INT-AM > INT-PM; Higher NEFA-AUC, $p = 0.022$ INT-PM > INT-AM; Ghrelin increased Pre-BK (435 ± 236 vs. 267 ± 211 pg.mL: $p = 0.001$) & decreased Post-2EXE (267 ± 167 vs 585 ± 419 pg.mL: $p = 0.003$) & Pre-lunch (361 ± 223 vs 519 ± 357 pg.mL: $p = 0.022$) INT-PM > INT-AM; Remaining GH & AUC N.S; SU, Fat increased Post-EXE (0.119 ± 0.048 vs 0.040 ± 0.037 g/min: $P < 0.001$) INT-AM > INT-PM & Post-2EXE (0.119 ± 0.048 vs 0.073 ± 0.042 g/min: $P = 0.023$) INT-PM > INT-AM; N.S. Overall Fat & Carb AUC; WB: Increased Post-EXE (14 ± 2 vs. 12 ± 2 total: $P = 0.018$) INT- AM > INT-PM & Post-2EXE (14 ± 2 vs. 12 ± 3 total: $P = 0.013$) and Post-24H (13 ± 3 vs. 11 ± 2 total: $P = 0.043$) INT-PM > INT- AM.
--	--

* All were randomised, repeated-measure counter-balanced designs. Means \pm SD. CON, continuous; EI, energy intake; HR, heart rate; RPE, rate of perceived exertion; EXE, exercise; GER, gastric emptying rate; min-PP, minutes postprandial; AS, appetite score; VAS, visual analogue scale; Metab, (glucose, triglycerides, cholesterol, and NEFA); GH, (ghrelin, insulin, GLP-1, PYY, and PP); N.S, non-significant; INT, intermittent; MOD, moderate; GLU, blood glucose; Mid-EXE, during exercise SU, substrate utilisation; ETEE, estimated trial energy expenditure; TMC, total meal consumed; Pre-BK, pre-breakfast; \neq , compared; PPO, peak power output; BL, baseline; Post-2EXE, post second exercise bout; End-TR, final sample; Carb, carbohydrate; WB, wellbeing;

8.1. Overview of Key Findings

The effect of exercise on GER in response to a subsequent meal post-exercise is an important consideration in the pathophysiology of obesity and metabolic syndrome. GER is considered an extremely critical step in the food digestion process as the emptying rate of chyme into the small intestines, determines the amount of nutrients that are absorbed (Liu et al., 2021).

The results from Chapter 4, report no difference in GER between a low (40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$), or high (70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) intensity continuous exercise bout when a standardised semi-solid meal was consumed 30 min after completing an exercise bout $(T_{1/2} = low; 82 \pm 8 min, and high; 94 \pm 31 min)$. A previous investigation compared post-exercise GER using a 5% glucose solution, revealed exercise intensity does not affect GER- $T_{1/2} = low$; 22 ± 9 min, and high; 22 ± 7 min (Evans et al., 2016). It is important to consider the time difference indicated by $T_{1/2}$ which demonstrates how food composition has a central and prolific effect on GER. Further investigations found a carbohydrate solution emptied faster than a protein solution (Evans et al., 2018a). Glucose empties faster than protein, although, both glucose and protein empty faster than lipids (Mackie et al., 2013, Lundin et al., 2008). The presence of different macronutrients within the digestive system stimulate the secretion of a unique mixture of satiety peptides released from enteroendocrine cells in the wall of the gut, which signal through the vagus nerve to stimulate the brain (Woods, 2004). Therefore, the characteristics of food or drink consumed after exercise is potentially more important for the delivery of nutrients to the small intestines than exercise intensity, when performed in a continuous manner. Literature has confirmed characteristics of food such as food volume, calories, and viscosity all affect digestibility and therefore GER (Mazzawi et al., 2019, Mackie et al., 2013, Zhu et al., 2013, Kwiatek et al., 2009), although minimal research has focused on different food characteristics after exercise. Within this thesis, conclusions cannot be made on individual macronutrient responses, as a mixed macronutrient standardised semi-solid meal was consumed. Supplementary work is required to explore the possible links between food characteristics and GER.

The experimental procedure in **Chapter 5** indicates GER was maintained at a similar rate between continuous and intermittent exercise performed at 40 and 60%

 $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. This discovery is fundamentally important as GER is already known to be impaired during continuous exercise >75 $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Neufer et al., 1989) and during intermittent sprint exercise (Leiper et al., 2001a). **Chapter 5** shows GER does not seem to be affected when a semi-solid meal is consumed 30 min after exercising in a continuous or intermittent manner. Mechanistically during exercise GER is regulated by the CNS and splanchnic blood flow. Therefore, a 30 min break after exercise is sufficient for the GI system to recover after a low to high continuous exercise bout.

The results from **Chapter 6** add novel insight into gastric emptying research, since exercising twice-a-day accelerated GER compared to a single continuous exercise bout matched at a high intensity (70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). The mechanism behind the increase in GER after exercising twice-a-day cannot be fully determined from the result within this thesis. Although, the fact GER responded at a similar rate after mixing mode of exercise when exercising twice-a-day (Chapter 7). This Suggests, the stomach responded to a change in energy demand from exercise or an interactive sensing mechanism relating to energy nutrient sensors in the GI tract, which has a role in transport and absorption in the recovery period after exercise. It must be considered, liquid food empties significantly faster than solid food (Goyal et al., 2019); within all four studies of this thesis a soup meal containing a high liquid content was provided. The lunch meal within Chapter 4, was considered to be a relatively small in volume and energy content and might have been one of the potential reasons why GER was unaffected between the two exercise conditions. Within Chapters 5 & 7, the meal volume and energy content were doubled. Whereas, in Chapter 6 the meal was standardised relevant to the participants estimated energy requirements. The meals were matched for total volume, suggesting the viscosity of the meals might have been vastly different. In defence, Zhu et al (2013), found increasing food viscosity of a semi-solid meal at equal-calories were shown to prolong satiety and slow GER. The difference in GER highlighted in Chapter 6, after twice-a-day exercise may be relevant to meal viscosity, or the fact participants exercised in a non-fasted state consuming a milk-drink 2 h prior to starting the second exercise bout.

In all investigations within this thesis food diaries were recorded to ensure standardisation of food 24 h before each trial. The fasting period before each trial were consistent across all subjects. In turn, GER has been reported to empty at a similar rate between fasted and fed exercise in the morning (McIver et al., 2018, McIver et al., 2019), although in the afternoon GER has been reported to be typically slower (Grammaticos et al., 2015, Goo et al., 1987). Emerging evidence suggests the circadian clocks regulate the digestive process, causing a delay in GER in the evening (Hoogerwerf, 2010). The mechanisms why faster GER was reported within **Chapter 6**, warrants further investigation as slower GER may be favourable for reducing food intake and prolonging satiety (Zhu et al., 2013, Jones et al., 1997). It is not conclusive from the data within this thesis, if having a faster or a slower GER when consuming a meal after exercise will affect metabolic responses in the postprandial period.

Gastric emptying is understood to be regulated by a complex interaction of neuronal and hormonal input through the CNS (Horner et al., 2015). The results from **Chapter 4**, reported continuous exercise at a low intensity (40% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) caused an increase in circulating ghrelin prior to consuming an energy dens meal. Overall AUC was higher during low intensity when compared to high intensity (70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) continuous exercise bouts. This increase in ghrelin before consuming a meal was also shown in **Chapter 7**, after moderate continuous exercise (50% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). Alternatively, **high** intensity continuous exercise (70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$) decreased ghrelin immediately after exercise in **Chapter 6**. A decrease was also reported during **Chapter 7**, after a very high intense intermittent exercise bout (100% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). Ghrelin fluctuations after exercise diminish after consuming a nutrient dens meal, as ghrelin decreased below fasted values in all Chapters 4-7, this response in not unusual (Mani et al., 2019).

Over a 2 h recovery phase ghrelin concentrations begin to slowly rise, although this increase was not shown to be significant, apart from when multiple exercise bouts were performed during **Chapter 6**, as ghrelin values were elevated compared to a oneoff exercise bout 2 h after food. It can be concluded that exercise intensity does stimulate ghrelin differently when exercising in a fasted state, as very high intensity intermittent exercise seems to follow a similar pattern to high intensity continuous exercise, as ghrelin decreases post-exercise regardless of the mode of exercise. The results from this thesis do correspond with previous literature suggesting elevated ghrelin correlates with accelerated GER, this finding was only discovered in **Chapter 6**, therefore this information should be used cautiously.

As circulating levels of ghrelin increase priming meal initiation, GLP-1 signalling is usually shown to be lower (Decarie-Spain and Kanoski, 2021). Although, there were no further difference in appetite hormones (GLP-1, PP and PYY) across the experimental chapters within this thesis, except insulin concentrations were higher 120 min after consuming a standardised semi-solid meal after the SINGLE exercise trial reported in Chapter 6. Elevated insulin levels have been shown to regulate appetite by mobilising metabolism (Qaid and Abdelrahman, 2016), by secreting insulin following a meal in response to increased glucose within the bloodstream (Röder et al., 2016b). The increased insulin concentration within the postprandial period could be in response to the sedentary nature of the SINGLE trial. This can be explained by an increased sensitivity of muscle glucose metabolism to insulin during and postexercise (Richter et al., 1985). The benefit of exercise on insulin sensitivity may have been exposed within **Chapter 6**, since insulin values were lower across the full 120 min recovery period, consuming a meal 30 min after completing a continuous exercise bout at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. Insulin concentrations were only reported to be different within one chapter of this thesis. Further work is required to understand if completing multiple exercise bouts within the same day are beneficial to control insulin sensitivity, after consuming a nutrient dens meal post exercise. Nevertheless, changing the mode, intensity and timing of exercise wasn't significant enough to provoke any further hormonal responses, regardless of the fact there were metabolic modifications.

The studies presented in this thesis measured several different metabolites (glucose, triglyceride, cholesterol and NEFA). Although, no further key differences in triglycerides nor cholesterol were discovered across the experimental chapters. Glucose concentration changed depending on the exercise intensity to a greater extent than mode during and post-exercise. Performing intermittent exercise >60% \dot{VO}_{2peak} appears to increase blood glucose during exercise (**Chapter 5**), or immediately after an exercise bout (**Chapter 7**). Although, this increase is not replicated within the hours after consuming calorific nutrients post intermittent exercise. Glucose causes a rapid and profound suppression of ghrelin in humans and rodents when administered by either parental or oral routes (Briatore et al., 2003, McCowen et al., 2002, Nakagawa et al., 2002, Shiiya et al., 2002). As briefly mentioned earlier, ghrelin concentrations were decreased immediately after exercise within **Chapters 4**, **6 & 7** at an intensity

>70% \dot{VO}_{2peak} , yet an increase in glucose was only revealed within **Chapter 7**. It is likely that glucose only impacts ghrelin release once it has made its way into circulation (Mani et al., 2019), as inserting a pyloric cuff within rat models failed to suppress plasma ghrelin after intragastric administration (Williams et al., 2003). It is likely that a direct effect of glucose on ghrelin cells figures extensively in the inhibitory effect of glucose on ghrelin secretion. Sakata et al, (2012) proposes ghrelin cells express machinery associated with glucose sensing and metabolism such as glucose transporters and ATP-sensitive potassium (K_{ATP}) channels. Some research believes glucose must enter and be metabolised by ghrelin cells before ghrelin secretion is suppressed (Mani et al., 2019, Mani et al., 2017, Sakata et al., 2012, Chuang et al., 2011). The exact metabolic pathways modulating ghrelin release, are unclear but align with macronutrient ingestion, in particular glucose intake.

To further support this point glucose increased in all four investigations within this thesis (**Chapters 4-7**) 30 min after consuming a mixed macronutrient meal. Although, conflicting evidence revealed continuous exercise causes a larger spike in blood glucose, compared to intermittent exercise (**Chapter 5**), causing blood glucose to remain elevated during a 2 h recovery period within **Chapter 6 & 7**. The metabolic response after consuming energy dense material post-exercise is strongly related to GI hormone responses (insulin, glucagon, GLP-1 and PYY) (Mani et al., 2019), the data within this thesis is not conclusive and further clarity is needed to strengthen this theory.

It is important to consider the changes in NEFA concentrations reported in **Chapters 6 & 7**. NEFA were higher after continuous exercise in a fasted state and overall NEFA AUC was higher after continuous exercise at 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ (**Chapter 4**), indicating greater fat mobilisation for metabolism, consistent with the knowledge that fat oxidation is increased after fasting (Achten and Jeukendrup, 2004). This increase in NEFA was only seen after continuous exercise and not after intermittent. Mulla et al, (2000) reports muscle lipid utilisation increases during exercise, but the lipid oxidation rate is maximised at 65% $\dot{V}O_{2Max}$ making this metabolic pathway workload sensitive. The results from **Chapter 6**, report that NEFA increased substantially more after exercising for 60 min compared to exercising for 30 min at the same intensity (70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). Although, during endurance exercise the

contribution of lipid to the total oxidative metabolism increases with time duration of exercise (Paul, 1975). The increase in NEFA suggests continuous exercise might rely on different metabolic pathways during continuous exercise than intermittent exercise, especially when male participants exercise in a fasted state. This is further supported as walking in a fasted state for 45 min caused a significantly large increase in NEFA than when participants consumed breakfast (McIver et al., 2018). Nevertheless, postprandial NEFA concentrations were similar within all chapters (4-7), after consuming a calorific nutrient meal showing a decrease in NEFA mobilisation regardless of intensity, mode, or timing of exercise after food. This data aligns with previous literature as NEFA concentrations are regularly shown to decline after the ingestion of food containing carbohydrates, due to its stimulatory effect on insulin release (Martins et al., 2007a, Clayton et al., 2016, Yau et al., 2017a).

Minimal investigations have measured lipid oxidation rates in prolonged periods post exercise or after consuming food (Mulla et al., 2000). Within this thesis substrate utilisation was measured. Interestingly, substrate utilisation shifts to predominantly fat oxidation after continuous and intermittent exercise at various intensities between 40- 60% VO_{2peak} (Chapter 5), and after intermittent exercise at PPO (100% VO_{2peak}) Chapter 7. Therefore, fat oxidation probably remains elevated ~30-60 min after consuming food, in response to a lag phase in delivering digested chyme to the small intestines and absorbing nutrients into circulation (Horner et al., 2015). Further reinforcing changes in GER may affect metabolic processes and appetite control. Fasting prior to exercise has regularly been shown to reduce carbohydrate utilisation during exercise (McIver et al., 2018, McIver et al., 2019). In **Chapter 6**, fat oxidation were higher in both trials compared to baseline, although immediately after exercising for 60 min, caused a larger increase in fat oxidation compared to exercising for 30 min at the same intensity (70% \dot{VO}_{2peak}). Overall fat oxidation-AUC were higher within the SINGLE one-off exercise bout, possibly related to the increased time exercising within a fasted state. While increased fat oxidation post-exercise within this thesis suggests an increase in lipolysis after continuous and intermittent exercise, this increase is unfortunately short lived after nutrient dense foods are consumed, yet within Chapter 6 substrate utilisation does begin to shift towards prioritising fat oxidation 2h after consuming food. Further

research is needed to understand the relationship between consuming food after exercise and the changes in substrate utilisation leading to overall changes in lipolysis.

The evidence within this thesis suggests appetite is affected by intensity and the mode of exercise as variations in hunger-AUC were significantly suppressed after exercising intermittently but not after exercising continually despite the fact, exercise bouts were matched for power output (60% VO_{2peak}) (Chapter 5). The results reported in **Chapter 7** further support the notion, mode of exercise effects appetite differently as exercising intermittently for 30 min at PPO suppressed hunger. Although exercising continually for 30 min at 50% VO_{2peak} increased the perception of hunger. This potentially suggests intermittent modes of exercise might acutely suppress appetite to a greater extent than continuous exercise. While another point to consider is the differences in hunger within Chapter 6, as 60 min of continuous exercise at 70% \dot{VO}_{2peak} suppresses appetite, while 30 min at the same intensity resulted in an increase in hunger. This may suggest duration of exercise might also be an important consideration when designing exercise programs. Nevertheless, a subsequent meal following both intermittent and continuous exercise seems to abolish any compensatory effects in subjective feelings of hunger within the first 2 h post-meal, as a small breakfast drink ~ 334 ml of semi-skimmed milk were sufficient to counterbalance the exercise effects on appetite (Chapter 6). Showing subjective appetite can be offset by relatively small nutrient dense material after exercise, independent of the changes observed after exercise in a fasted state. It must be acknowledged that all suppressions in appetite within this thesis were all above the >60% VO_{2max} threshold that had already been previously shown within the literature (Martins et al., 2007a, Becker et al., 2012, King et al., 2013b).

What we do know is that the feeling of appetite is a good indicator of a person's metabolic state but a poor marker of EI (Stubbs et al., 2000). For this reason, EI were assessed using a 24 h weighed food intake log which revealed moderate intensity intermittent exercise (**Chapter 5**) and multiple bouts of continuous exercise (**Chapter 6**), caused a transient increase in EI within the first 24h. These two investigations were not consistent with the literature, as the majority of weight management research focusing on appetite have not found changes in EI in the hours and days after exercise (McIver et al., 2020, McIver et al., 2019, King et al., 2013a, Hanlon et al., 2012, King

et al., 2010a, Pomerleau et al., 2004, King et al., 1997). Therefore, a wellbeing assessment was added to **Chapter 7**, to assess one potential mechanism why EI has shown to be increased within previous chapters of this thesis. It has been suggested the recovery process after energy depleting exercise bouts might affect EI and appetite response with wellbeing and EI being reported to be increased within **Chapter 7**. The key findings that have been discussed within this section can be found in Figure 86, an illustrated key findings diagram.



Figure 86: Flow diagram illustrating the key finding of this thesis. The influences of exercising on a bike at different modes, intensity or timing on Post-EXE and Post-meal responses to: GER, AS, GH, Metab, SU, and EI. Dashed lines represent, data from multiple study's; Dashed purple & red lines findings from Chapter 4; Purple arrows findings from Chapter 5. Red arrows, findings from Chapter 6. Green arrows, findings from Chapter 7. *Effect of exercise duration, 30 min at 70% VO2Max increased hunger and 60 min decreased hunger and increased fat oxidation.^{*} Int undertaken in the second EXE bout . EXE, exercise; Metab, metabolites; GLU, glucose; SU, substrate utilisation; AS, appetite score; WB, wellbeing score. \uparrow , increase or faster; \downarrow , decrease or slower; \leftrightarrow no change or similar result; ?, Inconclusive.

8.2. Limitations

Each study included in this thesis discusses individual limitations to the clarification of the data collection in turn. However, it is relevant to discuss some general limitations to the body of work as a whole. The financial and equipment constraints to data collection must be discussed. The deviations in the number of analyte to analyte measured are because of limitations in the lack of access to equipment over the testing period and the ability to collect blood samples at single time points, in some cases whole trials. The capacity of the ELISA kits used to run every sample in duplicate were limited, although any metabolite or hormone disputes have been acknowledged within each research chapter. It is important to add the measurement of triglyceride used during this thesis did not correct for free glycerol. In all four studies presented within this thesis, participants performed an exercise bout with the expression of the control trial within Chapter 4. For this reason, an increased level of free glycerol may have been present in response to whole body lipolysis. Using the assumption that all glycerol released in the process of lipolysis, whether in adipose tissue or skeletal muscle, appears in plasma, and that glycerol cannot be produced in the body other than from lipolysis (van Hall et al., 2002). This might suggest the triglyceride results presented might not be accurate and in future investigations correcting for free glycerol level would make the triglyceride result more reliable. It is important to add, there were no significant differences observed for triglyceride values within this thesis and therefore, no major outcomes have been placed of these results.

The omission of gut hormones from **Chapter 5** were for participant safety, due to the high intensity intermittent nature from some of the trials. Equipment was standardised across all research chapters within this thesis apart from changing the cycle ergometer used within **Chapter 4-5**. The new cycle ergometer used in **Chapters 6-7** allowed a direct connection to a Cortex metalyzer permitting continuous monitoring of cycling cadence, HR and metabolic output. Additionally, breath-by-breath data collection was not measured during **Chapter 4**, because there was a lack of access to equipment over the testing periods as testing took place over a 6-8month period, simultaneously while other investigations were conducted within the same time period.

This thesis was standardised to a single gender design using male participants only. Conducting research involving female participants is a very important consideration and the decision to solely recruit males was not made lightly. Although, there is compelling rationale for focusing on a single gender when investigating appetite regulatory effects. Fundamentally Camilleri et al (2012), found differences in GER and Monrroy et al, (2019) established female participants had different sensory experiences after consuming a meal which may influence subsequent nutrient ingestion. In addition, studies have reported a change in appetite response following ingestion of Mediterranean diets (Bédard et al., 2015) and differences in brain response to hunger and subsequent food ingestion between genders (Del Parigi et al., 2002b, Del Parigi et al., 2002a). Given that the subjective feelings after food ingestion was a key objective such gender differences may have influenced the results obtained. Similarly, additional studies have demonstrated a difference in appetite hormones (PYY and GLP-1) after exercise (Hazell et al., 2017b) and Atkinson et al, (2020) revealed differences in acute metabolic response to food ingestion after different fasting periods between males and females. Therefore, the current literature suggests gender differences in gut hormone response to exercise as well as post-food ingestion processes could influence metabolic response and the desire to eat. It is important that these differences are investigated further to establish how important they are for weight management and appetite control.

Equally, exploring whether different populations such as age, body composition (adipose tissue) and training states may be external factors which determine how the GI system responds to food ingestion post-exercise. Within the current thesis the age range was controlled between 18-40 years, as the ageing process has been shown to drastically effect the function of the digestive system (Nigam and Knight, 2017). Particularly GI hormones, with the secretion of ghrelin decreasing (Di Francesco et al., 2008) and PYY levels increasing (Hickson et al., 2016) supporting the control in age range. Nevertheless, other age-related changes in food consumption such as loss of taste and smell and targeted feeding (Doty and Kamath, 2014, Wright et al., 2008) was not measured. These sensory responses can also crossover into young, healthy individuals. Understanding the sensory elements of consuming food may further expand how appetite regulation fluctuates between individuals.

Participants within the current thesis were controlled by BMI not adiposity values. Using a more reliable measurement of body fat such as a DEXA scan is possibly a stronger determinant if someone is lean, overweight or obese, rather than using BMI and body fat determined from a bioimpedance analyser. This potential limitation in this thesis may be an important consideration. The amount of body fat the human body retains has been suggested to affect the rate of which food is emptied from the stomach (Lavigne et al., 1978), it has also been suggested being overweight/obese may result in different sized osmolar receptors in comparison to lean individuals (Wright et al., 1983). Nevertheless, the literature is divided whether GER is effected by body fat, as some investigations have found a rapid emptying rate (Wright et al., 2012, Buchholz et al., 2013). The main consideration is the fact previous studies have used different meals and food components to measure GER, which could account for the inconsistencies in the results.

Additionally, it is not possible to establish whether the participants involved in the thesis were pre-disposed to certain exercise training responses which may be described as a potential limitation. All participants were asked to control their exercise on the approach to taking part and were entrusted to standardise exercise 48h prior to each experimental trial. Although, this could be easily monitored and controlled by asking participants to wear an accelerometer (Ward et al., 2005). Furthermore, each study within this thesis included an aerobic exercise phase and Chapter 5 & 7 a moderate to high intermittent exercise element. Skeletal muscle adapts to exerciseinduced muscle damage in such ways that it protects the working muscle from subsequent damaging stimuli, through several mechanisms such as neural adaption, extracellular matrix remodelling and biochemical signalling (Hyldahl et al., 2017). Therefore, whether the participants were subjected to the repeated bout effect (RBE) must be considered, regardless to the fact each trial was separated by a minimum of seven days and were an acute exercise bout (Sugimoto et al., 2020). To continue this point, wellbeing was assessed using a VAS questionnaire, this method is an indirect method of muscle soreness and recovery. Using more robust techniques such as muscle function tests to measure inflammation markers within the blood may further

support the qualitative data found within this thesis with additional quantitative physiological data.

Gastric emptying was assessed in this thesis using the 13 C breath test, which is an indirect, non-invasive technique to assess GER, which has been strongly validated with gastric aspiration technique (Ghoos et al., 1993, Braden et al., 1995). One of the benefits of using the 13 C breath test over the gastric aspiration is the ability to measure solid foods (Maes et al., 1994), regrettably only semi-solid liquid meals were measured during all four investigations within this thesis. Future studies should expand the research on GER after exercise by using solid foods, as emptying rates are usually significantly delayed compared to liquids meals (Hellström et al., 2006). Although, solid food may remain a more realistic meal category post-exercise for the generalpublic. C0₂ production was estimated using the participants height and weight. It is important to consider that this estimated value could be seen as a potential weakness in the analysis of the GER measurement as baseline expired air data was available and exact C0₂ values could have been used. In future investigations using the 13 C technique to measure GER, exact measurements will be used.

Moreover, the research within this thesis was collected within a controlled laboratory setup, additional investigations need to comprehend how appetite and EI may be controlled by a number of different factors within the external environment. This may influence signals from the GI tract to the vagus nerve, which in turn stimulates the nucleus tractus solitarius in the brain stem, signalling to the arcuate nucleus in the hypothalamus which mediates metabolic requirements (Näslund and Hellström, 2007). It has been well documented that longer observation periods are needed in the hours and day after exercise (Blundell et al., 2003, Blundell and King, 2000). For this reason, it is vitally important applied research is conducted which acknowledges external stimuli that possibly contributes to the regulation of EI.

A final methodological limitation is the studies described in **Chapters 6 & 7** did not involve a non-exercise control trial which, therefore, could be consisted of a limitation. A true determination of power within any data set should consider the information provided by a placebo or control (Jakobsen et al., 2017, Wetterslev et al., 2017), therefore allowing the true effect-size to be defined. This is usually more important when calculating data used within a meta-analysis. However, by using a repeated measures design within **Chapter 6 &7** meant participants acted as their own control.

8.3. Direction for Future research

In this thesis, a more comprehensive understanding has been established regarding how the GI system is affected when exercising on a bike is manipulated for intensity, mode, and timing. The research that has been conducted during this thesis has emphasised that although changes are present, they vary across different levels of the system or systems and highlight why it is not possible to predict whether a faster or a slower GER is more beneficial for improving health and wellbeing after physical activity. While the aims of this thesis have been met, the continual expansion of knowledge in regard to the physiological response to the GI system after exercise have provoked more questions that warrant investigation. Future understanding of how the fundamental process of GER might be key for the prevention of metabolic syndrome are now apparent, recommendations for future work are:

- a) Whether body composition (adiposity values) determine the volume or amount GI peptide hormones are secreted or the response of the designated receptor developing resistance as seen within obese populations in regard to insulin (Kashyap and Defronzo, 2007), might be fundamental to controlling weight management. Future investigations should focus on clinically obese populations and how metabolic responses can be disrupted by the neural drive from the vagus nerve to the appetite regulatory regions of the brain.
- b) Further investigations should be driven by a specific hypothesis which include female and male participates in parallel arms, in order for comparisons to be made between genders and within group gender-to-gender comparisons.
- c) Implementing a calculated calorie replacement method during meal periods reflected individual absolute trial energy loss more accurately. Proposing a more controlled method to ensure participants completed each trial in a state of energy balance. Although, this method could also help to better understand

if and how GER is affected by macronutrient content of meals consumed after exercise. Theories have suggested GER is determined by meal volume and calorie content (Moran and Dailey, 2011). However, if these factors are standardised and the macronutrient content (carbohydrate, protein, and fat) are altered stimulating the secretion of different peptides from the enteroendocrine cells in the wall of the gut, this could help grasp why GER and therefore intestinal absorption might be different when one macronutrient is more dominant within a feeding-period. Identifying, if the stomach can adapt to different nutrients may promote the idea that the stomach is influenced and trainable.

- d) One area of interest is the relationship between glucose fluctuation and the period after exercise using continuous glucose monitoring (CGM). This technology is a novel and effective method to improve glycaemic control within clinical populations (Mariani et al., 2017). Ishihara et al, (2020) has used CGM during ultramarathon races. Combining these techniques will help to link whether changes in blood glucose levels in the hours and days after exercise might begin the shift in appetite and EI post-exercise.
- e) It was not possible from the results within this thesis to determine if the GI system adapts to prolonged changes in exercise. Horner et al, (2015) advises the relationship of GER after long-term and acute exercise remains largely unexplored. Therefore, longitudinal training investigations are needed to comprehend whether the stomach adapts to exercise if performed regularly, and whether this leads to changes in the GI tract is possibly vital to determine if GER is a catalyst to metabolic changes and recovery.

Further avenues which would be interesting to explore, although not directly related to the study of GER, would be to investigate if muscle recovery post exercise is directly responsible for the increase in EI in the hours after exercise. Evidence in epidemiological literature suggest that increasing polyphenols within the diet have beneficial effects on health improvements such as, heart disease (Tung et al., 2020), coronary artery disease (Huxley and Neil, 2003) and increased cholesterol metabolism (Chambers et al., 2019). Nevertheless, limited research has focused on whether

consuming a polyphenol supplement post-exercise can minimise muscle inflammation leading to a suppression in appetite and therefore, EI by blunting the inflammation response.

8.4 Conclusions

The experimental studies discussed within this thesis have expanded the understanding and knowledge whether manipulating mode, intensity, and timing of a bout or bouts of cycling exercise would affect GER, gut hormones, metabolic responses, appetite, substrate utilisation, and EI following exercise and a subsequent meal. Disassembling an exercise bout has presented viable and effective strategies to maintain and improve health benefits in the light of increasing incidence of obesity, cardiovascular diseases, and metabolic syndrome. The evidence presented in this thesis suggests an untrained "normal weight" male population responded somewhat differently to the stimulus of exercise when the mode, intensity, or timing is changed. Although unfortunately, not all situations resulted in positive health outcomes. The mechanisms of these physiological adaptations are closely characterised by deviations in the physical and environmental setting, which are most likely the result of external influences on different metabolic and endocrinal pathways within the recovery process. This thesis adds novel insights into the manner in which manipulating an exercise bout can disrupt GER effecting postprandial metabolic and hormonal responses, while further enquiries are needed to comprehend the role gastric emptying performs in the regulation of appetite and EI. The main conclusions that can be drawn from this work are:

- Multiple bouts of continuous exercise initiate the volume of a semi-solid meal to empty from the stomach faster when compared to a one-off exercise bout matched at a high intensity 70% VO_{2peak}. Weather it is more beneficial for health to have a faster or slower GER is not conclusive from the data presented within this thesis.
- 2) Subjective feelings of hunger are reduced immediately post-exercise when exercising intermittently or continuously >60% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. Nevertheless, a
subsequent meal following both intermittent and continuous exercise seems to abolish any compensatory effects in subjective feelings of hunger.

- The equilibrium of substrate utilisation shifts to predominantly fat oxidation after continuous and intermittent exercise at various intensities between 40- 70% VO_{2peak}. Unfortunately, this increase is short lived after a relatively small calorific semi-solid (~242 KCal) or liquid meal (~169 KCal) is consumed.
- 4) Acylated ghrelin decreases immediately after continuous exercise > 70% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ and intermittent exercise at PPO (100% $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$). These results strengthen the concept that the appetite regulatory hormone ghrelin is responsive to changes in exercise intensity, promoting its orexigenic properties. To further support this notion acylated ghrelin is also shown to be increased in the postprandial period, whereas insulin returns to bassline values faster after multiple exercise bouts. The mechanisms for this increase in acylated ghrelin requires further investigation but may be due to subtle differences in blood glucose in the postprandial period.
- 5) Continuous exercise triggers a spike in blood glucose after a calorific meal, causing blood glucose to remain elevated during recovery periods. The metabolic response after consuming energy dense material post-exercise is strongly related to GI hormone responses, although the data within this thesis is not conclusive and further clarity is needed to strengthen this theory.
- 6) Continuous exercise regardless of intensity and intermittent exercise performed at a low intensity induces an energy deficit without subsequent compensatory response in 24 h EI. In contrast, moderate intensity intermittent exercise and multiple bouts of continuous exercise may potentially cause a transient increase in EI within the first 24h, which could in the long-term cause weight gain. The mephanisms of adaptation requires further investigation but may be due to the wellbeing or recovery process after completing an energy depleting exercise bout.

Chapter 9.0

Practical Applications of Gastric Emptying Rate and Appetite after Manipulating Exercise on a Bike for the General Public.

9.1. Overview

The gastrointestinal system is one of the most diverse systems within the human body. The main role of the digestive system is to break down food mechanically and chemically into smaller pieces, that can be absorbed and utilised as energy by the human body (Nigam and Knight, 2017). The stomach is the first organ within the gastrointestinal system. Gastric emptying or gastric emptying rate (GER) refers to the process in which the stomach discharges its contents into the small intestine, where further digesting and the majority of food (nutrients once within the digestive system) are absorbed (Liu et al., 2021). Therefore, consuming large quantities of food and drink without appropriate amounts of exercise will eventually lead to weight gain, which is probably one of the largest precursors to obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. Fundamentally, research has focused on enhancing understanding related to the way gastrointestinal gut hormones such as insulin, ghrelin and GLP-1 interact to control body weight and weight management. Minimal research has been carried out to further understand the process of how gastric emptying might regulate appetite and satiety; a feeling or condition of being full after eating food.

This thesis was designed to focus on manipulating exercise by changing intensity from a low (still able to talk to someone next to you during exercise), through to a high (not able to talk to someone as your breathing rate would increase becoming heavy with other physical signs such as of sweating). Secondly, manipulating the mode of exercise is performed in, either continuously (non-stop for the duration of the exercise) or intermittently (stop-start exercise to rest for the time duration). Finally, using a mixture of the two conditions. Intensity and mode were used to assess whether completing more than one exercise bout within the same day, such as using a form of exercise to commute to work and then home, would have similar responses to a oneoff exercise bout such as going the gym as your daily activity.

Understanding the mechanisms of the stomach by examining the process of GER will help to formulate if there is a relationship between food ingestion after exercise. Therefore, this research is of paramount importance for the development of weight management programmes, to reduce the UK's ever-increasing overweight

problem, in order to prevent an obesity epidemic, by avoiding filling belly's with highstreets temptation snacks after well earnt physical activity.

9.2. Findings -What is the Take Home Message for Someone Aspiring to Change their Physique

The research was designed to raise awareness of the human body in relation to the consumption of semi-solid food after different exercise conditions on a bike. All findings within this thesis were short-term laboratory-based investigations using healthy, untrained, adult males, who endured several experimental investigations to draw upon the conclusions documented.

- At this moment it is not conclusive whether the speed at which a standardised semi-solid meal empties from the stomach after exercising on a bike has a positive or a negative effect on health.
- Low intensity continuous exercise increases the feeling of hunger. Although, after consuming food hunger is maintained, leading to a controlled energy intake, helping to achieve negative energy balance.
- 3) Moderate intensity intermittent exercise reduces the feeling of hunger after exercise, which results in compensation in energy intake in the first 24h. Suggesting, appetite suppression does not guarantee a reduction in energy intake or to achieve negative energy balance.
- 4) Consuming food or drink containing calories changes the sensitive balance between fat and carbohydrate energy metabolism. Proposing a delay in calorie intake in the hour/hours after exercise might increase the formulation of increased fat metabolism.
- 5) The gut hormone ghrelin increases and decreases reflecting the feeling of hunger after exercise in a fasted state. Ghrelin might be the first physiological sign notifying the brain to initiate energy intake.

6) Consuming food after continuous exercise causes blood glucose to increase and remain elevated more so than intermittent exercise. Any increase in blood glucose over long-periods of time are potentially detrimental to health.

The recommendations and suggestions documented, are related to findings from this thesis alone, and therefore directly related to a male population. Whether these findings are related to other populations are currently unclear.

9.3. Traffic Light Decision Tree for Quick Tips for Exercise



Figure 87:Decision tree illustrating the potential outcome when deciding how to manipulate exercise. With an easy-to-use traffic light conclusion. RO1, Research objective 1. Adjustments in exercise intensity; RO2, Research objective 2. Using an intermittent mode of exercise; RO3, Research objective 3; Organisation of exercise by conducting multiple exercise bouts; Dashed lines represent, recommendations using data only from this thesis; Dashed green lines (proceed), continue with ease; Dashed orange lines (caution), think before undertaking this exercise method; Dashed red lines (hazard), may cause negative physiological effect during or post-exercise; Blue italicize writing, key considerations. Change in the colour purple, indicates the increase in exercise intensity. CON, continuous exercise; INT, intermittent exercise; GER, gastric emptying rate; EI, energy intake; Fat OX, Fat oxidation rate; \uparrow , increase or faster; \downarrow , decrease or slower; \leftrightarrow no change or similar result; ?, Inconclusive result.

10.0. References

- ABBOTT, C. R., SMALL, C. J., KENNEDY, A. R., NEARY, N. M., SAJEDI, A., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2005. Blockade of the neuropeptide Y Y2 receptor with the specific antagonist BIIE0246 attenuates the effect of endogenous and exogenous peptide YY(3-36) on food intake. *Brain Res*, 1043, 139-44.
- ABBOTT, W., BRASHILL, C., BRETT, A. & CLIFFORD, T. 2019a. Tart Cherry Juice: No Effect on Muscle Function Loss or Muscle Soreness in Professional Soccer Players After a Match. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform*, 1-6.
- ABBOTT, W., BRETT, A., COCKBURN, E. & CLIFFORD, T. 2019b. Presleep Casein Protein Ingestion: Acceleration of Functional Recovery in Professional Soccer Players. *Int J Sports Physiol Perform,* 14, 385-391.
- ACHTEN, J., GLEESON, M. & JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2002. Determination of the exercise intensity that elicits maximal fat oxidation. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 34, 92-7.
- ACHTEN, J. & JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2004. Optimizing fat oxidation through exercise and diet. *Nutrition*, 20, 716-27.
- ACKEL-D'ELIA, C., CARNIER, J., BUENO, C. R., CAMPOS, R. M., SANCHES, P. L., CLEMENTE, A. P., TUFIK, S., DE MELLO, M. T. & DÂMASO, A. R. 2014. Effects of different physical exercises on leptin concentration in obese adolescents. *Int J Sports Med*, 35, 164-71.
- ADAM, T. C. & WESTERTERP-PLANTENGA, M. S. 2005. Glucagon-like peptide-1 release and satiety after a nutrient challenge in normal-weight and obese subjects. *Br J Nutr*, 93, 845-51.
- ADLER, G., BEGLINGER, C., BRAUN, U., REINSHAGEN, M., KOOP, I., SCHAFMAYER, A., ROVATI, L. & ARNOLD, R. 1991. Interaction of the cholinergic system and cholecystokinin in the regulation of endogenous and exogenous stimulation of pancreatic secretion in humans. *Gastroenterology*, 100, 537-43.
- ADRIAN, T. E., FERRI, G. L., BACARESE-HAMILTON, A. J., FUESSL, H. S., POLAK, J. M. & BLOOM, S. R. 1985. Human distribution and release of a putative new gut hormone, peptide YY. *Gastroenterology*, 89, 1070-7.
- AFROZE, S., MENG, F., JENSEN, K., MCDANIEL, K., RAHAL, K., ONORI, P., GAUDIO, E., ALPINI, G. & GLASER, S. S. 2013. The physiological roles of secretin and its receptor. *Ann Transl Med*, 1, 29.
- AHLMAN, H. & NILSSON 2001. The gut as the largest endocrine organ in the body. *Ann Oncol,* 12 Suppl 2, S63-8.
- AIRD, T. P., DAVIES, R. W. & CARSON, B. P. 2018. Effects of fasted vs. fed state exercise on performance and post-exercise metabolism: a systematic review & meta-analysis. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*.

- ALAJMI, N., DEIGHTON, K., KING, J. A., REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A., WASSE, L. K., JONES, J., BATTERHAM, R. L. & STENSEL, D. J. 2016. Appetite and Energy Intake Responses to Acute Energy Deficits in Females versus Males. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 48, 412-20.
- ALAMRI, B. N., SHIN, K., CHAPPE, V. & ANINI, Y. 2016. The role of ghrelin in the regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig*, 26, 3-11.
- ALDISS, P., BETTS, J., SALE, C., POPE, M., BUDGE, H. & SYMONDS, M. E. 2018. Exercise-induced 'browning' of adipose tissues. *Metabolism*, 81, 63-70.
- ALDISS, P., DELLSCHAFT, N., SACKS, H., BUDGE, H. & SYMONDS, M. E. 2017. Beyond obesity - thermogenic adipocytes and cardiometabolic health. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig,* 31.
- ALLEN, A. & FLEMSTRÖM, G. 2005. Gastroduodenal mucus bicarbonate barrier: protection against acid and pepsin. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 288, C1-19.
- ALSALIM, W. & AHRÉN, B. 2019. Insulin and incretin hormone responses to rapid versus slow ingestion of a standardized solid breakfast in healthy subjects. *Endocrinol Diabetes Metab*, 2, e00056.
- ALVAREZ-ČRESPO, M., SKIBICKA, K. P., FARKAS, I., MOLNÁR, C. S., EGECIOGLU, E., HRABOVSZKY, E., LIPOSITS, Z. & DICKSON, S. L. 2012. The amygdala as a neurobiological target for ghrelin in rats: neuroanatomical, electrophysiological and behavioral evidence. *PLoS One*, 7, e46321.
- ANDRADE-SOUZA, V. A., GHIARONE, T., SANSONIO, A., SANTOS SILVA, K. A., TOMAZINI, F., ARCOVERDE, L., FYFE, J., PERRI, E., SANER, N., KUANG, J., BERTUZZI, R., LEANDRO, C. G., BISHOP, D. J. & LIMA-SILVA, A. E. 2020. Exercise twice-a-day potentiates markers of mitochondrial biogenesis in men. *FASEB J*, 34, 1602-1619.
- ANINI, Y., FU-CHENG, X., CUBER, J. C., KERVRAN, A., CHARIOT, J. & ROZ, C. 1999. Comparison of the postprandial release of peptide YY and proglucagon-derived peptides in the rat. *Pflugers Arch*, 438, 299-306.
- ANTIN, J., GIBBS, J., HOLT, J., YOUNG, R. C. & SMITH, G. P. 1975. Cholecystokinin elicits the complete behavioral sequence of satiety in rats. *J Comp Physiol Psychol*, 89, 784-90.
- ARAGON, A. A. & SCHOENFELD, B. J. 2013. Nutrient timing revisited: is there a post-exercise anabolic window? *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*, 10, 5.
- ASAKAWA, A., INUI, A., YUZURIHA, H., UENO, N., KATSUURA, G., FUJIMIYA, M., FUJINO, M. A., NIIJIMA, A., MEGUID, M. M. & KASUGA, M. 2003. Characterization of the effects of pancreatic polypeptide in the regulation of energy balance. *Gastroenterology*, 124, 1325-36.
- ASIN, K. E., BEDNARZ, L., NIKKEL, A. L., GORE, P. A., MONTANA, W. E., CULLEN, M. J., SHIOSAKI, K., CRAIG, R. & NADZAN, A. M. 1992. Behavioral effects of A71623, a highly selective CCK-A agonist tetrapeptide. *Am J Physiol*, 263, R125-35.

- ASMAR, M., TANGAA, W., MADSBAD, S., HARE, K., ASTRUP, A., FLINT, A., BÜLOW, J. & HOLST, J. J. 2010. On the role of glucose-dependent insulintropic polypeptide in postprandial metabolism in humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 298, E614-21.
- ASTBURY, N. M., TAYLOR, M. A. & MACDONALD, I. A. 2011. Breakfast consumption affects appetite, energy intake, and the metabolic and endocrine responses to foods consumed later in the day in male habitual breakfast eaters. *J Nutr*, 141, 1381-9.
- ASTORINO, T. A. & SCHUBERT, M. M. 2018. Changes in fat oxidation in response to various regimes of high intensity interval training (HIIT). *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 118, 51-63.
- ATAKAN, M. M., LI, Y., KOŞAR, Ş., TURNAGÖL, H. H. & YAN, X. 2021. Evidence-Based Effects of High-Intensity Interval Training on Exercise Capacity and Health: A Review with Historical Perspective. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 18.
- BACHMAN, J. L., DEITRICK, R. W. & HILLMAN, A. R. 2016. Exercising in the Fasted State Reduced 24-Hour Energy Intake in Active Male Adults. *J Nutr Metab*, 2016, 1984198.
- BAILEY, D. M., DAVIES, B., CASTELL, L. M., NEWSHOLME, E. A. & CALAM, J. 2001. Physical exercise and normobaric hypoxia: independent modulators of peripheral cholecystokinin metabolism in man. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 90, 105-13.
- BAKE, T., EDVARDSSON, C. E., CUMMINGS, C. J. & DICKSON, S. L. 2019. Ghrelin's effects on food motivation in rats are not limited to palatable foods. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 31, e12665.
- BALAGUERA-CORTES, L., WALLMAN, K. E., FAIRCHILD, T. J. & GUELFI, K. J. 2011. Energy intake and appetite-related hormones following acute aerobic and resistance exercise. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 36, 958-66.
- BARDEN, N., MÉRAND, Y., ROULEAU, D., MOORE, S., DOCKRAY, G. J. & DUPONT, A. 1981. Regional distributions of somatostatin and cholecystokinin-like immunoreactivities in rat and bovine brain. *Peptides*, 2, 299-302.
- BARHUM, L. 2021. *What should you eat after working out?* [Online]. <u>https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/322692</u>: Medical News Today. [Accessed].
- BASOLO, A., HEINITZ, S., STINSON, E. J., BEGAYE, B., HOHENADEL, M., PIAGGI, P., KRAKOFF, J. & VOTRUBA, S. B. 2019. Fasting glucagon-like peptide 1 concentration is associated with lower carbohydrate intake and increases with overeating. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 42, 557-566.
- BASSAMI, M., AHMADIZAD, S., DORAN, D. & MACLAREN, D. P. 2007. Effects of exercise intensity and duration on fat metabolism in trained and untrained older males. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 101, 525-32.
- BATEMAN, D. N. & WHITTINGHAM, T. A. 1982. Measurement of gastric emptying by real-time ultrasound. *Gut*, 23, 524-7.
- BATTERHAM, R. L., COHEN, M. A., ELLIS, S. M., LE ROUX, C. W., WITHERS, D. J., FROST, G. S., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2003a. Inhibition

of food intake in obese subjects by peptide YY3-36. *N Engl J Med,* 349, 941-8.

- BATTERHAM, R. L., COWLEY, M. A., SMALL, C. J., HERZOG, H., COHEN, M. A., DAKIN, C. L., WREN, A. M., BRYNES, A. E., LOW, M. J., GHATEI, M. A., CONE, R. D. & BLOOM, S. R. 2002. Gut hormone PYY(3-36) physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature*, 418, 650-4.
- BATTERHAM, R. L., HEFFRON, H., KAPOOR, S., CHIVERS, J. E., CHANDARANA,
 K., HERZOG, H., LE ROUX, C. W., THOMAS, E. L., BELL, J. D. &
 WITHERS, D. J. 2006. Critical role for peptide YY in protein-mediated
 satiation and body-weight regulation. *Cell Metab*, 4, 223-33.
- BATTERHAM, R. L., LE ROUX, C. W., COHEN, M. A., PARK, A. J., ELLIS, S. M., PATTERSON, M., FROST, G. S., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2003b. Pancreatic polypeptide reduces appetite and food intake in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 3989-92.
- BEAULIEU, K., HOPKINS, M., BLUNDELL, J. & FINLAYSON, G. 2016. Does Habitual Physical Activity Increase the Sensitivity of the Appetite Control System? A Systematic Review. *Sports Med*, 46, 1897-1919.
- BECKER, G. F., MACEDO, R. C., CUNHA, G. O. S., MARTINS, J. B., LAITANO, O. & REISCHAK-OLIVEIRA, A. 2012. Combined effects of aerobic exercise and high-carbohydrate meal on plasma acylated ghrelin and levels of hunger. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 37, 184-92.
- BECKERS, E. J., REHRER, N. J., BROUNS, F., TEN HOOR, F. & SARIS, W. H. 1988. Determination of total gastric volume, gastric secretion and residual meal using the double sampling technique of George. *Gut*, 29, 1725-9.
- BEGLINGER, C., DEGEN, L., MATZINGER, D., D'AMATO, M. & DREWE, J. 2001. Loxiglumide, a CCK-A receptor antagonist, stimulates calorie intake and hunger feelings in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 280, R1149-54.
- BELL, P. G., STEVENSON, E., DAVISON, G. W. & HOWATSON, G. 2016. The Effects of Montmorency Tart Cherry Concentrate Supplementation on Recovery Following Prolonged, Intermittent Exercise. *Nutrients*, 8.
- BELL, P. G., WALSHE, I. H., DAVISON, G. W., STEVENSON, E. & HOWATSON, G. 2014. Montmorency cherries reduce the oxidative stress and inflammatory responses to repeated days high-intensity stochastic cycling. *Nutrients*, 6, 829-43.
- BELL, P. G., WALSHE, I. H., DAVISON, G. W., STEVENSON, E. J. & HOWATSON, G. 2015. Recovery facilitation with Montmorency cherries following high-intensity, metabolically challenging exercise. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 40, 414-23.
- BELLMANN, S., LELIEVELD, J., GORISSEN, T., MINEKUS, M. & HAVENAAR, R. 2016. Development of an advanced in vitro model of the stomach and its evaluation versus human gastric physiology. *Food research International*, 88, 191-198.

- BELLO, N. T., LUCAS, L. R. & HAJNAL, A. 2002. Repeated sucrose access influences dopamine D2 receptor density in the striatum. *Neuroreport*, 13, 1575-8.
- BENEDETTI, S., MOIR, H. J., STENSEL, D. J., THACKRAY, A. E., NAUGHTON, D. & ALLGROVE, J. E. 2021. Effects of moderate to vigorous intensity cycling on appetite, ad libitum energy intake and appetite-related hormones in healthy South Asian and white European men. *Appetite*, 165, 105282.
- BERGLUND, M. M., HIPSKIND, P. A. & GEHLERT, D. R. 2003. Recent developments in our understanding of the physiological role of PP-fold peptide receptor subtypes. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 228, 217-44.
- BERTHOUD, H. R., MÜNZBERG, H. & MORRISON, C. D. 2017. Blaming the Brain for Obesity: Integration of Hedonic and Homeostatic Mechanisms. *Gastroenterology*, 152, 1728-1738.
- BETTS, J. A., CHOWDHURY, E. A., GONZALEZ, J. T., RICHARDSON, J. D., TSINTZAS, K. & THOMPSON, D. 2016. Is breakfast the most important meal of the day? *Proc Nutr Soc*, 75, 464-474.
- BISHOP, D. J., BOTELLA, J., GENDERS, A. J., LEE, M. J., SANER, N. J., KUANG, J., YAN, X. & GRANATA, C. 2019. High-Intensity Exercise and Mitochondrial Biogenesis: Current Controversies and Future Research Directions. *Physiology (Bethesda)*, 34, 56-70.
- BLANKENSHIP, J. M., CHIPKIN, S. R., FREEDSON, P. S., STAUDENMAYER, J., LYDEN, K. & BRAUN, B. 2019. Managing free-living hyperglycemia with exercise or interrupted sitting in type 2 diabetes. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 126, 616-625.
- BLOM, W. A., STAFLEU, A., DE GRAAF, C., KOK, F. J., SCHAAFSMA, G. & HENDRIKS, H. F. 2005. Ghrelin response to carbohydrate-enriched breakfast is related to insulin. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 81, 367-75.
- BLUEMEL, S., MENNE, D., FRIED, M., SCHWIZER, W. & STEINGOETTER, A. 2015. On the validity of the (13) C-acetate breath test for comparing gastric emptying of different liquid test meals: a validation study using magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 27, 1487-94.
- BLUNDELL, J. 1991. Pharmacological approaches to appetite suppression. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 12, 147-57.
- BLUNDELL, J. 2018. Behaviour, energy balance, obesity and capitalism. *Eur J Clin Nutr,* 72, 1305-1309.
- BLUNDELL, J. E., GIBBONS, C., BEAULIEU, K., CASANOVA, N., DUARTE, C., FINLAYSON, G., STUBBS, R. J. & HOPKINS, M. 2020. The drive to eat in homo sapiens: Energy expenditure drives energy intake. *Physiol Behav*, 219, 112846.
- BLUNDELL, J. E. & KING, N. A. 1999. Physical activity and regulation of food intake: current evidence. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 31, S573-83.
- BLUNDELL, J. E. & KING, N. A. 2000. Exercise, appetite control, and energy balance. *Nutrition*, 16, 519-22.

- BLUNDELL, J. E., STUBBS, R. J., HUGHES, D. A., WHYBROW, S. & KING, N. A. 2003. Cross talk between physical activity and appetite control: does physical activity stimulate appetite? *Proc Nutr Soc*, 62, 651-61.
- BORG, G. A. 1973. Perceived exertion: a note on "history" and methods. *Med Sci Sports*, **5**, 90-3.
- BORNHORST, G. & SINGH, R. 2012. Bolus formation and disintegration during digestion of food carbohydrates. *Comprehensive*

Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety, 11.

- BORNHORST, G. M. & PAUL SINGH, R. 2014. Gastric digestion in vivo and in vitro: how the structural aspects of food influence the digestion process. *Annu Rev Food Sci Technol*, 5, 111-32.
- BOSS, L., KANG, D. H., BERGSTROM, N. & LEASURE, J. L. 2015. Endogenous sex hormones and cognitive function in the elderly. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 27, 515-21.
- BOULES, M., LI, Z., SMITH, K., FREDRICKSON, P. & RICHELSON, E. 2013. Diverse roles of neurotensin agonists in the central nervous system. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne),* 4, 36.
- BOUTCHER, S. H. 2011. High-intensity intermittent exercise and fat loss. *J Obes*, 2011, 868305.
- BRADEN, B. 2009. Methods and functions: Breath tests. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 23, 337-52.
- BRADEN, B., ADAMS, S., DUAN, L. P., ORTH, K. H., MAUL, F. D., LEMBCKE, B., HÖR, G. & CASPARY, W. F. 1995. The [13C]acetate breath test accurately reflects gastric emptying of liquids in both liquid and semisolid test meals. *Gastroenterology*, 108, 1048-55.
- BRAY, G. A., HEISEL, W. E., AFSHIN, A., JENSEN, M. D., DIETZ, W. H., LONG, M., KUSHNER, R. F., DANIELS, S. R., WADDEN, T. A., TSAI, A. G., HU, F. B., JAKICIC, J. M., RYAN, D. H., WOLFE, B. M. & INGE, T. H. 2018. The Science of Obesity Management: An Endocrine Society Scientific Statement. *Endocr Rev*, 39, 79-132.
- BRENNAN, I. M., FELTRIN, K. L., NAIR, N. S., HAUSKEN, T., LITTLE, T. J., GENTILCORE, D., WISHART, J. M., JONES, K. L., HOROWITZ, M. & FEINLE-BISSET, C. 2009. Effects of the phases of the menstrual cycle on gastric emptying, glycemia, plasma GLP-1 and insulin, and energy intake in healthy lean women. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 297, G602-10.
- BRENNAN, I. M., SEIMON, R. V., LUSCOMBE-MARSH, N. D., OTTO, B., HOROWITZ, M. & FEINLE-BISSET, C. 2011. Effects of acute dietary restriction on gut motor, hormone and energy intake responses to duodenal fat in obese men. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 35, 448-56.
- BRIATORE, L., ANDRAGHETTI, G. & CORDERA, R. 2003. Acute plasma glucose increase, but not early insulin response, regulates plasma ghrelin. *Eur J Endocrinol,* 149, 403-6.
- BROCK, D. W., THOMAS, O., COWAN, C. D., ALLISON, D. B., GAESSER, G. A. & HUNTER, G. R. 2009. Association between insufficiently physically

active and the prevalence of obesity in the United States. *J Phys Act Health*, 6, 1-5.

- BROGLIO, F., ARVAT, E., BENSO, A., GOTTERO, C., MUCCIOLI, G., PAPOTTI, M., VAN DER LELY, A. J., DEGHENGHI, R. & GHIGO, E. 2001. Ghrelin, a natural GH secretagogue produced by the stomach, induces hyperglycemia and reduces insulin secretion in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 86, 5083-6.
- BROGLIO, F., BENSO, A., CASTIGLIONI, C., GOTTERO, C., PRODAM, F., DESTEFANIS, S., GAUNA, C., VAN DER LELY, A. J., DEGHENGHI, R., BO, M., ARVAT, E. & GHIGO, E. 2003a. The endocrine response to ghrelin as a function of gender in humans in young and elderly subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 1537-42.
- BROGLIO, F., GOTTERO, C., BENSO, A., PRODAM, F., DESTEFANIS, S., GAUNA, C., MACCARIO, M., DEGHENGHI, R., VAN DER LELY, A. J. & GHIGO, E. 2003b. Effects of ghrelin on the insulin and glycemic responses to glucose, arginine, or free fatty acids load in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 4268-72.
- BROGLIO, F., GOTTERO, C., PRODAM, F., DESTEFANIS, S., GAUNA, C., ME, E., RIGANTI, F., VIVENZA, D., RAPA, A., MARTINA, V., ARVAT, E., BONA, G., VAN DER LELY, A. J. & GHIGO, E. 2004. Ghrelin secretion is inhibited by glucose load and insulin-induced hypoglycaemia but unaffected by glucagon and arginine in humans. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 61, 503-9.
- BROOKS, G. A., BUTTE, N. F., RAND, W. M., FLATT, J. P. & CABALLERO, B. 2004. Chronicle of the Institute of Medicine physical activity recommendation: how a physical activity recommendation came to be among dietary recommendations. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 79, 921S-930S.
- BROOM, D. R., BATTERHAM, R. L., KING, J. A. & STENSEL, D. J. 2009. Influence of resistance and aerobic exercise on hunger, circulating levels of acylated ghrelin, and peptide YY in healthy males. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 296, R29-35.
- BROOM, D. R., MIYASHITA, M., WASSE, L. K., PULSFORD, R., KING, J. A., THACKRAY, A. E. & STENSEL, D. J. 2017. Acute effect of exercise intensity and duration on acylated ghrelin and hunger in men. J Endocrinol, 232, 411-422.
- BROOM, D. R., STENSEL, D. J., BISHOP, N. C., BURNS, S. F. & MIYASHITA, M. 2007. Exercise-induced suppression of acylated ghrelin in humans. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 102, 2165-71.
- BROUNS, F. & BECKERS, E. 1993. Is the gut an athletic organ? Digestion, absorption and exercise. *Sports Med*, 15, 242-57.
- BROUNS, F., SENDEN, J., BECKERS, E. J. & SARIS, W. H. 1995. Osmolarity does not affect the gastric emptying rate of oral rehydration solutions. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr,* 19, 403-6.
- BROWNLEY, K. A., HEYMEN, S., HINDERLITER, A. L. & MACINTOSH, B. 2010. Effect of glycemic load on peptide-YY levels in a biracial sample of

obese and normal weight women. *Obesity (Silver Spring),* 18, 1297-303.

- BRÖER, S. 2008. Amino acid transport across mammalian intestinal and renal epithelia. *Physiol Rev*, 88, 249-86.
- BUCHHOLZ, V., BERKENSTADT, H., GOITEIN, D., DICKMAN, R., BERNSTINE, H. & RUBIN, M. 2013. Gastric emptying is not prolonged in obese patients. *Surg Obes Relat Dis,* 9, 714-7.
- BULLOCK, B. P., HELLER, R. S. & HABENER, J. F. 1996. Tissue distribution of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding the rat glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. *Endocrinology*, 137, 2968-78.
- BURDAN, F., ZINKIEWICZ, K., SZUMIŁO, J., RÓŻYŁO-KALINOWSKA, I., STAROSŁAWSKA, E., KRUPSKI, W., DWORZAŃSKI, W., DĄBROWSKI, A. & WALLNER, G. 2012. Anatomical classification of the shape and topography of the operated stomach. *Folia Morphol (Warsz)*, 71, 129-35.
- BURKE, L. M. 2021. Ketogenic low-CHO, high-fat diet: the future of elite endurance sport? *J Physiol*, 599, 819-843.
- BURKE, L. M., KIENS, B. & IVY, J. L. 2004. Carbohydrates and fat for training and recovery. *J Sports Sci*, 22, 15-30.
- BURKE, L. M., WHITFIELD, J., HEIKURA, I. A., ROSS, M. L. R., TEE, N., FORBES, S. F., HALL, R., MCKAY, A. K. A., WALLETT, A. M. & SHARMA, A. P. 2021. Adaptation to a low carbohydrate high fat diet is rapid but impairs endurance exercise metabolism and performance despite enhanced glycogen availability. *J Physiol*, 599, 771-790.
- BURNS, S. F., BROOM, D. R., MIYASHITA, M., MUNDY, C. & STENSEL, D. J. 2007. A single session of treadmill running has no effect on plasma total ghrelin concentrations. *J Sports Sci*, 25, 635-42.
- BUYSE, M., BERLIOZ, F., GUILMEAU, S., TSOCAS, A., VOISIN, T., PÉRANZI, G., MERLIN, D., LABURTHE, M., LEWIN, M. J., ROZÉ, C. & BADO, A. 2001. PepT1-mediated epithelial transport of dipeptides and cephalexin is enhanced by luminal leptin in the small intestine. *J Clin Invest*, 108, 1483-94.
- BÉDARD, A., LAMARCHE, B., CORNEAU, L., DODIN, S. & LEMIEUX, S. 2015. Sex differences in the impact of the Mediterranean diet on systemic inflammation. *Nutr J*, 14, 46.
- CAHILL, G. F. 2006. Fuel metabolism in starvation. Annu Rev Nutr, 26, 1-22.
- CALLAHAN, H. S., CUMMINGS, D. E., PEPE, M. S., BREEN, P. A., MATTHYS, C. C. & WEIGLE, D. S. 2004. Postprandial suppression of plasma ghrelin level is proportional to ingested caloric load but does not predict intermeal interval in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89, 1319-24.
- CAMILLERI, M. 2009. Peripheral mechanisms in the control of appetite and related experimental therapies in obesity. *Regul Pept,* 156, 24-7.
- CAMILLERI, M., ITURRINO, J., BHARUCHA, A. E., BURTON, D., SHIN, A., JEONG, I. D. & ZINSMEISTER, A. R. 2012. Performance characteristics of scintigraphic measurement of gastric emptying of solids in healthy participants. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 24, 1076-e562.

- CAMMACK, J., READ, N. W., CANN, P. A., GREENWOOD, B. & HOLGATE, A. M. 1982. Effect of prolonged exercise on the passage of a solid meal through the stomach and small intestine. *Gut*, 23, 957-61.
- CAMPS, G., MARS, M., DE GRAAF, C. & SMEETS, P. A. 2016. Empty calories and phantom fullness: a randomized trial studying the relative effects of energy density and viscosity on gastric emptying determined by MRI and satiety. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 104, 73-80.
- CARBONE, S. F., TANGANELLI, I., CAPODIVENTO, S., RICCI, V. & VOLTERRANI, L. 2010. Magnetic resonance imaging in the evaluation of the gastric emptying and antral motion: feasibility and reproducibility of a fast not invasive technique. *Eur J Radiol*, 75, 212-4.
- CARROLL, J. F., KAISER, K. A., FRANKS, S. F., DEERE, C. & CAFFREY, J. L. 2007. Influence of BMI and gender on postprandial hormone responses. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 15, 2974-83.
- CASTIGLIONE, K. E., READ, N. W. & FRENCH, S. J. 2002. Adaptation to highfat diet accelerates emptying of fat but not carbohydrate test meals in humans. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 282, R366-71.
- CASTILLO, E. J., DELGADO-AROS, S., CAMILLERI, M., BURTON, D., STEPHENS, D., O'CONNOR-SEMMES, R., WALKER, A., SHACHOY-CLARK, A. & ZINSMEISTER, A. R. 2004. Effect of oral CCK-1 agonist GI181771X on fasting and postprandial gastric functions in healthy volunteers. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 287, G363-9.
- CATENACCI, V. A. & WYATT, H. R. 2007. The role of physical activity in producing and maintaining weight loss. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab*, 3, 518-29.
- CAZZO, E., GESTIC, M. A., UTRINI, M. P., CHAIM, F. D., GELONEZE, B., PAREJA, J. C., CHAIM, E. A. & MAGRO, D. O. 2016. GLP-2: A POORLY UNDERSTOOD MEDIATOR ENROLLED IN VARIOUS BARIATRIC/METABOLIC SURGERY-RELATED PATHOPHYSIOLOGIC MECHANISMS. *Arq Bras Cir Dig*, 29, 272-275.
- CECIL, J. E., FRANCIS, J. & READ, N. W. 1999. Comparison of the effects of a high-fat and high-carbohydrate soup delivered orally and intragastrically on gastric emptying, appetite, and eating behaviour. *Physiol Behav*, 67, 299-306.
- CHAMBERS, K. F., DAY, P. E., ABOUFARRAG, H. T. & KROON, P. A. 2019. Polyphenol Effects on Cholesterol Metabolism via Bile Acid Biosynthesis, CYP7A1: A Review. *Nutrients*, 11.
- CHAN, J. L., HEIST, K., DEPAOLI, A. M., VELDHUIS, J. D. & MANTZOROS, C. S. 2003. The role of falling leptin levels in the neuroendocrine and metabolic adaptation to short-term starvation in healthy men. *J Clin Invest*, 111, 1409-21.
- CHAN, R. & WOO, J. 2010. Prevention of overweight and obesity: how effective is the current public health approach. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 7, 765-83.

- CHANG, J., RAYNER, C. K., JONES, K. L. & HOROWITZ, M. 2010. Diabetic gastroparesis and its impact on glycemia. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 39, 745-62.
- CHAVARRIAS, M., CARLOS-VIVAS, J., COLLADO-MATEO, D. & PÉREZ-GÓMEZ, J. 2019. Health Benefits of Indoor Cycling: A Systematic Review. *Medicina (Kaunas)*, 55.
- CHAZAUD, B. 2016. Inflammation during skeletal muscle regeneration and tissue remodeling: application to exercise-induced muscle damage management. *Immunol Cell Biol*, 94, 140-5.
- CHELIKANI, P. K., HAVER, A. C. & REIDELBERGER, R. D. 2004. Comparison of the inhibitory effects of PYY(3-36) and PYY(1-36) on gastric emptying in rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 287, R1064-70.
- CHEN, C. H., ROGERS, R. C. & STEPHENS, R. L. 1996. Intracisternal injection of peptide YY inhibits gastric emptying in rats. *Regul Pept*, 61, 95-8.
- CHENG, L. K., O'GRADY, G., DU, P., EGBUJI, J. U., WINDSOR, J. A. & PULLAN, A. J. 2010. Gastrointestinal system. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med*, 2, 65-79.
- CHEY, W. D., SHAPIRO, B., ZAWADSKI, A. & GOODMAN, K. 2001. Gastric emptying characteristics of a novel (13)C-octanoate-labeled muffin meal. *J Clin Gastroenterol*, 32, 394-9.
- CHUANG, J. C., SAKATA, I., KOHNO, D., PERELLO, M., OSBORNE-LAWRENCE, S., REPA, J. J. & ZIGMAN, J. M. 2011. Ghrelin directly stimulates glucagon secretion from pancreatic alpha-cells. *Mol Endocrinol*, 25, 1600-11.
- CHURCH, T. S., THOMAS, D. M., TUDOR-LOCKE, C., KATZMARZYK, P. T., EARNEST, C. P., RODARTE, R. Q., MARTIN, C. K., BLAIR, S. N. & BOUCHARD, C. 2011. Trends over 5 decades in U.S. occupation-related physical activity and their associations with obesity. *PLoS One,* 6, e19657.
- CLAYTON, D. J., BARUTCU, A., MACHIN, C., STENSEL, D. J. & JAMES, L. J. 2015. Effect of Breakfast Omission on Energy Intake and Evening Exercise Performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 2645-52.
- CLAYTON, D. J., BURRELL, K., MYNOTT, G., CREESE, M., SKIDMORE, N., STENSEL, D. J. & JAMES, L. J. 2016. Effect of 24-h severe energy restriction on appetite regulation and ad libitum energy intake in lean men and women. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 104, 1545-1553.
- CLAYTON, D. J., EVANS, G. H. & JAMES, L. J. 2014. Effect of drink carbohydrate content on postexercise gastric emptying, rehydration, and the calculation of net fluid balance. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 24, 79-89.
- CLEGG, M., MCCLEAN, C., DAVISON, W. G., MURPHY, H. M., TRINICK, T., DULY, E., MCLAUGHLIN, J., FOGARTY, M. & SHAFAT, A. 2007. Exercise and postprandial lipaemia: effects on peripheral vascular function, oxidative stress and gastrointestinal transit. *Lipids Health Dis*, 6, 30.
- CLIFFORD, T., BELL, O., WEST, D. J., HOWATSON, G. & STEVENSON, E. J. 2016. The effects of beetroot juice supplementation on indices of

muscle damage following eccentric exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol,* 116, 353-62.

- CLIFFORD, T., BELL, O., WEST, D. J., HOWATSON, G. & STEVENSON, E. J. 2017. Antioxidant-rich beetroot juice does not adversely affect acute neuromuscular adaptation following eccentric exercise. *J Sports Sci*, 35, 812-819.
- COCHRAN, A. J., MYSLIK, F., MACINNIS, M. J., PERCIVAL, M. E., BISHOP, D., TARNOPOLSKY, M. A. & GIBALA, M. J. 2015. Manipulating Carbohydrate Availability Between Twice-Daily Sessions of High-Intensity Interval Training Over 2 Weeks Improves Time-Trial Performance. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 25, 463-70.
- COHEN, J. 1992. Statistical power analysis. *Current directions in psychological science*, 1, 98-101.
- COHEN, M. A., ELLIS, S. M., LE ROUX, C. W., BATTERHAM, R. L., PARK, A., PATTERSON, M., FROST, G. S., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2003. Oxyntomodulin suppresses appetite and reduces food intake in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 4696-701.
- COLANTUONI, C., RADA, P., MCCARTHY, J., PATTEN, C., AVENA, N. M., CHADEAYNE, A. & HOEBEL, B. G. 2002. Evidence that intermittent, excessive sugar intake causes endogenous opioid dependence. *Obes Res*, 10, 478-88.
- COLLINS, P. J., HOUGHTON, L. A., READ, N. W., HOROWITZ, M., CHATTERTON, B. E., HEDDLE, R. & DENT, J. 1991. Role of the proximal and distal stomach in mixed solid and liquid meal emptying. *Gut*, 32, 615-9.
- CONNETT, J. E. & LEE, W. W. 1990. Estimation of the coefficient of variation from laboratory analysis of split specimens for quality control in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials*, 11, 24-36.
- CORK, S. C. 2018. The role of the vagus nerve in appetite control: Implications for the pathogenesis of obesity. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 30, e12643.
- COSTILL, D. L., COYLE, E., DALSKY, G., EVANS, W., FINK, W. & HOOPES, D. 1977. Effects of elevated plasma FFA and insulin on muscle glycogen usage during exercise. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol*, 43, 695-9.
- COSTILL, D. L. & SALTIN, B. 1974. Factors limiting gastric emptying during rest and exercise. *J Appl Physiol*, 37, 679-83.
- COWLEY, M. A., SMITH, R. G., DIANO, S., TSCHÖP, M., PRONCHUK, N., GROVE, K. L., STRASBURGER, C. J., BIDLINGMAIER, M., ESTERMAN, M., HEIMAN, M. L., GARCIA-SEGURA, L. M., NILLNI, E. A., MENDEZ, P., LOW, M. J., SOTONYI, P., FRIEDMAN, J. M., LIU, H., PINTO, S., COLMERS, W. F., CONE, R. D. & HORVATH, T. L. 2003. The distribution and mechanism of action of ghrelin in the CNS demonstrates a novel hypothalamic circuit regulating energy homeostasis. *Neuron*, 37, 649-61.
- COX, H. M. 2007. Peptide YY: a neuroendocrine neighbor of note. *Peptides*, 28, 345-51.

- COYLE, E. F. 1995. Substrate utilization during exercise in active people. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 61, 968S-979S.
- COYLE, E. F. & COGGAN, A. R. 1984. Effectiveness of carbohydrate feeding in delaying fatigue during prolonged exercise. *Sports Med*, 1, 446-58.
- CRABTREE, D. R. & BLANNIN, A. K. 2015. Effects of exercise in the cold on Ghrelin, PYY, and food intake in overweight adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 49-57.
- CRAIG, J. W., DRUCKER, W. R., MILLER, M. & WOODWARD, H. 1961. A prompt effect of exogenous insulin on net hepatic glucose output in man. *Metabolism*, 10, 212-20.
- CRAWLEY, J. N. 1985. Neurochemical investigation of the afferent pathway from the vagus nerve to the nucleus tractus solitarius in mediating the "satiety syndrome" induced by systemic cholecystokinin. *Peptides,* 6 Suppl 1, 133-7.
- CRAWLEY, J. N. & KISS, J. Z. 1985. Paraventricular nucleus lesions abolish the inhibition of feeding induced by systemic cholecystokinin. *Peptides*, 6, 927-35.
- CUMMINGS, D. E. 2006. Ghrelin and the short- and long-term regulation of appetite and body weight. *Physiol Behav*, 89, 71-84.
- CUMMINGS, D. E., FRAYO, R. S., MARMONIER, C., AUBERT, R. & CHAPELOT, D. 2004. Plasma ghrelin levels and hunger scores in humans initiating meals voluntarily without time- and food-related cues. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 287, E297-304.
- CUMMINGS, D. E., PURNELL, J. Q., FRAYO, R. S., SCHMIDOVA, K., WISSE, B. E. & WEIGLE, D. S. 2001. A preprandial rise in plasma ghrelin levels suggests a role in meal initiation in humans. *Diabetes*, 50, 1714-9.
- CUNNINGHAM, K. M., DALY, J., HOROWITZ, M. & READ, N. W. 1991a. Gastrointestinal adaptation to diets of differing fat composition in human volunteers. *Gut*, 32, 483-6.
- CUNNINGHAM, K. M., HOROWITZ, M. & READ, N. W. 1991b. The effect of short-term dietary supplementation with glucose on gastric emptying in humans. *Br J Nutr*, 65, 15-9.
- CUTLER, D. M., GLAESER, E. L. & SHAPIRO, J. M. 2003. Why have Americans become more obese? *Journal of Economic perspectives*, 17, 93-118.
- DARWICHE, G., ALMÉR, L. O., BJÖRGELL, O., CEDERHOLM, C. & NILSSON, P. 1999. Measurement of gastric emptying by standardized real-time ultrasonography in healthy subjects and diabetic patients. *J Ultrasound Med*, 18, 673-82.
- DE CASTRO, J. M. 1997. Socio-cultural determinants of meal size and frequency. *Br J Nutr*, 77 Suppl 1, S39-54; discussion S54-5.
- DE FEO, P. 2013. Is high-intensity exercise better than moderate-intensity exercise for weight loss? *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis,* 23, 1037-42.
- DE FEO, P., DI LORETO, C., LUCIDI, P., MURDOLO, G., PARLANTI, N., DE CICCO, A., PICCIONI, F. & SANTEUSANIO, F. 2003. Metabolic response to exercise. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 26, 851-4.

- DE SILVA, A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2012. Gut Hormones and Appetite Control: A Focus on PYY and GLP-1 as Therapeutic Targets in Obesity. *Gut Liver*, 6, 10-20.
- DE ZWART, I. M. & DE ROOS, A. 2010. MRI for the evaluation of gastric physiology. *Eur Radiol*, 20, 2609-16.
- DEANE, A. M., NGUYEN, N. Q., STEVENS, J. E., FRASER, R. J., HOLLOWAY, R. H., BESANKO, L. K., BURGSTAD, C., JONES, K. L., CHAPMAN, M. J., RAYNER, C. K. & HOROWITZ, M. 2010. Endogenous glucagon-like peptide-1 slows gastric emptying in healthy subjects, attenuating postprandial glycemia. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95, 215-21.
- DECARIE-SPAIN, L. & KANOSKI, S. E. 2021. Ghrelin and Glucagon-Like Peptide-1: A Gut-Brain Axis Battle for Food Reward. *Nutrients*, 13.
- DEIGHTON, K., BARRY, R., CONNON, C. E. & STENSEL, D. J. 2013a. Appetite, gut hormone and energy intake responses to low volume sprint interval and traditional endurance exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 113, 1147-56.
- DEIGHTON, K., KARRA, E., BATTERHAM, R. L. & STENSEL, D. J. 2013b. Appetite, energy intake, and PYY3-36 responses to energy-matched continuous exercise and submaximal high-intensity exercise. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 38, 947-52.
- DEIGHTON, K. & STENSEL, D. J. 2014. Creating an acute energy deficit without stimulating compensatory increases in appetite: is there an optimal exercise protocol? *Proc Nutr Soc*, 73, 352-8.
- DEL PARIGI, A., CHEN, K., GAUTIER, J. F., SALBE, A. D., PRATLEY, R. E., RAVUSSIN, E., REIMAN, E. M. & TATARANNI, P. A. 2002a. Sex differences in the human brain's response to hunger and satiation. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 75, 1017-22.
- DEL PARIGI, A., GAUTIER, J. F., CHEN, K., SALBE, A. D., RAVUSSIN, E., REIMAN, E. & TATARANNI, P. A. 2002b. Neuroimaging and obesity: mapping the brain responses to hunger and satiation in humans using positron emission tomography. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 967, 389-97.
- DELZENNE, N., BLUNDELL, J., BROUNS, F., CUNNINGHAM, K., DE GRAAF, K., ERKNER, A., LLUCH, A., MARS, M., PETERS, H. P. & WESTERTERP-PLANTENGA, M. 2010. Gastrointestinal targets of appetite regulation in humans. *Obes Rev*, 11, 234-50.
- DEVLIN, J. T., HIRSHMAN, M., HORTON, E. D. & HORTON, E. S. 1987. Enhanced peripheral and splanchnic insulin sensitivity in NIDDM men after single bout of exercise. *Diabetes*, 36, 434-9.
- DEVLIN, J. T. & HORTON, E. S. 1985. Effects of prior high-intensity exercise on glucose metabolism in normal and insulin-resistant men. *Diabetes*, 34, 973-9.
- DEZAKI, K., HOSODA, H., KAKEI, M., HASHIGUCHI, S., WATANABE, M., KANGAWA, K. & YADA, T. 2004. Endogenous ghrelin in pancreatic islets restricts insulin release by attenuating Ca2+ signaling in beta-cells: implication in the glycemic control in rodents. *Diabetes*, 53, 3142-51.
- DI ANGELANTONIO, E., BHUPATHIRAJU, S. N., WORMSER, D., GAO, P., KAPTOGE, S., BERRINGTON DE GONZALEZ, A., CAIRNS, B. J., HUXLEY,

R., JACKSON, C. L., JOSHY, G., LEWINGTON, S., MANSON, J. E., MURPHY, N., PATEL, A. V., SAMET, J. M., WOODWARD, M., ZHENG, W., ZHOU, M., BANSAL, N., BARRICARTE, A., CARTER, B., CERHAN, J. R., SMITH, G. D., FANG, X., FRANCO, O. H., GREEN, J., HALSEY, J., HILDEBRAND, J. S., JUNG, K. J., KORDA, R. J., MCLERRAN, D. F., MOORE, S. C., O'KEEFFE, L. M., PAIGE, E., RAMOND, A., REEVES, G. K., ROLLAND, B., SACERDOTE, C., SATTAR, N., SOFIANOPOULOU, E., STEVENS, J., THUN, M., UESHIMA, H., YANG, L., YUN, Y. D., WILLEIT, P., BANKS, E., BERAL, V., CHEN, Z., GAPSTUR, S. M., GUNTER, M. J., HARTGE, P., JEE, S. H., LAM, T. H., PETO, R., POTTER, J. D., WILLETT, W. C., THOMPSON, S. G., DANESH, J. & HU, F. B. 2016. Body-mass index and all-cause mortality: individual-participant-data meta-analysis of 239 prospective studies in four continents. *Lancet*, 388, 776-86.

- DI CIAULA, A., WANG, D. Q. & PORTINCASA, P. 2012. Gallbladder and gastric motility in obese newborns, pre-adolescents and adults. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 27, 1298-305.
- DI FRANCESCO, V., FANTIN, F., RESIDORI, L., BISSOLI, L., MICCIOLO, R., ZIVELONGHI, A., ZOICO, E., OMIZZOLO, F., BOSELLO, O. & ZAMBONI, M. 2008. Effect of age on the dynamics of acylated ghrelin in fasting conditions and in response to a meal. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 56, 1369-70.
- DI FRANCESCO, V., ZAMBONI, M., DIOLI, A., ZOICO, E., MAZZALI, G., OMIZZOLO, F., BISSOLI, L., SOLERTE, S. B., BENINI, L. & BOSELLO, O. 2005. Delayed postprandial gastric emptying and impaired gallbladder contraction together with elevated cholecystokinin and peptide YY serum levels sustain satiety and inhibit hunger in healthy elderly persons. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 60, 1581-5.
- DICKSON, L. & FINLAYSON, K. 2009. VPAC and PAC receptors: From ligands to function. *Pharmacol Ther*, 121, 294-316.
- DIMITRIADIS, G., MITROU, P., LAMBADIARI, V., MARATOU, E. & RAPTIS, S. A. 2011. Insulin effects in muscle and adipose tissue. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract,* 93 Suppl 1, S52-9.
- DJURHUUS, C. B., HANSEN, T. K., GRAVHOLT, C., ØRSKOV, L., HOSODA, H., KANGAWA, K., JØRGENSEN, J. O., HOLST, J. J. & SCHMITZ, O. 2002. Circulating levels of ghrelin and GLP-1 are inversely related during glucose ingestion. *Horm Metab Res,* 34, 411-3.
- DOCKRAY, G. J. 1999. Topical review. Gastrin and gastric epithelial physiology. *J Physiol*, 518 (Pt 2), 315-24.
- DOCKRAY, G. J. 2009. Cholecystokinin and gut-brain signalling. *Regul Pept*, 155, 6-10.
- DONNELLY, J. E., BLAIR, S. N., JAKICIC, J. M., MANORE, M. M., RANKIN, J. W., SMITH, B. K. & MEDICINE, A. C. O. S. 2009. American College of Sports Medicine Position Stand. Appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 41, 459-71.

- DORAN, S., JONES, K. L., ANDREWS, J. M. & HOROWITZ, M. 1998. Effects of meal volume and posture on gastric emptying of solids and appetite. *Am J Physiol*, 275, R1712-8.
- DORTON, H. M., LUO, S., MONTEROSSO, J. R. & PAGE, K. A. 2017. Influences of Dietary Added Sugar Consumption on Striatal Food-Cue Reactivity and Postprandial GLP-1 Response. *Front Psychiatry*, 8, 297.
- DOTY, R. L. & KAMATH, V. 2014. The influences of age on olfaction: a review. *Front Psychol*, 5, 20.
- DRECHSLER, K. & FERRUA, M. 2016. Modelling the breakdown
- mechanics of solid foods during gastric digestion. Food Research

International, 88, 181-190.

- DRUCKER, D. J. 2005. Biologic actions and therapeutic potential of the proglucagon-derived peptides. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab*, 1, 22-31.
- EDHOLM, T., DEGERBLAD, M., GRYBÄCK, P., HILSTED, L., HOLST, J. J., JACOBSSON, H., EFENDIC, S., SCHMIDT, P. T. & HELLSTRÖM, P. M. 2010. Differential incretin effects of GIP and GLP-1 on gastric emptying, appetite, and insulin-glucose homeostasis. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 22, 1191-200, e315.
- EDINBURGH, R. M., HENGIST, A., SMITH, H. A., TRAVERS, R. L., BETTS, J. A., THOMPSON, D., WALHIN, J. P., WALLIS, G. A., HAMILTON, D. L., STEVENSON, E. J., TIPTON, K. D. & GONZALEZ, J. T. 2019. Skipping Breakfast Before Exercise Creates a More Negative 24-hour Energy Balance: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Healthy Physically Active Young Men. *J Nutr*, 149, 1326-1334.
- EDWARDS, G. L., LADENHEIM, E. E. & RITTER, R. C. 1986. Dorsomedial hindbrain participation in cholecystokinin-induced satiety. *Am J Physiol*, 251, R971-7.
- EGIDO, E. M., RODRIGUEZ-GALLARDO, J., SILVESTRE, R. A. & MARCO, J. 2002. Inhibitory effect of ghrelin on insulin and pancreatic somatostatin secretion. *Eur J Endocrinol,* 146, 241-4.
- EISSELE, R., GÖKE, R., WILLEMER, S., HARTHUS, H. P., VERMEER, H., ARNOLD, R. & GÖKE, B. 1992. Glucagon-like peptide-1 cells in the gastrointestinal tract and pancreas of rat, pig and man. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 22, 283-91.
- ERDMANN, J., TAHBAZ, R., LIPPL, F., WAGENPFEIL, S. & SCHUSDZIARRA, V. 2007. Plasma ghrelin levels during exercise - effects of intensity and duration. *Regul Pept*, 143, 127-35.
- ERDMANN, J., TÖPSCH, R., LIPPL, F., GUSSMANN, P. & SCHUSDZIARRA, V. 2004. Postprandial response of plasma ghrelin levels to various test meals in relation to food intake, plasma insulin, and glucose. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 89, 3048-54.
- EVANS, G. H., MATTIN, L., IRELAND, I., HARRISON, W., YAU, A. M. W., MCIVER, V., POCOCK, T., SHEADER, E. & JAMES, L. J. 2018a. Bolus Ingestion of Whey Protein Immediately Post-Exercise Does Not

Influence Rehydration Compared to Energy-Matched Carbohydrate Ingestion. *Nutrients,* 10.

- EVANS, G. H., MCLAUGHLIN, J. & YAU, A. M. W. 2018b. The Effect of Glucose or Fructose Added to a Semi-solid Meal on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite, and Blood Biochemistry. *Front Nutr,* 5, 94.
- EVANS, G. H., WATSON, P., SHIRREFFS, S. M. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 2016. Effect of Exercise Intensity on Subsequent Gastric Emptying Rate in Humans. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 26, 128-34.
- FALKÉN, Y., WEBB, D. L., ABRAHAM-NORDLING, M., KRESSNER, U., HELLSTRÖM, P. M. & NÄSLUND, E. 2013. Intravenous ghrelin accelerates postoperative gastric emptying and time to first bowel movement in humans. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 25, 474-80.
- FARAH, N. M. & GILL, J. M. 2013. Effects of exercise before or after meal ingestion on fat balance and postprandial metabolism in overweight men. *Br J Nutr,* 109, 2297-307.
- FAROOQI, I. S., JEBB, S. A., LANGMACK, G., LAWRENCE, E., CHEETHAM, C. H., PRENTICE, A. M., HUGHES, I. A., MCCAMISH, M. A. & O'RAHILLY, S. 1999. Effects of recombinant leptin therapy in a child with congenital leptin deficiency. *N Engl J Med*, 341, 879-84.
- FAROOQI, I. S., KEOGH, J. M., YEO, G. S., LANK, E. J., CHEETHAM, T. & O'RAHILLY, S. 2003. Clinical spectrum of obesity and mutations in the melanocortin 4 receptor gene. *N Engl J Med*, 348, 1085-95.
- FEINLE, C., CHAPMAN, I. M., WISHART, J. & HOROWITZ, M. 2002. Plasma glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) responses to duodenal fat and glucose infusions in lean and obese men. *Peptides*, 23, 1491-5.
- FELDMAN, M. & NIXON, J. V. 1982. Effect of exercise on postprandial gastric secretion and emptying in humans. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol, 53, 851-4.
- FELDMAN, M. & RICHARDSON, C. T. 1986. Role of thought, sight, smell, and taste of food in the cephalic phase of gastric acid secretion in humans. *Gastroenterology*, 90, 428-33.
- FERGUSON, M. A., WHITE, L. J., MCCOY, S., KIM, H. W., PETTY, T. & WILSEY, J. 2004. Plasma adiponectin response to acute exercise in healthy subjects. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 91, 324-9.
- FERRARIS, R. P. & DIAMOND, J. 1997. Regulation of intestinal sugar transport. *Physiol Rev*, 77, 257-302.
- FIELD, B. C., CHAUDHRI, O. B. & BLOOM, S. R. 2010. Bowels control brain: gut hormones and obesity. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 6, 444-53.
- FIELDING, R., RIEDE, L., LUGO, J. P. & BELLAMINE, A. 2018. I-Carnitine Supplementation in Recovery after Exercise. *Nutrients,* 10.
- FINUCANE, M. M., STEVENS, G. A., COWAN, M. J., DANAEI, G., LIN, J. K., PACIOREK, C. J., SINGH, G. M., GUTIERREZ, H. R., LU, Y., BAHALIM, A. N., FARZADFAR, F., RILEY, L. M., EZZATI, M. & INDEX), G. B. O. M. R. F. O. C. D. C. G. B. M. 2011. National, regional, and global trends in body-mass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination

surveys and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. *Lancet*, 377, 557-67.

- FLANAGAN, D. E., EVANS, M. L., MONSOD, T. P., RIFE, F., HEPTULLA, R. A., TAMBORLANE, W. V. & SHERWIN, R. S. 2003. The influence of insulin on circulating ghrelin. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 284, E313-6.
- FLATT, J. P. 2001. Macronutrient composition and food selection. *Obes Res*, 9 Suppl 4, 256S-262S.
- FLINT, A., RABEN, A., BLUNDELL, J. E. & ASTRUP, A. 2000. Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 24, 38-48.
- FOEGEDING, E., DAUBERT, C., DRAKE, M., ESSICK, G., TRULSSON, M., VINYARD, C. & VAN DE VELDE, F. 2011. A COMPREHENSIVE APPROACH TO UNDERSTANDING TEXTURAL PROPERTIES OF SEMI-AND SOFT-SOLID FOODS. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 42.
- FORDTRAN, J. S. & SALTIN, B. 1967. Gastric emptying and intestinal absorption during prolonged severe exercise. *J Appl Physiol*, 23, 331-5.
- FRANCOIS, M. E., BALDI, J. C., MANNING, P. J., LUCAS, S. J., HAWLEY, J. A., WILLIAMS, M. J. & COTTER, J. D. 2014. 'Exercise snacks' before meals: a novel strategy to improve glycaemic control in individuals with insulin resistance. *Diabetologia*, 57, 1437-45.
- FRASER, R. J., HOROWITZ, M., MADDOX, A. F., HARDING, P. E., CHATTERTON, B. E. & DENT, J. 1990. Hyperglycaemia slows gastric emptying in type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia*, 33, 675-80.
- FREDRICKSON, P., BOULES, M. & RICHELSON, E. 2014. Neurotensin agonists in the regulation of food intake. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 38, 474.
- FREEDMAN, L. S., COMMINS, J. M., MOLER, J. E., ARAB, L., BAER, D. J., KIPNIS, V., MIDTHUNE, D., MOSHFEGH, A. J., NEUHOUSER, M. L., PRENTICE, R. L., SCHATZKIN, A., SPIEGELMAN, D., SUBAR, A. F., TINKER, L. F. & WILLETT, W. 2014. Pooled results from 5 validation studies of dietary self-report instruments using recovery biomarkers for energy and protein intake. *Am J Epidemiol*, 180, 172-88.
- FRIED, M., ERLACHER, U., SCHWIZER, W., LÖCHNER, C., KOERFER, J., BEGLINGER, C., JANSEN, J. B., LAMERS, C. B., HARDER, F. & BISCHOF-DELALOYE, A. 1991. Role of cholecystokinin in the regulation of gastric emptying and pancreatic enzyme secretion in humans. Studies with the cholecystokinin-receptor antagonist loxiglumide. *Gastroenterology*, 101, 503-11.
- FRIEDMAN, J. E., NEUFER, P. D. & DOHM, G. L. 1991. Regulation of glycogen resynthesis following exercise. Dietary considerations. *Sports Med*, 11, 232-43.
- FRIEDMAN, J. M. & HALAAS, J. L. 1998. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*, 395, 763-70.

- FU, Z., GILBERT, E. R. & LIU, D. 2013. Regulation of insulin synthesis and secretion and pancreatic Beta-cell dysfunction in diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rev*, 9, 25-53.
- FUJIMIYA, M. & INUI, A. 2000. Peptidergic regulation of gastrointestinal motility in rodents. *Peptides*, 21, 1565-82.
- FUNG, P. & KONG, R. 2018. New Insights on Stimulating the Lung Meridian

Based on Modern Neurophysiology. Chinese Medicine, 9, 75-117.

- GAGNON, J. & ANINI, Y. 2012. Insulin and norepinephrine regulate ghrelin secretion from a rat primary stomach cell culture. *Endocrinology*, 153, 3646-56.
- GALMICHE, J. P., DELBENDE, B., PERRI, F. & ANDRIULLI, A. 1998. 13C octanoic acid breath test. *Gut*, 43 Suppl 3, S28-30.
- GARBER, C. E., BLISSMER, B., DESCHENES, M. R., FRANKLIN, B. A., LAMONTE, M. J., LEE, I. M., NIEMAN, D. C., SWAIN, D. P. & MEDICINE, A. C. O. S. 2011. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 1334-59.
- GARLAND, P. B. & RANDLE, P. J. 1964. Regulation of glucose uptake by muscles. 10. Effects of alloxan-diabetes, starvation, hypophysectomy and adrenalectomy, and of fatty acids, ketone bodies and pyruvate, on the glycerol output and concentrations of free fatty acids, long-chain fatty acyl-coenzyme A, glycerol phosphate and citrate-cycle intermediates in rat heart and diaphragm muscles. *Biochem J*, 93, 678-87.
- GELIEBTER, A. 1988. Gastric distension and gastric capacity in relation to food intake in humans. *Physiol Behav*, 44, 665-8.
- GEORGE, J. D. 1968. New clinical method for measuring the rate of gastric emptying: the double sampling test meal. *Gut*, 9, 237-42.
- GHIARONE, T., ANDRADE-SOUZA, V. A., LEARSI, S. K., TOMAZINI, F., ATAIDE-SILVA, T., SANSONIO, A., FERNANDES, M. P., SARAIVA, K. L., FIGUEIREDO, R. C. B. Q., TOURNEUR, Y., KUANG, J., LIMA-SILVA, A. E. & BISHOP, D. J. 2019. Twice-a-day training improves mitochondrial efficiency, but not mitochondrial biogenesis, compared with once-daily training. J Appl Physiol (1985), 127, 713-725.
- GHOLIPOUR, M., KORDI, M. R., TAGHIKHANI, M., RAVASI, A. A., GAEINI, A. A. & TABRIZI, A. 2014. Possible role for growth hormone in suppressing acylated ghrelin and hunger ratings during and after intermittent exercise of different intensities in obese individuals. *Acta Med Iran*, 52, 29-37.
- GHOOS, Y. F., MAES, B. D., GEYPENS, B. J., MYS, G., HIELE, M. I., RUTGEERTS, P. J. & VANTRAPPEN, G. 1993. Measurement of gastric emptying rate of solids by means of a carbon-labeled octanoic acid breath test. *Gastroenterology*, 104, 1640-7.

- GILLEN, J. B. & GIBALA, M. J. 2014. Is high-intensity interval training a timeefficient exercise strategy to improve health and fitness? *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 409-12.
- GOETZE, O., TREIER, R., FOX, M., STEINGOETTER, A., FRIED, M., BOESIGER, P. & SCHWIZER, W. 2009. The effect of gastric secretion on gastric physiology and emptying in the fasted and fed state assessed by magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 21, 725-e42.
- GOLDSTEIN, J. L. & BROWN, M. S. 1977. The low-density lipoprotein pathway and its relation to atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 46, 897-930.
- GOMEZ-MERINO, D., CHENNAOUI, M., DROGOU, C., BONNEAU, D. & GUEZENNEC, C. Y. 2002. Decrease in serum leptin after prolonged physical activity in men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 34, 1594-9.
- GONZALEZ, J. T. 2014. Paradoxical second-meal phenomenon in the acute postexercise period. *Nutrition*, 30, 961-7.
- GONZALEZ, J. T., VEASEY, R. C., RUMBOLD, P. L. & STEVENSON, E. J. 2013. Breakfast and exercise contingently affect postprandial metabolism and energy balance in physically active males. *Br J Nutr*, 110, 721-32.
- GOO, R. H., MOORE, J. G., GREENBERG, E. & ALAZRAKI, N. P. 1987. Circadian variation in gastric emptying of meals in humans. *Gastroenterology*, 93, 515-8.
- GOODMAN, B. E. 2010. Insights into digestion and absorption of major nutrients in humans. *Adv Physiol Educ,* 34, 44-53.
- GOODYEAR, L. J., KING, P. A., HIRSHMAN, M. F., THOMPSON, C. M., HORTON, E. D. & HORTON, E. S. 1990. Contractile activity increases plasma membrane glucose transporters in absence of insulin. *Am J Physiol*, 258, E667-72.
- GOULET, O., COLOMB-JUNG, V. & JOLY, F. 2009. Role of the colon in short bowel syndrome and intestinal transplantation. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*, 48 Suppl 2, S66-71.
- GOYAL, R. K., GUO, Y. & MASHIMO, H. 2019. Advances in the physiology of gastric emptying. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 31, e13546.
- GRAMMATICOS, P. C., DOUMAS, A. & KOLIAKOS, G. 2015. Morning and night gastric emptying half-time differed more than 220% in two young healthy adults. *Hell J Nucl Med*, 18, 60-2.
- GRANATA, C., JAMNICK, N. A. & BISHOP, D. J. 2018. Training-Induced Changes in Mitochondrial Content and Respiratory Function in Human Skeletal Muscle. *Sports Med*, 48, 1809-1828.
- GRANDT, D., SCHIMICZEK, M., STRUK, K., SHIVELY, J., EYSSELEIN, V. E., GOEBELL, H. & REEVE, J. R. 1994. Characterization of two forms of peptide YY, PYY(1-36) and PYY(3-36), in the rabbit. *Peptides*, 15, 815-20.
- GRIBBLE, F. M. & REIMANN, F. 2019. Function and mechanisms of enteroendocrine cells and gut hormones in metabolism. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 15, 226-237.

- GRIFFITH, G. H., OWEN, G. M., KIRKMAN, S. & SHIELDS, R. 1966. Measurement of rate of gastric emptying using chromium-51. *Lancet*, 1, 1244-5.
- GRITTI, I., BANFI, G. & ROI, G. S. 2000. Pepsinogens: physiology, pharmacology pathophysiology and exercise. *Pharmacol Res*, 41, 265-81.
- GURR, M. I. 1988. Lipid metabolism in man. Proc Nutr Soc, 47, 277-85.
- GURR, M. I., BORLAK, N. & GANATRA, S. 1989. Dietary fat and plasma lipids. *Nutr Res Rev,* 2, 63-86.
- GÓRSKA-WARSEWICZ, H., LASKOWSKI, W., KULYKOVETS, O., KUDLIŃSKA-CHYLAK, A., CZECZOTKO, M. & REJMAN, K. 2018. Food Products as Sources of Protein and Amino Acids-The Case of Poland. *Nutrients*, 10.
- HAGOBIAN, T. A. & BRAUN, B. 2006. Interactions between energy surplus and short-term exercise on glucose and insulin responses in healthy people with induced, mild insulin insensitivity. *Metabolism*, 55, 402-8.
- HAGOBIAN, T. A., SHAROFF, C. G. & BRAUN, B. 2008. Effects of short-term exercise and energy surplus on hormones related to regulation of energy balance. *Metabolism*, 57, 393-8.
- HAGOBIAN, T. A., SHAROFF, C. G., STEPHENS, B. R., WADE, G. N., SILVA, J. E., CHIPKIN, S. R. & BRAUN, B. 2009. Effects of exercise on energyregulating hormones and appetite in men and women. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 296, R233-42.
- HAGOBIAN, T. A., YAMASHIRO, M., HINKEL-LIPSKER, J., STREDER, K., EVERO, N. & HACKNEY, T. 2013. Effects of acute exercise on appetite hormones and ad libitum energy intake in men and women. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 38, 66-72.
- HAJNAL, A. & NORGREN, R. 2002. Repeated access to sucrose augments dopamine turnover in the nucleus accumbens. *Neuroreport*, 13, 2213-6.
- HAMMAN, L. & HIRSCHMANN, I. 1919. Studies on blood sugar. Effects upon the blood sugar of the repeated ingestion of glucose. 344, 306-8.
- HANLON, B., LARSON, M. J., BAILEY, B. W. & LECHEMINANT, J. D. 2012. Neural response to pictures of food after exercise in normal-weight and obese women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 44, 1864-70.
- HANNEMAN, S. K., COX, C. D., GREEN, K. E. & KANG, D. H. 2011. Estimating intra- and inter-assay variability in salivary cortisol. *Biol Res Nurs*, 13, 243-50.
- HANSEN, A. K., FISCHER, C. P., PLOMGAARD, P., ANDERSEN, J. L., SALTIN, B. & PEDERSEN, B. K. 2005. Skeletal muscle adaptation: training twice every second day vs. training once daily. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 98, 93-9.
- HANSEN, N. L., BRØNDEN, A., NEXØE-LARSEN, C. C., CHRISTENSEN, A. S., SONNE, D. P., REHFELD, J. F., WEVER ALBRETCHSEN, N. J., HARTMANN, B., VILSBØLL, T., HOLST, J. J. & KNOP, F. K. 2020. Glucagon-Like Peptide 2 Inhibits Postprandial Gallbladder Emptying in

Man: A Randomized, Double-Blinded, Crossover Study. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol*, 11, e00257.

- HARGREAVES, M. & SPRIET, L. L. 2020. Skeletal muscle energy metabolism during exercise. *Nat Metab*, 2, 817-828.
- HARTY, P. S., COTTET, M. L., MALLOY, J. K. & KERKSICK, C. M. 2019. Nutritional and Supplementation Strategies to Prevent and Attenuate Exercise-Induced Muscle Damage: a Brief Review. *Sports Med Open*, 5, 1.
- HAY, D. L., CHEN, S., LUTZ, T. A., PARKES, D. G. & ROTH, J. D. 2015. Amylin: Pharmacology, Physiology, and Clinical Potential. *Pharmacol Rev*, 67, 564-600.
- HAYCOCK, G. B., SCHWARTZ, G. J. & WISOTSKY, D. H. 1978. Geometric method for measuring body surface area: a height-weight formula validated in infants, children, and adults. *J Pediatr*, 93, 62-6.
- HAZELL, T. J., ISLAM, H., HALLWORTH, J. R. & COPELAND, J. L. 2017a. Total PYY and GLP-1 responses to submaximal continuous and supramaximal sprint interval cycling in men. *Appetite*, 108, 238-244.
- HAZELL, T. J., ISLAM, H., TOWNSEND, L. K., SCHMALE, M. S. & COPELAND, J. L. 2016. Effects of exercise intensity on plasma concentrations of appetite-regulating hormones: Potential mechanisms. *Appetite*, 98, 80-8.
- HAZELL, T. J., OLVER, T. D., HAMILTON, C. D. & LEMON P, W. R. 2012. Two minutes of sprint-interval exercise elicits 24-hr oxygen consumption similar to that of 30 min of continuous endurance exercise. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 22, 276-83.
- HAZELL, T. J., TOWNSEND, L. K., HALLWORTH, J. R., DOAN, J. & COPELAND, J. L. 2017b. Sex differences in the response of total PYY and GLP-1 to moderate-intensity continuous and sprint interval cycling exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 117, 431-440.
- HEATH, G. W., BROWNSON, R. C., KRUGER, J., MILES, R., POWELL, K. E., RAMSEY, L. T. & SERVICES, T. F. O. C. P. 2006. The Effectiveness of Urban Design and Land Use and Transport Policies and Practices to Increase Physical Activity: A Systematic Review. *J Phys Act Health*, 3, S55-S76.
- HEDA, R., TORO, F. & TOMBAZZI, C. 2021. Physiology, Pepsin. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK537005/: StatPearls.
- HEIDARI, J., BECKMANN, J., BERTOLLO, M., BRINK, M., KALLUS, K., ROBAZZA, C. & KELLMANN, M. 2019. Multidimensional monitoring of recovery status and implications for performance. *Int J Sport Physiol Perform*, 14, 2-8.
- HELLENBRANDT, F. & TEPPER, R. 1934. Studies on the influence of exercise on the digestive work of the stomach. Its effect on emptying time. *AM J Physiol*, 107, 355-63.
- HELLSTRÖM, P. M., GRYBÄCK, P. & JACOBSSON, H. 2006. The physiology of gastric emptying. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol,* 20, 397-407.

- HENGIST, A., EDINBURGH, R. M., DAVIES, R. G., WALHIN, J. P., BUNIAM, J., JAMES, L. J., ROGERS, P. J., GONZALEZ, J. T. & BETTS, J. A. 2020. Physiological responses to maximal eating in men. *Br J Nutr*, 124, 407-417.
- HERRMANN, C., GÖKE, R., RICHTER, G., FEHMANN, H. C., ARNOLD, R. & GÖKE, B. 1995. Glucagon-like peptide-1 and glucose-dependent insulinreleasing polypeptide plasma levels in response to nutrients. *Digestion*, 56, 117-26.
- HETHERINGTON, A. & RANSON, S. 1983. Hypothalamic lesions and adiposity in the rat. *Nutr Rev*, 41, 124-7.
- HEYDARI, M., BOUTCHER, Y. N. & BOUTCHER, S. H. 2013. High-intensity intermittent exercise and cardiovascular and autonomic function. *Clin Auton Res*, 23, 57-65.
- HEYDARI, M., FREUND, J. & BOUTCHER, S. H. 2012. The effect of highintensity intermittent exercise on body composition of overweight young males. *J Obes*, 2012, 480467.
- HICKSON, M., MOSS, C., DHILLO, W. S., BOTTIN, J. & FROST, G. 2016. Increased peptide YY blood concentrations, not decreased acyl-ghrelin, are associated with reduced hunger and food intake in healthy older women: Preliminary evidence. *Appetite*, 105, 320-7.
- HINSHAW, L., SCHIAVON, M., DADLANI, V., MALLAD, A., DALLA MAN, C., BHARUCHA, A., BASU, R., GESKE, J. R., CARTER, R. E., COBELLI, C., BASU, A. & KUDVA, Y. C. 2016. Effect of Pramlintide on Postprandial Glucose Fluxes in Type 1 Diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 101, 1954-62.
- HODGETTS, V., COPPACK, S. W., FRAYN, K. N. & HOCKADAY, T. D. 1991. Factors controlling fat mobilization from human subcutaneous adipose tissue during exercise. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 71, 445-51.
- HOFFMAN, J. 2006. *Norms for Fitness, Performance, and Health,* UK, Human Kinetics.
- HOLLIDAY & BLANNIN 2017a. Appetite, food intake and gut hormone responses to intense aerobic exercise of different duration. *J Endocrinol*, 235, 193-205.
- HOLLIDAY & BLANNIN 2017b. Very Low Volume Sprint Interval Exercise Suppresses Subjective Appetite, Lowers Acylated Ghrelin, and Elevates GLP-1 in Overweight Individuals: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*, 9.
- HOLLIDAY, A. & BLANNIN, A. 2017c. Appetite, food intake and gut hormone responses to intense aerobic exercise of different duration. *J Endocrinol*, 235, 193-205.
- HOLLIDAY, A. & BLANNIN, A. K. 2017d. Very Low Volume Sprint Interval Exercise Suppresses Subjective Appetite, Lowers Acylated Ghrelin, and Elevates GLP-1 in Overweight Individuals: A Pilot Study. *Nutrients*, 9.
- HOLST, J. J. 2007. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev,* 87, 1409-39.

- HOLT, S. H., BRAND MILLER, J. C. & PETOCZ, P. 1996. Interrelationships among postprandial satiety, glucose and insulin responses and changes in subsequent food intake. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 50, 788-97.
- HOOD, M. S., LITTLE, J. P., TARNOPOLSKY, M. A., MYSLIK, F. & GIBALA, M. J. 2011. Low-volume interval training improves muscle oxidative capacity in sedentary adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 43, 1849-56.
- HOOGERWERF, W. A. 2010. Role of clock genes in gastrointestinal motility. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 299, G549-55.
- HOOPER, S. L., MACKINNON, L. T., HOWARD, A., GORDON, R. D. & BACHMANN, A. W. 1995. Markers for monitoring overtraining and recovery. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 27, 106-12.
- HOPE, D. C. D., TAN, T. M. M. & BLOOM, S. R. 2018. No Guts, No Loss: Toward the Ideal Treatment for Obesity in the Twenty-First Century. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 9, 442.
- HOPKINS, D. F. & WILLIAMS, G. 1997. Insulin receptors are widely distributed in human brain and bind human and porcine insulin with equal affinity. *Diabet Med*, 14, 1044-50.
- HORNER, K. M., BYRNE, N. M., CLEGHORN, G. J., NÄSLUND, E. & KING, N. A. 2011. The effects of weight loss strategies on gastric emptying and appetite control. *Obes Rev*, 12, 935-51.
- HORNER, K. M., SCHUBERT, M. M., DESBROW, B., BYRNE, N. M. & KING, N.
 A. 2015. Acute exercise and gastric emptying: a meta-analysis and implications for appetite control. *Sports Med*, 45, 659-78.
- HOROWITZ, M., CUNNINGHAM, K. M., WISHART, J. M., JONES, K. L. & READ, N. W. 1996. The effect of short-term dietary supplementation with glucose on gastric emptying of glucose and fructose and oral glucose tolerance in normal subjects. *Diabetologia*, 39, 481-6.
- HORTON, T. J., DROUGAS, H., BRACHEY, A., REED, G. W., PETERS, J. C. & HILL, J. O. 1995. Fat and carbohydrate overfeeding in humans: different effects on energy storage. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 62, 19-29.
- HUBERT, P., KING, N. A. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 1998. Uncoupling the effects of energy expenditure and energy intake: appetite response to short-term energy deficit induced by meal omission and physical activity. *Appetite*, 31, 9-19.
- HUDA, M. S., WILDING, J. P. & PINKNEY, J. H. 2006. Gut peptides and the regulation of appetite. *Obes Rev*, 7, 163-82.
- HULSTON, C. J., VENABLES, M. C., MANN, C. H., MARTIN, C., PHILP, A., BAAR, K. & JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2010. Training with low muscle glycogen enhances fat metabolism in well-trained cyclists. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 42, 2046-55.
- HUNT, J. N. 1960. The site of receptors slowing gastric emptying in response to starch in test meals. *J Physiol,* 154, 270-6.
- HUNT, J. N. 1980. A possible relation between the regulation of gastric emptying and food intake. *Am J Physiol*, 239, G1-4.
- HUNT, J. N. & PATHAK, J. D. 1960. The osmotic effects of some simple molecules and ions on gastric emptying. *J Physiol*, 154, 254-69.

- HUNT, J. N., SMITH, J. L. & JIANG, C. L. 1985. Effect of meal volume and energy density on the gastric emptying of carbohydrates. *Gastroenterology*, 89, 1326-30.
- HUNT, J. N. & SPURRELL, W. R. 1951. The pattern of emptying of the human stomach. *J Physiol*, 113, 157-68.
- HUNT, J. N. & STUBBS, D. F. 1975. The volume and energy content of meals as determinants of gastric emptying. *J Physiol*, 245, 209-25.
- HUNT, R. H., CAMILLERI, M., CROWE, S. E., EL-OMAR, E. M., FOX, J. G., KUIPERS, E. J., MALFERTHEINER, P., MCCOLL, K. E., PRITCHARD, D. M., RUGGE, M., SONNENBERG, A., SUGANO, K. & TACK, J. 2015. The stomach in health and disease. *Gut*, 64, 1650-68.
- HURLEY, B. F., NEMETH, P. M., MARTIN, W. H., HAGBERG, J. M., DALSKY, G.
 P. & HOLLOSZY, J. O. 1986. Muscle triglyceride utilization during exercise: effect of training. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 60, 562-7.
- HUSSAIN, S. S. & BLOOM, S. R. 2013. The regulation of food intake by the gut-brain axis: implications for obesity. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 37, 625-33.
- HUXLEY, R. R. & NEIL, H. A. 2003. The relation between dietary flavonol intake and coronary heart disease mortality: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 57, 904-8.
- HYLDAHL, R. D., CHEN, T. C. & NOSAKA, K. 2017. Mechanisms and Mediators of the Skeletal Muscle Repeated Bout Effect. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 45, 24-33.
- HYLDAHL, R. D. & HUBAL, M. J. 2014. Lengthening our perspective: morphological, cellular, and molecular responses to eccentric exercise. *Muscle Nerve*, 49, 155-70.
- IMBEAULT, P., SAINT-PIERRE, S., ALMÉRAS, N. & TREMBLAY, A. 1997. Acute effects of exercise on energy intake and feeding behaviour. *Br J Nutr,* 77, 511-21.
- ISHIHARA, K., UCHIYAMA, N., KIZAKI, S., MORI, E., NONAKA, T. & ONEDA, H. 2020. Application of Continuous Glucose Monitoring for Assessment of Individual Carbohydrate Requirement during Ultramarathon Race. *Nutrients,* 12.
- IVY, J. L., LEE, M. C., BROZINICK, J. T. & REED, M. J. 1988. Muscle glycogen storage after different amounts of carbohydrate ingestion. J Appl Physiol (1985), 65, 2018-23.
- IWAKURA, H., LI, Y., ARIYASU, H., HOSODA, H., KANAMOTO, N., BANDO, M., YAMADA, G., HOSODA, K., NAKAO, K., KANGAWA, K. & AKAMIZU, T. 2010. Establishment of a novel ghrelin-producing cell line. *Endocrinology*, 151, 2940-5.
- JACKMAN, J. S., BELL, P. G., GILL, S., VAN SOMEREN, K., DAVISON, G. W. & COCKBURN, E. 2019. Assessing the usefulness of acute physiological responses following resistance exercise: sensitivity, magnitude of change, and time course of measures. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 44, 309-319.
- JAKICIC, J. M., WINTERS, C., LANG, W. & WING, R. R. 1999. Effects of intermittent exercise and use of home exercise equipment on

adherence, weight loss, and fitness in overweight women: a randomized trial. *JAMA*, 282, 1554-60.

- JAKOBSEN, J. C., GLUUD, C., WETTERSLEV, J. & WINKEL, P. 2017. When and how should multiple imputation be used for handling missing data in randomised clinical trials - a practical guide with flowcharts. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 17, 162.
- JANNEY, C. A. & JAKICIC, J. M. 2010. The influence of exercise and BMI on injuries and illnesses in overweight and obese individuals: a randomized control trial. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, 7, 1.
- JANSSEN, P., VANDEN BERGHE, P., VERSCHUEREN, S., LEHMANN, A., DEPOORTERE, I. & TACK, J. 2011. Review article: the role of gastric motility in the control of food intake. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 33, 880-94.
- JEPPESEN, P. B. & MORTENSEN, P. B. 1998. The influence of a preserved colon on the absorption of medium chain fat in patients with small bowel resection. *Gut*, 43, 478-83.
- JERLHAG, E., EGECIOGLU, E., DICKSON, S. L., DOUHAN, A., SVENSSON, L. & ENGEL, J. A. 2007. Ghrelin administration into tegmental areas stimulates locomotor activity and increases extracellular concentration of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. *Addict Biol*, 12, 6-16.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. & TIPTON, K. D. 2009. Legal nutritional boosting for cycling. *Curr Sports Med Rep,* 8, 186-91.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2002. Regulation of fat metabolism in skeletal muscle. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 967, 217-35.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2017a. Periodized Nutrition for Athletes. *Sports Med*, 47, 51-63.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2017b. Training the Gut for Athletes. *Sports Med*, 47, 101-110.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. & MCLAUGHLIN, J. 2011. Carbohydrate ingestion during exercise: effects on performance, training adaptations and trainability of the gut. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser*, 69, 1-12; discussion 13-7.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. & MOSELEY, L. 2010. Multiple transportable carbohydrates enhance gastric emptying and fluid delivery. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 20, 112-21.
- JEUKENDRUP, A. E. & WALLIS, G. A. 2005. Measurement of substrate oxidation during exercise by means of gas exchange measurements. *Int J Sports Med*, 26 Suppl 1, S28-37.
- JIN, H. O., LEE, K. Y., CHANG, T. M., CHEY, W. Y. & DUBOIS, A. 1994. Secretin: a physiological regulator of gastric emptying and acid output in dogs. *Am J Physiol*, 267, G702-8.
- JOKISCH, E., COLETTA, A. & RAYNOR, H. A. 2012. Acute energy compensation and macronutrient intake following exercise in active and inactive males who are normal weight. *Appetite*, 58, 722-9.
- JONES, K. L., DORAN, S. M., HVEEM, K., BARTHOLOMEUSZ, F. D., MORLEY, J. E., SUN, W. M., CHATTERTON, B. E. & HOROWITZ, M. 1997. Relation

between postprandial satiation and antral area in normal subjects. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 66, 127-32.

- JONES, N. L., HEIGENHAUSER, G. J., KUKSIS, A., MATSOS, C. G., SUTTON, J. R. & TOEWS, C. J. 1980. Fat metabolism in heavy exercise. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 59, 469-78.
- JOVANOVIC, A., LEVERTON, E., SOLANKY, B., RAVIKUMAR, B., SNAAR, J. E., MORRIS, P. G. & TAYLOR, R. 2009. The second-meal phenomenon is associated with enhanced muscle glycogen storage in humans. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 117, 119-27.
- JÜRIMÄE, J., HOFMANN, P., JÜRIMÄE, T., MÄESTU, J., PURGE, P., WONISCH, M., POKAN, R. & VON DUVILLARD, S. P. 2006. Plasma adiponectin response to sculling exercise at individual anaerobic threshold in college level male rowers. *Int J Sports Med*, 27, 272-7.
- JÜRIMÄE, J., RÄMSON, R., MÄESTU, J., PURGE, P., JÜRIMÄE, T., ARCIERO, P. J. & VON DUVILLARD, S. P. 2009. Plasma visfatin and ghrelin response to prolonged sculling in competitive male rowers. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 41, 137-43.
- KALAFATAKIS, K. & TRIANTAFYLLOU, K. 2011. Contribution of neurotensin in the immune and neuroendocrine modulation of normal and abnormal enteric function. *Regul Pept*, 170, 7-17.
- KANATANI, A., MASHIKO, S., MURAI, N., SUGIMOTO, N., ITO, J., FUKURODA, T., FUKAMI, T., MORIN, N., MACNEIL, D. J., VAN DER PLOEG, L. H., SAGA, Y., NISHIMURA, S. & IHARA, M. 2000. Role of the Y1 receptor in the regulation of neuropeptide Y-mediated feeding: comparison of wild-type, Y1 receptor-deficient, and Y5 receptor-deficient mice. *Endocrinology*, 141, 1011-6.
- KANG, J., HOFFMAN, J. R., RATAMESS, N. A., FAIGENBAUM, A. D., FALVO, M.
 & WENDELL, M. 2006. Effect of Exercise Intensity on Fat Utilization in Males and Females. *Research in sport Medicine*, 15, 175-188.
- KARAMOUZIS, I., KARAMOUZIS, M., VRABAS, I. S., CHRISTOULAS, K., KYRIAZIS, N., GIANNOULIS, E. & MANDROUKAS, K. 2002. The effects of marathon swimming on serum leptin and plasma neuropeptide Y levels. *Clin Chem Lab Med*, 40, 132-6.
- KARRA, E. & BATTERHAM, R. L. 2010. The role of gut hormones in the regulation of body weight and energy homeostasis. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 316, 120-8.
- KASHIMA, H., HARADA, N., MIYAMOTO, K., FUJIMOTO, M., FUJITA, C., ENDO,
 M. Y., KOBAYASHI, T., MIURA, A. & FUKUBA, Y. 2017. Timing of postexercise carbohydrate-protein supplementation: roles of gastrointestinal blood flow and mucosal cell damage on gastric emptying in humans. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 123, 606-613.
- KASHIMA, H., SUGIMURA, K., TANIYAWA, K., KONDO, R., ENDO, M. Y., TANIMOTO, S., KOBAYASHI, T., MIURA, A. & FUKUBA, Y. 2018. Timing of post-resistance exercise nutrient ingestion: effects on gastric emptying and glucose and amino acid responses in humans. *Br J Nutr*, 120, 995-1005.

KASHYAP, S. R. & DEFRONZO, R. A. 2007. The insulin resistance syndrome: physiological considerations. *Diab Vasc Dis Res*, 4, 13-9.

- KATSANOS, C. S., KOBAYASHI, H., SHEFFIELD-MOORE, M., AARSLAND, A. & WOLFE, R. R. 2006. A high proportion of leucine is required for optimal stimulation of the rate of muscle protein synthesis by essential amino acids in the elderly. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 291, E381-7.
- KATSCHINSKI, M. 2000. Nutritional implications of cephalic phase gastrointestinal responses. *Appetite*, 34, 189-96.
- KATSUURA, G., ASAKAWA, A. & INUI, A. 2002. Roles of pancreatic polypeptide in regulation of food intake. *Peptides*, 23, 323-9.
- KAWANO, H., MINETA, M., ASAKA, M., MIYASHITA, M., NUMAO, S., GANDO, Y., ANDO, T., SAKAMOTO, S. & HIGUCHI, M. 2013. Effects of different modes of exercise on appetite and appetite-regulating hormones. *Appetite*, 66, 26-33.
- KELLETT, G. L. 2001. The facilitated component of intestinal glucose absorption. *J Physiol*, 531, 585-95.
- KELLETT, G. L., BROT-LAROCHE, E., MACE, O. J. & LETURQUE, A. 2008. Sugar absorption in the intestine: the role of GLUT2. *Annu Rev Nutr,* 28, 35-54.
- KELLEY, D. E., GOODPASTER, B., WING, R. R. & SIMONEAU, J. A. 1999. Skeletal muscle fatty acid metabolism in association with insulin resistance, obesity, and weight loss. *Am J Physiol*, 277, E1130-41.
- KELLY, K. A. 1980. Gastric emptying of liquids and solids: roles of proximal and distal stomach. *Am J Physiol*, 239, G71-6.
- KELLY, P. J., GUELFI, K. J., WALLMAN, K. E. & FAIRCHILD, T. J. 2012. Mild dehydration does not reduce postexercise appetite or energy intake. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 44, 516-24.
- KENNY, P. J. 2011. Reward mechanisms in obesity: new insights and future directions. *Neuron*, 69, 664-79.
- KENTISH, S. J., FRISBY, C. L., KENNAWAY, D. J., WITTERT, G. A. & PAGE, A. J. 2013. Circadian variation in gastric vagal afferent mechanosensitivity. *J Neurosci*, 33, 19238-42.
- KIENS, B., ESSEN-GUSTAVSSON, B., CHRISTENSEN, N. J. & SALTIN, B. 1993. Skeletal muscle substrate utilization during submaximal exercise in man: effect of endurance training. *J Physiol*, 469, 459-78.
- KIM, W., FIORI, J. L., SHIN, Y. K., OKUN, E., KIM, J. S., RAPP, P. R. & EGAN, J. M. 2014. Pancreatic polypeptide inhibits somatostatin secretion. *FEBS Lett*, 588, 3233-9.
- KING, G. A., FITZHUGH, E. C., BASSETT, D. R., MCLAUGHLIN, J. E., STRATH, S. J., SWARTZ, A. M. & THOMPSON, D. L. 2001. Relationship of leisuretime physical activity and occupational activity to the prevalence of obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 25, 606-12.
- KING, J. A., MIYASHITA, M., WASSE, L. K. & STENSEL, D. J. 2010a. Influence of prolonged treadmill running on appetite, energy intake and circulating concentrations of acylated ghrelin. *Appetite*, 54, 492-8.

- KING, J. A., WASSE, L. K., BROOM, D. R. & STENSEL, D. J. 2010b. Influence of brisk walking on appetite, energy intake, and plasma acylated ghrelin. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 42, 485-92.
- KING, J. A., WASSE, L. K., EWENS, J., CRYSTALLIS, K., EMMANUEL, J., BATTERHAM, R. L. & STENSEL, D. J. 2011a. Differential acylated ghrelin, peptide YY3-36, appetite, and food intake responses to equivalent energy deficits created by exercise and food restriction. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 96, 1114-21.
- KING, J. A., WASSE, L. K. & STENSEL, D. J. 2011b. The acute effects of swimming on appetite, food intake, and plasma acylated ghrelin. *J Obes*, 2011.
- KING, J. A., WASSE, L. K. & STENSEL, D. J. 2013a. Acute exercise increases feeding latency in healthy normal weight young males but does not alter energy intake. *Appetite*, 61, 45-51.
- KING, J. A., WASSE, L. K., STENSEL, D. J. & NIMMO, M. A. 2013b. Exercise and ghrelin. A narrative overview of research. *Appetite*, 68, 83-91.
- KING, N. A., BURLEY, V. J. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 1994. Exercise-induced suppression of appetite: effects on food intake and implications for energy balance. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 48, 715-24.
- KING, N. A., HOPKINS, M., CAUDWELL, P., STUBBS, R. J. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 2008. Individual variability following 12 weeks of supervised exercise: identification and characterization of compensation for exerciseinduced weight loss. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32, 177-84.
- KING, N. A., LLUCH, A., STUBBS, R. J. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 1997. High dose exercise does not increase hunger or energy intake in free living males. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 51, 478-83.
- KING, N. A., SNELL, L., SMITH, R. D. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 1996. Effects of shortterm exercise on appetite responses in unrestrained females. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 50, 663-7.
- KISHI, K., TAKASE, S. & GODA, T. 1999. Enhancement of sucrase-isomaltase gene expression induced by luminally administered fructose in rat jejunum. *J Nutr Biochem*, 10, 8-12.
- KISSILEFF, H. R., PI-SUNYER, F. X., THORNTON, J. & SMITH, G. P. 1981. Cterminal octapeptide of cholecystokinin decreases food intake in man. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 34, 154-60.
- KNIGHT, J., WILLIAMS, N., NIGAM, Y., ONLINE], P. N. T. & 115: 8, -. 2019. Gastrointestinal Tract 3: The duodenum, liver and pancreas. *Nursing Times*, 115, 56-60.
- KOJIMA, M., HOSODA, H., DATE, Y., NAKAZATO, M., MATSUO, H. & KANGAWA, K. 1999. Ghrelin is a growth-hormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. *Nature*, 402, 656-60.
- KOJIMA, M. & KANGAWA, K. 2005. Ghrelin: structure and function. *Physiol Rev*, 85, 495-522.
- KOJIMA, S., UENO, N., ASAKAWA, A., SAGIYAMA, K., NARUO, T., MIZUNO, S.
 & INUI, A. 2007. A role for pancreatic polypeptide in feeding and body weight regulation. *Peptides*, 28, 459-63.

- KONG, F. & SINGH, R. P. 2008. Disintegration of solid foods in human stomach. *J Food Sci*, 73, R67-80.
- KONTUREK, S. J. & JOHNSON, L. R. 1971. Evidence for an enterogastric reflex for the inhibition of acid secretion. *Gastroenterology*, 61, 667-74.
- KONTUREK, S. J., KWIECIEN, N., OBTULOWICZ, W., KOPP, B., OLEKSY, J. & ROVATI, L. 1990. Cholecystokinin in the inhibition of gastric secretion and gastric emptying in humans. *Digestion*, 45, 1-8.
- KOSKA, J., DELPARIGI, A., DE COURTEN, B., WEYER, C. & TATARANNI, P. A. 2004. Pancreatic polypeptide is involved in the regulation of body weight in pima Indian male subjects. *Diabetes*, 53, 3091-6.
- KOUTSARI, C., KARPE, F., HUMPHREYS, S. M., FRAYN, K. N. & HARDMAN, A. E. 2003. Plasma leptin is influenced by diet composition and exercise. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 27, 901-6.
- KOZEY-KEADLE, S., LYDEN, K., STAUDENMAYER, J., HICKEY, A., VISKOCHIL, R., BRAUN, B. & FREEDSON, P. S. 2014a. The independent and combined effects of exercise training and reducing sedentary behavior on cardiometabolic risk factors. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 770-80.
- KOZEY-KEADLE, S., STAUDENMAYER, J., LIBERTINE, A., MAVILIA, M., LYDEN, K., BRAUN, B. & FREEDSON, P. 2014b. Changes in sedentary time and physical activity in response to an exercise training and/or lifestyle intervention. *J Phys Act Health*, 11, 1324-33.
- KRIEGER, J. P., ARNOLD, M., PETTERSEN, K. G., LOSSEL, P., LANGHANS, W.
 & LEE, S. J. 2016. Knockdown of GLP-1 Receptors in Vagal Afferents Affects Normal Food Intake and Glycemia. *Diabetes*, 65, 34-43.
- KUNZ, P., FEINLE, C., SCHWIZER, W., FRIED, M. & BOESIGER, P. 1999. Assessment of gastric motor function during the emptying of solid and liquid meals in humans by MRI. *J Magn Reson Imaging*, 9, 75-80.
- KUO, B., MCCALLUM, R. W., KOCH, K. L., SITRIN, M. D., WO, J. M., CHEY, W. D., HASLER, W. L., LACKNER, J. M., KATZ, L. A., SEMLER, J. R., WILDING, G. E. & PARKMAN, H. P. 2008. Comparison of gastric emptying of a nondigestible capsule to a radio-labelled meal in healthy and gastroparetic subjects. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 27, 186-96.
- KUO, B., VIAZIS, N., BAHADUR, S., SITRIN, M., LACKNER, J., SEMLER, J., LACKNER J, S. J. N.-I. S.-., INTRA-LUMINAL, T. M. O., GASTRIC, P. A. P. A. O., IN, E. A. U. G. M., OENTEROLOGY, H. S. N., 2004 & 66 2004. Non-invasive simultaneous measurement of intra-luminal pH and pressure: assessment of gastric emptying and upper GI manometry in healthy subjects. *Neurogastroenterology*, 16, 666.
- KWIATEK, M. A., MENNE, D., STEINGOETTER, A., GOETZE, O., FORRAS-KAUFMAN, Z., KAUFMAN, E., FRUEHAUF, H., BOESIGER, P., FRIED, M., SCHWIZER, W. & FOX, M. R. 2009. Effect of meal volume and calorie load on postprandial gastric function and emptying: studies under physiological conditions by combined fiber-optic pressure measurement and MRI. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 297, G894-901.
- KYRIAZIS, G. A., CAPLAN, J. D., LOWNDES, J., CARPENTER, R. L., DENNIS, K. E., SIVO, S. A. & ANGELOPOULOS, T. J. 2007. Moderate exercise-

induced energy expenditure does not alter leptin levels in sedentary obese men. *Clin J Sport Med*, 17, 49-51.

- LA BOUNTY, P. M., CAMPBELL, B. I., WILSON, J., GALVAN, E., BERARDI, J., KLEINER, S. M., KREIDER, R. B., STOUT, J. R., ZIEGENFUSS, T., SPANO, M., SMITH, A. & ANTONIO, J. 2011. International Society of Sports Nutrition position stand: meal frequency. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*, 8, 4.
- LA FLEUR, S. E. 2006. The effects of glucocorticoids on feeding behavior in rats. *Physiol Behav*, 89, 110-4.
- LAAN, D. J., LEIDY, H. J., LIM, E. & CAMPBELL, W. W. 2010. Effects and reproducibility of aerobic and resistance exercise on appetite and energy intake in young, physically active adults. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 35, 842-7.
- LABOUESSE, M. A., STADLBAUER, U., WEBER, E., ARNOLD, M., LANGHANS, W. & PACHECO-LÓPEZ, G. 2012. Vagal afferents mediate early satiation and prevent flavour avoidance learning in response to intraperitoneally infused exendin-4. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 24, 1505-16.
- LANDT, M., LAWSON, G. M., HELGESON, J. M., DAVILA-ROMAN, V. G., LADENSON, J. H., JAFFE, A. S. & HICKNER, R. C. 1997. Prolonged exercise decreases serum leptin concentrations. *Metabolism*, 46, 1109-12.
- LANE, S. C., CAMERA, D. M., LASSITER, D. G., ARETA, J. L., BIRD, S. R., YEO, W. K., JEACOCKE, N. A., KROOK, A., ZIERATH, J. R., BURKE, L. M. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2015. Effects of sleeping with reduced carbohydrate availability on acute training responses. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 119, 643-55.
- LARSON-MEYER, D. E., PALM, S., BANSAL, A., AUSTIN, K. J., HART, A. M. & ALEXANDER, B. M. 2012. Influence of running and walking on hormonal regulators of appetite in women. *J Obes*, 2012, 730409.
- LASKOWSKI, W., GÓRSKA-WARSEWICZ, H. & KULYKOVETS, O. 2018. Meat, Meat Products and Seafood as Sources of Energy and Nutrients in the Average Polish Diet. *Nutrients*, 10.
- LAURSEN, P. B., SHING, C. M., PEAKE, J. M., COOMBES, J. S. & JENKINS, D. G. 2005. Influence of high-intensity interval training on adaptations in well-trained cyclists. *J Strength Cond Res*, 19, 527-33.
- LAVIGNE, M. E., WILEY, Z. D., MEYER, J. H., MARTIN, P. & MACGREGOR, I. L. 1978. Gastric emptying rates of solid food in relation to body size. *Gastroenterology*, 74, 1258-60.
- LE MAY, M. V., HUME, C., SABATIER, N., SCHÉLE, E., BAKE, T., BERGSTRÖM, U., MENZIES, J. & DICKSON, S. L. 2019. Activation of the rat hypothalamic supramammillary nucleus by food anticipation, food restriction or ghrelin administration. *J Neuroendocrinol*, 31, e12676.
- LE ROUX, C. W., BATTERHAM, R. L., AYLWIN, S. J., PATTERSON, M., BORG, C. M., WYNNE, K. J., KENT, A., VINCENT, R. P., GARDINER, J., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2006. Attenuated peptide YY release in obese subjects is associated with reduced satiety. *Endocrinology*, 147, 3-8.
- LEAL-CERRO, A., GARCIA-LUNA, P. P., ASTORGA, R., PAREJO, J., PEINO, R., DIEGUEZ, C. & CASANUEVA, F. F. 1998. Serum leptin levels in male marathon athletes before and after the marathon run. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 2376-9.
- LEARSI, S. K., GHIARONE, T., SILVA-CAVALCANTE, M. D., ANDRADE-SOUZA, V. A., ATAIDE-SILVA, T., BERTUZZI, R., DE ARAUJO, G. G., MCCONELL, G. & LIMA-SILVA, A. E. 2019. Cycling time trial performance is improved by carbohydrate ingestion during exercise regardless of a fed or fasted state. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*, 29, 651-662.
- LECKEY, J. J., HOFFMAN, N. J., PARR, E. B., DEVLIN, B. L., TREWIN, A. J., STEPTO, N. K., MORTON, J. P., BURKE, L. M. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2018. High dietary fat intake increases fat oxidation and reduces skeletal muscle mitochondrial respiration in trained humans. *FASEB J*, 32, 2979-2991.
- LEIPER, J. B. 2015. Fate of ingested fluids: factors affecting gastric emptying and intestinal absorption of beverages in humans. *Nutr Rev,* 73 Suppl 2, 57-72.
- LEIPER, J. B., BROAD, N. P. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 2001a. Effect of intermittent high-intensity exercise on gastric emptying in man. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 1270-8.
- LEIPER, J. B., NICHOLAS, C. W., ALI, A., WILLIAMS, C. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 2005. The effect of intermittent high-intensity running on gastric emptying of fluids in man. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 37, 240-7.
- LEIPER, J. B., PRENTICE, A. S., WRIGHTSON, C. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 2001b. Gastric emptying of a carbohydrate-electrolyte drink during a soccer match. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, 1932-8.
- LEVIN, F., EDHOLM, T., SCHMIDT, P. T., GRYBÄCK, P., JACOBSSON, H., DEGERBLAD, M., HÖYBYE, C., HOLST, J. J., REHFELD, J. F., HELLSTRÖM, P. M. & NÄSLUND, E. 2006. Ghrelin stimulates gastric emptying and hunger in normal-weight humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 3296-302.
- LIDDLE, R. A., GOLDFINE, I. D., ROSEN, M. S., TAPLITZ, R. A. & WILLIAMS, J. A. 1985. Cholecystokinin bioactivity in human plasma. Molecular forms, responses to feeding, and relationship to gallbladder contraction. *J Clin Invest*, 75, 1144-52.
- LIEVERSE, R. J., JANSEN, J. B., MASCLEE, A. A., ROVATI, L. C. & LAMERS, C. B. 1994. Effect of a low dose of intraduodenal fat on satiety in humans: studies using the type A cholecystokinin receptor antagonist loxiglumide. *Gut*, 35, 501-5.
- LISSNER, L., STEVENS, J., LEVITSKY, D. A., RASMUSSEN, K. M. & STRUPP, B. J. 1988. Variation in energy intake during the menstrual cycle: implications for food-intake research. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 48, 956-62.
- LITTLE, J. P., SAFDAR, A., WILKIN, G. P., TARNOPOLSKY, M. A. & GIBALA, M. J. 2010. A practical model of low-volume high-intensity interval training induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle: potential mechanisms. *J Physiol*, 588, 1011-22.

- LITTLE, T. J., HOROWITZ, M. & FEINLE-BISSET, C. 2007. Modulation by highfat diets of gastrointestinal function and hormones associated with the regulation of energy intake: implications for the pathophysiology of obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 86, 531-41.
- LITTLE, T. J., PILICHIEWICZ, A. N., RUSSO, A., PHILLIPS, L., JONES, K. L., NAUCK, M. A., WISHART, J., HOROWITZ, M. & FEINLE-BISSET, C. 2006. Effects of intravenous glucagon-like peptide-1 on gastric emptying and intragastric distribution in healthy subjects: relationships with postprandial glycemic and insulinemic responses. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 1916-23.
- LIU, W., JIN, Y., WILDE, P. J., HOU, Y., WANG, Y. & HAN, J. 2021. Mechanisms, physiology, and recent research progress of gastric emptying. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 61, 2742-2755.
- LIU, W., LIU, J., SALT, L. J., RIDOUT, M. J., HAN, J. & WILDE, P. J. 2019. Structural stability of liposome-stabilized oil-in-water pickering emulsions and their fate during in vitro digestion. *Food Funct,* 10, 7262-7274.
- LOMENICK, J. P., MELGUIZO, M. S., MITCHELL, S. L., SUMMAR, M. L. & ANDERSON, J. W. 2009. Effects of meals high in carbohydrate, protein, and fat on ghrelin and peptide YY secretion in prepubertal children. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 94, 4463-71.
- LONGO, V. D. & PANDA, S. 2016. Fasting, Circadian Rhythms, and Time-Restricted Feeding in Healthy Lifespan. *Cell Metab*, 23, 1048-1059.
- LOVSHIN, J. A., HUANG, Q., SEABERG, R., BRUBAKER, P. L. & DRUCKER, D. J. 2004. Extrahypothalamic expression of the glucagon-like peptide-2 receptor is coupled to reduction of glutamate-induced cell death in cultured hippocampal cells. *Endocrinology*, 145, 3495-506.
- LOWE, J. B., SACCHETTINI, J. C., LAPOSATA, M., MCQUILLAN, J. J. & GORDON, J. I. 1987. Expression of rat intestinal fatty acid-binding protein in Escherichia coli. Purification and comparison of ligand binding characteristics with that of Escherichia coli-derived rat liver fatty acid-binding protein. *J Biol Chem*, 262, 5931-7.
- LUNDBERG, J. M., TATEMOTO, K., TERENIUS, L., HELLSTRÖM, P. M., MUTT, V., HÖKFELT, T. & HAMBERGER, B. 1982. Localization of peptide YY (PYY) in gastrointestinal endocrine cells and effects on intestinal blood flow and motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 79, 4471-5.
- LUNDIN, L., GOLDING, M. & WOOSTER, T. 2008. Understanding food structure and function in developing food for appetite control. *Nutrition* & *Dietetics*, 65, 79-85.
- MACKENZIE, B., LOO, D. D., FEI, Y., LIU, W. J., GANAPATHY, V., LEIBACH, F. H. & WRIGHT, E. M. 1996. Mechanisms of the human intestinal H+coupled oligopeptide transporter hPEPT1. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 5430-7.
- MACKIE, A. R., RAFIEE, H., MALCOLM, P., SALT, L. & VAN AKEN, G. 2013. Specific food structures supress appetite through reduced gastric emptying rate. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 304, G1038-43.

- MAES, B. D., GHOOS, Y. F., RUTGEERTS, P. J., HIELE, M. I., GEYPENS, B. & VANTRAPPEN, G. 1994. [*C]octanoic acid breath test to measure gastric emptying rate of solids. *Dig Dis Sci*, 39, 104S-106S.
- MALAISSE-LAGAE, F., CARPENTIER, J. L., PATEL, Y. C., MALAISSE, W. J. & ORCI, L. 1977. Pancreatic polypeptide: a possible role in the regulation of food intake in the mouse. Hypothesis. *Experientia*, 33, 915-7.
- MANI, B. K., SHANKAR, K. & ZIGMAN, J. M. 2019. Ghrelin's Relationship to Blood Glucose. *Endocrinology*, 160, 1247-1261.
- MANI, B. K., UCHIDA, A., LEE, Y., OSBORNE-LAWRENCE, S., CHARRON, M. J., UNGER, R. H., BERGLUND, E. D. & ZIGMAN, J. M. 2017. Hypoglycemic Effect of Combined Ghrelin and Glucagon Receptor Blockade. *Diabetes*, 66, 1847-1857.
- MANSBACH, C. M. & GORELICK, F. 2007. Development and physiological regulation of intestinal lipid absorption. II. Dietary lipid absorption, complex lipid synthesis, and the intracellular packaging and secretion of chylomicrons. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 293, G645-50.
- MAQBOOL, S., PARKMAN, H. P. & FRIEDENBERG, F. K. 2009. Wireless capsule motility: comparison of the SmartPill GI monitoring system with scintigraphy for measuring whole gut transit. *Dig Dis Sci*, 54, 2167-74.
- MARCH, D. S., MARCHBANK, T., PLAYFORD, R. J., JONES, A. W., THATCHER, R. & DAVISON, G. 2017. Intestinal fatty acid-binding protein and gut permeability responses to exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 117, 931-941.
- MARCIANI, L., COX, E. F., PRITCHARD, S. E., MAJOR, G., HOAD, C. L., MELLOWS, M., HUSSEIN, M. O., COSTIGAN, C., FOX, M., GOWLAND, P. A. & SPILLER, R. C. 2015. Additive effects of gastric volumes and macronutrient composition on the sensation of postprandial fullness in humans. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 69, 380-4.
- MARIANI, H. S., LAYDEN, B. T. & ALEPPO, G. 2017. Continuous Glucose Monitoring: A Perspective on Its Past, Present, and Future Applications for Diabetes Management. *Clin Diabetes*, 35, 60-65.
- MARTINS, C., KULSENG, B., REHFELD, J. F., KING, N. A. & BLUNDELL, J. E. 2013. Effect of chronic exercise on appetite control in overweight and obese individuals. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 45, 805-12.
- MARTINS, C., MORGAN, L. & TRUBY, H. 2008. A review of the effects of exercise on appetite regulation: an obesity perspective. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32, 1337-47.
- MARTINS, C., MORGAN, L. M., BLOOM, S. R. & ROBERTSON, M. D. 2007a. Effects of exercise on gut peptides, energy intake and appetite. *J Endocrinol*, 193, 251-8.
- MARTINS, C., STENSVOLD, D., FINLAYSON, G., HOLST, J., WISLOFF, U., KULSENG, B., MORGAN, L. & KING, N. A. 2015. Effect of moderate- and high-intensity acute exercise on appetite in obese individuals. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 40-8.
- MARTINS, C., TRUBY, H. & MORGAN, L. M. 2007b. Short-term appetite control in response to a 6-week exercise programme in sedentary volunteers. *Br J Nutr,* 98, 834-42.

- MATTIN, L., MCIVER, V., YAU, A., JAMES, L. & EVANS, G. 2020a. A Comparison of Intermittent and Continuous Exercise Bouts at Different Intensities on Appetite and Postprandial Metabolic Responses in Healthy Men. *Nutrients*, 12.
- MATTIN, L., YAU, A. M. W., MCIVER, V., JAMES, L. J. & EVANS, G. H. 2018a. The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and Gut Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a Standardised Semi-Solid Meal in Healthy Males. *Nutrients*, 10.
- MATTIN, L. R., MCIVER, V. J., YAU, A. M. W., JAMES, L. J. & EVANS, G. H. 2020b. A Comparison of Intermittent and Continuous Exercise Bouts at Different Intensities on Appetite and Postprandial Metabolic Responses in Healthy Men. *Nutrients*, 12.
- MATTIN, L. R., YAU, A. M. W., MCIVER, V., JAMES, L. J. & EVANS, G. H. 2018b. The Effect of Exercise Intensity on Gastric Emptying Rate, Appetite and Gut Derived Hormone Responses after Consuming a Standardised Semi-Solid Meal in Healthy Males. *Nutrients*, 10.
- MATZINGER, D., GUTZWILLER, J. P., DREWE, J., ORBAN, A., ENGEL, R., D'AMATO, M., ROVATI, L. & BEGLINGER, C. 1999. Inhibition of food intake in response to intestinal lipid is mediated by cholecystokinin in humans. *Am J Physiol*, 277, R1718-24.
- MAUGHAN, R. J., FALLAH, J. & COYLE, E. F. 2010. The effects of fasting on metabolism and performance. *Br J Sports Med*, 44, 490-4.
- MAUGHAN, R. J. & LEIPER, J. B. 1996. Methods for the assessment of gastric emptying in humans: an overview. *Diabet Med*, 13, S6-10.
- MAUGHAN, R. J., LEIPER, J. B. & MCGAW, B. A. 1990. Effects of exercise intensity on absorption of ingested fluids in man. *Exp Physiol*, 75, 419-21.
- MAURER, A. H. 2012. Advancing gastric emptying studies: standardization and new parameters to assess gastric motility and function. *Semin Nucl Med*, 42, 101-12.
- MAYER, J. 1955. Regulation of energy intake and the body weight: the glucostatic theory and the lipostatic hypothesis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 63, 15-43.
- MAYER, J., ROY, P. & MITRA, K. P. 1956. Relation between caloric intake, body weight, and physical work: studies in an industrial male population in West Bengal. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 4, 169-75.
- MAZZAWI, T., BARTSCH, E., BENAMMI, S., FERRO, R. M. C., NIKITINA, E., NIMER, N., ORTEGA, L. J., PERROTTE, C., PITHON, J. V., ROSALINA, S., SHARP, A., STEVANO, R., HATLEBAKK, J. G. & HAUSKEN, T. 2019. Gastric Emptying of Low- and High-Caloric Liquid Meals Measured Using Ultrasonography in Healthy Volunteers. *Ultrasound Int Open*, 5, E27-E33.
- MCCOWEN, K. C., MAYKEL, J. A., BISTRIAN, B. R. & LING, P. R. 2002. Circulating ghrelin concentrations are lowered by intravenous glucose or hyperinsulinemic euglycemic conditions in rodents. *J Endocrinol*, 175, R7-11.

- MCGOWAN, B. M. & BLOOM, S. R. 2004. Peptide YY and appetite control. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 4, 583-8.
- MCIVER, V., MATTIN, L., EVANS, G. & YAU, A. 2020. The Effect Of Fasted Cycling Exercise At Different Times Of The Day In Overweight Individuals. *ACSM Annual Meeting & World Congresses.* San Francisco: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise.*
- MCIVER, V. J., MATTIN, L., EVANS, G. H. & YAU, A. M. W. 2018. The effect of brisk walking in the fasted versus fed state on metabolic responses, gastrointestinal function, and appetite in healthy men. *Int J Obes (Lond)*.
- MCIVER, V. J., MATTIN, L. R., EVANS, G. H. & YAU, A. M. W. 2019. Diurnal influences of fasted and non-fasted brisk walking on gastric emptying rate, metabolic responses, and appetite in healthy males. *Appetite*, 143, 104411.
- MEDEIROS, M. D. & TURNER, A. J. 1994. Processing and metabolism of peptide-YY: pivotal roles of dipeptidylpeptidase-IV, aminopeptidase-P, and endopeptidase-24.11. *Endocrinology*, 134, 2088-94.
- MELANSON, E. L., DONAHOO, W. T., GRUNWALD, G. K. & SCHWARTZ, R. 2007. Changes in 24-h substrate oxidation in older and younger men in response to exercise. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 103, 1576-82.
- MELANSON, E. L., SHARP, T. A., SEAGLE, H. M., HORTON, T. J., DONAHOO, W. T., GRUNWALD, G. K., HAMILTON, J. T. & HILL, J. O. 2002. Effect of exercise intensity on 24-h energy expenditure and nutrient oxidation. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 92, 1045-52.
- MELBY, C. L., OSTERBERG, K. L., RESCH, A., DAVY, B., JOHNSON, S. & DAVY, K. 2002. Effect of carbohydrate ingestion during exercise on postexercise substrate oxidation and energy intake. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 12, 294-309.
- MENEGUETTI, B. T., CARDOSO, M. H., RIBEIRO, C. F. A., FELÍCIO, M. R., PINTO, I. B., SANTOS, N. C., CARVALHO, C. M. E. & FRANCO, O. L. 2019. Neuropeptide receptors as potential pharmacological targets for obesity. *Pharmacol Ther*, 196, 59-78.
- MICHEL, M. C., BECK-SICKINGER, A., COX, H., DOODS, H. N., HERZOG, H., LARHAMMAR, D., QUIRION, R., SCHWARTZ, T. & WESTFALL, T. 1998. XVI. International Union of Pharmacology recommendations for the nomenclature of neuropeptide Y, peptide YY, and pancreatic polypeptide receptors. *Pharmacol Rev*, 50, 143-50.
- MIFFLIN, M. D., ST JEOR, S. T., HILL, L. A., SCOTT, B. J., DAUGHERTY, S. A. & KOH, Y. O. 1990. A new predictive equation for resting energy expenditure in healthy individuals. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 51, 241-7.
- MISHIMA, Y., AMANO, Y., TAKAHASHI, Y., MORIYAMA, N., MIYAKE, T., ISHIMURA, N., ISHIHARA, S. & KINOSHITA, Y. 2009. Gastric emptying of liquid and solid meals at various temperatures: effect of meal temperature for gastric emptying. *J Gastroenterol*, 44, 412-8.
- MIYAWAKI, K., YAMADA, Y., BAN, N., IHARA, Y., TSUKIYAMA, K., ZHOU, H., FUJIMOTO, S., OKU, A., TSUDA, K., TOYOKUNI, S., HIAI, H.,

MIZUNOYA, W., FUSHIKI, T., HOLST, J. J., MAKINO, M., TASHITA, A., KOBARA, Y., TSUBAMOTO, Y., JINNOUCHI, T., JOMORI, T. & SEINO, Y. 2002. Inhibition of gastric inhibitory polypeptide signaling prevents obesity. *Nat Med*, *8*, 738-42.

- MONRROY, H., BORGHI, G., PRIBIC, T., GALAN, C., NIETO, A., AMIGO, N., ACCARINO, A., CORREIG, X. & AZPIROZ, F. 2019. Biological Response to Meal Ingestion: Gender Differences. *Nutrients*, 11.
- MOORE, J. G., CHRISTIAN, P. E., BROWN, J. A., BROPHY, C., DATZ, F., TAYLOR, A. & ALAZRAKI, N. 1984. Influence of meal weight and caloric content on gastric emptying of meals in man. *Dig Dis Sci*, 29, 513-9.
- MOORE, J. G., DATZ, F. L., CHRISTIAN, P. E., GREENBERG, E. & ALAZRAKI, N. 1988. Effect of body posture on radionuclide measurements of gastric emptying. *Dig Dis Sci*, 33, 1592-5.
- MORAN, T. H. & DAILEY, M. J. 2011. Intestinal feedback signaling and satiety. *Physiol Behav*, 105, 77-81.
- MORAN, T. H. & MCHUGH, P. R. 1982. Cholecystokinin suppresses food intake by inhibiting gastric emptying. *Am J Physiol*, 242, R491-7.
- MORRIS, D. L. & RUI, L. 2009. Recent advances in understanding leptin signaling and leptin resistance. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 297, E1247-59.
- MORRIS, J. N., CLAYTON, D. G., EVERITT, M. G., SEMMENCE, A. M. & BURGESS, E. H. 1990. Exercise in leisure time: coronary attack and death rates. *Br Heart J*, 63, 325-34.
- MORTON, J. P., CROFT, L., BARTLETT, J. D., MACLAREN, D. P., REILLY, T., EVANS, L., MCARDLE, A. & DRUST, B. 2009. Reduced carbohydrate availability does not modulate training-induced heat shock protein adaptations but does upregulate oxidative enzyme activity in human skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 106, 1513-21.
- MORTON, J. P., ROBERTSON, C., SUTTON, L. & MACLAREN, D. P. 2010. Making the weight: a case study from professional boxing. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 20, 80-5.
- MULLA, N. A., SIMONSEN, L. & BÜLOW, J. 2000. Post-exercise adipose tissue and skeletal muscle lipid metabolism in humans: the effects of exercise intensity. *J Physiol*, 524 Pt 3, 919-28.
- MURPHY, K. G. & BLOOM, S. R. 2006. Gut hormones and the regulation of energy homeostasis. *Nature*, 444, 854-9.
- MYBURGH, K. H. 2014. Polyphenol supplementation: benefits for exercise performance or oxidative stress? *Sports Med*, 44 Suppl 1, S57-70.
- MYNATT, R. L. & RAVUSSIN, E. 2018. Secretin: An Old Hormone with a Burning Secret. *Cell*, 175, 1459-1460.
- MÜNZBERG, H. & MORRISON, C. D. 2015. Structure, production and signaling of leptin. *Metabolism*, 64, 13-23.
- NAGAI, S. 1976. Serotonin containing and histamine containing cells in human stomach. Identification of these cells by fluorescent microscope and electron microscope. *Gastroenterol Jpn*, 11, 363-73.

- NAKAGAWA, E., NAGAYA, N., OKUMURA, H., ENOMOTO, M., OYA, H., ONO, F., HOSODA, H., KOJIMA, M. & KANGAWA, K. 2002. Hyperglycaemia suppresses the secretion of ghrelin, a novel growth-hormone-releasing peptide: responses to the intravenous and oral administration of glucose. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 103, 325-8.
- NALEID, A. M., GRACE, M. K., CUMMINGS, D. E. & LEVINE, A. S. 2005. Ghrelin induces feeding in the mesolimbic reward pathway between the ventral tegmental area and the nucleus accumbens. *Peptides*, 26, 2274-9.
- NARANG, B. J., ATKINSON, G., GONZALEZ, J. T. & BETTS, J. A. 2020. A Tool to Explore Discrete-Time Data: The Time Series Response Analyser. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 1-8.
- NAVALE, A. M. & PARANJAPE, A. N. 2016. Glucose transporters: physiological and pathological roles. *Biophys Rev*, 8, 5-9.
- NEARY, N. M., SMALL, C. J., DRUCE, M. R., PARK, A. J., ELLIS, S. M., SEMJONOUS, N. M., DAKIN, C. L., FILIPSSON, K., WANG, F., KENT, A. S., FROST, G. S., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2005. Peptide YY3-36 and glucagon-like peptide-17-36 inhibit food intake additively. *Endocrinology*, 146, 5120-7.
- NELESEN, R., DAR, Y., THOMAS, K. & DIMSDALE, J. E. 2008. The relationship between fatigue and cardiac functioning. *Arch Intern Med*, 168, 943-9.
- NEUFER, P. D., COSTILL, D. L., FINK, W. J., KIRWAN, J. P., FIELDING, R. A. & FLYNN, M. G. 1986. Effects of exercise and carbohydrate composition on gastric emptying. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 18, 658-62.
- NEUFER, P. D., YOUNG, A. J. & SAWKA, M. N. 1989. Gastric emptying during walking and running: effects of varied exercise intensity. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*, 58, 440-5.
- NGUYEN, N. Q., BRYANT, L. K., BURGSTAD, C. M., CHAPMAN, M., DEANE, A., BELLON, M., LANGE, K., BARTHOLOMEUZ, D., HOROWITZ, M., HOLLOWAY, R. H. & FRASER, R. J. 2013. Gastric emptying measurement of liquid nutrients using the (13)C-octanoate breath test in critically ill patients: a comparison with scintigraphy. *Intensive Care Med*, 39, 1238-46.
- NIEUWENHUIZEN, W. F., WEENEN, H., RIGBY, P. & HETHERINGTON, M. M. 2010. Older adults and patients in need of nutritional support: review of current treatment options and factors influencing nutritional intake. *Clin Nutr*, 29, 160-9.
- NIGAM, Y. 2019. Gastrointestinal tract 5: The anatomy and functions of the large intestine. *Nursing Times*, 115, 50-53.
- NIGAM, Y. & KNIGHT, J. 2017. Anatomy and physiology of ageing 3: the digestive system. *Nursing Times*, 113, 54-57.
- NING, F., ZHANG, L., DEKKER, J. M., ONAT, A., STEHOUWER, C. D., YUDKIN, J. S., LAATIKAINEN, T., TUOMILEHTO, J., PYÖRÄLÄ, K., QIAO, Q. & INVESTIGATORS, D. F. A. S. S. 2012. Development of coronary heart disease and ischemic stroke in relation to fasting and 2-hour plasma glucose levels in the normal range. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 11, 76.

- NOAKES, T. D., REHRER, N. J. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 1991. The importance of volume in regulating gastric emptying. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 23, 307-13.
- NOLAND, R. 1995. Short-run and long-run policies for increasing bicycle transportation for daily commuter trips. *Transport Policy*, 2, 67-79.
- NÄSLUND, E. & HELLSTRÖM, P. M. 2007. Appetite signaling: from gut peptides and enteric nerves to brain. *Physiol Behav*, 92, 256-62.
- OCKNER, R. K. & MANNING, J. A. 1974. Fatty acid-binding protein in small intestine. Identification, isolation, and evidence for its role in cellular fatty acid transport. *J Clin Invest*, 54, 326-38.
- OLAUSSON, E. A., BROCK, C., DREWES, A. M., GRUNDIN, H., ISAKSSON, M., STOTZER, P., ABRAHAMSSON, H., ATTVALL, S. & SIMRÉN, M. 2013. Measurement of gastric emptying by radiopaque markers in patients with diabetes: correlation with scintigraphy and upper gastrointestinal symptoms. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 25, e224-32.
- ORSKOV, C., RABENHØJ, L., WETTERGREN, A., KOFOD, H. & HOLST, J. J. 1994. Tissue and plasma concentrations of amidated and glycineextended glucagon-like peptide I in humans. *Diabetes*, 43, 535-9.
- OVERDUIN, J., FIGLEWICZ, D. P., BENNETT-JAY, J., KITTLESON, S. & CUMMINGS, D. E. 2012. Ghrelin increases the motivation to eat, but does not alter food palatability. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 303, R259-69.
- PADDON-JONES, D., SHEFFIELD-MOORE, M., KATSANOS, C. S., ZHANG, X. J. & WOLFE, R. R. 2006. Differential stimulation of muscle protein synthesis in elderly humans following isocaloric ingestion of amino acids or whey protein. *Exp Gerontol*, 41, 215-9.
- PANISSA, V. L. G., JULIO, U. F., HARDT, F., KURASHIMA, C., LIRA, F. S., TAKITO, M. Y. & FRANCHINI, E. 2016. Effect of exercise intensity and mode on acute appetite control in men and women. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 41, 1083-1091.
- PARAVIDINO, V. B., MEDIANO, M. F. F., SILVA, I. C. M., CRUZ, V. L., ANTUNES, M. M. L., BEAULIEU, K., GIBBONS, C., FINLAYSON, G., BLUNDELL, J. E. & SICHIERI, R. 2020. The compensatory effect of exercise on physical activity and energy intake in young men with overweight: the EFECT randomised controlled trial. *Physiol Behav*, 113249.
- PATEL, G. K., WHALEN, G. E., SOERGEL, K. H., WU, W. C. & MEADE, R. C. 1979. Glucagon effects on the human small intestine. *Dig Dis Sci*, 24, 501-8.
- PATTERSON, R. E., LAUGHLIN, G. A., LACROIX, A. Z., HARTMAN, S. J., NATARAJAN, L., SENGER, C. M., MARTÍNEZ, M. E., VILLASEÑOR, A., SEARS, D. D., MARINAC, C. R. & GALLO, L. C. 2015. Intermittent Fasting and Human Metabolic Health. J Acad Nutr Diet, 115, 1203-12.
- PAUL, P. 1975. Effects of long lasting physical exercise and training on lipid metabolism. *Metabolic Adaptation to prolonged Physical Exercise*, 156-193.

PAVELKA, M. & ROTH, J. 2010. Parietal cells of stomach: Secretion of

acid. Functional Ultrastructur, 202-203.

- PEKKANEN, J. 1999. Glucose tolerance and mortality: comparison of WHO and American Diabetes Association diagnostic criteria. The DECODE study group. European Diabetes Epidemiology Group. Diabetes Epidemiology: Collaborative analysis Of Diagnostic criteria in Europe. *Lancet*, 354, 617-21.
- PELASEYED, T., BERGSTRÖM, J. H., GUSTAFSSON, J. K., ERMUND, A., BIRCHENOUGH, G. M., SCHÜTTE, A., VAN DER POST, S., SVENSSON, F., RODRÍGUEZ-PIÑEIRO, A. M., NYSTRÖM, E. E., WISING, C., JOHANSSON, M. E. & HANSSON, G. C. 2014. The mucus and mucins of the goblet cells and enterocytes provide the first defense line of the gastrointestinal tract and interact with the immune system. *Immunol Rev*, 260, 8-20.
- PERKIN, O. J., MCGUIGAN, P. M. & STOKES, K. A. 2019. Exercise Snacking to Improve Muscle Function in Healthy Older Adults: A Pilot Study. *J Aging Res*, 2019, 7516939.
- PHILLIPS, S. M. 2014a. A brief review of critical processes in exercise-induced muscular hypertrophy. *Sports Med,* 44 Suppl 1, S71-7.
- PHILLIPS, S. M. 2014b. A brief review of higher dietary protein diets in weight loss: a focus on athletes. *Sports Med*, 44 Suppl 2, S149-53.
- PIRONI, L., STANGHELLINI, V., MIGLIOLI, M., CORINALDESI, R., DE GIORGIO, R., RUGGERI, E., TOSETTI, C., POGGIOLI, G., MORSELLI LABATE, A. M. & MONETTI, N. 1993. Fat-induced ileal brake in humans: a dose-dependent phenomenon correlated to the plasma levels of peptide YY. *Gastroenterology*, 105, 733-9.
- PLIQUETT, R. U., FÜHRER, D., FALK, S., ZYSSET, S., VON CRAMON, D. Y. & STUMVOLL, M. 2006. The effects of insulin on the central nervous system--focus on appetite regulation. *Horm Metab Res*, 38, 442-6.
- POIRIER, P., GILES, T. D., BRAY, G. A., HONG, Y., STERN, J. S., PI-SUNYER, F. X. & ECKEL, R. H. 2006. Obesity and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight loss. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 26, 968-76.
- POMERLEAU, M., IMBEAULT, P., PARKER, T. & DOUCET, E. 2004. Effects of exercise intensity on food intake and appetite in women. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1230-6.
- PONTZER, H. 2015. Constrained Total Energy Expenditure and the Evolutionary Biology of Energy Balance. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, 43, 110-6.
- PONTZER, H., RAICHLEN, D. A., WOOD, B. M., EMERY THOMPSON, M., RACETTE, S. B., MABULLA, A. Z. & MARLOWE, F. W. 2015. Energy expenditure and activity among Hadza hunter-gatherers. *Am J Hum Biol*, 27, 628-37.
- POON, E. T., SUN, F. H., CHUNG, A. P. & WONG, S. H. 2018. Post-Exercise Appetite and Ad Libitum Energy Intake in Response to High-Intensity

Interval Training versus Moderate- or Vigorous-Intensity Continuous Training among Physically Inactive Middle-Aged Adults. *Nutrients*, 10.

- PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2016. Government recommendations for energy and nutrients for males and females aged 1 – 18 years and 19+ years. Government Dietary Recommendations.
- PUBLIC HEALTH ENGLAND 2018. A Quick Guide to the Government's Healthy Eating Recommendations. Protecting and Improving the Nation's Health.
- PUGH, J. N., IMPEY, S. G., DORAN, D. A., FLEMING, S. C., MORTON, J. P. & CLOSE, G. L. 2017. Acute high-intensity interval running increases markers of gastrointestinal damage and permeability but not gastrointestinal symptoms. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 42, 941-947.
- PURDOM, T., KRAVITZ, L., DOKLADNY, K. & MERMIER, C. 2018. Understanding the factors that effect maximal fat oxidation. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*, 15, 3.
- PURNELL, J. Q., WEIGLE, D. S., BREEN, P. & CUMMINGS, D. E. 2003. Ghrelin levels correlate with insulin levels, insulin resistance, and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, but not with gender, menopausal status, or cortisol levels in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 5747-52.
- PÉRONNET, F. & MASSICOTTE, D. 1991. Table of nonprotein respiratory quotient: an update. *Can J Sport Sci*, 16, 23-9.
- PÖYKKÖ, S. M., KELLOKOSKI, E., HÖRKKÖ, S., KAUMA, H., KESÄNIEMI, Y. A. & UKKOLA, O. 2003. Low plasma ghrelin is associated with insulin resistance, hypertension, and the prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 52, 2546-53.
- QAID, M. & ABDELRAHMAN, M. 2016. Role of insulin and other related hormones in energy metabolism. *Cogent Food & Agriculture*, 2, 1-18.
- RACETTE, S. B., COPPACK, S. W., LANDT, M. & KLEIN, S. 1997. Leptin production during moderate-intensity aerobic exercise. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 82, 2275-7.
- RANCHORDAS, M. K., DAWSON, J. T. & RUSSELL, M. 2017. Practical nutritional recovery strategies for elite soccer players when limited time separates repeated matches. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr,* 14, 35.
- RANDLE, P. J., GARLAND, P. B., HALES, C. N. & NEWSHOLME, E. A. 1963. The glucose fatty-acid cycle. Its role in insulin sensitivity and the metabolic disturbances of diabetes mellitus. *Lancet*, 1, 785-9.
- RANDOLPH, G. J. & MILLER, N. E. 2014. Lymphatic transport of high-density lipoproteins and chylomicrons. *J Clin Invest*, 124, 929-35.
- RAYNER, C. K., SAMSOM, M., JONES, K. L. & HOROWITZ, M. 2001. Relationships of upper gastrointestinal motor and sensory function with glycemic control. *Diabetes Care*, 24, 371-81.
- REHRER, N. J., BECKERS, E., BROUNS, F., HOOR TEN, F. & SARIS, W. H. 1989. Exercise and training effects on gastric emptying of carbohydrate beverages. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 21, 540-9.

- REHRER, N. J., BECKERS, E. J., BROUNS, F., SARIS, W. H. & TEN HOOR, F. 1993. Effects of electrolytes in carbohydrate beverages on gastric emptying and secretion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 25, 42-51.
- REIMER, M. K., PACINI, G. & AHRÉN, B. 2003. Dose-dependent inhibition by ghrelin of insulin secretion in the mouse. *Endocrinology*, 144, 916-21.
- RESELAND, J. E., ANDERSSEN, S. A., SOLVOLL, K., HJERMANN, I., URDAL, P., HOLME, I. & DREVON, C. A. 2001. Effect of long-term changes in diet and exercise on plasma leptin concentrations. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 73, 240-5.
- RICHTER, E. A. & HARGREAVES, M. 2013. Exercise, GLUT4, and skeletal muscle glucose uptake. *Physiol Rev*, 93, 993-1017.
- RICHTER, E. A., PLOUG, T. & GALBO, H. 1985. Increased muscle glucose uptake after exercise. No need for insulin during exercise. *Diabetes*, 34, 1041-8.
- RITTER, R. C., COVASA, M. & MATSON, C. A. 1999. Cholecystokinin: proofs and prospects for involvement in control of food intake and body weight. *Neuropeptides*, 33, 387-99.
- ROCHA, J., PAXMAN, J., DALTON, C., WINTER, E. & BROOM, D. 2013. Effects of an acute bout of aerobic exercise on immediate and subsequent three-day food intake and energy expenditure in active and inactive men. *Appetite*, 71, 369-78.
- RODGERS, A., WOODWARD, A., SWINBURN, B. & DIETZ, W. H. 2018. Prevalence trends tell us what did not precipitate the US obesity epidemic. *Lancet Public Health*, 3, e162-e163.
- RODRIGUEZ, N. R., DI MARCO, N. M., LANGLEY, S., ASSOCIATION, A. D., CANADA, D. O. & MEDICINE, A. C. O. S. 2009. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Nutrition and athletic performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 41, 709-31.
- ROLLS, B. J., CASTELLANOS, V. H., HALFORD, J. C., KILARA, A., PANYAM, D., PELKMAN, C. L., SMITH, G. P. & THORWART, M. L. 1998. Volume of food consumed affects satiety in men. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 67, 1170-7.
- ROMIJN, J. A., COYLE, E. F., SIDOSSIS, L. S., GASTALDELLI, A., HOROWITZ, J. F., ENDERT, E. & WOLFE, R. R. 1993. Regulation of endogenous fat and carbohydrate metabolism in relation to exercise intensity and duration. *Am J Physiol*, 265, E380-91.
- ROUHANI, M. H., HAGHIGHATDOOST, F., SURKAN, P. J. & AZADBAKHT, L. 2016. Associations between dietary energy density and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutrition*, 32, 1037-47.
- RUI, L. 2013. Brain regulation of energy balance and body weight. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord,* 14, 387-407.
- RUITER, M., DUFFY, P., SIMASKO, S. & RITTER, R. C. 2010. Increased hypothalamic signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 phosphorylation after hindbrain leptin injection. *Endocrinology*, 151, 1509-19.

- RUSSO, A., STEVENS, J. E., CHEN, R., GENTILCORE, D., BURNET, R., HOROWITZ, M. & JONES, K. L. 2005. Insulin-induced hypoglycemia accelerates gastric emptying of solids and liquids in long-standing type 1 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90, 4489-95.
- RÖDER, P. V., WONG, X., HONG, W. & HAN, W. 2016a. Molecular regulation of insulin granule biogenesis and exocytosis. *Biochem J*, 473, 2737-56.
- RÖDER, P. V., WU, B., LIU, Y. & HAN, W. 2016b. Pancreatic regulation of glucose homeostasis. *Exp Mol Med*, 48, e219.
- RÜTTIMANN, E. B., ARNOLD, M., HILLEBRAND, J. J., GEARY, N. & LANGHANS, W. 2009. Intrameal hepatic portal and intraperitoneal infusions of glucagon-like peptide-1 reduce spontaneous meal size in the rat via different mechanisms. *Endocrinology*, 150, 1174-81.
- S ATKINSON, F., A HERUC, G., M H TAN, V., PETOCZ, P. & C BRAND-MILLER, J. 2020. Extending the Overnight Fast: Sex Differences in Acute Metabolic Responses to Breakfast. *Nutrients*, 12.
- SAAD, M. F., BERNABA, B., HWU, C. M., JINAGOUDA, S., FAHMI, S., KOGOSOV, E. & BOYADJIAN, R. 2002. Insulin regulates plasma ghrelin concentration. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 3997-4000.
- SAAD, M. F., KHAN, A., SHARMA, A., MICHAEL, R., RIAD-GABRIEL, M. G., BOYADJIAN, R., JINAGOUDA, S. D., STEIL, G. M. & KAMDAR, V. 1998. Physiological insulinemia acutely modulates plasma leptin. *Diabetes*, 47, 544-9.
- SAKATA, I., PARK, W. M., WALKER, A. K., PIPER, P. K., CHUANG, J. C., OSBORNE-LAWRENCE, S. & ZIGMAN, J. M. 2012. Glucose-mediated control of ghrelin release from primary cultures of gastric mucosal cells. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 302, E1300-10.
- SALIMETRICS. 2018. Calculating Inter- and Intra-Assay Coefficients of Variability [Online]. <u>https://salimetrics.com/calculating-inter-and-intraassay-coefficients-of-variability/</u>: Salimetrics, LLC. [Accessed 30/10/2020 2020].
- SAM, A. H., SLEETH, M. L., THOMAS, E. L., ISMAIL, N. A., MAT DAUD, N., CHAMBERS, E., SHOJAEE-MORADIE, F., UMPLEBY, M., GOLDSTONE, A.
 P., LE ROUX, C. W., BECH, P., BUSBRIDGE, M., LAURIE, R., CUTHBERTSON, D. J., BUCKLEY, A., GHATEI, M. A., BLOOM, S. R., FROST, G. S., BELL, J. D. & MURPHY, K. G. 2015. Circulating pancreatic polypeptide concentrations predict visceral and liver fat content. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 100, 1048-52.
- SANDERS, K. M. 2008. Regulation of smooth muscle excitation and contraction. *Neurogastroenterol Motil*, 20 Suppl 1, 39-53.
- SANGER, G. J., WANG, Y., HOBSON, A. & BROAD, J. 2013. Motilin: towards a new understanding of the gastrointestinal neuropharmacology and therapeutic use of motilin receptor agonists. *Br J Pharmacol*, 170, 1323-32.
- SARKER, A., YE, A. & SINGH, H. 2016. On the role of bile salts in the digestion of emulsified lipids. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 60, 77-84.

- SAW, A. E., MAIN, L. C. & GASTIN, P. B. 2016. Monitoring the athlete training response: subjective self-reported measures trump commonly used objective measures: a systematic review. *Br J Sports Med*, 50, 281-91.
- SCHJOLDAGER, B., MORTENSEN, P. E., MYHRE, J., CHRISTIANSEN, J. & HOLST, J. J. 1989. Oxyntomodulin from distal gut. Role in regulation of gastric and pancreatic functions. *Dig Dis Sci*, 34, 1411-9.
- SCHMID, R., SCHUSDZIARRA, V., ALLESCHER, H. D., BOFILIAS, I., BUTTERMANN, G. & CLASSEN, M. 1991. Effect of motilin on gastric emptying in patients with diabetic gastroparesis. *Diabetes Care*, 14, 65-8.
- SCHMIDT, P. T., NÄSLUND, E., GRYBÄCK, P., JACOBSSON, H., HOLST, J. J., HILSTED, L. & HELLSTRÖM, P. M. 2005. A role for pancreatic polypeptide in the regulation of gastric emptying and short-term metabolic control. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90, 5241-6.
- SCHUBERT, M. M., DESBROW, B., SABAPATHY, S. & LEVERITT, M. 2013. Acute exercise and subsequent energy intake. A meta-analysis. *Appetite*, 63, 92-104.
- SCHUBERT, M. M., SABAPATHY, S., LEVERITT, M. & DESBROW, B. 2014. Acute exercise and hormones related to appetite regulation: a metaanalysis. *Sports Med*, 44, 387-403.
- SCHVARCZ, E., PALMÉR, M., AMAN, J., HOROWITZ, M., STRIDSBERG, M. & BERNE, C. 1997. Physiological hyperglycemia slows gastric emptying in normal subjects and patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Gastroenterology*, 113, 60-6.
- SCHWARTZ, G. J. 2000. The role of gastrointestinal vagal afferents in the control of food intake: current prospects. *Nutrition*, 16, 866-73.
- SCHWARTZ, M. W., WOODS, S. C., PORTE, D., SEELEY, R. J. & BASKIN, D. G. 2000. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature*, 404, 661-71.
- SEDANO, J., SWAMY, R., JAIN, K. & GUPTA, S. 2015. Brunner's gland hamartoma of the duodenum. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl*, 97, e70-2.
- SEMECO, A. 2016. *Post-workout nutrition : What to eat after a workout* [Online]. <u>https://www.healthline.com/nutrition/eat-after-workout</u>: Healthline. [Accessed].
- SEMENZA, G., KESSLER, M., HOSANG, M., WEBER, J. & SCHMIDT, U. 1984. Biochemistry of the Na+, D-glucose cotransporter of the small-intestinal brush-border membrane. The state of the art in 1984. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 779, 343-79.
- SHIIYA, T., NAKAZATO, M., MIZUTA, M., DATE, Y., MONDAL, M. S., TANAKA, M., NOZOE, S., HOSODA, H., KANGAWA, K. & MATSUKURA, S. 2002.
 Plasma ghrelin levels in lean and obese humans and the effect of glucose on ghrelin secretion. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 87, 240-4.
- SHORTEN, A. L., WALLMAN, K. E. & GUELFI, K. J. 2009. Acute effect of environmental temperature during exercise on subsequent energy intake in active men. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 90, 1215-21.

- SIDDIQI, S. A., SIDDIQI, S., MAHAN, J., PEGGS, K., GORELICK, F. S. & MANSBACH, C. M. 2006. The identification of a novel endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi SNARE complex used by the prechylomicron transport vesicle. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 20974-20982.
- SIM, A. Y., WALLMAN, K. E., FAIRCHILD, T. J. & GUELFI, K. J. 2014. Highintensity intermittent exercise attenuates ad-libitum energy intake. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 38, 417-22.
- SIM, A. Y., WALLMAN, K. E., FAIRCHILD, T. J. & GUELFI, K. J. 2015. Effects of High-Intensity Intermittent Exercise Training on Appetite Regulation. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 47, 2441-9.
- SIMMONS, R. D., KAISER, F. C. & HUDZIK, T. J. 1999. Behavioral effects of AR-R 15849, a highly selective CCK-A agonist. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 62, 549-57.
- SIMON, J. J., WETZEL, A., SINNO, M. H., SKUNDE, M., BENDSZUS, M., PREISSL, H., ENCK, P., HERZOG, W. & FRIEDERICH, H. C. 2017. Integration of homeostatic signaling and food reward processing in the human brain. JCI Insight, 2.
- SINGH, S. & SINGH, R. 2010. Gastric digestion of foods: mathematical modeling of flow field in a human stomach. *Food engineering interfaces*, 99-117.
- SKELLY, L. E., ANDREWS, P. C., GILLEN, J. B., MARTIN, B. J., PERCIVAL, M. E. & GIBALA, M. J. 2014. High-intensity interval exercise induces 24-h energy expenditure similar to traditional endurance exercise despite reduced time commitment. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 845-8.
- SKIBICKA, K. P., HANSSON, C., EGECIOGLU, E. & DICKSON, S. L. 2012a. Role of ghrelin in food reward: impact of ghrelin on sucrose selfadministration and mesolimbic dopamine and acetylcholine receptor gene expression. *Addict Biol*, 17, 95-107.
- SKIBICKA, K. P., SHIRAZI, R. H., HANSSON, C. & DICKSON, S. L. 2012b. Ghrelin interacts with neuropeptide Y Y1 and opioid receptors to increase food reward. *Endocrinology*, 153, 1194-205.
- SLIWOWSKI, Z., LORENS, K., KONTUREK, S. J., BIELANSKI, W. & ZOŁADŹ, J. A. 2001. Leptin, gastrointestinal and stress hormones in response to exercise in fasted or fed subjects and before or after blood donation. J Physiol Pharmacol, 52, 53-70.
- SMITH, P. M. & FERGUSON, A. V. 2008. Neurophysiology of hunger and satiety. *Dev Disabil Res Rev*, 14, 96-104.
- SOLOMON, T. P., CHAMBERS, E. S., JEUKENDRUP, A. E., TOOGOOD, A. A. & BLANNIN, A. K. 2008. The effect of feeding frequency on insulin and ghrelin responses in human subjects. *Br J Nutr,* 100, 810-9.
- SOMARATNE, G., FERRUA, M. J., YE, A., NAU, F., FLOURY, J., DUPONT, D. & SINGH, J. 2020. Food material properties as determining factors in nutrient release during human gastric digestion: a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 60, 3753-3769.
- SOUTHGATE, D. A. 1995. Digestion and metabolism of sugars. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 62, 203S-210S; discussion 211S.

- SPRIET, L. L. 2014. New insights into the interaction of carbohydrate and fat metabolism during exercise. *Sports Med*, 44 Suppl 1, S87-96.
- STACHER, G., STEINRINGER, H., SCHMIERER, G., SCHNEIDER, C. & WINKLEHNER, S. 1982. Cholecystokinin octapeptide decreases intake of solid food in man. *Peptides*, **3**, 133-6.
- STEINGOETTER, A., FOX, M., TREIER, R., WEISHAUPT, D., MARINCEK, B., BOESIGER, P., FRIED, M. & SCHWIZER, W. 2006. Effects of posture on the physiology of gastric emptying: a magnetic resonance imaging study. *Scand J Gastroenterol,* 41, 1155-64.
- STEPHENS, B. R. & BRAUN, B. 2008. Impact of nutrient intake timing on the metabolic response to exercise. *Nutr Rev,* 66, 473-6.
- STEPHENS, B. R., SAUTTER, J. M., HOLTZ, K. A., SHAROFF, C. G., CHIPKIN, S. R. & BRAUN, B. 2007. Effect of timing of energy and carbohydrate replacement on post-exercise insulin action. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 32, 1139-47.
- STOKOL, T. & NYDAM, D. V. 2006. Effect of hemolysis on nonesterified fatty acid and beta-hydroxybutyrate concentrations in bovine blood. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 18, 466-9.
- STRÖHLE, A., FELLER, C., STRASBURGER, C. J., HEINZ, A. & DIMEO, F. 2006. Anxiety modulation by the heart? Aerobic exercise and atrial natriuretic peptide. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 31, 1127-30.
- STUBBS, J., FERRES, S. & HORGAN, G. 2000. Energy density of foods: effects on energy intake. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr,* 40, 481-515.
- SUGIMOTO, T., SUGA, T., TSUKAMOTO, H., TOMOO, K., DORA, K., HASHIMOTO, T. & ISAKA, T. 2020. Effect of repeated bouts versus a single bout of moderate-intensity exercise on postexercise inhibitory control. *Physiol Rep*, 8, e14528.
- SUN, W. M., HOUGHTON, L. A., READ, N. W., GRUNDY, D. G. & JOHNSON, A. G. 1988. Effect of meal temperature on gastric emptying of liquids in man. *Gut*, 29, 302-5.
- SUZUKI, K., SIMPSON, K. A., MINNION, J. S., SHILLITO, J. C. & BLOOM, S. R. 2010. The role of gut hormones and the hypothalamus in appetite regulation. *Endocr J*, 57, 359-72.
- SZARKA, L. A. & CAMILLERI, M. 2009a. Gastric emptying. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 7, 823-7.
- SZARKA, L. A. & CAMILLERI, M. 2009b. Methods for measurement of gastric motility. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 296, G461-75.
- TACK, J., DÉPOORTERE, I., BISSCHOPS, R., DELPORTE, C., COULIE, B., MEULEMANS, A., JANSSENS, J. & PEETERS, T. 2006. Influence of ghrelin on interdigestive gastrointestinal motility in humans. *Gut*, 55, 327-33.
- TAKAHASHI, T., MAY, D. & OWYANG, C. 1991. Cholinergic dependence of gallbladder response to cholecystokinin in the guinea pig in vivo. *Am J Physiol,* 261, G565-9.

- TATEMOTO, K. 1982. Isolation and characterization of peptide YY (PYY), a candidate gut hormone that inhibits pancreatic exocrine secretion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 79, 2514-8.
- TAYLOR, R., MAGNUSSON, I., ROTHMAN, D. L., CLINE, G. W., CAUMO, A., COBELLI, C. & SHULMAN, G. I. 1996. Direct assessment of liver glycogen storage by 13C nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and regulation of glucose homeostasis after a mixed meal in normal subjects. *J Clin Invest*, 97, 126-32.
- TEN KULVE, J. S., VELTMAN, D. J., VAN BLOEMENDAAL, L., BARKHOF, F., DRENT, M. L., DIAMANT, M. & IJZERMAN, R. G. 2016. Liraglutide Reduces CNS Activation in Response to Visual Food Cues Only After Short-term Treatment in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 39, 214-21.
- THOMAS, D. T., ERDMAN, K. A. & BURKE, L. M. 2016. American College of Sports Medicine Joint Position Statement. Nutrition and Athletic Performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 48, 543-68.
- THOMPSON, D. A., WOLFE, L. A. & EIKELBOOM, R. 1988. Acute effects of exercise intensity on appetite in young men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 20, 222-7.
- THOMPSON, D. L., TOWNSEND, K. M., BOUGHEY, R., PATTERSON, K. & BASSETT, D. R. 1998. Substrate use during and following moderateand low-intensity exercise: implications for weight control. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol*, 78, 43-9.
- THOMPSON, P. D., CROUSE, S. F., GOODPASTER, B., KELLEY, D., MOYNA, N. & PESCATELLO, L. 2001. The acute versus the chronic response to exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 33, S438-45; discussion S452-3.
- THOMPSON, W., R. 2021. Worldwide survey of fitness trends for 2021. ACSMs Health Fit J.
- THROWER, E. C., DIAZ DE VILLALVILLA, A. P., KOLODECIK, T. R. & GORELICK, F. S. 2006. Zymogen activation in a reconstituted pancreatic acinar cell system. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 290, G894-902.
- TONG, J., PRIGEON, R. L., DAVIS, H. W., BIDLINGMAIER, M., KAHN, S. E., CUMMINGS, D. E., TSCHÖP, M. H. & D'ALESSIO, D. 2010. Ghrelin suppresses glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and deteriorates glucose tolerance in healthy humans. *Diabetes*, 59, 2145-51.
- TORJMAN, M. C., ZAFEIRIDIS, A., PAOLONE, A. M., WILKERSON, C. & CONSIDINE, R. V. 1999. Serum leptin during recovery following maximal incremental and prolonged exercise. *Int J Sports Med*, 20, 444-50.
- TOSETTI, C., CORINALDESI, R., STANGHELLINI, V., PASQUALI, R., CORBELLI, C., ZOCCOLI, G., DI FEBO, G., MONETTI, N. & BARBARA, L. 1996. Gastric emptying of solids in morbid obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 20, 200-5.
- TOUGAS, G., EAKER, E. Y., ABELL, T. L., ABRAHAMSSON, H., BOIVIN, M., CHEN, J., HOCKING, M. P., QUIGLEY, E. M., KOCH, K. L., TOKAYER, A.

Z., STANGHELLINI, V., CHEN, Y., HUIZINGA, J. D., RYDÉN, J., BOURGEOIS, I. & MCCALLUM, R. W. 2000. Assessment of gastric emptying using a low fat meal: establishment of international control values. *Am J Gastroenterol*, 95, 1456-62.

- TOWNSEND, L. K., COUTURE, K. M. & HAZELL, T. J. 2014. Mode of exercise and sex are not important for oxygen consumption during and in recovery from sprint interval training. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 39, 1388-94.
- TRACK, N. S., MCLEOD, R. S. & MEE, A. V. 1980. Human pancreatic polypeptide: studies of fasting and postprandial plasma concentrations. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 58, 1484-9.
- TRAPP, E. G., CHISHOLM, D. J., FREUND, J. & BOUTCHER, S. H. 2008. The effects of high-intensity intermittent exercise training on fat loss and fasting insulin levels of young women. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 32, 684-91.
- TRONCON, L. E. & IAZIGI, N. 1988. Effect of test meal temperature on the gastric emptying of liquids. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 21, 57-60.
- TSCHÖP, M., WAWARTA, R., RIEPL, R. L., FRIEDRICH, S., BIDLINGMAIER, M., LANDGRAF, R. & FOLWACZNY, C. 2001. Post-prandial decrease of circulating human ghrelin levels. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 24, RC19-21.
- TSOFLIOU, F., PITSILADIS, Y. P., MALKOVA, D., WALLACE, A. M. & LEAN, M. E. 2003. Moderate physical activity permits acute coupling between serum leptin and appetite-satiety measures in obese women. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 27, 1332-9.
- TUNG, W. C., RIZZO, B., DABBAGH, Y., SARASWAT, S., ROMANCZYK, M., CODORNIU-HERNÁNDEZ, E., REBOLLIDO-RIOS, R., NEEDS, P. W., KROON, P. A., RAKOTOMANOMANA, N., DANGLES, O., WEIKEL, K. & VINSON, J. 2020. Polyphenols bind to low density lipoprotein at biologically relevant concentrations that are protective for heart disease. Arch Biochem Biophys, 694, 108589.
- UEDA, S. Y., MIYAMOTO, T., NAKAHARA, H., SHISHIDO, T., USUI, T., KATSURA, Y., YOSHIKAWA, T. & FUJIMOTO, S. 2013. Effects of exercise training on gut hormone levels after a single bout of exercise in middle-aged Japanese women. *Springerplus*, 2, 83.
- UEDA, S. Y., YOSHIKAWA, T., KATSURA, Y., USUI, T. & FUJIMOTO, S. 2009a. Comparable effects of moderate intensity exercise on changes in anorectic gut hormone levels and energy intake to high intensity exercise. *J Endocrinol*, 203, 357-64.
- UEDA, S. Y., YOSHIKAWA, T., KATSURA, Y., USUI, T., NAKAO, H. & FUJIMOTO, S. 2009b. Changes in gut hormone levels and negative energy balance during aerobic exercise in obese young males. *J Endocrinol*, 201, 151-9.
- UENO, N., INUI, A., IWAMOTO, M., KAGA, T., ASAKAWA, A., OKITA, M., FUJIMIYA, M., NAKAJIMA, Y., OHMOTO, Y., OHNAKA, M., NAKAYA, Y., MIYAZAKI, J. I. & KASUGA, M. 1999. Decreased food intake and body weight in pancreatic polypeptide-overexpressing mice. *Gastroenterology*, 117, 1427-32.

- UNAL, M., UNAL, D. O., BALTACI, A. K. & MOGULKOC, R. 2005. Investigation of serum leptin levels and VO2max value in trained young male athletes and healthy males. *Acta Physiol Hung*, 92, 173-9.
- UNICK, J. L., OTTO, A. D., GOODPASTER, B. H., HELSEL, D. L., PELLEGRINI, C. A. & JAKICIC, J. M. 2010. Acute effect of walking on energy intake in overweight/obese women. *Appetite*, 55, 413-9.
- UNWIN, N. C. 1995. Promoting the public health benefits of cycling. *Public Health*, 109, 41-6.
- URBAIN, J. L., SIEGEL, J. A., CHARKES, N. D., MAURER, A. H., MALMUD, L. S. & FISHER, R. S. 1989. The two-component stomach: effects of meal particle size on fundal and antral emptying. *Eur J Nucl Med*, 15, 254-9.
- URBANIAK, G. & PLOUS, S. 1997. *Random sampling and random assignment made easy!* [Online]. <u>https://www.randomizer.org/</u>. [Accessed 2020 2016].
- VAHL, T. P., TAUCHI, M., DURLER, T. S., ELFERS, E. E., FERNANDES, T. M., BITNER, R. D., ELLIS, K. S., WOODS, S. C., SEELEY, R. J., HERMAN, J. P. & D'ALESSIO, D. A. 2007. Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptors expressed on nerve terminals in the portal vein mediate the effects of endogenous GLP-1 on glucose tolerance in rats. *Endocrinology*, 148, 4965-73.
- VAN DE GRAAFF, K. M. 1986. Anatomy and physiology of the gastrointestinal tract. *Pediatr Infect Dis*, 5, S11-6.
- VAN HALL, G. 2015. The Physiological Regulation of Skeletal Muscle Fatty Acid Supply and Oxidation During Moderate-Intensity Exercise. *Sports Med*, 45 Suppl 1, S23-32.
- VAN HALL, G., SACCHETTI, M., RÅDEGRAN, G. & SALTIN, B. 2002. Human skeletal muscle fatty acid and glycerol metabolism during rest, exercise and recovery. *J Physiol*, 543, 1047-58.
- VAN LOON, L. J., GREENHAFF, P. L., CONSTANTIN-TEODOSIU, D., SARIS, W.
 H. & WAGENMAKERS, A. J. 2001. The effects of increasing exercise intensity on muscle fuel utilisation in humans. *J Physiol*, 536, 295-304.
- VAN NIEUWENHOVEN, M. A., WAGENMAKERS, A. J., SENDEN, J. M., BROUNS, F. & BRUMMER, R. J. 1999. Performance of the [13C]-acetate gastric emptying breath test during physical exercise. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 29, 922-8.
- VAN WIJCK, K., LENAERTS, K., VAN LOON, L. J., PETERS, W. H., BUURMAN, W. A. & DEJONG, C. H. 2011. Exercise-induced splanchnic hypoperfusion results in gut dysfunction in healthy men. *PLoS One*, 6, e22366.
- VAN WIJCK, K., PENNINGS, B., VAN BIJNEN, A. A., SENDEN, J. M., BUURMAN, W. A., DEJONG, C. H., VAN LOON, L. J. & LENAERTS, K. 2013. Dietary protein digestion and absorption are impaired during acute postexercise recovery in young men. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 304, R356-61.

- VARLEY, I. A. 2014. Association of genotype with bone metabolism, skeletal adaptation and stress fracture injury occurrence. Thesis (Ph.D.), Nottingham Trent University.
- VATANSEVER-OZEN, S., TIRYAKI-SONMEZ, G., BUGDAYCI, G. & OZEN, G. 2011. The effects of exercise on food intake and hunger: relationship with acylated ghrelin and leptin. *J Sports Sci Med*, 10, 283-91.
- VENABLES, M. C., ACHTEN, J. & JEUKENDRUP, A. E. 2005. Determinants of fat oxidation during exercise in healthy men and women: a crosssectional study. J Appl Physiol (1985), 98, 160-7.
- VERDICH, C., TOUBRO, S., BUEMANN, B., LYSGÅRD MADSEN, J., JUUL HOLST, J. & ASTRUP, A. 2001. The role of postprandial releases of insulin and incretin hormones in meal-induced satiety--effect of obesity and weight reduction. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 25, 1206-14.
- VILSBØLL, T., CHRISTENSEN, M., JUNKER, A. E., KNOP, F. K. & GLUUD, L. L. 2012. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on weight loss: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*, 344, d7771.
- VINCENT, H. K. & VINCENT, K. R. 2013. Considerations for initiating and progressing running programs in obese individuals. *PM R*, 5, 513-9.
- VIST, G. E. & MAUGHAN, R. J. 1995. The effect of osmolality and carbohydrate content on the rate of gastric emptying of liquids in man. *J Physiol*, 486 (Pt 2), 523-31.
- VOLKOV, D., GULYAEV, M., KOSENKOV, Y., SILACHEV, D., ANISIMOV, N., CHERNYAEV, A. & PIROGOV, Y. 2018. Visualization of digestion process using 19F MRI. *Applied Magnetic Resonance*, 49, 71-5.
- VOLKOW, N. D., WANG, G. J., FOWLER, J. S., LOGAN, J., JAYNE, M., FRANCESCHI, D., WONG, C., GATLEY, S. J., GIFFORD, A. N., DING, Y. S. & PAPPAS, N. 2002. "Nonhedonic" food motivation in humans involves dopamine in the dorsal striatum and methylphenidate amplifies this effect. *Synapse*, 44, 175-80.
- WADE, G. N. & JONES, J. E. 2004. Neuroendocrinology of nutritional infertility. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 287, R1277-96.
- WARD, D. S., EVENSON, K. R., VAUGHN, A., RODGERS, A. B. & TROIANO, R.
 P. 2005. Accelerometer use in physical activity: best practices and research recommendations. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 37, S582-8.
- WARDMAN, M., TIGHT, M. & PAGE, M. 2007. Factors influencing the propensity to cycle to work. *Transportation Research*, 41, 339-350.
- WASEEM, S., MOSHIREE, B. & DRAGANOV, P. V. 2009. Gastroparesis: current diagnostic challenges and management considerations. *World J Gastroenterol*, 15, 25-37.
- WASSE, L. K., KING, J. A., STENSEL, D. J. & SUNDERLAND, C. 2013a. Effect of ambient temperature during acute aerobic exercise on short-term appetite, energy intake, and plasma acylated ghrelin in recreationally active males. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 38, 905-9.
- WASSE, L. K., SUNDERLAND, C., KING, J. A., BATTERHAM, R. L. & STENSEL, D. J. 2012. Influence of rest and exercise at a simulated altitude of

4,000 m on appetite, energy intake, and plasma concentrations of acylated ghrelin and peptide YY. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 112, 552-9.

- WASSE, L. K., SUNDERLAND, C., KING, J. A., MIYASHITA, M. & STENSEL, D. J. 2013b. The influence of vigorous running and cycling exercise on hunger perceptions and plasma acylated ghrelin concentrations in lean young men. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab*, 38, 1-6.
- WEE, S. L., WILLIAMS, C., TSINTZAS, K. & BOOBIS, L. 2005. Ingestion of a high-glycemic index meal increases muscle glycogen storage at rest but augments its utilization during subsequent exercise. *J Appl Physiol* (1985), 99, 707-14.
- WELSH, R. S., DAVIS, J. M., BURKE, J. R. & WILLIAMS, H. G. 2002. Carbohydrates and physical/mental performance during intermittent exercise to fatigue. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 34, 723-31.
- WELTMAN, A., PRITZLAFF, C. J., WIDEMAN, L., CONSIDINE, R. V., FRYBURG, D. A., GUTGESELL, M. E., HARTMAN, M. L. & VELDHUIS, J. D. 2000. Intensity of acute exercise does not affect serum leptin concentrations in young men. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 32, 1556-61.
- WEST, D. B., FEY, D. & WOODS, S. C. 1984. Cholecystokinin persistently suppresses meal size but not food intake in free-feeding rats. *Am J Physiol*, 246, R776-87.
- WESTON, K. S., WISLØFF, U. & COOMBES, J. S. 2014. High-intensity interval training in patients with lifestyle-induced cardiometabolic disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Sports Med*, 48, 1227-34.
- WETTERSLEV, J., JAKOBSEN, J. C. & GLUUD, C. 2017. Trial Sequential Analysis in systematic reviews with meta-analysis. *BMC Med Res Methodol*, 17, 39.
- WEWEGE, M., VAN DEN BERG, R., WARD, R. E. & KEECH, A. 2017. The effects of high-intensity interval training vs. moderate-intensity continuous training on body composition in overweight and obese adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes Rev*, 18, 635-646.
- WHIPP, B. J., DAVIS, J. A., TORRES, F. & WASSERMAN, K. 1981. A test to determine parameters of aerobic function during exercise. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol*, 50, 217-21.
- WHITCOMB, D. C., PUCCIO, A. M., VIGNA, S. R., TAYLOR, I. L. & HOFFMAN, G. E. 1997. Distribution of pancreatic polypeptide receptors in the rat brain. *Brain Res*, 760, 137-49.
- WILLIAMS, C. & SERRATOSA, L. 2006. Nutrition on match day. *J Sports Sci*, 24, 687-97.
- WILLIAMS, D. L., CUMMINGS, D. E., GRILL, H. J. & KAPLAN, J. M. 2003. Mealrelated ghrelin suppression requires postgastric feedback. *Endocrinology*, 144, 2765-7.
- WILLIAMS, E. K., CHANG, R. B., STROCHLIC, D. E., UMANS, B. D., LOWELL, B. B. & LIBERLES, S. D. 2016. Sensory Neurons that Detect Stretch and Nutrients in the Digestive System. *Cell*, 166, 209-21.

- WITARD, O. C., BANNOCK, L. & TIPTON, K. D. 2021. Making Sense of Muscle Protein Synthesis: A Focus on Muscle Growth During Resistance Training. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab*, 1-13.
- WITTE, A. B., GRYBÄCK, P., HOLST, J. J., HILSTED, L., HELLSTRÖM, P. M., JACOBSSON, H. & SCHMIDT, P. T. 2009. Differential effect of PYY1-36 and PYY3-36 on gastric emptying in man. *Regul Pept*, 158, 57-62.
- WOODS, S. C. 2004. Gastrointestinal satiety signals I. An overview of gastrointestinal signals that influence food intake. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 286, G7-13.
- WOODS, S. C., LOTTER, E. C., MCKAY, L. D. & PORTE, D. 1979. Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of insulin reduces food intake and body weight of baboons. *Nature*, 282, 503-5.
- WOODWARD, O. R. M., GRIBBLE, F. M., REIMANN, F. & LEWIS, J. E. 2021. Gut peptide regulation of food intake - evidence for the modulation of hedonic feeding. *J Physiol*.
- WREN, A. M., SEAL, L. J., COHEN, M. A., BRYNES, A. E., FROST, G. S., MURPHY, K. G., DHILLO, W. S., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2001a. Ghrelin enhances appetite and increases food intake in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 86, 5992.
- WREN, A. M., SMALL, C. J., ABBOTT, C. R., DHILLO, W. S., SEAL, L. J., COHEN, M. A., BATTERHAM, R. L., TAHERI, S., STANLEY, S. A., GHATEI, M. A. & BLOOM, S. R. 2001b. Ghrelin causes hyperphagia and obesity in rats. *Diabetes*, 50, 2540-7.
- WRIGHT, L., COTTER, D. & HICKSON, M. 2008. The effectiveness of targeted feeding assistance to improve the nutritional intake of elderly dysphagic patients in hospital. *J Hum Nutr Diet,* 21, 555-62; quiz 564-5.
- WRIGHT, R., KRINSKY, S., FLEEMAN, C., TRUJILLO, J. & TEAGUE, E. 1983. Gastric emptying and obesity. *Gastroenterology*, 84, 747-51.
- WU, G. 2016. Dietary protein intake and human health. *Food Funct,* 7, 1251-65.
- WYATT, P., BERRY, S. E., FINLAYSON, G., O'DRISCOLL, R., HADJIGEORGIOU,
 G., DREW, D. A., KHATIB, H. A., NGUYEN, L. H., LINENBERG, I., CHAN,
 A. T., SPECTOR, T. D., FRANKS, P. W., WOLF, J., BLUNDELL, J. &
 VALDES, A. M. 2021. Postprandial glycaemic dips predict appetite and
 energy intake in healthy individuals. *Nature Metabolism*.
- WÖLNERHANSSEN, B. K., CAJACOB, L., KELLER, N., DOODY, A., REHFELD, J.
 F., DREWE, J., PETERLI, R., BEGLINGER, C. & MEYER-GERSPACH, A.
 C. 2016. Gut hormone secretion, gastric emptying, and glycemic responses to erythritol and xylitol in lean and obese subjects. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 310, E1053-61.
- YANG, J. & YU, J. 2018. The association of diet, gut microbiota and colorectal cancer: what we eat may imply what we get. *Protein Cell*, 9, 474-487.
- YAU, A. M., MCLAUGHLIN, J., GILMORE, W., MAUGHAN, R. J. & EVANS, G. H.
 2017a. The Acute Effects of Simple Sugar Ingestion on Appetite, Gut-Derived Hormone Response, and Metabolic Markers in Men. *Nutrients*, 9.

- YAU, A. M., MCLAUGHLIN, J., MAUGHAN, R. J., GILMORE, W. & EVANS, G. H. 2014. Short-term dietary supplementation with fructose accelerates gastric emptying of a fructose but not a glucose solution. *Nutrition*, 30, 1344-8.
- YAU, A. M., MCLAUGHLIN, J., MAUGHAN, R. J., GILMORE, W. & EVANS, G. H. 2017b. The Effect of Short-Term Dietary Fructose Supplementation on Gastric Emptying Rate and Gastrointestinal Hormone Responses in Healthy Men. *Nutrients*, 9.
- YEH, S.-T. Using Trapezoidal Rule for the Area under a Curve Calculation. Proceedings of the 27th SAS Users Group International Conference, 2002 Orlando, FL. 229-32.
- YEO, W. K., LESSARD, S. J., CHEN, Z. P., GARNHAM, A. P., BURKE, L. M., RIVAS, D. A., KEMP, B. E. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2008a. Fat adaptation followed by carbohydrate restoration increases AMPK activity in skeletal muscle from trained humans. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 105, 1519-26.
- YEO, W. K., PATON, C. D., GARNHAM, A. P., BURKE, L. M., CAREY, A. L. & HAWLEY, J. A. 2008b. Skeletal muscle adaptation and performance responses to once a day versus twice every second day endurance training regimens. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, 105, 1462-70.
- YUMUK, V., TSIGOS, C., FRIED, M., SCHINDLER, K., BUSETTO, L., MICIC, D., TOPLAK, H. & OBESITY, O. M. T. F. O. T. E. A. F. T. S. O. 2015. European Guidelines for Obesity Management in Adults. *Obes Facts*, 8, 402-24.
- ZACCARIA, M., ERMOLAO, A., ROI, G. S., ENGLARO, P., TEGON, G. & VARNIER, M. 2002. Leptin reduction after endurance races differing in duration and energy expenditure. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 87, 108-11.
- ZAHORSKA-MARKIEWICZ, B., JONDERKO, K., LELEK, A. & SKRZYPEK, D. 1986. Gastric emptying in obesity. *Hum Nutr Clin Nutr*, 40, 309-13.
- ZHANG, Y., PROENCA, R., MAFFEI, M., BARONE, M., LEOPOLD, L. & FRIEDMAN, J. M. 1994. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, 372, 425-32.
- ZHANG., DELESSA, C. T., AUGUSTIN, R., BAKHTI, M., COLLDÉN, G., DRUCKER, D. J., FEUCHTINGER, A., CACERES, C. G., GRANDL, G., HARGER, A., HERZIG, S., HOFMANN, S., HOLLEMAN, C. L., JASTROCH, M., KEIPERT, S., KLEINERT, M., KNERR, P. J., KULAJ, K., LEGUTKO, B., LICKERT, H., LIU, X., LUIPPOLD, G., LUTTER, D., MALOGAJSKI, E., MEDINA, M. T., MOWERY, S. A., BLUTKE, A., PEREZ-TILVE, D., SALINNO, C., SEHRER, L., DIMARCHI, R. D., TSCHÖP, M. H., STEMMER, K., FINAN, B., WOLFRUM, C. & MÜLLER, T. D. 2021. The glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) regulates body weight and food intake via CNS-GIPR signaling. *Cell Metab*, 33, 833-844.e5.
- ZHU, Y., HSU, W. H. & HOLLIS, J. H. 2013. The impact of food viscosity on eating rate, subjective appetite, glycemic response and gastric emptying rate. *PLoS One*, 8, e67482.

- ZIMMERMAN, A. W., VAN MOERKERK, H. T. & VEERKAMP, J. H. 2001. Ligand specificity and conformational stability of human fatty acid-binding proteins. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 33, 865-76.
- ZOLADZ, J. A., KONTUREK, S. J., DUDA, K., MAJERCZAK, J., SLIWOWSKI, Z., GRANDYS, M. & BIELANSKI, W. 2005. Effect of moderate incremental exercise, performed in fed and fasted state on cardio-respiratory variables and leptin and ghrelin concentrations in young healthy men. *J Physiol Pharmacol*, 56, 63-85.
- ZOUHAL, H., SELLAMI, M., SAEIDI, A., SLIMANI, M., ABBASSI-DALOII, A., KHODAMORADI, A., EL HAGE, R., HACKNEY, A. C. & BEN ABDERRAHMAN, A. 2019. Effect of physical exercise and training on gastrointestinal hormones in populations with different weight statuses. *Nutr Rev*, 77, 455-477.
- ZWIRSKA-KORCZALA, K., KONTUREK, S. J., SODOWSKI, M., WYLEZOL, M., KUKA, D., SOWA, P., ADAMCZYK-SOWA, M., KUKLA, M., BERDOWSKA, A., REHFELD, J. F., BIELANSKI, W. & BRZOZOWSKI, T. 2007. Basal and postprandial plasma levels of PYY, ghrelin, cholecystokinin, gastrin and insulin in women with moderate and morbid obesity and metabolic syndrome. J Physiol Pharmacol, 58 Suppl 1, 13-35.

11.0 Appendices

A) Ethical approval letter Study 1 (Chapter 4)

FACULTY OF SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING

MEMORANDUM

TO Lewis Mattin

FROM Karen Hartley

DATE 28th September 2016

SUBJECT Application for Ethical Approval (SE151667)



On the 28th September 2016 the Head of Ethics for Science & Engineering considered your application for Ethical Approval (SE151667) entitled "*Changes in appetite and gut hormones after exercising at different intensities in a thermo-neutral environment*". The application has been granted Favourable Opinion and you may now commence the project.

MMU requires that you report any Adverse Event during this study immediately to the Head of Ethics (Dr Nick Costen) and the Research Degrees Administrator. Adverse Events are adverse reactions to any modality, drug or dietary supplement administered to subjects or any trauma resulting from procedures in the protocol of a study.

An Adverse Event may also be accidental loss of data or loss of sample, particularly human tissue. Loss of human tissue or cells must also be reported to the designated individual for the Human Tissue Authority licence. Please notify Professor Tristan McKay of any issues relating to this.

If you make any changes to the approved protocol these must be approved by the Faculty Head of Ethics. If amendments are required you should complete the MMU Request for Amendment form (found on the Graduate School website) and submit it to the Administrator.

Regards

Karen Hartley Research Administrator All Saints North

B) Ethical approval letter, Study 2 (Chapter 5)

FACULTY OF SCIENCE AND ENGINEERING

MEMORANDUM

то	Lewis Mattin
FROM	Karen Hartley
DATE	27th September 2017
DATE OF EXPIRY:	27 th June 2018
SUBJECT	Application for Ethical Approval (SE1617159)

On the 27th September 2017 the Head of Ethics for Science & Engineering considered your application for Ethical Approval (**SE1617159**) entitled "The effect of high and low intensity, intermittent and continuous exercise on gastric emptying, appetite and 24-h post energy intake". The application has been granted Favourable Opinion and you may now commence the project.

MMU requires that you report any Adverse Event during this study immediately to the Head of Ethics (Professor Tristan McKay) and the Research Degrees Administrator. Adverse Events are adverse reactions to any modality, drug or dietary supplement administered to subjects or any trauma resulting from procedures in the protocol of a study.

An Adverse Event may also be accidental loss of data or loss of sample, particularly human tissue. Loss of human tissue or cells must also be reported to the designated individual for the Human Tissue Authority licence. Please notify Professor Tristan McKay of any issues relating to this.

If you make any changes to the approved protocol these must be approved by the Faculty Head of Ethics. If amendments are required you should complete the MMU Request for Amendment form (found on the Graduate School website) and submit it to the Administrator.

Regards

Karen Hartley Research Administrator All Saints North



C) Ethical approval letter, Study 3 (Chapter 6)



16/11/2018

Project Title: Split exercise effects gastrointestinal health

EthOS Reference Number: 1089

Ethical Opinion

Dear Lewis Mattin,

The above application was reviewed by the Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee and, on the 16/11/2018, was given a favourable ethical opinion. The approval is in place until 26/08/2020.

Conditions of favourable ethical opinion

Application Documents

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Additional Documentation	100-mm VAS_Study3	10/08/2018	1
Additional Documentation	Dietary_Record_Post-trial3	10/08/2018	1
Additional Documentation	Dietary_Record_Pre-trial(3)	10/08/2018	1
Additional Documentation	Medical_screening_questionnaire_study3	10/08/2018	1
Additional Documentation	Consent_form_Study3	10/08/2018	1
Project Proposal	Study3	10/08/2018	1
Recruitment Media	Advertising_poster_Study3	10/08/2018	1
Consent Form	Consent_form_Study3	10/08/2018	1
Information Sheet	Participant_information_Study3	10/08/2018	1

The Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee favourable ethical opinion is granted with the following conditions

Adherence to Manchester Metropolitan University's Policies and procedures

This ethical approval is conditional on adherence to Manchester Metropolitan University's Policies, Procedures, guidance and Standard Operating procedures. These can be found on the Manchester Metropolitan University Research Ethics and Governance webpages.

Amendments

If you wish to make a change to this approved application, you will be required to submit an amendment. Please visit the Manchester Metropolitan University Research Ethics and Governance webpages or contact your Faculty research officer for advice around how to do this.

We wish you every success with your project.

Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee

D) Ethical approval letter, Study 4 (Chapter 7)



15/10/2019 **Project Title:** The effects of multiple exercise bouts (HIIE and continuous) over the same day on appetite and metabolic response to food ingestion

EthOS Reference Number: 11619

Ethical Opinion

Dear Lewis Mattin,

The above application was reviewed by the Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee and, on the 15/10/2019, was given a favourable ethical opinion. The approval is in place until 14/09/2020.

Conditions of favourable ethical opinion

Application Documents

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Information Sheet	100-mm VAS_Study4	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Wellbeing_2_Study4	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Dietary_Record_Post-trial(4)	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Dietary_Record_Pre-trial(4)	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Medical_screening_questionnaire_study4	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Participant_information_Study4	23/07/2019	1
Information Sheet	Participant_order_Study4	23/07/2019	1
Project Protocol	Project Proposal-ETHOS	06/09/2019	2
Recruitment Media	Poster(4)	06/09/2019	2
Consent Form	Consent_form_Study4	06/09/2019	2
Additional Documentation	RiskAssessment-labcup-study4	06/09/2019	1
Additional Documentation	RiskAssessment-labcup-2.1.html	30/09/2019	1

The Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee favourable ethical opinion is granted with the following conditions

Adherence to Manchester Metropolitan University's Policies and procedures

This ethical approval is conditional on adherence to Manchester Metropolitan University's Policies, Procedures, guidance and Standard Operating procedures. These can be found on the Manchester Metropolitan University Research Ethics and Governance webpages.

Amendments

If you wish to make a change to this approved application, you will be required to submit an amendment. Please visit the Manchester Metropolitan University Research Ethics and Governance webpages or contact your Faculty research officer for advice around how to do this.

We wish you every success with your project.

Science and Engineering Research Ethics and Governance Committee

E) Medical screening questionnaire

Does workload matched exercise split over two sessions effect gastrointestinal health

Participant number:

Medical Screening Questionnaire

It is important that the investigators are aware of any health conditions before participation in this research study. This is to ensure that the study protocol will not exacerbate any existing conditions of the participant. Please answer the following questions as accurately as possible.

Are you currently taking any prescribed medication?	YES/NO
Are you currently attending your GP?	YES/NO
Have you ever suffered from a cardiovascular problem?	
i.e. high blood pressure, anaemia, heart attack etc	YES/NO
Have you ever suffered from a neurological disorder?	
i.e. epilepsy, convulsions etc	YES/NO
Have you ever suffered from an endocrine disorder?	
i.e. diabetes etc	YES/NO
Have you ever suffered from a chronic gastrointestinal disorder?	
i.e. Crohn's disease, irritable bowel syndrome etc	YES/NO
Have you ever suffered from a skin disorder?	
i.e. eczema etc	YES/NO
Have you ever had a blood borne virus infection?	
i.e. HIV, Hepatitis B and hepatitis C etc	YES/NO
Do you suffer from any allergies?	
i.e. any medications, foods etc	YES/NO
Are you aware of any other medical condition that may prevent you from participating in this inve	stigation?
i.e. immunological disorders, numbness in extremities, asthma etc	YES/NO
Are you currently taking any supplements?	
i.e. creatine	YES/NO
If you have answered "yes" to any of these questions, please provide details below:	

F) Manufacturers details for breakfast meal

Breakfast details*	
Semi-Ski Per 2	mmed Milk 100 mL
Energy (KJ/ KCal)	208/50
Carbohydrate (g)	4.8
Protein (g)	3.6
Fat (g)	1.8
Fibre (g)	0
Kellogg's Specia Per	l K original Cereal 100 g
Energy (KJ/KCal)	1588/375
Carbohydrate (g)	79
Protein (g)	9
Fat (g)	1.5
Fibre (g)	4.5
Sainsbury's Pr Per	ure Orange Juice 100mL
Energy(KJ/KCal)	176/42
Carbohydrate (g)	8.6
Protein (g)	0.6
Fat (g)	<0.5
Fibre (g)	<0.5
Sainsbury's F Per	Butter Croissant : 100g
Energy(KJ/KCal)	1826/438
Carbohydrate (g)	41.5
Protein (g)	8.5
Fat (g)	25.8
Fibre (g)	2.7

* Breakfast was provide during Chapter 6 & Chapter 7, refer to methods section for details

G) Manufacturers details for lunch meal

Lunch details				
Heinz Chicker Per	n Noodle Soup ¹ 100 g			
Energy (KJ/ KCal)	138/32			
Carbohydrate (g)	6.1			
Protein (g)	1.3			
Fat (g)	0.3			
Fibre (g)	0.2			
Heinz Vegetable Soup ² Per 100 g				
Energy (KJ/ KCal)	198/47			
Carbohydrate (g)	8.3			
Protein (g)	1.1			
Fat (g)	0.8			
Fibre (g)	0.9			

¹ Semi-solid meal for Chapter 4. ² Semi-solid meal for Chapters 5, 6 and 7

H) Pre-trial dietary and physical activity diary

Trial:

Subject Number:

Pre-Trial



SCHOOL OF HEALTHCARE SCIENCE

PRE-TRIAL DIETARY & PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DIARIE



Date:

Pre-Trial

Dietary record Sheet

- Please record all food and drink consumed in the 24 hours prior to the start of the first trial.
- Start in the morning when you first get out of bed, and record the food you eat until the evening when you stop eating at 2200h.
- Use a separate line for each item of food.

Trial:

÷				
	Time	Item of Food	Weight	Description/Brand
	e.g. 13 :00	Baked Beans	200g	Heinz, low sugar
	13:00	Toasted bread	143g	Wholemeal, thick cut
	13:00	Orange soft drink	1 500 ml bottle	Diet Fanta
		24h Prior to ti	rial dietary reco	rd
→				

Example Dietary

Trial:

Subject Number: Pre-Trial

Activity Record Sheet

- Please Record all activity undertaken for the 24 hour period prior to the start of the first trial
- Start in the morning when you first get up until bed time in the evening.

	Time	Activity	Duration
	e.g.17:00	Cycled home from college	30 minutes
	20:00	Walked the dog	1hour
	24h Prior to trial Activity record		
•			

Example Dietary

I) Appetite VAS

Subject number	Trial	Time point
Sa 1. Usus hurs and da usus facel 2	atiety Scorecard	
1. How <u>hungry</u> do you feel ?		
l am not hungry at all		I have never been more hungry
2. How <u>full</u> do you feel ?		
Not at all full		Totally full
3. How <u>much</u> do you think you	u can <u>eat</u> ?	A lat
4. How <u>Satisfied</u> do you feel ?		
l am completely empty		— I can't eat another bite
5. How <u>nauseous</u> do you feel î	?	
Not at all		Very nauseous
6. How <u>bloated</u> do you feel ?		
Not at all bloated		— Very bloated

J) Wellbeing Scale

